
1. CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
 
3.a July 28, 2020 Minutes    Suggested Action:  Draft minutes for commission approval. 

4. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
 

5. NEW BUSINESS
 
5.a City of Umatilla Plan Amendment PA-1-20    Suggested Action: The applicant, City of

Umatilla, is proposing to amend Chapters 9 of the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan.
The proposed text amendment of will replace Chapter 9 (Economic Development) in its
entirety. Johnson Economics recently completed an Economic Opportunities Analysis and
Buildable Lands Inventory for the City of Umatilla. The text amendment will incorporate
relevant portion of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, the City’s Destination
Management Plan and Downtown Vision and Framework Plan.

5.b Cleaver UGB Expansion (PA-2-20)     Suggested Action: The applicant, Cleaver Land,
LLC, is requesting approval of an Urban Growth Boundary Expansion to include
approximately 146.69 acres land. The applicant also submitted an Annexation and Zone
Change applications with the desired outcome to have approximately 450 acres of land
planned and zoned for industrial use. Current use of the property is agricultural. Crops
under circle pivot irrigation regularly in rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, and grass
seed. Improvements to the property include circle pivot irrigation systems and a general
use storage building.

5.c Cleaver Zone Change (PA-3-20)   Suggested Action: The applicant, Cleaver Land, LLC, is
requesting approval of a Zone Change that would rezone 294 acres of Single Family
Residential designation to Light Industrial. The proposed zoning designation of Light
Industrial will support the types of uses – data centers, warehousing and light
manufacturing – outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis completed by Johnson
Economics that clearly indicates that the City of Umatilla needs large lot industrial parcels.
 The applicant also submitted an Annexation and UGB applications with the desired
outcome to have approximately 450 acres of land planned and zoned for industrial use.
Current use of the property is agricultural. Crops under circle pivot irrigation regularly in
rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, and grass seed. Improvements to the property include
circle pivot irrigation systems and a general use storage building.

5.d Cleaver Annexation (ANX-1-20)   Suggested Action: The applicant, Cleaver Land LLC,

UMATILLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING
AGENDA

COUNCIL CHAMBERS
AUGUST 25, 2020

6:30 PM
 

 

  

  

 
  

  

 

 

 

 

1

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/55919b1c6477b344fbc8ee1f252f51f60.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/1d82d69ac741cf33c3cffd5bfe957ad20.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/8d667f4f8c42ecfe5806493d34f31ae70.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/6781b7f59ff011e0608ed84d35a8a7b70.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/19564be0a37e5cad56c0c7aaf6ebb6b20.pdf


seeks approval to have a portion of a public street as well as two tax lots situated in the
City of Umatilla’s urban growth boundary (after adoption PA-2-20) annexed into the city
limits. 

6. DISCUSSION ITEMS
 

7. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
 
7.a Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum (March 2020) (J-U-B Engineers)  

Suggested Action: Review as part of applications
7.b Traffic Impact Analysis (May 2020) (J-U-B Engineers)   Suggested Action: Review as part

of applications
7.c Economic Opportunities Analysis (October 2019) (Johnson Economics)   Suggested Action:

Review as part of applications 
7.d Housing and Residential Land Needs Assessment (June 2019) (Angelo Planning Group and

Johnson Economics)   Suggested Action: Review as part of applications

8. ADJOURNMENT
 

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

 
This institution is an equal opportunity provider. Discrimination is prohibited by Federal law. Special
accommodations to attend or participate in a city meeting or other function can be provided by
contacting City Hall at (541) 922-3226 or use the TTY Relay Service at 1-800-735-2900 for
appropriate assistance.

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/92937c4755ff1437926867cf69008e490.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/9b5b3a21e3fc7c2f10795449073ee4540.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/97bb9bff3943e7507c12773c81a0978a0.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/umatilla-city/ef23b286d4a0e1a2feaa74f00464ce7d0.pdf


Page 1 of 2

CITY OF UMATILLA
PLANNING COMMISSION

July 28, 2020
**DRAFT MINUTES**
COUNCIL CHAMBERS

I. CALL TO ORDER: Meeting called to order at 6:32 p.m. 

II. ROLL CALL: 
A. Present: Commissioners; Boyd Sharp, Keith Morgan, Kelly Nobles, Bruce McLane,

Cooper, and Hilda Martinez.
B. Absent: Heidi Sipe
C. Late arrival: 
D. Staff present: Community Development Director, Brandon Seitz and Associate 

Planner, Jacob Foutz.
III. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Skipped due to online nature

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Minutes May 26, 2020. Motion to approve with conditions
by Commissioner Morgan, seconded by Commissioner Nobles. Motion carried 5-0.

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None

V. NEW BUSINESS: 

5.a Appointment of Vice Chair: Chair Sharp asked for appointment of a Vice Chair. Kelly 
Nobles nominated Heidi Sipe. Chair sharp asked for a motion of Appointment of Heidi 
Sipe as Vice Chair. Motion to approve by Commissioner Nobles, seconded by 
Commissioner McLane. Motion carried 5-0. 

5.b Cascade Natural Gas Conditional Use (CU-2-20)   Suggested Action: The applicant, 
Cascade Natural Gas Corporation, requests approval to relocate a 2” Intermediate Pressure 
Pipeline. The new pipeline would be installed in Nugent Park, approximately 2,250 feet 
upriver of the Highway 730 bridge, by the applicant, CNGC. Horizontal directional drilling 
would be used during installation to avoid impacts to sensitive natural resources associated 
with the Umatilla River, and trenching would be used in upland/nonsensitive areas.

Chair Sharp opened the hearing and asked for a staff report. 

Associate Planner Foutz gave staff report ultimately recommending approval. 

Chair Sharp asked where the new facility will be and where in the city it currently services. 

Director Seitz explained that the footbridge that collapsed is why the gas line will be 
replaced and explained that he is not aware of exactly where the natural gas is available in 
the city. 

Chair Sharp called for a motion to close the hearing. Motion to close by Commissioner 
Martinez. Seconded by Commissioner Nobles. Motion Carried 5-0. 

3



Page 2 of 2

Chair Sharp asked for any comments. None

Chair Sharp asked for a motion to approve Cascade Natural Gas Conditional Use and the 
conditions found in the staff report. Motion to approve by Commissioner McLane. 
Seconded by Commissioner Nobles. Motion Carried 5-0.  

5.c City of Umatilla Replat (RP-1-20)   Suggested Action: The applicant, The City of 
Umatilla, requests approval to replat one industrial use lot into two. The proposed replat 
would result in two lots. The property is identified as Tax Lot 2800 on Assessors Map 
5N281400. The City of Umatilla is the property owner.

Chair Sharp opened the hearing and asked for a staff report. 

Associate Planner Foutz gave staff report ultimately recommending approval. 

Commissioner Morgan asked what type of tire company will be buying the property. 

Director Seitz explained it will be a distribution facility with 3-5 employees. 

Chair Sharp called for a motion to close the hearing. Motion to close by Commissioner 
Nobles. Seconded by Commissioner Martinez. Motion carried 5-0.

Chair Sharp asked for any comment. None. 

Chair Sharp asked for a motion to approve City of Umatilla Replat (RP-1-20) and 
conditions of approval found in staff report. Motion to approve by Commissioner Nobles. 
Seconded by Commissioner Martinez. Motion carried 5-0.

VI. DISCUSSION ITEMS:
6.a Community Development Department Quarterly Report - Quarterly report for the 3rd 
quarter of FY 2019-2020   Suggested Action: Discussion Only

Director Seitz gave the report. 

VII. INFORMATIONAL ITEMS: August 25th Planning Commission - Pending Chapter 9 
Comprehensive Plan Update, Urban Growth Boundary Application, Annexation and Plan 
Map Amendment (Rezone) applications. Staff will provide a brief overview of pending 
applications for next months August Planning Commission Meeting.

Director Seitz gave and overview of upcoming applications. 

Chair Sharp asked for a clarification that both new business items are approved but with 
the conditions of approval found in the staff report. 

IX.       ADJOURNMENT: Adjourned at 7:07pm.

4



UMATILLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION 

FOR 
PLAN AMENDMENT PA-1-20 

 
DATE OF HEARING: August 25, 2020 

 
REPORT PREPARED BY: Brandon Seitz, Senior Planner 

                           
 
I.  GENERAL INFORMATION AND FACTS 
 
Applicant: City of Umatilla, 700 6th Street, Umatilla, OR 97882. 
 
Land Use Review: Plan amendment to update Goal 9 (Economic Development) of the 

comprehensive plan. 
 
II.  NATURE OF REQUEST AND GENERAL FACTS 
 
The City of Umatilla hired a private consultant Johnson Economics to conduct an Economic 
Opportunities Analysis (EOA). This analysis includes an inventory of employment land, which 
provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to accommodate more business and jobs. The 
analysis reflects changes in employment, land supply, and macro-economic trends since the City 
of Umatilla last reviewed local economic development policies. With the new data and information 
about the City of Umatilla’s economic development rises a need to update Goal 9 the Economic 
Development section of the city’s comprehensive plan. 
 
III. ANALYSIS 
The criteria applicable to this request are shown in underlined text and the responses are shown in 
standard text. All of the following criteria must be satisfied in order for this request to be approved. 
 
CUZO 10-13-3: AMENDMENTS TO THE ZONING TEXT OR MAP: 
 
A. Approval Criteria: An amendment to this title or official map shall comply with the following 

criteria: 
1. The proposed designation is consistent with and supports the purposes of the portions of 

the city's comprehensive plan not proposed for amendment, or circumstances have changed 
to justify a change in the comprehensive plan. 
Findings: The proposed plan amendment will amend Chapter 9 (Economic Development) 
of the city’s comprehensive plan. A draft of the proposed text changes is attached to this 
report. To summarize Section 9.1 would be replaced in its entirety with the EOA completed 
by Johnson Economics. Section 9.1 had not been updated since the city’s comprehensive 
plan was acknowledged in 1978 and the information is now outdated. Section 9.2, the 
Downtown Revitalization and Circulation Plan will not be amended.  Section 9.3 was also 
added to provide a brief overview of the Destination Management Plan completed the City 
and Chamber. 

 

5



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 2 of 10 

Conclusion: The primary updates to the comprehensive plan are to updated Section 9.1 
based on the Johnson Economics EOA. As address above the previous version had not been 
amended since 1978 and was no longer relevant. Therefore, the proposed change to the 
comprehensive plan is considered justified as the plan had not be updated in over 30 years 
and was no longer relevant. The updated information in the EOA and Destination 
Management Plan will support the continued development of employment lands located 
within the UGB and increase opportunities for tourism development. 

 
2. The proposed change will not affect the land supply for the existing zoning designation as 

related to projected need for the particular land use. 
3. The proposed designation will not negatively impact existing or planned public facilities 

and services. In particular, pursuant to the Oregon transportation planning rule, proposed 
text and map amendments shall determine whether the proposed change will significantly 
affect a collector or arterial transportation facility and must comply with the requirements 
of Oregon administrative rule (OAR) 660-012-0060 as applicable. In the I-82/U.S. 730 
interchange area management plan (IAMP) management area, proposed access shall be 
consistent with the access management plan in section 7 of the IAMP. 
Findings: The proposed plan amendment will not change the existing zoning designation 
for any property with the city’s UGB. The proposed plan amendment will be a text 
amendment to the city’s comprehensive plan to update Chapter 9 (Economic Development) 
with current employment and land supply numbers by incorporating the recently completed 
EOA.  
 
Conclusion: The proposed plan amendment will not change the existing zoning 
designations for any property within the city’s Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). Therefore, 
the proposed text amendment will not affect the land supply of the existing zoning 
designations or negatively impact existing or planned public facilities and services.  
 

4. The site is suitable for the proposed use, considering the topography, adjacent streets, 
access, size of the site, availability of public facilities, and any other pertinent physical 
features. 

5. Other sites in the city or the vicinity are unsuitable for the proposed use. In other words, 
ownership and desire to develop a particular use in themselves provide insufficient 
rationale for changing a zoning designation that does not support the interests of the city 
as a whole. 
Findings: The intent of these standards is to show that a proposed amendment is necessary 
to accommodate a proposed use and to show that other sites within the city are not readily 
available to develop the propose use. 
 
Conclusion: The proposed plan amendment does not apply to a specific site or property, 
rather applies to the city as a whole. In addition, as addressed above no properties will be 
rezoned as a result of this plan amendment. 

 
OREGON ADMINISTRATIVE RULES CHAPTER 660, DIVISION 009 
660-009-0015 - Economic Opportunities Analysis 
 
Cities and counties must review and, as necessary, amend their comprehensive plans to provide 
economic opportunities analyses containing the information described in sections (1) to (4) of 

6



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 3 of 10 

this rule. This analysis will compare the demand for land for industrial and other employment 
uses to the existing supply of such land. 
 
(1) Review of National, State, Regional, County and Local Trends. The economic opportunities 
analysis must identify the major categories of industrial or other employment uses that could 
reasonably be expected to locate or expand in the planning area based on information about 
national, state, regional, county or local trends. This review of trends is the principal basis for 
estimating future industrial and other employment uses as described in section (4) of this rule. A 
use or category of use could reasonably be expected to expand or locate in the planning area if 
the area possesses the appropriate locational factors for the use or category of use. Cities and 
counties are strongly encouraged to analyze trends and establish employment projections in a 
geographic area larger than the planning area and to determine the percentage of employment 
growth reasonably expected to be captured for the planning area based on the assessment of 
community economic development potential pursuant to section (4) of this rule. 
(2) Identification of Required Site Types. The economic opportunities analysis must identify the 
number of sites by type reasonably expected to be needed to accommodate the expected 
employment growth based on the site characteristics typical of expected uses. Cities and counties 
are encouraged to examine existing firms in the planning area to identify the types of sites that 
may be needed for expansion. Industrial or other employment uses with compatible site 
characteristics may be grouped together into common site categories. 
(3) Inventory of Industrial and Other Employment Lands. Comprehensive plans for all areas 
within urban growth boundaries must include an inventory of vacant and developed lands within 
the planning area designated for industrial or other employment use. 

(a) For sites inventoried under this section, plans must provide the following information: 
(A) The description, including site characteristics, of vacant or developed sites within 
each plan or zoning district; 
(B) A description of any development constraints or infrastructure needs that affect the 
buildable area of sites in the inventory; and 
(C) For cities and counties within a Metropolitan Planning Organization, the inventory 
must also include the approximate total acreage and percentage of sites within each plan 
or zoning district that comprise the short-term supply of land. 

(b) When comparing current land supply to the projected demand, cities and counties may 
inventory contiguous lots or parcels together that are within a discrete plan or zoning district. 
(c) Cities and counties that adopt objectives or policies providing for prime industrial land 
pursuant to OAR 660-009-0020(6) and 660-009-0025(8) must identify and inventory any 
vacant or developed prime industrial land according to section (3)(a) of this rule. 

(4) Assessment of Community Economic Development Potential. The economic opportunities 
analysis must estimate the types and amounts of industrial and other employment uses likely to 
occur in the planning area. The estimate must be based on information generated in response to 
sections (1) to (3) of this rule and must consider the planning area's economic advantages and 
disadvantages. Relevant economic advantages and disadvantages to be considered may include 
but are not limited to: 

(a) Location, size and buying power of markets; 
(b) Availability of transportation facilities for access and freight mobility; 
(c) Public facilities and public services; 
(d) Labor market factors; 
(e) Access to suppliers and utilities; 
(f) Necessary support services; 

7



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 4 of 10 

(g) Limits on development due to federal and state environmental protection laws; and 
(h) Educational and technical training programs. 

(5) Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to assess community economic development 
potential through a visioning or some other public input based process in conjunction with state 
agencies. Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to use the assessment of community 
economic development potential to form the community economic development objectives 
pursuant to OAR 660-009-0020(1)(a). 
Findings: A majority of the findings and analysis relied on for the proposed amendment are 
included in the attached Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA) prepared by Johnson Economics 
dated October 2019 and is hereby incorporated into the record. 
 
Conclusion: An Economic Opportunities Analysis in compliance with the Oregon Administrative 
Rule 660-009-0015 prepared by Johnson Economic date October 2019 is attached and hereby 
incorporated into the record. 
 
660-009-0020 - Industrial and Other Employment Development Policies 
 
(1) Comprehensive plans subject to this division must include policies stating the economic 
development objectives for the planning area. These policies must be based on the community 
economic opportunities analysis prepared pursuant to OAR 660-009-0015 and must provide the 
following: 

(a) Community Economic Development Objectives. The plan must state the overall 
objectives for economic development in the planning area and identify categories or 
particular types of industrial and other employment uses desired by the community. Policy 
objectives may identify the level of short-term supply of land the planning area needs. Cities 
and counties are strongly encouraged to select a competitive short-term supply of land as a 
policy objective. 
(b) Commitment to Provide a Competitive Short-Term Supply. Cities and counties within a 
Metropolitan Planning Organization must adopt a policy stating that a competitive short-term 
supply of land as a community economic development objective for the industrial and other 
employment uses selected through the economic opportunities analysis pursuant to OAR 
660-009-0015. 
(c) Commitment to Provide Adequate Sites and Facilities. The plan must include policies 
committing the city or county to designate an adequate number of sites of suitable sizes, 
types and locations. The plan must also include policies, through public facilities planning 
and transportation system planning, to provide necessary public facilities and transportation 
facilities for the planning area. 
Findings: The City of Umatilla’s comprehensive plan is implemented through the economic 
development policies. The adopted policies state the economic development objectives and 
strategies implemented within the planning area. The policies implement the economic 
development objectives of the city by committing to provide adequate supply of land to 
support employment growth (Policy 9.4.101). To coordinate with local partners on local and 
regional economic development projects (Policy 9.4.102). To establish districts that 
incentives development within the city (Policy 9.4.103) and to establish flexible zoning to 
encourage redevelopment of downtown (Policies 9.4.104 -9.4.107). 
 
The city is not located within a Metropolitan Planning Organization and is not proposing to 
adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land. The city has adopted policies relating 

8



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 5 of 10 

to public facilities (Chapter 11) and transportation facilities (Chapter 12). 
 
Conclusion: The proposed comprehensive plan policies implement the economic 
development objectives of the city. Specifically, Policy 9.4.101 will commit the city to 
maintain and adequate supply of employment lands to meet the projected need of the city.  
The city is not located within a Metropolitan Planning Organization and is not proposing to 
adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land. The city has adopted polices to 
provide public facilities and services and implement the city’s Transportation System Plan. 
 
NOTE: While the city is not adopted policies to identify a level of short term land supply the 
city has received 3 applications that would will meet the city’s need for additional large lot 
industrial sites as identified in the EOA by a UGB expansion, rezone and annexation 
applications. The result would be a approximately 450 acres of land zoned for industrial use 
that would meet the projected need for large lot industrial sites. 

 
(2) Plans for cities and counties within a Metropolitan Planning Organization or that adopt 
policies relating to the short-term supply of land, must include detailed strategies for preparing 
the total land supply for development and for replacing the short-term supply of land as it is 
developed. These policies must describe dates, events or both, that trigger local review of the 
short-term supply of land. 
Findings: The city is not located within a Metropolitan Planning Organization and is not 
proposing to adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land.  
 
Conclusion: The city is not located within a Metropolitan Planning Organization and is not 
proposing to adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land. This criterion is not 
applicable. 
 
(3) Plans may include policies to maintain existing categories or levels of industrial and other 
employment uses including maintaining downtowns or central business districts. 
Findings: As addressed above the city has an adopted downtown revitalization plan that is 
implemented by four Polices (Policies 9.9.104 -9.9.107). These Policies directly refer to the 
maintenance and development of the downtown business district.  
 
Conclusion: Policies 9.9.104-9.9.107 emphasis development of a pedestrian oriented downtown 
business districts.    
 
(4) Plan policies may emphasize the expansion of and increased productivity from existing 
industries and firms as a means to facilitate local economic development. 
(5) Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to adopt plan policies that include brownfield 
redevelopment strategies for retaining land in industrial use and for qualifying them as part of the 
local short-term supply of land. 
(6) Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to adopt plan policies pertaining to prime 
industrial land pursuant to OAR 660-009-0025(8). 
(7) Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to adopt plan policies that include additional 
approaches to implement this division including, but not limited to: 

(a) Tax incentives and disincentives; 
(b) Land use controls and ordinances; 
(c) Preferential tax assessments; 

9



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 6 of 10 

(d) Capital improvement programming; 
(e) Property acquisition techniques; 
(f) Public/private partnerships; and 
(g) Intergovernmental agreements. 
Findings: These criteria allow a city to adopt policies related to brownfield redevelopment, 
prime industrial land and other policies to encourage development. The City is not proposed 
to implement policies as allowed by these criteria. Therefore, these criteria are not considered 
appliable to this amendment.    
 
Conclusion: The above criteria allow a city to adopt policies related to specific economic 
development conditions but are not required. Therefore, there criteria are not considered 
applicable to this request. 
 

660-009-0025 - Designation of Lands for Industrial and Other Employment Uses 
Cities and counties must adopt measures adequate to implement policies adopted pursuant to 
OAR 660-009-0020. Appropriate implementing measures include amendments to plan and zone 
map designations, land use regulations, public facility plans, and transportation system plans. 
 
(1) Identification of Needed Sites. The plan must identify the approximate number, acreage and 
site characteristics of sites needed to accommodate industrial and other employment uses to 
implement plan policies. Plans do not need to provide a different type of site for each industrial 
or other employment use. Compatible uses with similar site characteristics may be combined into 
broad site categories. Several broad site categories will provide for industrial and other 
employment uses likely to occur in most planning areas. Cities and counties may also designate 
mixed-use zones to meet multiple needs in a given location. 
Findings: As addressed above the proposed text amendment will incorporate the EOA into 
Chapter 9 of the comprehensive plan. The EOA addresses the number, size and characteristics of 
sites needed to meet the city projected need during the planning period. As addressed above, 
Policy 9.4.101 will commit the City to maintain and adequate supply of employment lands to 
meet the projected need of the City. 
 
Conclusion: Approval of the proposed text amendment would incorporate the recently 
completed EOA into the comprehensive plan. The EOA identifies the City’s projected needs for 
industrial and commercial sites and identifies specific site deficits (size). 
 
(2) Total Land Supply. Plans must designate serviceable land suitable to meet the site needs 
identified in section (1) of this rule. Except as provided for in section (5) of this rule, the total 
acreage of land designated must at least equal the total projected land needs for each industrial or 
other employment use category identified in the plan during the 20-year planning period. 
Findings: As addressed above the proposed text amendment will incorporate the EOA into 
chapter 9 of the comprehensive plan. Appendix B of the EOA is a buildable lands inventory that 
identifies lands that are consider serviceable (vacant or redevelopable parcels) and could meet 
the site needs for the planning period. 
 
Conclusion: Approval of this amendment will incorporate the EOA into the city’s 
comprehensive plan. The proposed text amendment identifies the current land supply located 
within the UGB that could meet the projected need for industrial and commercial sites. 
 

10



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 7 of 10 

(3) Short-Term Supply of Land. Plans for cities and counties within a Metropolitan Planning 
Organization or cities and counties that adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land 
must designate suitable land to respond to economic development opportunities as they arise. 
Cities and counties may maintain the short-term supply of land according to the strategies 
adopted pursuant to OAR 660-009-0020(2). 

(a) Except as provided for in subsections (b) and (c), cities and counties subject to this 
section must provide at least 25 percent of the total land supply within the urban growth 
boundary designated for industrial and other employment uses as short-term supply. 
(b) Affected cities and counties that are unable to achieve the target in subsection (a) above 
may set an alternative target based on their economic opportunities analysis. 
(c) A planning area with 10 percent or more of the total land supply enrolled in Oregon’s 
industrial site certification program pursuant to ORS 284.565 satisfies the requirements of 
this section. 

Findings: The city is not proposing to adopt policies relating to short-term land supply and is not 
located within a metropolitan planning organization. 
 
Conclusion: The city is not located within a metropolitan planning organization and is not 
proposing to adopt policies relating to the short-term supply of land. Therefore, these criteria are 
not appliable. 
 
(4) If cities and counties are required to prepare a public facility plan or transportation system 
plan by OAR chapter 660, division 011 or division 012, the city or county must complete 
subsections (a) to (c) of this section at the time of periodic review. Requirements of this rule 
apply only to city and county decisions made at the time of periodic review. Subsequent 
implementation of or amendments to the comprehensive plan or the public facility plan that 
change the supply of serviceable land are not subject to the requirements of this section. Cities 
and counties must: 

(a) Identify serviceable industrial and other employment sites. The affected city or county in 
consultation with the local service provider, if applicable, must make decisions about 
whether a site is serviceable. Cities and counties are encouraged to develop specific criteria 
for deciding whether or not a site is serviceable. Cities and counties are strongly encouraged 
to also consider whether or not extension of facilities is reasonably likely to occur 
considering the size and type of uses likely to occur and the cost or distance of facility 
extension; 
(b) Estimate the amount of serviceable industrial and other employment land likely to be 
needed during the planning period for the public facilities plan. Appropriate techniques for 
estimating land needs include but are not limited to the following: 

(A) Projections or forecasts based on development trends in the area over previous years; 
and 
(B) Deriving a proportionate share of the anticipated 20-year need specified in the 
comprehensive plan. 

(c) Review and, if necessary, amend the comprehensive plan and the public facilities plan to 
maintain a short-term supply of land. Amendments to implement this requirement include but 
are not limited to the following: 

(A) Changes to the public facilities plan to add or reschedule projects to make more land 
serviceable; 
(B) Amendments to the comprehensive plan that redesignate additional serviceable land 
for industrial or other employment use; and 

11



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 8 of 10 

(C) Reconsideration of the planning area's economic development objectives and 
amendment of plan objectives and policies based on public facility limitations. 

(d) If a city or county is unable to meet the requirements of this section, it must identify the 
specific steps needed to provide expanded public facilities at the earliest possible time. 

Findings: The proposed text amendment is not part of periodic review. Therefore, the 
requirements of this rule are not applicable to this request. 
 
Conclusion: The proposed text amendment is not part of period review. Therefore, as 
requirements of this rule are not applicable. 

 
(5) Institutional Uses. Cities and counties are not required to designate institutional uses on 
privately owned land when implementing section (2) of this rule. Cities and counties may 
designate land in an industrial or other employment land category to compensate for any 
institutional land demand that is not designated under this section. 
Findings: Institutional uses are considered in the EOA and included in the forecast for needed 
site. However, the EOA finds that the city has a sufficient land supply to meet the city’s 
projected with the exception of large lot industrial sites. 
 
Conclusion: As addressed in the EOA the city has sufficient land to meet the city’s land supply 
needs through the planning period with the exception of large lot industrial sites. Therefore, the 
city finds that the institutional land demand can be met with the existing supply of employment 
lands located within the UGB. 
 
(6) Compatibility. Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to manage encroachment and 
intrusion of uses incompatible with industrial and other employment uses. Strategies for 
managing encroachment and intrusion of incompatible uses include, but are not limited to, 
transition areas around uses having negative impacts on surrounding areas, design criteria, 
district designation, and limiting non-essential uses within districts. 
Findings: The city has implemented zoning regulation for all of the existing commercial and 
industrial zones that require additional setback and other measures to limit the impact uses not 
compatible with industrial or commercial uses.  
 
Conclusion: The city has implemented design, development standards in all of the existing 
employment land (industrial and commercial) zoning districts. These standards minimum the 
potential encroachment and intrusion of uses not compatible with employment uses. Therefore, 
no change are necessary to comply with this requirement. 
 
(7) Availability. Cities and counties may consider land availability when designating the short-
term supply of land. Available land is vacant or developed land likely to be on the market for 
sale or lease at prices consistent with the local real estate market. Methods for determining lack 
of availability include, but are not limited to: 

(a) Bona fide offers for purchase or purchase options in excess of real market value have 
been rejected in the last 24 months; 
(b) A site is listed for sale at more than 150 percent of real market values; 
(c) An owner has not made timely response to inquiries from local or state economic 
development officials; or 
(d) Sites in an industrial or other employment land category lack diversity of ownership 
within a planning area when a single owner or entity controls more than 51 percent of those 

12



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 9 of 10 

sites. 
Findings: The availability of land within the UGB is identified in the buildable land inventory 
(appendix B of the EOA). Appendix B of the EOA is included as part of exhibit b and 
incorporated here by reference. 
 
Conclusion: The methodology for determining the availability of land within the UGB is 
identified in the buildable land inventory (appendix B of the EOA).  

 
(8) Uses with Special Siting Characteristics. Cities and counties that adopt objectives or policies 
providing for uses with special site needs must adopt policies and land use regulations providing 
for those special site needs. Special site needs include, but are not limited to large acreage sites, 
special site configurations, direct access to transportation facilities, prime industrial lands, 
sensitivity to adjacent land uses, or coastal shoreland sites designated as suited for water-
dependent use under Goal 17. Policies and land use regulations for these uses must: 

(a) Identify sites suitable for the proposed use; 
(b) Protect sites suitable for the proposed use by limiting land divisions and permissible uses 
and activities that interfere with development of the site for the intended use; and 
(c) Where necessary, protect a site for the intended use by including measures that either 
prevent or appropriately restrict incompatible uses on adjacent and nearby lands. 

Findings: The EOA considers the availability of land within the city’s UGB and considers the 
need for uses that required special siting characteristics (size). The EOA identifies the need for 
two additional 50 to 99 acres sites and one 100+ acres parcel within the UGB to meet the city 
project land supply need. However, the city is not proposing to adopt objectives or policies 
providing for uses with special site needs. Therefore, these criteria are not applicable. 
 
Conclusion: The proposed text amendment does not include objective or policies providing for 
uses with special site needs. Therefore, these criteria are not applicable. 
 
660-009-0030 - Multi-Jurisdiction Coordination 
 
(1) Cities and counties are strongly encouraged to coordinate when implementing OAR 660-009-
0015 to 660-009-0025. 
(2) Jurisdictions that coordinate under this rule may: 

(a) Conduct a single coordinated economic opportunities analysis; and 
(b) Designate lands among the coordinating jurisdictions in a mutually agreed proportion. 

Findings: These criteria allow for counties and cities to coordinate when implementing OAR 
660-009-0015 to 660-009-0025 but are not required. The City recently completed and adopted a 
Residential and Housing Needs Assessment (HNA) and proceeded with the EOA to update the 
city’s inventory and need for both residential and employment lands. The County was provided 
notice of the of the Goal 10 update, adoption of the HNA, and was provided notice of the prosed 
update. In addition, as required by the joint management agreement between the city and county 
the city will seek to have the county co-adopt both amendments. 
 
Conclusion: These criteria allow of coordination when implementing OAR 660-009-0015 to 
660-009-0025 but are not required. Therefore, these criteria are not applicable. 
 
 
 

13



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-1-20)  Page 10 of 10 

IV.  SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
The applicant, City of Umatilla, is proposing to amend the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan. 
The economic opportunity analysis has six primary sections. Economic trends, target industries, 
employment land needs, capacity, reconciliation, and economic development potential and 
conclusions. The proposed plan amendment will incorporate the relevant sections of the Umatilla 
economic opportunity analysis into Chapter 9 of the Comprehensive Plan. The request appears to 
meet all of the applicable criteria and standards for this type of request. Therefore, based on the 
information in Sections I and II of this report, and the above criteria, findings of fact and 
conclusions addressed in Section III, the staff recommends approval of Plan Amendment (PA-1-
20). 

 
VI.  EXHIBITS 
 
Exhibit A – Draft Text Change 
Exhibit B – Economic Opportunity Analysis 
 

14



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 1  

Chapter 9 of the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan will be replaced in its entirety as provided 
below. 

 
CHAPTER 9 

GOAL 9: ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
SECTION 9.0  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GOAL 

To provide for employment opportunities, revenue generation and economic stability.  
 
SECTION 9.1. ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS   

9.1.100 Economic Trends 
 
This section summarizes long and intermediate-term trends at the national, state, and local level 
that will influence economic conditions in Umatilla over the 20-year planning period. This section 
is intended to provide an economic context for growth projections and establish a socioeconomic 
profile of the community. This report’s national evaluation has a focus on potential changes in 
structural socioeconomic conditions both nationally and globally. Our localized analysis considers 
local growth trends, demographics, and economic performance. 
 
9.1.110 National Trends  
The long-term trend indicates that the United States economy has settled into a moderate growth 
trajectory at around 2.0% per year, after growing at above 4.0% per year during the 1960s and 
above 3.0% per year between 1970 and 2000. While the overall growth pace is moderating, there 
has been a shift within the economy from consumption of goods to consumption of services, 
especially services oriented around personal wellbeing (health, private education, finance). This 
reflects increasing levels of wealth and discretionary income in the population. Growth in fixed 
investment (equipment and structures) and government defense spending is also moderating – 
making manufactured goods a less significant part of the economy. 
 
Increasing international trade led to strong growth in imports during the 1990s and 2000s, partly 
due to U.S. firms offshoring operations to lower-cost markets. Exports also grew over the period, 
but at a slower pace. The offshoring trend has partially reversed in the current decade, due to rising 
costs and greater awareness of cultural barriers and various associated risks. Greater emphasis on 
leaner and more agile supply chains, combined with demand for customized products and rapid 
delivery, has also contributed to growth in domestic production. This impact has been greatest in 
auto manufacturing. Despite this “reshoring” trend, imports from Asia continue to grow at a faster 
clip than domestic manufacturing. 
 
The most commonly used measure of economic prosperity is real gross domestic product (GDP) 
per capita. Real GDP per capita is essentially a measure of national wealth considered on an 
individual basis, and the increased purchasing power of the population translates into greater 
investment in health care, education, housing, leisure, and many other sectors. U.S. real GDP per 

15



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 2  

capita remains stable. Over the last century, the average annual growth rate has been 1.8%, despite 
considerable shifts in economic and social conditions—a finding that suggests long-term economic 
growth is more closely related to broad trends, such as population growth and investment in 
physical and human capital, than temporary economic fluctuations, like the recent recession and 
government policy. 
  
The “Great Recession” officially spurred six consecutive quarters of negative economic growth in 
2008 and early 2009. The depth and duration of this downturn was the most pronounced since 
World War II. The current expansion cycle has been sustained yet the pace of growth is modest to 
date. Credit markets have been more stringent, businesses are more cautious, and housing 
construction has yet to emerge as a driving catalyst. 
 

FIGURE 2.01: NATIONAL GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT TRENDS 

 
 
 

SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis

PERCENT CHANGE IN REAL GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT

ANNUAL PERCENT CHANGE IN GDP COMPONENTS

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 C

ha
ng

e

-25

0

25

50

75

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 C

ha
ng

e

Personal consumption expenditures

Gross private domestic investment

  Imports

  Exports

Government consumption

16



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 3  

Overall, national economic output has seen a notable moderation in growth over the past two 
decades, with most of the current business cycle hovering around 2.0% growth per year. Economic 
forecasters generally expect a cyclical moderation over the 2020-23 period, reflecting downward 
pressures from the maturing of our decade-long economic expansion. Potential GDP growth, 
which measures the GDP growth that can be sustained at a constant rate of inflation, indicates 
future long-term growth will remain around 2.0% per year. In the near-term, considerable 
economic uncertainty exists due to global trade and currency conflicts among the US and many of 
its traditional trading partners. 
 
The expansion in GDP has been reflected in employment growth, which has ranged between 1.4% 
and 2.2% in the current expansion cycle. Preliminary estimates indicate an acceleration in the rate 
of GDP as well as employment growth in 2018. While overall trends have been positive for almost 
a decade, there will likely be two to three downturns at the national level over the next twenty 
years. 
 

FIGURE 2.02: NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT TRENDS 

 
      SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis 

1.
9%

2.
4%

0.
1%

-0
.3

%

0.
5%

1.
8% 2.

1%

2.
0% 2.
1%

-0
.2

%

-3
.1

%

-0
.4

%

1.
8%

1.
6% 1.

9% 2.
1% 2.
2%

1.
6%

1.
4%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT BY YEAR - NATIONAL

150,000

155,000

160,000

165,000

170,000

175,000

180,000

185,000

190,000

195,000

200,000

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

TOTAL EMPLOYMENT LEVEL, NATIONAL

17



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 4  

A few additional trends have significant implications for the industrial real estate market: E-
commerce is rapidly taking market share from brick-and-mortar retailers, approaching 10% of all 
retail sales. This has caused a shift in storage needs from retail stores to warehouses and 
distribution centers. At the same time, automation is causing a consolidation within the 
warehousing and distribution industry, leading to increasing reliance on larger third-party 
operators capable of making heavy investments in capital and expertise. Automation is also 
impacting the manufacturing industry, though to a lesser extent and primarily among larger 
industry leaders. Finally, changes in the use of electronic devices and growth in online services 
are causing a shift in the tech sector, from hardware manufacturing to software development. 
 
Due to limited growth in demand for domestic goods and competition from low-cost markets, the 
U.S. manufacturing sector has lost one-third of its jobs since its peak in the late 1970s, with its 
share of total employment falling from 24% to 8%. With a strong dollar relative to the currencies 
of key trading partners, there remains significant headwinds for manufacturers that export a 
considerable level of product. Sectors seeing significant expansion over the prior decade include 
health care, professional and business services, and leisure and hospitality. Projections call for all 
major sectors except for manufacturing and federal government will see growth over the coming 
decade. 

FIGURE 2.03: NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH BY SECTOR, HISTORIC AND PROJECTED 

 
SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 
Recent trends and current forecasts reflect a shift from a goods economy, featuring manufacturing 
and natural resources, towards a service economy, which emphasizes technological innovation, 
research, and design. 
 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000

Agriculture, natural resources

Mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Utilities

Wholesale trade

Retail trade

Transportation and warehousing

Information

Financial activities

Professional and business services

Educational services

Health care and social assistance

Leisure and hospitality

Other services

Federal government

State and local government

Nonagriculture self-employed

THOUSANDS OF JOBS

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY, HISTORIC AND PROJECTED

2026

2016

2006

-4,000 -2,000 0 2,000 4,000 6,000
THOUSANDS OF JOBS

EMPLOYMENT CHANGE BY INDUSTRY

2016-26

2006-16

18



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 5  

Consumer spending accounts for more than two-thirds of the U.S. economy, therefore changing 
spending patterns dictate much of the shifts in the economy. The post-war era has been marked by 
increasing wealth and discretionary spending, which has shifted spending away from necessities 
and led households to buy goods and services that used to be produced in-house. The strongest 
spending growth over recent decades has come in categories that represent investments in personal 
wellbeing, with healthcare/health products at the top of the list, followed by private education and 
financial services. Categories that represent more short-term enjoyment, like recreation, food 
services, and accommodations, occupy the middle segment, while necessities like groceries, 
clothing, transportation, and housing have seen only moderate growth. Spending on health is 
expected to continue to increase strongly over the coming decades as the baby boomer cohort ages. 
 

FIGURE 2.04: CONSUMER SPENDING GROWTH SINCE 1960, BY CATEGORY, UNITED STATES (1960-2017) 

 

        SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
The most dramatic spending shift in the context of real estate in recent times is the growth in online 
shopping, which has reduced the overall need for brick-and-mortar space, especially from retailers 
selling physical goods, while increasing the need for warehousing and distribution space. Online 
retailing accounted for an estimated 10% of all retail spending in 2018, at around $500 million in 
annual sales on a national level. Since the last recession, the segment has grown by around 15% 
per year, and it is currently taking market share from brick-and-mortar stores at a rate of nearly 
one percentage point annually. 

FIGURE 2.05: ONLINE RETAIL MARKET SHARE, UNITED STATES (2000-2017) 

  

    SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

0%

5000%

10000%

15000%

19
60

19
63

19
66

19
69

19
72

19
75

19
78

19
81

19
84

19
87

19
90

19
93

19
96

19
99

20
02

20
05

20
08

20
11

20
14

20
17

Health

Education

Financial services, insurance

Recreation

Communication

Food services, accommodations

Housing, utilities, and fuels

Other goods and services

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

1Q
00

4Q
00

3Q
01

2Q
02

1Q
03

4Q
03

3Q
04

2Q
05

1Q
06

4Q
06

3Q
07

2Q
08

1Q
09

4Q
09

3Q
10

2Q
11

1Q
12

4Q
12

3Q
13

2Q
14

1Q
15

4Q
15

3Q
16

2Q
17

19



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 6  

9.1.120 Umatilla County & City of Umatilla Economic Trends 
 
The annual rate of employment growth in Umatilla County has mirrored the broad national and 
statewide trends. However, after the emerging from the recession in 2008/2009, the county again 
experienced job losses until 2016. In recent years, county employment has been growing at roughly 
1% per year. 
 

FIGURE 2.06: COMPARISON OF ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH RATES 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
On a cumulative basis Umatilla County has fallen behind the national and statewide averages, with 
the employment base up less than 10% over the last twenty years. 
 
FIGURE 2.07: CUMULATIVE EMPLOYMENT GROWTH 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

-5%
-4%
-3%
-2%
-1%
0%
1%
2%
3%
4%
5%

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

An
nu

al
 Em

pl
oy

m
en

t 
Gr

ow
th

ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH RATE

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

90
95

100
105
110
115
120
125
130
135
140

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t I

nd
ex

 (1
99

8 
= 

10
0)

CUMULATIVE EMPLOYMENT GROWTH (1998=100)

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

20



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 7  

The employment base in Umatilla County has a somewhat lower share of self-employed than the 
national and state averages, with wage and salary employment accounting for roughly 80% of 
overall estimated employment in the county. This compares to rates approaching 78% statewide 
as well as nationally. 
 

FIGURE 2.08: % OF TOTAL EMPLOYMENT REPRESENTED BY WAGE & SALARY 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
Umatilla County’s employment base has been relatively stable since 2000, with the economic 
expansion adding a notable number of new jobs since 2016. The local employment level is at an 
all-time high, with average employment levels approaching 40,000 in 2017. However, this level 
does not greatly exceed the employment level seen in 2008 prior to the outset of the recession. 
  

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

% OF EMPLOYMENT WAGE & SALARY

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

21



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 8  

 
FIGURE 2.09: UMATILLA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT TRENDS 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 
 

The local employment profile is highly seasonal, reflecting the area’s relatively high proportion of 
agricultural employment.  
  

22



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 9  

 
FIGURE 2.10: UMATILLA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT LEVEL BY MONTH 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
FIGURE 2.11: UNEMPLOYMENT RATE TRENDS 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000
20

01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

Em
pl

oy
m

en
t

EMPLOYMENT LEVEL - UMATILLA
QUARTERLY CENSUS OF EMPLOYMNT AND WAGES (COVERED EMPLOYMENT)

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

U
N

EM
PL

O
YM

EN
T 

RA
TE

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE COMPARISON

U.S.
Oregon
Umatilla County

23



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 10  

The economic expansion has facilitated a commensurate drop in the unemployment rate, with 
Umatilla County following the national and statewide patterns. Tight labor market conditions are 
likely to limit growth potential in the future both locally and nationally. The local area’s ability to 
attract and retain workforce will be critical to sustaining economic growth going forward. In mid-
2019, the countywide unemployment rate had fallen to a healthy 5%, slightly higher than the 
statewide rate of 4%. 
 
According to the Oregon Employment Department, most industries are forecast to expand at a 
modest rate over the next decade in the broader area (Morrow and Umatilla Counties). On an 
absolute basis, the greatest gains are forecast in professional and business services, leisure and 
hospitality, and construction. On a rate of growth basis, the most rapid expansion is expected in 
the natural resources, manufacturing, government, and education and health services sectors. 
 

FIGURE 2.12: PROJECTED EMPLOYMENT GROWTH BY SECTOR, MORROW & UMATILLA COUNTIES 

 
SOURCE: State of Oregon Employment Department 

 
Like much of eastern and central Oregon, the forestry industry has seen a sharp decline in 
production, which is largely attributable to declines in production from public lands since 1993 
(Figure 2.13). The broader region has been actively pursuing new and ongoing opportunities in the 
industry, including small diameter timber, biomass, and engineered wood products. Forestry is a 

Natural Resources

Mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transport.,Warehousing,Utilities

Information

Financial Activities

Professional & Technical Services

Education & Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

Self-Employment

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY, PROJECTED

2017

2027

EMPLOYMENT CHANGE BY 
INDUSTRY

2017-27

24



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 11  

smaller factor in communities along the river gorge, such as Umatilla, however timber activity to 
the south can create some opportunities in wood manufacturing and shipping. 
 

FIGURE 2.13: ANNUAL TIMBER PRODUCTION IN UMATILLA COUNTY (1962-2017) 

 
SOURCE: Oregon Department of Forestry 

 
Employment in Umatilla County is concentrated in the Hermiston/Umatilla corridor, as well as in 
the Pendleton area.  Employment in the city of Umatilla is concentrated in the downtown area, 
in the area of the correctional facility and Port properties, and along Lind Road (Figure 2.14). 
 

FIGURE 2.14: DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT, CITY OF UMATILLA CITY, 2017 

 
SOURCE: Census Bureau, LEHD Data 
 

0

25,000

50,000

75,000

100,000

125,000

150,000

175,000

200,000
19

62
19

64
19

66
19

68
19

70
19

72
19

74
19

76
19

78
19

80
19

82
19

84
19

86
19

88
19

90
19

92
19

94
19

96
19

98
20

00
20

02
20

04
20

06
20

08
20

10
20

12
20

14
20

16

Th
ou

sa
nd

s o
f B

oa
rd

 F
ee

t

Total Private

Total Public

25



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 12  

9.1.121 Commuting 
Residents and employees commute broadly within Umatilla County and beyond. In the City of 
Umatilla, the local workforce was estimated at roughly 2,589 in 2017, of which 2,345 (90%) 
travelled outside of the city for employment while an estimated 244 both lived and worked within 
the city limits (Figure 2.15). 
 
At the same time, an estimated 1,730 workers commuted into the city for employment, making up 
over 85% of the local job base of roughly 1,975. (These figures include covered employment and 
do not capture all forms of self-employment or contracting. Therefore, these figures are best used 
as an imprecise indicator of the overall pattern.) 
  
This pattern is familiar to many communities across the state, but the extent to which local residents 
commute elsewhere for employment, and residents of other communities commute in for local 
jobs, seems somewhat starker in the case of Umatilla. 
 

FIGURE 2.15: NET INFLOW-OUTFLOW OF EMPLOYEES, CITY OF UMATILLA, 2017 

 
SOURCE: Census Bureau, LEHD Data 

 
Commuting patterns are an important element in the local economy. They are indicative of the 
labor shed from which companies can draw workers, the extent to which job creation translates 
into increased demand for housing, goods, and services, and the overall balance of population and 
employment in the community.  
Income and age demographics of the workforce commuting into and out of Umatilla are similar 
(Figure 2.16). 
  

2,3451,730 244

Local Employees
Commuting From

Elsewhere

Local Residents
Employed in

The City

Local Residents
Employed
Elsewhere

26



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 13  

FIGURE 2.16: NET INFLOW-OUTFLOW DETAIL, CITY OF UMATILLA, 2017 

 
 
9.1.122 Population and Workforce 
The population base in Umatilla County and Umatilla have grown at a rate of slightly under 1% 
since 2010, according to the Population Research Center at Portland State University.  The growth 

Count Share Count Share
Selection Area Labor Market Size (Primary Jobs)
Employed in the Selection Area 1,974 100.0% 31,226 100.0%
Living in the Selection Area 2,589 131.2% 31,621 101.3%
Net Job Inflow (+) or Outflow (-) (615) - (395) -
In-Area Labor Force Efficiency (Primary Jobs)
Living in the Selection Area 2,589 100.0% 31,621 100.0%
Living and Employed in the Selection Area 244 9.4% 21,396 67.7%
Living in the Selection Area but Employed Outside 2,345 90.6% 10,225 32.3%
In-Area Employment Efficiency (Primary Jobs)
Employed in the Selection Area 1,974 100.0% 31,226 100.0%
Employed and Living in the Selection Area 244 12.4% 21,396 68.5%
Employed in the Selection Area but Living Outside 1,730 87.6% 9,830 31.5%
Outflow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
External Jobs Fil led by Residents 2,345 100.0% 10,225 100.0%
Workers Aged 29 or younger 570 24.3% 2,445 23.9%
Workers Aged 30 to 54 1,192 50.8% 5,222 51.1%
Workers Aged 55 or older 583 24.9% 2,558 25.0%
Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 443 18.9% 2,301 22.5%
Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 1,010 43.1% 3,820 37.4%
Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 892 38.0% 4,104 40.1%
Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 835 35.6% 3,119 30.5%
Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 578 24.6% 2,235 21.9%
Workers in the "All  Other Services" Industry Class 932 39.7% 4,871 47.6%
Inflow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
Internal Jobs Fil led by Outside Workers 1,730 100.0% 9,830 100.0%
Workers Aged 29 or younger 318 18.4% 2,325 23.7%
Workers Aged 30 to 54 970 56.1% 5,078 51.7%
Workers Aged 55 or older 442 25.5% 2,427 24.7%
Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 372 21.5% 2,262 23.0%
Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 594 34.3% 3,953 40.2%
Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 764 44.2% 3,615 36.8%
Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 715 41.3% 2,600 26.4%
Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 143 8.3% 2,683 27.3%
Workers in the "All  Other Services" Industry Class 872 50.4% 4,547 46.3%
Interior Flow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
Internal Jobs Fil led by Residents 244 100.0% 21,396 100.0%
Workers Aged 29 or younger 58 23.8% 4,975 23.3%
Workers Aged 30 to 54 128 52.5% 11,242 52.5%
Workers Aged 55 or older 58 23.8% 5,179 24.2%
Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 63 25.8% 4,566 21.3%
Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 99 40.6% 9,214 43.1%
Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 82 33.6% 7,616 35.6%
Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 78 32.0% 5,105 23.9%
Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 26 10.7% 3,882 18.1%
Workers in the "All  Other Services" Industry Class 140 57.4% 12,409 58.0%

SOURCE: US Census Burea, LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics

Umatilla Umatilla County
2017 2017

27



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 14  

rate is estimated to have increased in more recent years and is projected to accelerate over the 
coming 20-year period.  The City of Umatilla had an estimated population of 7,320 in 2018, or 9% 
of the Umatilla County total of nearly 81,000 people.  
 

FIGURE 2.17: HISTORIC POPULATION TRENDS, UMATILLA COUNTY AND CITY OF UMATILLA 

 

 
SOURCE: Population Research Center, Portland State University 

 
The composition of the population base is expected to become generally older. The trend is most 
pronounced for residents over 75 years of age, but modest growth is also anticipated in age 
categories that are traditionally in the workforce.  
 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000
TOTAL RESIDENT POPULATION

City of Umatilla

Remainder of County

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

POPULATION GROWTH, CITY OF UMATILLA

28



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 15  

 
FIGURE 2.18: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY AGE COHORT, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: Population Research Center, Portland State University 

 
Race and Ethnicity:  The population of Umatilla County is estimated to be 85% white and 15% 
minority or bi-racial, a very similar minority share as Oregon.  The County is estimated to have a 
higher share of Native Americans, and a somewhat lower share of Black and Asian residents.   
Latinos are estimated to make up 26% of the county population, compared to 13% statewide. 
 

FIGURE 2.19: DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY RACE & ETHNICITY, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: Census (Tables QT-P3, B02001, B03002) Population Research Center, Portland State University 
* 2017 Total county population is based on PSU 2017 estimate, applying the distribution of race and ethnicity from 2017 ACS. 
 

With steady growth in population, residential permits in Umatilla County have averaged 137 per 
year since 2000, with the majority being single-family homes.  After experiencing some multi-
family development prior to the 2008 recession, permitting has been slow for the past decade. 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000

00-04

05-09

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

70-74

75-79

80-84

85+

POPULATON BY AGE COHORT

2040

2030

2020

-500 0 500 1,000 1,500

00-04

05-09

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

70-74

75-79

80-84

85+

NET CHANGE IN POPULATON BY AGE COHORT

2030-40

2020-30

2000 2017 Change Share 2000 2017 Change Share

Total: 70,548 80,500 14% 100% 3,421,399 4,025,127 18% 100%

White 57,852 68,585 19% 85% 2,961,623 3,416,776 15% 85%

Black 582 626 8% 1% 55,662 76,347 37% 2%

Native American 2,375 2,514 6% 3% 45,211 45,332 0% 1%

Asian 530 635 20% 1% 101,350 166,351 64% 4%

Hawaiian or Pac. Islander 124 140 13% 0% 7,976 15,157 90% 0%

Other Race 7,529 4,263 -43% 5% 144,832 121,000 -16% 3%

Two or More Races 1,556 3,738 140% 5% 104,745 184,164 76% 5%

Latino (of any race) 11,366 20,917 84% 26% 275,314 509,507 85% 13%

Distribution of Population
Umatilla County Oregon

29



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 16  

 
FIGURE 2.20: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL PERMITS, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: HUD 

 
The city of Umatilla has accounted for roughly 12% of the total county residential permits since 
2000.  Nearly 300 units have been permitted since 2000, with 20% being multi-family units 
permitted prior to 2008. 
 

FIGURE 2.21: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL PERMITS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 
SOURCE: HUD 

The educational attainment level of the local workforce is lower in the city and county as the 
statewide profile.  Residents of working age are more likely to have a high-school education, and 
less likely to have a college degree. 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

19
80

19
82

19
84

19
86

19
88

19
90

19
92

19
94

19
96

19
98

20
00

20
02

20
04

20
06

20
08

20
10

20
12

20
14

20
16

20
18

UN
IT

S

RESIDENTIAL PERMITS - UMATILLA COUNTY TOTAL

Multi Family

Single Family

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

19
80

19
82

19
84

19
86

19
88

19
90

19
92

19
94

19
96

19
98

20
00

20
02

20
04

20
06

20
08

20
10

20
12

20
14

20
16

20
18

UN
IT

S

RESIDENTIAL PERMITS - UMATILLA CITY

Multi Family

Single Family

30



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 17  

 
FIGURE 2.23: EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT STATUS, 2017 

 
  

CITY (In Labor Force)

Count
%

Count
%

Count
%

Less Than High School G
raduate

4,252
57.8%

38,721
55.1%

207,945
9.8%

In labor force:
664

15.6%
4,987

12.9%
137,621

66.2%
   In Arm

ed Forces
0

0.0%
0

0.0%
0

0.0%
   Civilian:

664
15.6%

4,987
12.9%

137,621
66.2%

      Em
ployed

600
14.1%

4,555
11.8%

120,998
58.2%

      Unem
ployed

64
1.5%

432
1.1%

16,623
8.0%

   Not in labor force
478

11.2%
2,236

5.8%
70,324

33.8%
High school graduate (includes equivalency):

1,629
22.1%

10,814
15.4%

478,316
22.5%

In labor force:
662

40.6%
7,241

67.0%
340,327

71.2%
STATE O

F O
REGO

N
 (In Labor Force)

   In Arm
ed Forces

0
0.0%

10
0.1%

344
0.1%

   Civilian:
662

40.6%
7,231

66.9%
339,983

71.1%
      Em

ployed
578

35.5%
6,666

61.6%
309,361

64.7%
      Unem

ployed
84

5.2%
565

5.2%
30,622

6.4%
   Not in labor force

967
59.4%

3,573
33.0%

137,989
28.8%

Som
e college or associate's degree:

1,282
17.4%

14,824
21.1%

750,303
35.4%

In labor force:
447

34.9%
10,608

71.6%
570,931

76.1%
   In Arm

ed Forces
0

0.0%
16

0.1%
1,004

0.1%
   Civilian:

447
34.9%

10,592
71.5%

569,927
76.0%

      Em
ployed

420
32.8%

9,996
67.4%

530,003
70.6%

      Unem
ployed

27
2.1%

596
4.0%

39,924
5.3%

UN
EM

PLO
YM

EN
T RATES

   Not in labor force
835

65.1%
4,216

28.4%
179,372

23.9%
Bachelor's degree or higher:

199
2.7%

5,860
8.3%

684,648
32.3%

In labor force:
94

47.2%
4,844

82.7%
573,083

83.7%
   In Arm

ed Forces
0

0.0%
1

0.0%
746

0.1%
   Civilian:

94
47.2%

4,843
82.6%

572,337
83.6%

      Em
ployed

94
47.2%

4,717
80.5%

549,574
80.3%

      Unem
ployed

0
0.0%

126
2.2%

22,763
3.3%

   Not in labor force
105

52.8%
1,016

17.3%
111,565

16.3%

SO
URCE: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 Am

erican Com
m

unity Survey 5-Year Estim
ates

Um
atilla County

2017
City of Um

atilla
State of O

regon
2017

2017

< H
igh 

School
36%

H
igh 

School 
G

raduate
35%

Som
e College/ 

Associates
24%

Bachelor's 
D

egree +
5%

< H
igh School

9%

H
igh School 

G
raduate

21%

Som
e College/ 

Associates
35%

Bachelor's 
D

egree +
35%0%

5%
10%

15%

< High School

High School…

Som
e College/…

Bachelor's Degree…
State

City

31



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 18  

 
9.2.200  Target Industry Analysis 
This element of the Economic Opportunities Analysis uses analytical tools to assess the economic 
landscape in Umatilla and Umatilla County. The objective of this process is to identify a range of 
industry types that can be considered targeted economic opportunities over the 20-year planning 
period. 
 
A range of analytical tools to assess the local and regional economic landscape are used to 
determine the industry typologies the City should consider targeting over the planning period. 
Where possible, we look to identify the sectors that are likely to drive growth in current and 
subsequent cycles. 
 
9.1.210 Economic Specialization 
The most common analytical tool to evaluate economic specialization is a location quotient (LQ) 
analysis. This metric compares the concentration of employment in an industry at the local level 
to a larger geography. All industry categories are assumed to have a quotient of 1.0 on the national 
level, and a locality’s quotient indicates if the local share of employment in each industry is greater 
or less than the share seen nationwide.  For instance, a quotient of 2.0 indicates that locally, that 
industry represents twice the share of total employment as seen nationwide.  A quotient of 0.5 
indicates that the local industry has half the expected employment. 
 
We completed a location quotient analysis for Umatilla County, which compares the distribution 
of local employment relative to national averages, as well as average annual wage levels by 
industry (Figure 3.1). The most over-represented industries were natural resources and mining, 
manufacturing and government. 
 

FIGURE 3.1: INDUSTRY SECTOR SPECIALIZATION BY MAJOR INDUSTRY, UMATILLA COUNTY, 20181 

 
SOURCE: Bureau of Labor Statistics 

 
1  QCEW Data, Annual Average 2018 Data 

Annual Avg. Annual Total Annual Avg. Annual Employment

Establishments Employment Wages Wages Loc. Quotient

1011 Natural resources and mining 193 3,386 $111,161,727 $32,832 8.3
1012 Construction 193 1,176 $61,441,498 $52,265 0.8
1013 Manufacturing 74 3,415 $139,497,112 $40,849 1.3
1021 Trade, transportation, and utilities 402 6,341 $260,936,079 $41,149 1.1
1022 Information 23 175 $7,251,966 $41,479 0.3
1023 Financial activities 153 698 $32,889,517 $47,137 0.4
1024 Professional and business services 201 1,403 $55,157,349 $39,319 0.3
1025 Education and health services 218 3,778 $159,564,205 $42,233 0.8
1026 Leisure and hospitality 211 2,578 $44,250,408 $17,166 0.8
1027 Other services 421 999 $26,607,848 $26,634 1.1

Federal Government 32 485 $36,873,687 $76,002 0.8
State Government 44 1,391 $90,039,107 $64,730 1.4
Local Government 104 5,047 $216,324,995 $42,861 1.7
Total 2,269 30,872 $1,241,995,498 $40,231

Industry

32



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 19  

In terms of total employment, the largest sectors are government, 
transportation/warehousing/utilities, education and health services, and manufacturing.  Natural 
resources (agriculture and forestry, and support services to these industries) as well as leisure and 
hospitality (tourism-related industry) are also major employment sectors in the county. 
 
Figure 3.2 shows a more detailed analysis of the top 20 local industry subsectors in the county, as 
ranked by their LQ. The LQ shows that agricultural subsectors have the highest share of 
employment in comparison to nationwide averages, but also food manufacturing and wood product 
manufacturing.  Various transportation and distribution-related industries are also well 
represented, as are utilities.  Nursing and residential care, construction, and retailers are some of 
the subsectors rounding out the list. 
 
The average wage LQ (right column) is an indicator of how much local wages paid in these 
industries are paid relative to the total wages in that industry typical across the nation.  For instance, 
the agricultural and forestry subsector in Umatilla County represents 28.5 times the share of total 
wages paid as would be expected by looking at the national average. 
 

FIGURE 3.2: INDUSTRY SECTOR SPECIALIZATION BY DETAILED INDUSTRY, UMATILLA COUNTY, 2018 

 
SOURCE: Bureau of Labor Statistics 

 
Sectors such as local government, education, health care and retail trade, are industries that are 
driven by serving a local population. The county also has a significant amount of employment in 
export or “traded sector” industries that send their products beyond the county, and thus bring new 
dollars into the region.  These industries include manufacturing, utilities, and data centers. 

Rank NAICS Description Employment
Emp. 
L.Q.

Average 
Wage

Total Wages 
L.Q.

1 115 Agriculture and forestry support activities 1,685 20.6 $32,950 28.5
2 111 Crop production 1,393 12.0 $31,030 15.6
3 311 Food manufacturing 1,711 5.0 $41,909 6.2
4 112 Animal production and aquaculture 237 4.2 $38,318 5.9
5 321 Wood product manufacturing 357 4.2 $44,516 5.8
6 814 Private households 235 3.9 $18,252 3.8
7 484 Truck transportation 789 2.5 $60,964 4.1
8 447 Gasoline stations 450 2.3 $19,028 2.8
9 485 Transit and ground passenger transportation 151 1.5 $23,353 1.4

10 221 Utilities 170 1.5 $109,579 2.1
11 623 Nursing and residential care facilities 985 1.4 $28,869 1.8
12 236 Construction of buildings 422 1.2 $52,518 1.4
13 452 General merchandise stores 787 1.2 $26,238 1.8
14 441 Motor vehicle and parts dealers 484 1.1 $46,121 1.5
15 813 Membership associations and organizations 331 1.1 $22,670 0.8
16 811 Repair and maintenance 295 1.1 $34,824 1.2
17 445 Food and beverage stores 684 1.1 $24,680 1.5
18 424 Merchant wholesalers, nondurable goods 449 1.0 $56,184 1.1
19 312 Beverage and tobacco product manufacturing 54 0.9 $24,687 0.6
20 562 Waste management and remediation services 85 0.9 $45,727 1.0

33



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 20  

9.1.220 Economic Drivers 
The identification of the economic drivers of a local or regional economy is critical in informing 
the character and nature of future employment, and by extension land demand over a planning 
cycle. To this end, we employ a shift-share analysis of the local economy emerging out of the 
current expansion cycle2.  
 
A shift-share analysis measures local effect of economic performance within an industry or 
occupation. The process considers local economic performance in the context of national economic 
trends—indicating the extent to which local growth can be attributed to unique regional 
competitiveness or simply growth in line with broader trends.  
 
For example, assume that Widget Manufacturing is growing at a 1.5% rate locally, about the same 
rate as the local economy. On the surface we would consider the Widget Manufacturing industry 
to be healthy and contributing soundly to local economic expansion. However, consider also that 
Widget Manufacturing is booming across the country, growing at a robust 4% annually. In this 
context, local widget manufacturers are struggling, and some local or regional condition is stifling 
economic opportunities. 
 
We can generally classify industries, groups of industries, or clusters into four groups:  
 

• Growing, Outperforming: Industries that are growing locally at a rate faster than the 
national average. These industries have local characteristics leading them to be particularly 
competitive.  

 
• Growing, Underperforming: Industries that are growing locally but slower than the 

national average. These industries generally have a sound foundation, but some local factor 
is limiting growth.  

 
• Contracting, Outperforming: Industries that are declining locally but slower than the 

national average. These industries have structural issues that are impacting growth industry 
wide. However, local firms are leveraging some local or regional factor that is making them 
more competitive than other firms on average.  

 
• Contracting, Underperforming: Industries that are declining locally at a rate faster than 

the national average. These industries have structural issues that are impacting growth 
industry wide. However, some local or regional factor is making it increasingly tough on 
local firms.  

 
We evaluated the average annual growth rate by industry from 2008 through 2017 for Umatilla 
County relative to the national rate. The observed local change was compared to a standardized 
level reflecting what would be expected if the local industry grew at a rate consistent with national 
rates for that industry.  

 
2  Measured from the trough of recent recession to 2017, the most recent period available for local employment data. 

34



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 21  

As shown in Figure 3.3, only a few industries showed growth in excess of national rates. These 
include manufacturing, natural resources industries, real estate rental and leasing, and wholesale 
trade.   
 
It is also known that in the last few years, Umatilla County has added significant employment and 
investment in the data center industry.  This employment is not yet reflected in the most recent 
QCEW data (2017) of covered employment where it would appear under the “Information” sector.  
It is known that this industry has experienced significant and rapid growth in the county and the 
city of Umatilla itself.  (This target industry is discussed more in the following section.) 
 

FIGURE 3.3: INDUSTRY SECTOR SHIFT SHARE ANALYSIS, UMATILLA COUNTY (2008 – 2017) 

 

Standardized Regional
Industry 2007 2017 Total AAGR Level - 2017 * Shift
Farm Employment 3,036 3,401 365 1.1% 3,038 363
Forestry, Fishing, and Related Activities 1,124 1,537 413 3.2% 1,209 328
Mining 58 106 48 6.2% 72 34
Utilities 180 193 13 0.7% 200 (7)
Construction 1,663 1,569 (94) -0.6% 1,642 (73)
Manufacturing 3,449 3,771 322 0.9% 3,284 487
Wholesale Trade 890 1,002 112 1.2% 885 117
Retail Trade 4,095 3,948 (147) -0.4% 4,246 (298)
Transportation and Warehousing 2,901 3,047 146 0.5% 3,820 (773)
Information 310 236 (74) -2.7% 299 (63)
Finance and Insurance 994 924 (70) -0.7% 1,147 (223)
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 985 1,250 265 2.4% 1,168 82
Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 1,018 871 (147) -1.5% 1,153 (282)
Management of Companies and Enterprises 86 153 67 5.9% 111 42
Administrative and Waste Services 2,270 1,222 (1,048) -6.0% 2,551 (1,329)
Educational Services 191 140 (51) -3.1% 233 (93)
Health Care and Social Assistance 3,913 4,349 436 1.1% 4,713 (364)
Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 475 407 (68) -1.5% 558 (151)
Accommodation and Food Services 2,410 2,657 247 1.0% 2,881 (224)
Other Services (except Public Administration) 1,714 1,800 86 0.5% 1,897 (97)
Federal Civilian 892 495 (397) -5.7% 905 (410)
Military 209 178 (31) -1.6% 194 (16)
State Government 1,654 1,417 (237) -1.5% 1,669 (252)
Local Government 4,820 5,039 219 0.4% 4,779 260
TOTAL 39,337 39,712 375 0.1% 42,654 (2,942)

* Employment level  in each industry had i t grown at the same rate as  i ts  counterparts  at the national  level  over the same period.

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analys is

Average Employment Net Change

(1,500)

(1,000)

(500)

0

500

1,000

1,500

Fa
rm

 E
m

pl
oy

m
en

t

Fo
re

st
ry

, F
ish

in
g,

 a
nd

 R
el

at
ed

 A
ct

iv
iti

es

M
in

in
g

U
til

iti
es

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n

M
an

uf
ac

tu
rin

g

W
ho

le
sa

le
 T

ra
de

Re
ta

il 
Tr

ad
e

Tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n 
an

d 
W

ar
eh

ou
si

ng

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

Fi
na

nc
e 

an
d 

In
su

ra
nc

e

Re
al

 E
st

at
e 

an
d 

Re
nt

al
 a

nd
 L

ea
sin

g

Pr
of

es
sio

na
l, 

Sc
ie

nt
ifi

c,
 a

nd
 T

ec
hn

ic
al

 S
er

vi
ce

s

M
an

ag
em

en
t o

f C
om

pa
ni

es
 a

nd
 E

nt
er

pr
ise

s

Ad
m

in
ist

ra
tiv

e 
an

d 
W

as
te

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Ed
uc

at
io

na
l S

er
vi

ce
s

He
al

th
 C

ar
e 

an
d 

So
ci

al
 A

ss
is

ta
nc

e

Ar
ts

, E
nt

er
ta

in
m

en
t, 

an
d 

Re
cr

ea
tio

n

Ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

an
d 

Fo
od

 S
er

vi
ce

s

O
th

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s (

ex
ce

pt
 P

ub
lic

 A
dm

in
is

tr
at

io
n)

Fe
de

ra
l C

iv
ili

an

M
ili

ta
ry

St
at

e 
G

ov
er

nm
en

t

Lo
ca

l G
ov

er
nm

en
t

Observed

Predicted

35



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 22  

9.1.230 Economic Development Assets 
In this section, we summarize some of the key economic development assets of the city and the 
area, which will shape the nature of economic growth in the foreseeable future. 

 
1. Abundance of Energy & Water 

Availability of quality power will continue to increase regional competitiveness over the 
long-term. This provides an advantage when pursuing users requiring large power sources, 
including data center investments, as well as durable goods manufacturing.  While much 
of the local power production is exported outside of the region, there is substantial loss in 
transmission.  Average electrical rates in Oregon are 23% below national levels, but higher 
than those in Washington or Idaho. 

 
2. Transportation Linkages 

Along with abundant affordable power, transportation linkages are arguably the region’s 
best asset. The city of Umatilla is positioned near one of only five confluences of major 
interstates in Oregon and is the only one outside of the Willamette Valley. The City is also 
located at the border with Washington State, with the next nearest bridge crossings of the 
Columbia located 50 miles north, or 80 miles to the west. Further, the Port terminals and 
regional rail linkages provide access to world-wide shipping networks, particularly for the 
region’s agricultural products. 

 
3. Amenity Values 

Amenity values are encompassed in the concept of livability.  Amenity values are often 
characterized in the field of Economics and Economic Geography because amenity values 
have real economic impacts on attracting residents, employers and workforce to an area. 
The Columbia Basin has abundant natural amenities, with scenery and proximity to nature 
and recreational activities. However, the region is lacking in some urban amenities given 
the size of its communities. 

 
4. Proximity to a Large Well-Educated Workforce 

While the local workforce is underrepresented in higher skilled laborers, regional economic 
growth can tap into a large population base with above average training levels. Both 
Umatilla (15.6%) and Morrow Counties (10.7%) have lower rates of persons aged 25 and 
older holding bachelor’s degrees than the State of Oregon (29.0%).  In Benton County, the 
ratio is 27.7% while the State of Washington ratio is 31.4%. 3   Benton and Franklin 
Counties in Washington combine for 42,000 adults with an Associate Degree or better.  
The size and commuting patterns of the greater region, allows for large new employers to 
draw sufficient workforce from beyond the immediate community if needed. 

 
5. Flat, Developable Land 

The study area has a diversity of potentially available land to accommodate a range of uses 
and intensity of uses. This diversity can expand regional marketability and offers the 
flexibility to plan uses meeting specific site criteria.  Within the State of Oregon, there are 
very limited opportunities for large-lot industrial development.  The region’s potential 

 
3  2010 Census 

36



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 23  

supply of large sites can provide a strong competitive advantage, if it is made available.  
While the land in the county may be hypothetically suitable however, the right amount, 
location, and sizes of development sites for different employers may not be currently 
available within the Urban Growth Boundary. The suitability of buildable land in Umatilla 
is discussed elsewhere in this report. 

 
6. Economic Development Support & Partnerships 

The region benefits from an aggressive and well-organized economic development climate. 
The Port Districts have had noted economic development success and local communities 
have undertaken countless initiatives to improve economic competitiveness. The 
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation also is an active participant in 
regional economic development efforts.  The end result has been a region that has 
significantly outperformed non-metropolitan areas of the State over the last decade in terms 
of economic growth. 

 
9.1.240 Target Industry Clusters 
This section discusses potential target industries for the City of Umatilla based on the community’s 
historical strengths and advantages, established economic development goals, and discussion of 
community priorities through this process.  These are industries where the city might focus efforts 
to grow local business and attract new businesses. At the end of this section is a more detailed 
glossary of potential community partners for economic development. 
 
Data Centers/ Cloud Storage Services 
The City of Umatilla, along with other locations in Umatilla and Morrow Counties has quickly 
grown as a hub for large, very-high investment data center users who seek ready access to ample 
inexpensive power and water, as well as large suitable 
development sites. 
 
These types of industrial land users make very large 
capital investments in facilities and equipment.  They can 
employ hundreds of people at each site and pay wages 
far above the average income for the area. 
 
This sector is a major target industry identified by the 
community.  There are currently nine major data centers 
located in the Columbia Basin, demonstrating the 
suitability and desirability of the area and its 
infrastructure. The nation’s largest tech companies continue to express interest in locating new 
data center and cloud-computing facilities in the area, and in Umatilla specifically. There have 
been recent real-world opportunities to recruit these types of businesses to Umatilla if suitable sites 
are available. 
 
Cluster Strengths 
 Proximity to abundant and inexpensive power and water sources 
 Excellent fiber optic telecom connectivity 
 Suitability of land for large, flat industrial sites 

37



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 24  

 Establishment of successful examples and building of skilled workforce in this sector 
 Strong economic development support from local and regional partners 

 
Cluster Challenges 
 Limited supply of appropriately large, shovel-ready development sites, within the UGB 
 Need to continually recruit and grow trained workforce and supply workforce housing. 

 
Potential Opportunities 
 Recruitment of additional data center facilities 
 Ensure sufficient adequately-sized shovel-ready industrial parcels within UGB and/or City 

limits 
 Partnerships with local education sector to train and recruit additional workforce 

 
Manufacturing (Traditional and Advanced) 
Manufacturing is typically a highly desirable sector, which creates considerable value, pays good 
wages, and often exports the bulk of its output. The manufacturing sector currently accounts for a 
relatively small share of the current employment base in the city of Umatilla but is targeted by the 
community as a potential growth sector in the future. 
 

Umatilla has been home to food, wood and metals 
product manufacturers.  Going forward, these will 
remain good opportunities for growth taking 
advantage of available industrial lands, power and 
water resources.  These export industries also benefit 
from the ample transportation connections and 
shipping options in the area. 
 
Advanced manufacturing is also expected to be an 
increasing opportunity.  In general, this refers to 

modern manufacturers who use advanced technologies such as robots and software to increase 
productivity and make traditional methods more efficient.  Like data centers, these manufacturers 
also benefit from ample power and their facilities may rely on significant mechanization.  Despite 
the automation, these industries typically require a sizable trained workforce to run the advanced 
processes. 
 
Manufacturing firms can be a full range of sizes with differing land needs from small sites to very 
large.  Potential large-site manufacturers have made inquiries in the Umatilla area. 
 
Cluster Strengths 
 Proximity to abundant and inexpensive power and water sources 
 Existing food and wood products industries with workforce expertise. 
 Available and serviced land supply of smaller and medium sites 

 
Cluster Challenges 
 Limited supply of larger shovel-ready development sites, for largest manufacturers 

38



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 25  

 Need to continually recruit and grow trained workforce and supply workforce housing. 
 
Potential Manufacturing Opportunities 
 Food products/value-added specialty foods 
 Advanced agricultural technology, such as robotics, precision tools, indoor-growing 

technology 
 Specialty river recreation or other recreation equipment 
 Drones and robotics 
 Recruitment of other large-lot, large-power users 

 
Tourism and Retail 
Umatilla has physical and locational attributes that make recreation and hospitality an attractive 
target sector.  The city offers access to the river and recreation and has plans to redevelop the 
marina to encourage more visitors, concessions, tours and related activity.  Regional outdoor 
recreation includes camping, hiking, hunting, fishing, and rafting.  Major regional draws such as 
the Pendleton Round Up and tribal gaming also provide an opportunity to market to new visitors.   
 
Tourism growth can be mutually reinforcing with new business development along the city’s main 
downtown corridor of 6th Street, and elsewhere in the community.  While retail trade is typically 
viewed as a function of growth in local population and buying power, developing a strong retail 
trade base in an area helps limit spending from leaking out of the market, retaining dollars in the 
local economy. 
 
The amenities that tourism traffic supports are 
also largely consistent with what is desirable 
to local residents. Quality retail, restaurant, 
recreation, and hospitality businesses make a 
community an attractive place to live and 
work. Studies have shown that tourism-related 
supportive uses have a positive impact on 
housing values and attract residents and 
businesses alike. This is a growing 
phenomenon in the context of emerging 
consumer preferences observed across 
Millennial and Boomer generations. 
Attraction of these types of businesses would 
offer Umatilla the opportunity to raise its 
amenity profile. 
 
Cluster Strengths 
 Recreational amenities, river location 
 Location on freeway, at state border 
 Historic Oldtown site 
 Investment in trails, and outdoor and recreation events 

 
Cluster Challenges 

39



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 26  

 Need to raise awareness/visibility beyond the region 
 
Cluster Opportunities 
 Drawing visitors from other regional attractions 
 Improved access use of the marina/river 

 
Transportation, Warehousing and Distribution 
Currently, Transportation & Warehousing is among the largest sectors in the county. The location 
quotient analysis indicated that the study area’s concentration in truck transportation is more than 
two and a half times the national average. The region has succeeded in attracting and retaining 
large transportation firms, including three firms with 100-249 employees and two additional firms 
with more than 250 employees. 
 
The reason for the emergence of this industry cluster is intuitively clear. The area’s geographic 
position and transportation linkages afford a reasonable (distribution) drive-time from major 
population centers throughout the Northwest, Northern California, British Columbia, and the 
Western Mountain States. Other regional attributes include a refrigerator cargo dock on the 
Columbia River, fiber optic telecommunications, and the location of the Union Pacific switching 
station.   
 
The area’s strong transportation access and multi-modal opportunities makes it ideal for 
transportation and warehousing uses.  Umatilla County has successfully attracted multiple large 
distribution centers, including a Walmart Distribution Center and Fed Ex Freight distribution 
facility.  One or more such distribution facilities are a viable target recruitment for Umatilla City, 
if appropriate sites are available. 
 
Cluster Strengths 
 Multi-modal transportation connections, confluence of two freeways 
 Port/rail access 

 
Cluster Challenges 
 Need for additional large, shovel-ready sites near the freeway and within the UGB 

 
Cluster Opportunities 
 Distribution centers 
 Central hub for transportation/freight/logistics businesses 

 
Health Care 
Demand for health services tends to follow demographic trends.  The local population and 
workforce are projected to continue growing at a strong rate.  At the same time, a major segment 
of the population will be aging in place, increasing the demand for health services and continuing 
care.  The following are key industry trends: 
 Emphasis on leveraging cost advantages.  
 Strong growth in utilization of mobile health systems, software, and access to information. 
 Emerging care models including smaller, distributed clinics (i.e. Zoomcare). 
 Video or phone appointments. 

40



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 27  

 An estimated 5% to 8% of Boomers will age in multi-family retirement and care facilities.  
 

The community has identified a need for more local 
health services located in Umatilla for the local 
households, many of whom currently travel to 
Hermiston or beyond for needed health care.  Needed 
services include urgent care, additional clinics, 
dental care and other specialists.  As the population 
grows, there should be increasing opportunities for 
health care providers to locate in the community to 
serve the local population. 
 

 
Cluster Strengths 
 Growth and aging of population will support health services. 
 Dedicated service area. 
 Identified need and captive market. 

 
Cluster Weakness 
 Sector is concentrated in Hermiston. 

 
Cluster Opportunities 
 Development of expanded and/or new medical office clusters 
 Expansion of training offerings for nurses and other medical professionals. 

 
9.1.300 Forecast of Employment and Land Need 
9.1.310 City of Umatilla Employment Forecast 
Goal 9 requires that jurisdictions plan for a 20-year supply of commercial and industrial capacity. 
Because employment capacity is the physical space necessary to accommodate new workers in the 
production of goods and services, employment needs forecasts typically begin with a forecast of 
employment growth in the community. The previous analysis of economic trends and targeted 
industries set the context for these estimates. This analysis translates those influences into 
estimates of employment growth by broad industry. Forecasts are produced at the sector or 
subsector level (depending on available information) and are subsequently aggregated to two-digit 
NAICS sectors. Estimates in this analysis are intended for long-range land planning purposes and 
are not designed to predict or respond to business cycle fluctuation.  
 
The projections in this analysis are built on an estimate of employment in 2019, the commencement 
year for the planning period. Employment growth will come as the result of net-expansion of 
businesses in the community, new business formation, or the relocation/recruitment of new firms. 
Forecast scenarios consider a range of factors influencing growth. Long-range forecasts typically 
rely on a macroeconomic context for growth. Inflections in business cycles or the impact of a major 
shift in employment (i.e. a major unknown recruitment) are not considered.  
 
Overview of Employment Forecast Methodology 

41



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 28  

Our methodology starts with employment forecasts by major commercial and industrial sector. 
Forecasted employment is allocated to building type, and a space demand is a function of the 
assumed square footage per employee ratio multiplied by projected change. The need for space is 
then converted into land and site needs based on assumed development densities using floor area 
ratios (FARs). 
 

FIGURE 4.01: CONVERSION OF EMPLOYMENT FORECAST TO LAND NEED FORECAST - METHODOLOGY 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics 

 
The first step of the analysis is to update covered employment to the 2019 base year. Our City of 
Umatilla Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) dataset provides covered 
employment by industry through 2017. To update these estimates, we use observed industry 
specific growth rates for the region between 2017 and 2019. 
 
The second step in the analysis is to convert “covered”4 employment to “total” employment. 
Covered employment only accounts for a share of overall employment in the economy. 
Specifically, it does not consider sole proprietors or some contracted workers. Covered 
employment was converted to total employment based on observed ratios at the national level 
derived from the Bureau of Economic Analysis from 2010 through 2017.  
 
The differential is the most significant in construction, professional, and administrative services. 
The adjusted 2019 total non-farm employment base for the City of Umatilla is an estimated 1,968 
jobs.   
 
  

 
4  The Department of Labor’s Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) tracks employment data through state 

employment departments. Employment in the QCEW survey is limited to firms with employees that are “covered” by 
unemployment insurance.       

Building Type 
Distribution

x
Sq.ft. 

Employee 

Employment Forecast 

Building 
Needs

Office

Industrial

Commercial

Floor Area Ratios
(FAR)

Land/Site Needs

42



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 29  

FIGURE 4.02: UPDATE TO 2019 BASELINE AND CONVERSION OF COVERED TO TOTAL EMPLOYMENT 

 
T.W.U. = Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities 
*Information sector:  Employment in 2019 is estimated from local sources 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 

 
Scenario 1: Safe Harbor Forecast 
The Goal 9 statute does not have a required method for employment forecasting. However, OAR 
660-024-0040(9)(a) outlines several safe harbor methods, which are intended to provide 
jurisdictions a methodological approach that will not be challenged. The most applicable for 
Umatilla County jurisdictions is 660-024-0040(9)(a)(B), which recommends reliance on the 
adopted projected population growth rate as determined by the Portland State University 
Population Research Center. This method applies the projected population growth rate to the 2019 
Umatilla County base, essentially reflecting that employment growth is expected to keep track 
with population growth. For individual industries, the projected growth rate is based on the most 
recent regional forecast (2017-2027) published by the Oregon Employment Department for 
Morrow and Umatilla Counties. 
 
This method results in an average annual growth rate of 1.7%, with total job growth of 805 jobs 
over the forecast period when applied to the employment profile in Umatilla.    
 
Scenario 2: Alternative Employment Forecast 
A second prepared forecast scenario was influenced by the research and analysis conducted in the 
EOA. This scenario formulates an employment growth trajectory based on identified trends, the 
growth outlook for targeted industries, and input from the project advisory committee. Further, the 
alternative scenario recognizes that the city’s policy direction has influence over realized growth 
in targeted sectors. This scenario considers the influence of known or anticipated development 
over a near and medium-term horizon. The following identified factors that are expected to 
influence growth informed the forecast 

2017 '17-'19 2019 Total Emp. 2019
Major Industry Sector Employment County Δ1 Estimate Conversion2 Estimate

Construction 172 1.8% 178 73.5% 243
Manufacturing 59 1.1% 60 97.6% 62
Wholesale Trade 88 1.0% 90 97.3% 92
Retail  Trade 145 1.0% 148 94.4% 157
T.W.U. 93 1.1% 95 91.3% 104
Information* 0 2.9% 200 94.7% 211
Finance & Insurance 8 0.4% 8 91.6% 9
Real Estate 11 0.4% 11 91.6% 12
Professional & Technical Services 9 1.1% 9 88.5% 10
Administration Services 20 1.1% 20 88.5% 23
Education 215 1.5% 221 94.5% 234
Health Care 126 1.5% 130 94.5% 137
Leisure & Hospitality 79 1.0% 81 94.4% 85
Other Services 45 0.9% 46 82.7% 55
Government 525 0.7% 533 100.0% 533
TOTAL 1,595 7.1% 1,830 93.0% 1,968
1 Forecasted AAGR from 2017-2024 for Umatilla County. Oregon Employment Department
2 Bureau of Economic Analysis. Calculated as an eight-year average between 2010 and 2017

QCEW Employment

43



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 30  

Target Industries – The key industries that the community has identified for targeted growth 
and focused economic development efforts.  Known real-world business interest and location 
scouting from industries have also been considered.  The most significant changes were to 
reflect targeted growth in the information (data centers) and transportation & warehousing 
(distribution centers). 

Power, Water and Fiber Resources – Umatilla has excellent infrastructure resources that have 
proven attractive to large, high-investment industrial users such as data centers. 

Location - Umatilla’s location within the region will influence the mix of employment uses it 
can attract.  Transportation, labor shed, recreation, and livability are some key locational 
factors. 

Household Growth - Growth in many sectors, including retail, hospitality, banking, and real 
estate, is a direct function of population and households in a community. 

 
Taken together, the 20-year forecast in this scenario projects 3.2% average annual growth. Our 
outlook for growth in information, manufacturing, transportation and distribution, retail, and 
leisure & hospitality is more optimistic than macroeconomic forecasts indicate—reflecting the 
area’s recent strength in these sectors. 
 
Summary of Employment Forecast Scenarios 
The two forecast scenarios in this analysis range from 1.7% to 3.1% average annual growth. Job 
growth estimates range from roughly 805 to 1,730 jobs. The first scenario is useful in creating a 
baseline understanding of macroeconomic growth prospects. These are common and broadly 
accepted approaches when looking at large geographic regions.   
 
However, forecasts grounded in broad-based economic variables do not account for the realities 
of local businesses and trends among evolving industries. The second scenario is meant to reflect 
these unique circumstances along with local economic development goals.  Any long-term forecast 
is inherently uncertain and should be updated on a regular basis to reflect more current information. 

 
9.1.320 Employment Land Need Forecast – City of Umatilla 
The next step in our analysis is to convert projections of employment into forecasts of land demand 
over the planning period. The generally accepted methodology for this conversion begins by 
allocating employment by sector into a distribution of building typologies that typically house 
those economic activities.  As an example, insurance agents commonly locate in a traditional office 
space, usually along commercial corridors. However, a percentage of these firms locate in 
commercial retail space adjacent to retail anchors. Cross tabulating this distribution provides an 
estimate of employment in each typology.  
 
The next step converts employment into space using estimates of the typical square footage 
exhibited within each typology. Adjusting for market clearing vacancy we arrive at an estimate of 
total space demand for each building type. Finally, we can consider the physical characteristics of 
individual building types and the amount of land they typically require for development. The site 
utilization metric commonly used is referred to as a “floor area ratio” or FAR. For example, assume 
a 25,000-square foot general industrial building requires approximately two acres to accommodate 

44



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 31  

its structure, setbacks, parking, and necessary yard/storage space. This building would have an 
FAR. of roughly 0.29.  Demand for space is then converted to net acres using a standard FAR for 
each development form.  
 
Land Demand Analysis (Adjusted Forecast) 
To demonstrate the methodology used, this report will develop land need estimates in a step-by-
step process, clearly presenting underlying assumptions. In this analytical step we allocate 
employment growth into standard building typologies. The building typology matrix represents 
the share of sectoral employment that locates across various building types.  
 

FIGURE 4.05: DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT BY SPACE TYPE, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

Industry Sector Number AAGR Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail
Construction 147 2.3% 14% 0% 18% 40% 18% 0% 10%
Manufacturing 88 1.4% 8% 0% 24% 60% 8% 0% 0%
Wholesale Trade 40 1.3% 5% 0% 5% 10% 75% 0% 5%
Retail  Trade 66 1.3% 5% 1% 6% 0% 12% 0% 76%
Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 614 1.3% 15% 0% 12% 13% 55% 0% 5%
Information 431 3.6% 5% 0% 5% 0% 0% 90% 0%
Finance & Insurance 1 0.5% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%
Real Estate 1 0.5% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%
Professional & Technical Services 3 1.3% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%
Administration Services 7 1.3% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%
Education 110 1.8% 30% 53% 5% 1% 1% 0% 10%
Health Care 64 1.8% 30% 53% 2% 0% 0% 0% 15%
Leisure & Hospitality 34 1.3% 20% 1% 7% 1% 1% 0% 70%
Other Services 15 1.1% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%
Government 111 0.9% 43% 35% 5% 1% 1% 0% 15%
TOTAL 1,732 1.7% 16% 8% 10% 11% 24% 22% 9%

20-year Job Forecast BUILDING TYPE MATRIX

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

T.W.U.

Information*

Finance & Insurance

Real Estate

Professional & Technical Services

Administration Services

Education

Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. ind. Warehouse Retail Data Center

45



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 32  

 
Under the employment forecast scenario, employment housed in data center, office, retail, and 
general industrial space accounts for the greatest share of growth.  
 

FIGURE 4.06: NET CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT ALLOCATED BY BUILDING TYPE, CITY OF UMATILLA – 2019-2039 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 
Employment growth estimates by building type are then converted into demand for physical space. 
This conversion assumes the typical space needed per employee on average. This step also assumes 
a market clearing vacancy rate, acknowledging that equilibrium in real estate markets is not 0% 
vacancy. We assume a 10% vacancy rate for office, retail, and flex uses, as these forms have high 
rates of speculative multi-tenant usage. A 5% rate is used for general industrial, warehouse, and 
data centers—these uses have higher rates of owner occupancy that lead to lower overall vacancy.  
Institutional uses are assumed to have no vacancy.  
 
The demand for space is converted into an associated demand for acreage using an assumed Floor 
Area Ratio (FAR).  The combined space and FAR assumptions further provide estimates indicative 
of job densities, determined on a per net-developable acre basis. 
 

FIGURE 4.07: NET ACRES REQUIRED BY BUILDING TYPOLOGY 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 
 

Industry Sector Number AAGR Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Construction 147 2.3% 21 0 27 59 27 0 15 147
Manufacturing 88 1.4% 7 0 21 53 7 0 0 88
Wholesale Trade 40 1.3% 2 0 2 4 30 0 2 40
Retail  Trade 66 1.3% 3 1 4 0 8 0 50 66
Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 614 1.3% 92 0 74 80 338 0 31 614
Information 431 3.6% 22 0 22 0 0 388 0 431
Finance & Insurance 1 0.5% 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Real Estate 1 0.5% 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Professional & Technical Services 3 1.3% 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 3
Administration Services 7 1.3% 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 7
Education 110 1.8% 33 58 5 1 1 0 11 110
Health Care 64 1.8% 19 34 1 0 0 0 10 64
Leisure & Hospitality 34 1.3% 7 0 2 0 0 0 24 34
Other Services 15 1.1% 11 0 1 0 0 0 3 15
Government 111 0.9% 48 39 6 1 1 0 17 111
TOTAL 1,732 1.7% 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

20-year Job Forecast NET CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT BY BUILDING TYPE - 2019-2039

ADJUSTED SCENARIO

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Employment Growth 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

Avg. SF Per Employee 350 600 990 600 1,850 8,000 500 2,542

Demand for Space (SF) 95,600 79,400 163,100 118,900 761,900 3,101,100 81,900 4,401,900

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.35 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.25 0.32

Market Vacancy 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 10.0% 5.6%

Implied Density (Jobs/Acre) 39.2 22.9 11.9 20.7 7.8 1.8 19.6 5.6

Net Acres Required 7.0 5.8 13.9 9.6 52.6 214.1 8.4 311.3

DEMAND BY GENERAL USE TYPOLOGY, 2019-2039

46



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 33  

Commercial office and retail densities are 39 and 20 jobs per acre, respectively. Industrial uses 
range from 21 jobs per acre for general industrial to 8 jobs per acre for warehouse/distribution to 
as few as 2 jobs per acre for data center users. The projected 1,730 job expansion in the local 
employment base would require an estimated 311 net acres of employment land to house. 
 
9.1.330 Employment Land Need Forecast – Needed Site Size 
The local employment base is largely dominated by small firms of 10 or fewer employees, with 
four employers currently accounting for more than 100 employees and one accounting for more 
than 250 (Figure 4.08). 
 

FIGURE 4.08: DISTRIBUTION OF CURRENT FIRMS BY SIZE, UMATILLA OREGON 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 
 
Figure 4.09 presents the projected need for new commercial and industrial sites based on the 
industry growth projections presented above.  These site needs are an estimate of future needs to 
aid comparison to available supply (see following Section.)   
 

FIGURE 4.09: ESTIMATED SITE NEEDS (ACRES) OF FUTURE EMPLOYERS, UMATILLA OREGON 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

53

17

23

16

6

3

1

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

< 5

5-9

10-19

20-49

50-99

100-249

250-499

> 500

Number of Firms

N
um

be
r o

f E
m

pl
oy

ee
s

NUMBER OF FIRMS BY SIZE

LAND USE
0 TO .9 
acres

1 to 4.9 
acres

5 to 9.9 
acres

10 to 19.9 
acres

20 to 29.9 
acres

30 to 49.9 
acres

50 to 99.9 
acres

100+ acres TOTAL

Office 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
Institutional 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
Retail 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
Commercial: 17 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

Flex/B.P 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
Gen. Ind. 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 9
Warehouse 2 3 2 0 0 0 1 0 8
Data Center 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3
Industrial: 10 8 4 0 0 0 2 2 26

TOTAL: 27 13 4 0 0 0 2 2 48

47



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 34  

The estimates presented in Figure 4.09 are based on the average firm sizes of businesses in the 
different industry subsectors in Umatilla County.  However, economic development and job 
growth are dynamic, and this estimate of site needs is unlikely to match actual future needs exactly.  
Communities should maintain flexibility and ensure a supply of a variety of site types with short-
term availability, as allowed through the Goal 9 EOA process. 
 
Local and regional employment trends in Umatilla and Morrow Counties support the likely ability 
to continue to recruit larger users such as data centers and larger manufacturers going forward.  At 
the same time, there will be a continued demand for real estate space and sites of all size to 
accommodate the full range of employers across sectors. 
 
Additional Considerations in Land Demand 
Beyond a consideration of gross acreage, there is a significantly broader range of site 
characteristics that industries would require to accommodate future growth. We summarize some 
key findings here:  
 
 Industrial buildings are generally more susceptible to slope constraints due to larger 

building footprints. For a site to be competitive for most industrial uses, a 5% slope is the 
maximum for development sites. Office and commercial uses are generally smaller and 
more vertical, allowing for slopes up to 15%. 

 
 Most industries require some direct access to a major transportation route, particularly 

manufacturing and distribution industries that move goods throughout the region and 
beyond. A distance of 10-to-20 miles to a major interstate is generally acceptable for most 
manufacturing activities, but distribution activities require five miles or less and generally 
prefer a direct interstate linkage. Visibility and access are highly important to most 
commercial activities and site location with both attributes from a major commercial 
arterial is commonly required.  

 
 Access and capacity for water, power, gas, and sewer infrastructure is more important to 

industrial than commercial operations. Water/sewer lines of up to 10” are commonly 
required for large manufacturers. Appendix A details utility infrastructure requirements by 
typology.     

 
 Fiber telecommunications networks are likely to be increasingly required in site selection 

criteria for most commercial office and manufacturing industries. Medical, high-tech, 
creative office, research & development, and most professional service industries will 
prefer or require strong fiber access in the coming business cycles. 

 
9.1.400 Current Employment Land Supply 
9.1.410 Buildable Land Inventory 
The inventory of employment land provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to 
accommodate more business and jobs.  This current available land will be compared to the 
forecasted need for new land over the 20-year planning period. 
 

48



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 35  

Employment land includes land zoned for industrial, retail or other commercial use (i.e. office), 
and may also include mixed-use zoning that allows for employment uses.  This inventory includes 
vacant parcels with the proper zoning, as well as “redevelopable” parcels.  (The methodology used 
in this analysis is described in detail below.) 
 
Methodology 
The Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) used in this analysis is based on tax account data from the 
County, supplemented with data from the State of Oregon.  The data was provided in Geographic 
Information Systems (GIS) compatible format, providing information on land use, parcel size and 
other relevant data categories on the taxlot level.  Zoning information was also provided by the 
City. 
 
The tax account data was used to identify vacant and redevelopable parcels in the city and its UGB.  
Environmental constraints including wetlands, floodplain and steep slopes that might impact 
developability were also considered.  The identified candidate parcels were then further screened 
and refined by Johnson Economics. 
 
In keeping with State requirements, the BLI includes an assessment of vacant buildable lands and 
redevelopable parcels.  This analysis applied the “safe harbor” assumptions allowed under state 
rules to determine the infill potential of developed parcels (OAR 660-024-0050): 
 

FIGURE 5.01:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY METHODOLOGY 

 
Appendix B provides an in-depth summary of the Buildable Lands Inventory, including 
methodology and mapping of the identified parcels of employment land.  The results are 
summarized below. 
  

49



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 36  

 
FIGURE 5.02:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

The inventory identifies over 378 acres of vacant or potentially redevelopable land in both 
commercial and industrial zones.  A smaller share is in the Commercial zones, while the majority 
has Industrial zoning.  80% of the sites are identified as “vacant”, and 20% are potential 
“redevelopment” sites. 
 

FIGURE 5.03:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

Figure 5.03 presents the inventory broken down by the size of parcels.  Most of the buildable 
unconstrained parcels identified are smaller than 20 acres, with the largest share of commercial 

 
Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage

C-1 4 8.5 2 1.0 6 9.5
DC 11 2.2 3 0.4 14 2.6
DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 8 1.4
GC 6 10.0 2 3.6 8 13.5
MC 3 4.1 0 0.0 3 4.1
NC 3 31.4 0 0.0 3 31.4
Commercial Total: 35 57.6 7 4.9 42 62.5

M1 6 23.5 5 27.6 11 51.1
M2 16 247.9 3 16.8 19 264.7
Industrial Total: 22 271.3 8 44.5 30 315.8

TOTAL: 57 328.9 15 49.4 72 378.3

ZONE TOTALREDEVELOPABLEVACANT

 
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage
# of 

Parcels Acreage

C-1 4 2.2 1 1.9 1 5.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 9.5
DC 14 2.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 14 2.6
DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 1.4
GC 2 1.7 3 5.0 1 6.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 13.5
MC 1 0.7 2 3.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 4.1
NC 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 13.4 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 31.4
Commercial Total: 29 8.6 6 10.2 4 25.8 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 40 62.5

M1 0 0.0 8 20.7 2 13.4 1 17.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 11 51.1
M2 0 0.0 3 10.3 6 39.7 4 53.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 14 264.7
Industrial Total: 0 0.0 11 31.0 8 53.2 5 70.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 25 315.8

TOTAL: 29 8.6 17 41.2 12 78.9 6 88.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 65 378.3

30 to 49.99 acres 50+ acres TOTALS

ZONE
0 TO .99 acres 1 to 4.99 acres 5 to 9.99 acres 10 to 19.99 acres 20 to 29.99 acres

50



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 37  

parcels being smaller than one acre in size.  The largest share of industrial parcels (over one third) 
are between one and five acres.  There is one large industrial parcel of roughly 160 acres located 
at the Port. 
 
The following chart provides a visual presentation of the site-size data. 
 

FIGURE 5.04:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

 

The following figure shows a map of the Buildable Land Inventory for commercial and industrial 
parcels.  Wetland constraints are highlighted to show how they hamper some of nominally vacant 
land supply.  Where wetlands constrain a parcel, these parcels may be partially or wholly 
discounted from the inventory. 
 

 

  

 

0

11

8

5

0

0

1

29

6

4

1

0

0

0

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

0 TO 0.9

1 to 4.9

5 to 9.9

10 to 19.9

20 to 29.9

30 to 49.9

50+ acres

Number of Sites

Pa
rc

el
 S

iz
e 

(A
cr

es
)

Number of Sites by Size

Commercial

Industrial

51



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 38  

FIGURE 5.05:  MAP OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

I-8
2

Powerline

Do
w

nt
ow

n

Po
rt

Tw
o 

Ri
ve

rs
 C

.I.

52



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 39  

9.1.420 Buildable Land Inventory vs. 20-Year Land Need 
The inventory of employment land provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to 
accommodate more business and jobs.  This current available land is compared to the forecasted 
need for new land over the 20-year planning period, generated in a previous step of this project 
(Section IV). 
 
The estimate of future land need is presented below. A total need for 309 net acres was identified 
across a range of building types. 
 

FIGURE 5.06:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR LAND NEED BY BUILDING TYPOLOGY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

There is a total projected 20-year need for 309 acres of buildable employment land in industrial 
and commercial zones.  Roughly 90% of this projected need is for uses most appropriate to 
industrial zones (Flex, General Industrial, Warehouse, and Data Center), while the remainder is 
for uses most appropriate for commercial zones (Office, Retail, Institutional).  
 
Conclusion 
This combined identified need (311 acres) is less than the 378 acres of combined buildable 
employment land noted in Figure 5.02.  It is important to remember that the different 
categories of employment land are not (necessarily) substitutable.  For instance, a shortage of 
10 acres of commercial land, and a surplus of 10 acres of industrial land do not cancel each other. 
 
Also, this does not address the more specific site needs from specific categories of employment 
land users.  Some of the forecasted growth includes employers who may have specific site 
needs and preferences that are not reflected in the available buildable inventory, even though 
in total the available parcels sum to a significant amount. 
 
In particular, there is forecasted demand for more suitable large-lot industrial sites while relatively 
few of these sites were found in the inventory.  This is discussed in greater detail below. 
  

ADJUSTED SCENARIO

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Employment Growth 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

Avg. SF Per Employee 350 600 990 600 1,850 8,000 500 2,542

Demand for Space (SF) 95,600 79,400 163,100 118,900 761,900 3,101,100 81,900 4,401,900

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.35 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.25 0.32

Market Vacancy 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 10.0% 5.6%

Implied Density (Jobs/Acre) 39.2 22.9 11.9 20.7 7.8 1.8 19.6 5.6

Net Acres Required 7.0 5.8 13.9 9.6 52.6 214.1 8.4 311.3

DEMAND BY GENERAL USE TYPOLOGY, 2019-2039

53



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 40  

FIGURE 4.03: COMPARISON OF ALTERNATIVE FORECASTS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 

 
 
  

Industry 2019 2039 Chg. AAGR 2019 2039 Chg. AAGR
Construction 243 381 139 2.3% 243 390 147 2.4%
Manufacturing 62 82 20 1.4% 62 149 88 4.5%
Wholesale Trade 92 120 28 1.3% 92 132 40 1.8%
Retail  Trade 157 203 46 1.3% 157 222 66 1.8%
Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 135 31 1.3% 104 718 614 10.1%
Information 211 430 219 3.6% 211 642 431 5.7%
Finance & Insurance 9 10 1 0.5% 9 10 1 0.5%
Real Estate 12 13 1 0.5% 12 13 1 0.5%
Professional & Technical Services 10 14 3 1.3% 10 14 3 1.4%
Administration Services 23 30 7 1.3% 23 31 7 1.4%
Education 234 338 104 1.8% 234 344 110 1.9%
Health Care 137 198 61 1.8% 137 202 64 1.9%
Leisure & Hospitality 85 110 25 1.3% 85 119 34 1.7%
Other Services 55 69 14 1.1% 55 70 15 1.2%
Government 533 638 105 0.9% 533 643 111 1.0%
TOTAL: 1,968 2,772 804 1.7% 1,968 3,700 1,732 3.2%

SCENARIO I (State of Oregon) SCENARIO II (Adjusted)

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transport., Warehousing, Utilities

Information

Finance & Insurance

Real Estate

Professional & Technical Services

Administration Services

Education

Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

20-Year Job Growth (# of Jobs)

Baseline Scenario

Adjusted Scenario

54



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 41  

FIGURE 4.04: SUMMARY OF PROJECTION SCENARIOS, CITY OF UMATILLA (5-YEAR INCREMENTS) 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 
 
9.1.500 Employer Site Needs vs. Buildable Land Supply 
This section compares the more specific site requirements of projected future commercial and 
industrial users with the specific inventory of prospective employment sites identified within the 
UGB.  Oregon Administrative Rules requires a determination of 20-year employment land need, 
as well as a determination of need for suitable, readily serviceable land to meet short-term demand. 
 
The following definitions from OAR 660-009-005 are relevant to this discussion: 
 

(2) “Development Constraints” means factors that temporarily or permanently limit or prevent the 
use of land for economic development. Development constraints include, but are not limited to, 
wetlands, environmentally sensitive areas such as habitat, environmental contamination, slope, 
topography, cultural and archeological resources, infrastructure deficiencies, parcel fragmentation, 
or natural hazard areas…. 
 
(10) “Short-term Supply of Land” means suitable land that is ready for construction within one year 
of an application for a building permit or request for service extension. Engineering feasibility is 
sufficient to qualify land for the short-term supply of land. Funding availability is not required. 
“Competitive Short-term Supply” means the short-term supply of land provides a range of site sizes 

Total
Industry 2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 19-24 24-29 29-34 34-39 19-39

SCENARIO I (State of Oregon)
Construction 243 272 304 341 381 29 32 36 41 139
Manufacturing 62 66 71 77 82 5 5 5 6 20
Wholesale Trade 92 99 105 112 120 6 7 7 8 28
Retail  Trade 157 167 178 190 203 10 11 12 13 46
Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 111 119 127 135 7 8 8 9 31
Information 211 252 302 360 430 41 49 59 70 219
Finance & Insurance 9 9 9 9 10 0 0 0 0 1
Real Estate 12 12 13 13 13 0 0 0 0 1
Professional & Technical Services 10 11 12 13 14 1 1 1 1 3
Administration Services 23 25 26 28 30 2 2 2 2 7
Education 234 257 281 308 338 22 25 27 30 104
Health Care 137 150 165 181 198 13 14 16 17 61
Leisure & Hospitality 85 91 97 103 110 6 6 6 7 25
Other Services 55 59 62 65 69 3 3 4 4 14
Government 533 557 583 610 638 25 26 27 28 105
TOTAL: 1,968 2,138 2,327 2,537 2,772 170 189 210 234 804
SCENARIO 2 (Modified)
Construction 243 273 308 346 390 31 34 39 44 147
Manufacturing 62 77 96 120 149 15 19 24 30 88
Wholesale Trade 92 101 110 121 132 9 9 10 11 40
Retail  Trade 157 171 187 204 222 14 16 17 19 66
Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 169 273 443 718 65 105 170 275 614
Information 211 279 368 486 642 68 89 118 156 431
Finance & Insurance 9 9 9 10 10 0 0 0 0 1
Real Estate 12 12 13 13 13 0 0 0 0 1
Professional & Technical Services 10 11 12 13 14 1 1 1 1 3
Administration Services 23 25 27 28 31 2 2 2 2 7
Education 234 258 284 313 344 24 26 29 32 110
Health Care 137 151 166 183 202 14 15 17 18 64
Leisure & Hospitality 85 93 101 110 119 7 8 9 10 34
Other Services 55 59 62 66 70 3 4 4 4 15
Government 533 558 585 614 643 26 27 28 30 111
TOTAL: 1,968 2,246 2,602 3,069 3,700 278 356 467 631 1,732

Net Change by PeriodOverall Employment

55



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 42  

and locations to accommodate the market needs of a variety of industrial and other employment 
uses. 
 
(11) ”Site Characteristics” means the attributes of a site necessary for a particular industrial or other 
employment use to operate. Site characteristics include, but are not limited to, a minimum acreage 
or site configuration including shape and topography, visibility, specific types or levels of public 
facilities, services or energy infrastructure, or proximity to a particular transportation or freight 
facility such as rail, marine ports and airports, multimodal freight or transshipment facilities, and 
major transportation routes. 
 
(12) ”Suitable” means serviceable land designated for industrial or other employment use that 
provides, or can be expected to provide the appropriate site characteristics for the proposed 

 
As noted in the previous section, the Buildable Land Inventory was screened for major constraints, 
including current development, floodways, wetlands, steep slopes, and federal ownership.  The 
remaining parcels in the inventory may be buildable but may not meet the specific site 
requirements of certain users.  Others may be part of the long-term supply, but not be well-suited 
for the short-term supply. 
 
Estimated 20-Year Site Needs vs. Current Supply 
The following figures re-present the findings of estimated need and current supply of sites by size, 
as presented in the preceding sections.  Note that the estimate of future needs is approximate, as 
economic growth is dynamic and difficult to predict.  Communities should maintain flexibility and 
ensure a supply of a variety of site types with short-term availability, as allowed through the Goal 
9 EOA process. 
 
As Figure 6.01 presents there is currently estimated to be a sufficient supply of commercial 
(retail/office/institutional) parcels to meet the projected demand.  Most of the demand is estimated 
to be from employers seeking relatively small sites of five acres or less.  Due to higher employment 
density for commercial uses, some of these may still have sizable workforces, despite smaller sites. 
 
For industrial users, there is an estimated deficit of sites of some sizes.  Most notably there is a 
deficit of suitable large industrial sites, and a deficit of small industrial sites. 
  

56



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 43  

 
FIGURE 6.01:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR SITE NEED VS. SITE SUPPLY 

BY LAND USE AND SITE SIZE (ACRES), UMATILLA 
 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

Figure 6.02 presents the same data in chart form. 
  

Estimated 20-year Site NEED

LAND USE
0 TO .9 
acres

1 to 4.9 
acres

5 to 9.9 
acres

10 to 19.9 
acres

20 to 29.9 
acres

30 to 49.9 
acres

50 to 99.9 
acres

100+ 
acres TOTAL

Office 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11
Institutional 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4
Retail 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7
Commercial: 17 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

Flex/B.P 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
Gen. Ind. 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 9
Warehouse 2 3 2 0 0 0 1 0 8
Data Center 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3
Industrial: 10 8 4 0 0 0 2 2 26

TOTAL: 27 13 4 0 0 0 2 2 48

Estimated Employment Land SUPPLY (BLI)

LAND USE
0 TO .9 
acres

1 to 4.9 
acres

5 to 9.9 
acres

10 to 19.9 
acres

20 to 29.9 
acres

30 to 49.9 
acres

50 to 99.9 
acres

100+ 
acres TOTAL

C-1 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
DC 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14
DT 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8
GC 2 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 6
MC 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3
NC 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 3
Commercial: 29 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 40

M1 0 8 2 1 0 0 0 0 11
M2 0 3 6 4 0 0 0 1 14
Industrial: 0 11 8 5 0 0 0 1 25

TOTAL: 29 17 12 6 0 0 0 1 65

57



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 44  

 
FIGURE 6.02:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR SITE NEED VS. SITE SUPPLY 

BY LAND USE AND SITE SIZE (ACRES), UMATILLA 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

Identified Industrial Site Deficits 
Large Lot:  The specific site deficits identified are for large industrial parcels.  This finding is the 
result of strong projected growth in the information sector, and specifically data centers and cloud 
computing facilities.  The Umatilla and Morrow County regions are now established centers for 
these facilities in Oregon due to a confluence of available infrastructure and workforce that have 
attracted these employers over the past decade.  These facilities represent huge capital investments 
and offer high average wages for the region.   There are known prospective opportunities to attract 
more of these facilities in the Umatilla area, which are excellent candidates for a ready short-term 
supply of suitable sites. 
 
As outlined in the matrix of site requirements presented in Appendix A, these users seek large-lot 
industrial land with excellent power, water, and fiber access.  These facilities have thus far used 
sites of 30 to over 100 acres.  These users have stated a preference for very large sites in order to 
allow for future expansion.  The most recent data center development in Umatilla sought a 120-
acre site. 
 

0 10 20 30

0 TO .9 acres

1 to 4.9 acres

5 to 9.9 acres

10 to 19.9 acres

20 to 29.9 acres

30 to 49.9 acres

50 to 99.9 acres

100+ acres

No. of Sites

Si
te

 S
iz

e 
(A

cr
es

)

Commercial Sites

Est. Need

Supply

0 5 10 15

0 TO .9 acres

1 to 4.9 acres

5 to 9.9 acres

10 to 19.9 acres

20 to 29.9 acres

30 to 49.9 acres

50 to 99.9 acres

100+ acres

No. of Sites

Si
te

 S
iz

e 
(A

cr
es

)

Industrial Sites

Est. Need

Supply

58



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 45  

Given the projected short-term growth, and prospective long-term growth in this industry, Johnson 
Economics estimates a need for at least two sites of 100+ acres meeting serviceability requirements 
for data center or large manufacturing users, and at least one additional site of 50+ acres. 
 
In addition, there is a need for an additional large site or sites for potential distribution facilities.  
This is an identified target industry based on local economic goals, and the Umatilla area provides 
strong advantages for this type of facility based on its location at the connection of two interstate 
freeways. 
 
Distribution centers require large sites for warehousing and truck staging, with ready freeway or 
major highway access for the receiving and shipping of large volumes of goods.  For example, the 
nearby Walmart Distribution Center uses a 190-acre site, while the Fed Ex Freight distribution 
facility uses a 62.5-acre site.  The currently available industrial sites are generally too limited in 
size and most are too distant from the freeway to serve as suitable candidates for this use. 
 
Small Lot:  There is also a projected future need from small industrial firms for smaller sites.  It 
is also common for these types of users to also be accommodated in multi-tenant industrial 
buildings on larger sites.  Given the supply of industrial sites in the 5- to 20-acre range that can be 
subdivided or built with multi-tenant space, it may be less critical to designate new land for these 
small users at this time.  However, policies which facilitate availability of space for small industrial 
firms within current zones may be warranted. 
 
SECTION 9.2 DOWNTOWN REVITALIZATION AND CIRCULATION PLAN  
9.2.010 Introduction  
The Downtown Revitalization and Circulation Plan will help the City of Umatilla redevelop the 
downtown as a vital, pedestrian-oriented center and create an efficient transportation system.  The 
plan identifies a series of projects and strategies that will enhance the pedestrian environment in 
the community and improve the transportation system.  
 
The plan identifies opportunities for downtown redevelopment, transportation improvements and 
defines a project implementation strategy, which if properly implemented, should result in 
significant revitalization of the downtown area.  The plan is intended to function as a specific plan 
with key policies, projects, and programs that guide public and private investment in the 
community.  
 
9.2.020 Project Study Area  
The downtown revitalization plan has a general study area defined by the Columbia River to the 
north, Umatilla River to the south, Powerline Road to the west, and Umatilla River Road to the 
east.  The interchange improvement component of the project will be documented in a separate 
report and encompasses a study area east of Umatilla River Road to the I-82 interchange with 
Highway 730.  More specific elements of the downtown revitalization plan focused on Highway 
730 (6th Street) and one block north to 5th Street and one block south to 7th Street.  Figure 9.2-1 
shows the study area.  
 

59



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 46  

While plan recommendations are focused on the downtown area of the City, the project study area 
includes the downtown area and its immediate surroundings.  Activities of influence and 
connections surrounding the downtown were considered to be important factors during the 
development of the plan.  
 
9.2.030 Planning Process  
The planning process used to produce the City of Umatilla’s Downtown Revitalization Plan is 
unique in several respects.  First, a market analysis was integrated into the study to provide a 
strategic basis for implementing elements of the Plan.  Concepts and design ideas were expressed 
graphically, to make them more understandable and help the community envision elements of the 
Plan.  The public involvement process was designed to reach a broad segment of the local 
community and to include people of all age groups in the development of the Plan.  During the 
early stages of the planning process, a broad spectrum of revitalization ideas was considered, but 
only practical and achievable ideas where included listed as project goals and objectives.  Finally, 
the Plan has been coordinated with the Circulation Plan aimed at alleviating traffic issues 
associated with the Downtown Revitalization Plan.  
 
More detailed information that resulted from the charrette and public workshops is provided later.  
Listed below are the major steps included in the planning process and the project meetings that 
were held.  
 
Project Steps  
1) Project initiation, data collection, meeting preparation 
2) Project reconnaissance and meetings 
3) Base map and sections 
4) Opportunities and Constraints Report 
5) Community Involvement 
6) Options for downtown development 
7) Downtown Development Workshop (consensus) 
8) Strategic Plan 
9) Strategic Plan Presentation 
10) Code amendments – review and adoption 
 
Meetings  
October 2000 – Distribute Public Questionnaire 
2 November 2000 – Walking Tour and Community Visioning Exercise 
2 November 2000 – Management Team Meeting 
8 November 2000 - McNary Heights Elementary School Charrette 
8 November 2000 – Clara Brownell Middle School Charrette 
8 November 2000 – Advisory Committee Meeting 
8 November 2000 – Umatilla High School – Adult Charrette 
9 November 2000 – Downtown Workshop 
22 January 2001 – Dinner Meeting with City Council and Planning Commission 
25 January 2001 – Management Team Meeting 
25 January 2001 – Interchange Refinement Planning Meeting #1 

60



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 47  

25 January 2001 – Joint Planning Commission/City Council Work Session 
26 April 2001 – Management Team Meeting 
26 April 2001 – Interchange Refinement Planning Meeting #2 
26 April 2001 – Strategic Plan Presentation to Planning Commission 
31 May 2001 – Planning Commission Hearing 
4 June 2001 – City Council Hearing 
 
 
  

61



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 48  

 
 
  

62



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 49  

9.2.100 OPPORTUNITIES AND CONSTRAINTS  
The planning team determined opportunities and constraints for the downtown revitalization study 
through site analysis, research, and public involvement techniques.  Team findings are documented 
in detail in the Opportunities and Constraints Report dated June, 2001.  Included in this chapter is 
a summary of the most significant findings of that report.  
 
When developing opportunities and constraints for downtown Umatilla, a wide range of topics was 
considered.  These topics included:  
 
 Questionnaire results and results from the walking tour  
 Historic sites  
 Inventory and evaluation of pedestrian facilities  
 Identification of significant sources of pedestrian traffic  
 Location of public buildings and uses  
 Analysis of buildings fronting 6th Street  
 Inventory of DEQ cleanup sites, sites that store hazardous material and potentially 

contaminated sites  
 Survey of vacant or underutilized land and facilities  
 Evaluation of existing neighborhood boundaries and land use  
 Street layout and traffic control facilities  
 On-street and off-street parking  
 Public utilities  
 Waterways  
 Streetscape  
 Pedestrian linkages, and  
 Planned public facility improvement projects  
 
After analyzing opportunities and constraints, the team concluded that there does not exist a 
distinct node or center in downtown around which focus future redevelopments efforts.  
Alternatively, the downtown is effectively a ‘blank slate,” allowing great flexibility for future 
redevelopment.  
 
Table 9.2-1 summarizes the most significant findings of the Opportunities and Constraints report.  
 
The opportunities and constraints were considered in developing the framework for the concept 
plan.  They are also important in determining factors when devising a strategic approach to 
downtown revitalization.  
 
Because no clearly defined town center exists, members of the planning team, together with 
community participants, selected a focus area for downtown redevelopment.  While about half of 
the twelve public buildings are scattered in the downtown area, there is a cluster of public uses 
along Sixth Street between “I” Street and “J” Street.  The corner of Sixth and “I” Streets was 
selected as the focus area for redevelopment and is envisioned as the central place of Umatilla’s 

63



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 50  

downtown.  A long-term opportunity for Umatilla is to cluster public uses near the downtown 
center.  
 
The opportunities and constraints for downtown Umatilla indicate that immediate results will be 
difficult to achieve, and that the best results might be realized by implementing a long-term 
revitalization strategy.  
 

Table 9.2-1.  Opportunities and Constraints Summary  

Opportunities Constraints 
 Schools and the grocery store are 

pedestrian generators. 
 There are numerous missing 

ramps and sidewalks along Sixth 
Street. 

 Downtown has two nodes of 
buildings with frontage on Sixth 
Street. 

 Downtown blocks are 
underdeveloped and public and 
private buildings are scattered. 

 There is a concentration of 
buildings around the museum 
and library. 

 Abandoned gas stations are 
potentially contaminated sites.  

 Downtown vacant and 
underdeveloped lands offer 
redevelopment potential. 

 There is no concentration of 
opportunities in downtown. 

 Downtown has potential linkages 
to surrounding neighborhoods. 

 Few distinct neighborhoods exist 
in downtown. 

 The street grid in downtown 
provides good access. 

 There is no identifiable center in 
the downtown. 

 Plenty of parking capacity exists 
in the downtown. 

 Perceived street crossing 
problems for pedestrians in 
downtown. 

 Generally, Sixth Street is well 
served by improvements such as 
sidewalks and curbs. 

 Side streets lack sidewalks, curbs 
and other improvements. 

 Extension and expansion of the 
Heritage Trail 

 The downtown lacks cohesion. 

 
 
9.2.200 MARKET ANALYSIS  
This section provides an overview of the current commercial and residential markets in the City of 
Umatilla and a brief assessment of the economic opportunities and constraints for revitalizing the 
downtown.  This work recognizes the notable social and economic changes in Western Umatilla 
County in the last five years.  Much of the recent economic activity is related directly or indirectly 
to the addition of four major employers to the region.  Many of the impacts of these employers 
were anticipated and discussed in the HUES5 Growth Impact Study, February 1998.  
 

 
5 Hermiston, Umatilla, Echo and Stanfield 

64



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 51  

9.2.210 Housing Market  
Housing construction in the City of Umatilla has experienced a significant upswing in recent years.  
The housing needs analysis completed for the City in 1999 identified over 1,200 existing housing 
units and indicated permitting for new units had been relatively sparse from 1987 through 1998 
(approximately 78 permits over 11 years).  However, in the last two and half years, 144 new 
housing units have been permitted (nearly twice that of the previous 11 year period).  This trend 
can be seen from the data summarized in Table 9.2-2.  
 
Recent developments have included Phase 1 of Riverview Estates and Telleron.  Phase 1 of 
Riverview included 49 lots, of which three remain (two with new homes on them).  
 

Table 9.2-2. Housing Permits (1987-2001)  
Unit Type Prior to 1987 1987-1998 1999-March 2001 
Single Family 767 68 63 
Multi-Family 75 8 44 
Manufactured 359 2 37 
Total 1,201 78 144 
Note: Adjustment made to 1987-1998 multi-family units permit number to account for 

reporting variations.  
Source: City of Umatilla Housing Needs Analysis, Benkendorf Associates Corp., Oregon 

Building Permit Reports, CPRC Portland State University, and City of Umatilla.  
 
Properties were sold both with Hayden Homes and as vacant lots.  Twenty-six Hayden homes sold 
in the last 18 months.  The majority of these single-family homes had three bedrooms and two 
baths. Sales prices ranged from $78,715 – for a two bedroom two bath home – to $116,240 – for 
a four bedroom two bath home.  Phase 3 is expected to begin soon.  
 
Eight Tellaron properties (which feature Penbrook homes) sold over the same period.  Again the 
majority of the homes included three bedrooms and two baths.  Sales prices ranged from $102,000 
to $164,000.  
 
Other residential development projects include construction of twelve 4-plexes for rental housing, 
a 265 unit manufactured home park, and conversion of an existing single-family rental community 
to owner occupied units.  
 
A review of existing and new single-family home sales in the City over the last 18 months indicates 
a strong market for starter homes priced $125,000 or less.  This data is shown in Table 9.2-3.  Of 
the 96 sales identified, only 6 came in at prices above $125,000.  The least expensive homes were 
previously owned manufactured units – the majority of which were priced at $50,000 or less.  
 

65



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 52  

Table 9.2-3 City of Umatilla Home Sales for Single Family Units Under $300,000 
(November 1999 to March 2001)  

 Unit Type 
Sales Price Standard Manufactured 
Less than $50,000 3 10 
$50,000 to $75,000 18 3 
$75,001 to $100,000 31 2 
$100,001 to $125,000 23 0 
$125,001 to $215,000 6 0 
Total 81 15 

Note: Sales include existing and new standard housing units and existing manufactured housing 
resales that include land in price.  

Source: Local real estate agent contact.  
 
Table 9.2-4 summarizes the multi-family rent range in the City of Umatilla.  Most apartment units 
in the City were constructed in the 1970s.  Multi-family rents range from $355 to $700 per month 
depending on the unit size, furnishings, and/or subsidization.  Landlords report that there are many 
short-term renters associated with temporary employment such as construction projects and 
agricultural or factory employment.  This results in fluctuations in vacancy rates.  
 
With the exception of subsidized housing (which tends to have fewer vacancies), vacancy rates 
range between 4% and 15%.  Landlords comment that there seems to be noticeable excess supply 
of apartment rentals at the moment.  
 

Table 9.2-4   City of Umatilla Multi-Family Rents  
Unit Size Rent Range 
Studio & 1 Bedroom $355 to $450 
2 Bedroom $410 to $700 
3 Bedroom $470 to $675 
Note: Low-end of rent range generally associated with 
subsidized housing units, some of higher-end units are furnished.  
Source: Local property managers.  

 
 
9.2.220 Commercial Space Market  
Currently there is little apparent demand for commercial space in the City of Umatilla.  Reportedly 
no new commercial construction has occurred recently and about half of the recent existing 
commercial building sales in the City were to the School District.  
 
Commercial rents for the region are summarized in Table 9.2-5.  Vacant commercial space is 
available in both the 6th Street commercial area and in McNary.  As a result of the lack of demand, 
rental rates for commercial space in Umatilla range from $2.40 to $6.00 per square foot per year, 
less than half the cost of space in nearby Hermiston.  These rental rates are typically not adequate 
to support new construction or significant improvements to existing buildings.  

66



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 53  

 
Table 9.2-5   Commercial Rents (2001)  

City/Area Annual Rent per Square Feet 
Hermiston  
  - Downtown $12.00 to $16.80 
  - Hermiston Plaza $10.00 to $13.00 
  - Other $10.20 to $12.00 
Umatilla $2.40 to $6.00 

Note: Detail on condition of commercial spaces not readily available.  
Source: Local real estate tenants, appraisers, agents.  
 
Commercial rents in Hermiston reportedly are highest in the downtown ($12.00 to $16.80 per SF 
per year) and drop by as much as 25% (to a range of $10.00 to $13.00 per SF per year) for areas 
outside the downtown.  The market for commercial space also appears to be quite price sensitive.  
An increase in rents at Hermiston Plaza apparently has been accompanied by a loss of tenants 
including anchor tenant Rite Aid Drugs.  Some remaining businesses report a significant drop in 
sales as a result of this loss and that the quality of incoming businesses and merchandise has 
lowered.  
 
On the other hand, demand for warehouse or flex space for storage and/or light manufacturing 
businesses has been noted in both the Umatilla and Hermiston markets.  
 
9.2.230 Economic Assessment  
The City of Umatilla has a number of strengths but also faces numerous challenges in its attempt 
to develop a stronger commercial core and city center.  The strengths include:  
 
• Successful marketing of port industrial property is bringing in new light industrial and 

transportation businesses such as trucking, farm tool & implement, and rustic furniture 
companies.  

• Residential development occurring in just the last two plus years has already outpaced 
development over the previous decade.  

• On the demographic side, strong population growth and increasing incomes for households in 
their prime employment years are being experienced.  

• The existing commercial business mix includes some key anchor businesses (such as the 
grocery, drugstore and bank) and provides a good base from which to build future 
commercial expansion and investment.  

 
However, despite these strengths, tenant based locally driven commercial development isn’t 
occurring in Umatilla.  The following challenges are likely reasons for the apparent lack of 
commercial interest/development:  
 
• The downtown commercial area is a mile-long rectilinear district and is most likely still too 

large for the number of commercial businesses supportable by the City population and 
incomes.  

• The downtown commercial district is west of both the I-82 freeway and the port of entry.  

67



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 54  

• Area businesses face direct competition from national and local stores in nearby Hermiston.  
For at least some forms of retail, the Umatilla trade area is too small to support competing 
businesses that can generate industry standard sales volumes.  

• The downtown commercial area is currently characterized by a significant number of vacant 
and underutilized commercial properties (including several prominent former gas station 
sites).  

• Based on a series of conversations with local business proprietors, property owners, city and 
development corporation staff, it appears these groups have a variety of agendas and at times 
are working against each other – whether intentionally or inadvertently.  

• In some instances it has been suggested Umatilla has a poor business climate making entry 
and start-ups difficult by discouraging potential tenants.  

• Commercial rents in Umatilla are not sufficient to support new construction or significant 
improvement to existing structures.  

 
In summary, there is nothing on the immediate horizon to suggest vacant or underutilized 
commercial properties in Umatilla will fill absent a program of proactive public/private investment 
strategies.  
 
 
9.2.300 PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT  
The public involvement program for the Downtown Redevelopment Plan involved several 
components.  First, in October 2000, 2900 project newsletters with a community questionnaire 
were distributed.  The second step in the public involvement program was to conduct a walking 
tour of the study area with local stakeholders.  Also included in this tour was an educational 
presentation of downtown planning concepts and a community visioning exercise.  The third step 
was a series of charettes to generate ideas to revitalize the downtown Umatilla.  Three charettes 
were conducted.  Two of the charettes involved elementary and middle school children.  The third 
and final charette was for the general public and held at the Umatilla High School.  Following the 
charettes the next day was a downtown workshop.  The downtown workshop summarized the 
public input and developed alternative concepts to revitalize the downtown area.  
 
9.2.310 Community Questionnaire  
In October 2000, 2,900 questionnaires were mailed to area residents.  The questionnaire was part 
of a project newsletter and listed a series of open-ended questions.  In the six weeks following the 
mailing, approximately 28 questionnaires were returned.  A copy of questionnaire responses is 
included in Appendix 9A-1.  Key observations include the following:  
 
Downtown Identity - Respondents provided a wide variety of answers to a question that asked 
people to list the landmarks and buildings that best identify downtown.  Responses ranged from 
businesses and buildings in the core area (Carlson’s Drug Store, City Hall, and the Red Apple 
Cowboy) to outlying uses, such as the Port of Entry and the Umatilla Marina RV Park.  Clearly, 
there was no consensus about what defines downtown Umatilla.  
 

68



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 55  

Positive Characteristics - In response to a question regarding the positive characteristics that 
should be maintained, there were few responses that focused on positive attributes.  Some of the 
positive features included: parks, new high school, craft shops, murals, Umatilla Museum, library, 
and the MOR Theater.  
 
Negative Characteristics - A longer list of negative characteristics was generated when people 
were asked to list the features that needed to be improved.  Examples included: retail along main 
street, ugly buildings and signs, trees, green areas, old gas stations, and storm drains.  
 
Commercial Development - In response to a question asking what type of commercial development 
is desired, people listed the following uses often found in a downtown area: bakery, hardware store, 
restaurants, a deli, real estate office, professional offices, a bowling alley, clothing store, and shoe 
store.  People also listed uses that are not typically found in downtowns, including a lumber yard, 
Fred Meyer, Wal-Mart, Bi-Mart, and drive-through restaurants.  Again, there was no clear 
consensus about what should occur in the downtown and what type of businesses should locate 
there.  
 
Traffic Issues - Public response ranged from general to very specific improvements when asked if 
there were traffic problems related to pedestrian safety, speeding, parking, and congestion.  A 
number of respondents mentioned the high levels of truck traffic in the downtown and problems 
for pedestrians attempting to cross Sixth Street.  
 
General Comments - A variety of general comments was provided.  Comments addressed issues 
such as signage, tourism, retail opportunities, and public involvement.  
 
The results of the community questionnaire are included in Appendix 9A-1 with a copy of the 
questionnaire questions.  
 
9.2.320 Walking Tour  
On November 2, 2000, the consultant team conducted a walking tour of downtown with a number 
of downtown stakeholders.  As part of that process, a work session was held with participants.  
Notes from the work session are included in Appendix 9A-2.  Key observations included:  
 
Constraints:  
 Downtown businesses are too spread out.  
 The downtown is a highway with sidewalks.  
 There is no reason for visitors to stop in the downtown.  
 Hazardous materials at abandoned gas stations limit development.  
 There are numerous absentee owners in the downtown.  
 
Opportunities:  
 The museum should have a strong presence on Sixth Street.  
 Recruit the post office back to the downtown.  
 Parking is available on the street.  

69



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 56  

 Gaps between existing buildings are an opportunity for development.  
 “E” Street provides an opportunity to link to the park.  
 The tour boats bring many visitors to Umatilla.  
 Lots of small improvements will provide a realistic strategy for successful revitalization.  
 
9.2.330 Charette and Downtown Workshop  
On November 8 and 9, 2000, the H. Lee and Associates team held a two-day charrette that 
culminated in a downtown workshop attended by stakeholders, city officials, and citizens.  The 
charrette activities on November 8 included two workshops with school children, a meeting with 
the project advisory committee, and an evening community workshop.  On November 9, the 
consultant team synthesized information collected on the previous day and conducted a downtown 
workshop in the evening.  Two separate reports document the workshop activities.  The Charrette 
Report documents activities on November 8.  The Downtown Workshop Report addresses 
activities on November 9.  
 
9.2.331 Charrette Report  
Charrette activities conducted on November 8, 2000, are summarized below.  Each event is 
described separately.  
 
Children’s Charrette – McNary Heights Elementary School.  

The consultant team met with 16 
elementary school children on the morning 
of November 8, 2000.  Before the meeting, 
teachers had students draw pictures of uses 
and activities that children envisioned for 
downtown Umatilla.  At the workshop, 
students took turns describing their 
drawings.  A sampling of student drawings 
is included in Figure 9.2-2.  As children 
talked about their desires, Bob Foster 
sketched images depicting the type of 
activities described.  Following the 
discussion, the ideas that were most 
commonly stated were listed.  The students 

were then given five adhesive dots and were asked to vote for their favorite ideas. The results are 
provided in Table 9.2-6 below.  Elementary school students had a strong desire to see better parks 
and playing fields.  They also wanted a local swimming pool and the MOR movie theatre reopened.  
There was interest in creating a science museum.  This idea received further discussion later in the 
day as citizens discussed local natural and archeological features.  A sample of the elementary 
school children design charrette drawings is shown in Figure 9.2-2.  
 
 

70



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 57  

Children’s Charrette – Clara Brownell 
Middle School.  
During the afternoon of November 8, 
2000, the consultant team met with 
approximately 10 middle school 
children.  As was done with the 
elementary school children, students 
prepared drawings before the workshop.  
Each child took a turn describing their 
vision of downtown Umatilla.  Again, as 
students presented ideas, Bob Foster 
sketched concepts.  Common ideas were 
listed and students voted to identify their 
preferences.  The results are included in 
Table 9.2-6 below.  Samples of student drawings are shown in Figure 9.2-3.  The most popular 
idea among middle school students was establishment of a skating rink - the Skate O’ Rama.  Other 
popular ideas included a swimming pool, movie theater, and skate park.  
 
 

Table 9.2-6  Summary of Results of Elementary School Children Design Charrette  

Idea of Improvements to Umatilla Number of Votes for Idea 

Additional Parks and Sports Fields 17 

Swimming Pool 13 

Rehabilitate the Movie Theatre and Open 13 

Mall 11 

Science Museum 9 

Teen Center 8 

Restaurants 8 

Arcade 5 

Skate Park 4 
 
 
 

71



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 58  

Figure 9.2-2  Sample of Ideas from Elementary School Children Design Charrette  
 

 
 
 
 

Table 9.2-7  Summary of Results of Middle School Children Design Charrette  

Idea of Improvements to Umatilla Number of Votes for Idea 

Skate o’ Rama 22 

Movie Theatre 9 

Swimming Pool 9 

Skate Park 6 

Bike Trails 3 

Bowling Alley 3 

New Middle School 3 

Window Decorations 2 

Fitness Center 1 

Take Down Cowboy and Put Up Viking 1 

More Shops 1 

 
 
9.2.332 Project Advisory Committee Meeting  
On November 8, 2000, a project advisory committee meeting was held after the children’s 
workshops and before the evening adult charrette event.  The focus of the meeting was to review 

72



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 59  

activities of the day and identify key concerns of the committee.  The following list represents the 
key concerns of the committee:  
 There is a major concern of how traffic will affect the downtown core.  Three basic options 
exist.  They are 1) move truck traffic away from downtown via an alternative route, 2) move the 
downtown center away from 6th Street, and 3) slow traffic down on 6th Street.  
 The downtown needs to be separate from the major traffic corridor.  
 More commercial development is needed to support the Columbia River tour boats.  These 
developments need to be such as to keep patrons of the tour boats occupied for stops of one to 
two hours.  Ideas for these developments include museums and small shops.  
 The tribe should consider developing an interpretive center in town.  
 No commercial kitchen exists in town.  One should be sought to be developed in conjunction 
with other retail uses.  
 There is a safety concern on 6th Street regarding truck traffic.  The preference is to move 
truck traffic away from the downtown core.  
 A traffic light should be considered to be installed along 6th Street to slow truck and general 
traffic down.  
 Timing is critical in any redevelopment of downtown.  The major issues are when, where, 
and how.  
 The bridge on the west end of town is in need of replacement.  It is tentatively scheduled to 
be replaced in 2005.  
 
 
 

Figure 9.2-3  Sample of Ideas from Middle School Children Design Charrette  

73



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 60  

9.2.333 Adult Charrette  
As part of the charrette process, a workshop was held with the general public on the evening of 
November 8, 2000.  The session was held in the Umatilla High School and was attended by 
approximately 30 people.  At the session, the consultant team presented background information 
on downtown planning principles.  The student workshops were described, and the drawings were 
displayed.  Charrette activities included prioritizing goals and providing comments at four 
workstations.  One of the work stations is shown in Figure 9.2-4.  
 
Draft downtown goals were prioritized by voting with adhesive dots.  Participants were given four 
dots.  Results are presented in Table 9.2-8.  Goals that received the most votes were to cluster 
public and civic uses in downtown and to encourage improvement of downtown buildings.  The 
goals that received the fewest votes were to provide more housing and mixed-use development in 
the downtown.  
 

Figure 9.2-4  One of Four Workstations at Community Workshop  

 
 
Four workshop stations were provided.  Participants made comments and noted ideas on post-it 
notes and applied the notes to large aerial photographs.  The stations included the following topic 
areas:  
 
 Urban design, building improvements, and land use.  
 Pedestrian improvements.  
 Circulation and parking.  
 Streetscape improvements.  
 
A transcript of comments from each station is included in Appendix 
9A-3.  Select comments from the workstations include the 
following:  
 
 
 

74



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 61  

Urban Design, Building Improvements, and Land Use.  
 Murals/green walls  
 Awnings  
 Signage/sign controls  
 Fix up movie theater  
 Skate park  
 Move post office downtown  
 Town garden  
 Accent the “cowboy” – light him at night  
 

Table 9.2-8  Downtown Goals  

Downtown Goals 
1.  Cluster public and civic uses (Post Office/City Hall) in downtown. 

2.  Encourage improvement of downtown buildings. 

3.  Enhance the pedestrian environment by providing a community gathering place and minimizing 
conflicts between pedestrians and highway traffic. 

4.  Improve city park (e.g. add a skate park and playing field) near downtown. 

5.  Define the downtown by creating landmarks, focal points, or other features.  Use landscaping, 
lighting, and street furniture to improve downtown streetscapes. 

6.  Create a focused core area in the downtown by concentrating new pedestrian oriented 
development in key locations. 

7.  Improve pedestrian connections between the downtown and surrounding residential areas. 

8.  Improve parking in the downtown. 

9.  Discourage auto-oriented business in the core area of downtown. 

10.  Provide more housing and mixed-use development in and near the downtown. 

 
Streetscape Improvements.  
 Gateways  
 Public art  
 Bulb-outs at crosswalks  
 Drinking fountains  
 Historic pedestrian lighting  
 City center gathering spot  
 Street trees  
 
Circulation and Parking.  
 Public parking lots  
 Parking available on side streets  

75



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 62  

 Screen parking  
 Parking signage  
 One-way couplet  
 Traffic lights  
 
Pedestrian Improvements.  
 Bulb-outs at crosswalks  
 Accent paving/raised pavements  
 Medians/islands  
 Improved sidewalks  
 Handicap ramps  
 Stop light  
 
 
9.2.334 Downtown Workshop  
On November 9, 2000, a downtown workshop was held at city hall.  Approximately 25 people 

attended the workshop.  Participants included 
stakeholders, city officials, and the general public.  The 
purpose of the workshop was to test a series of 
downtown alternatives and develop a conceptual 
framework for development of the downtown plan.  The 
team summarized the work of the previous day and 
presented four basic concepts for how the downtown 
could develop including: a nodal commercial center, a 
truck bypass on Fifth Street, a Seventh Street 
commercial center, and a new town center.  The team 
presented three variations of the nodal commercial 

center, which resulted in a total of six alternatives.  Each of the six alternatives is discussed below.  
 
9.2.334(1) Alternative 1. Commercial Center - Lateral Node Concept  
This alternative is intended to focus new pedestrian-
oriented commercial development at three nodes along 
Sixth Street in the downtown area.  The nodes are likely 
to include Switzler Street, I Street, and E Street.  The 
basic nodal concept emphasizes development and 
pedestrian improvements perpendicular to the highway 
along the side streets.  These streets offer a better, 
quieter, more pedestrian-friendly environment for 
people walking or sitting downtown.  They also provide 
linkages to the surrounding residential areas.  
 
 
 

76



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 63  

9.2.334(2) Alternative 1A. Commercial Center - Lateral/Civic Center Node Concept  
Alternative 1a is a variation of Alternative 1, but 
all development is focused on a single node at 
I Street.  This alternative includes the idea of 
building a new civic center as part of the node.  The 
civic center would include a new city hall and 
library and would anchor the southern end of the 
node to the south of Seventh Street.  This 
concentration of activity would help encourage 
new storefront development along I Street to 
create a high-quality pedestrian environment 
perpendicular to the highway.  Under this 
alternative, I Street would become an active gathering place that could be closed at certain times 
to accommodate events such as a city art fair.  This illustration is shown below in Figure 9.2-5.  
 
 

Figure 9.2-5  City Art Fair Concept with Alternative 1A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

77



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 64  

9.2.334(3) Alternative 1B. Commercial 
Center - Linear and Nodal Concept  
Alternative 1b builds on the ideas included in 
Alternatives 1 and 1a.  It emphasizes creation 
of a pedestrian-friendly shopping area along 
I Street perpendicular to the highway, but it 
also emphasizes pedestrian-oriented 
development between I Street and E Street to 
take advantage of existing commercial 
buildings along Sixth Street.  The two most 
distinctive commercial buildings on Sixth 
Street are the MOR Theater at E Street and the 
Wards building at I Street.  This alternative links the two buildings by encouraging additional 
development on underdeveloped lots along Sixth Street.  The concept is intended to concentrate 
pedestrian-oriented retail development along a corridor no greater than 1,000 feet in length.  The 
length is critical, because typically shoppers will not walk more than 1,000 feet.  Creating a 
concentration of activity is important if the area is to be a successful pedestrian district.  Another 
feature of this alternative is the location of a new civic center along Sixth Street at the E Street 

intersection.  Figure 9.2-6 illustrates a new 
civic center concept with Alternative 1b.  
 
 
9.2.334(4) Alternative 2. Truck Bypass – 
Fifth Street Concept  
Under Alternative 2, highway traffic would be 
rerouted along Fifth Street crossing the 
Umatilla River at a new bridge.  The old bridge 
would continue to provide a pedestrian 
connection.  Downtown development could be 
enhanced and concentrated by removing the 
noisy truck traffic from Sixth Street.  

Pedestrian-oriented commercial activity would be concentrated to an approximately 1,000-foot-
long area along Sixth Street between I Street and E Street.  
 
 
9.2.334(5) Alternative 3. Commercial 
Center Concept - Seventh Street Concept  
Alternative 3 would maintain Sixth Street as 
an auto-oriented corridor and concentrate 
pedestrian-focused commercial uses along 
Seventh Street.  This concept was mentioned 
at previous meetings.  
 

78



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 65  

Figure 9.2-6  City Square Concept with Alternative 1B 
 

79



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 66  

9.2.334(6) Alternative 4. Commercial 
Center - New Town Center  
Like Alternative 3, Alternative 4 would 
maintain Sixth Street as an auto-oriented 
corridor.  This concept proposes a new 
pedestrian-oriented town center at a new site 
west of the Umatilla River. 
 
 
9.2.335 Workshop Activity - Prioritize 
Alternatives  
Following the presentation of the alternatives, workshop participants were given one adhesive dot 
to vote for their preferred alternative.  A second adhesive dot was provided so participants could 
vote to locate a new civic center.  A limited number of participants voted, but of those that did, 
Alternative 1b was the preferred alternative and I Street was the preferred location for a new civic 
center.  
 
9.2.336 Pedestrian and Streetscape Improvements  
In addition to alternatives, workshop activities focused on pedestrian and streetscape 
improvements that could be implemented along Sixth Street.  Diagrams were used with aerial 
photographs to identify potential locations for new bulb-out pedestrian crossings, textured 
crosswalks, medians, and street trees.  Figure 9.2-7 illustrates these diagrams.  Participants were 
generally supportive of all concepts.  
 
9.2.337 Land Use Districts  
New land use districts were identified for the downtown.  A key element of the district concept is 
the downtown core area that extends from D Street to I Street.  In the downtown core, pedestrian-
oriented retail and service development would be encouraged, and auto-oriented uses would be 
discouraged.  To the east and west of the downtown core along the highway, a “downtown 
transition district” would be formed that would allow some auto-oriented commercial uses.  
Flanking the downtown would be districts that would allow higher density housing.  New housing 
in the downtown can help enliven the area and bring more customers to retail businesses.  
Figure 9.2-8 shows the land use district map described above.  
 
9.2.338 Conclusion  
The two-day charrette and workshop process produced a wealth of ideas for the downtown.  These 
ranged from large-scale projects, such as a science museum, to simple projects, such as improved 
flower boxes.  The key to success for Umatilla will be to identify projects and programs that are 
realistic and can truly be implemented, given the financial capability of the community.  A concept 
plan was developed after the downtown workshop.  This concept plan is shown in Figure 9.2-9.  
 
 
  

80



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 67  

 
  

81



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 68  

 
 
  

82



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 69  

 

 
 
  

83



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 70  

9.2.400 DOWNTOWN REVITALIZATION PLAN  
The purpose of the project is to create a strategic plan for the revitalization of the downtown core 
area of the City.  The plan is intended to enable the community to benefit from an improved and 
efficient transportation system and redevelopment of the downtown core area as a vital, pedestrian-
oriented center.  
 
Objectives of the Downtown Revitalization Plan are to: 
 Create incentives for businesses to locate in the core area of the City; 
 Create a pleasant pedestrian experience in the core area; 
 Identify streetscape improvements that will enhance the character of the City, including 

sidewalk treatments and lighting. 
 Mitigate the effects of truck traffic along U.S. Route 730; and 
 Identify redevelopment opportunities. 
 
The greatest challenge for the City is to find a way to attract significant private investment in the 
downtown over a long period of time.  The revitalization plan is a blueprint to achieve this goal.  
 
One of the guiding principles of the Downtown Revitalization Plan is to concentrate 
redevelopment efforts.  A key problem with the existing pattern of development is that it is 
scattered over a large area.  By first focusing the community’s efforts on a small area, the City can 
later expand the area of focus to other locations throughout downtown.  The intent of concentrating 
redevelopment efforts is to achieve a critical mass of business activity and investment that will 
trigger a cycle of economic growth.  
 
Commercial opportunities are often present at intersections that have high rates of flow of either 
vehicles or pedestrians.  The intersection of U.S. Route 730 and Interstate 82 is the primary 
vehicular intersection in the City.  During the planning workshop, members of the community 
identified the primary pedestrian intersection in downtown as the junction of 6th Street (U.S. Route 
730) and I Street.  The Downtown Revitalization Plan recommends that the City focus on the 
potential of the 6th Street/I Street intersection.  The US Route 730 and Interstate 82 intersection 
improvements are a part of the Interchange Refinement report that is a separate report.  
 
Public improvements and redevelopment can help attract new businesses.  Because downtown 
Umatilla lacks sufficient investment to attract other commercial activities, the City should commit 
public resources to improvements and redevelopment that make the downtown a viable and 
attractive location for businesses.  In addition to investing in civic improvements, the City should 
also attempt to concentrate jobs, commercial activities, and housing in the downtown.  
 
9.2.410 Redevelopment Opportunities  
This section presents a summary of redevelopment opportunities envisioned to help revitalize 
downtown Umatilla.  Together, these opportunities establish a conceptual framework for 
redevelopment that is consistent with the vision and goals of the community identified during the 
planning process.  
 

84



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 71  

9.2.410(1) Town Center  
Town Center is envisioned as a pedestrian friendly district.  To help concentrate future 
development and make the area pedestrian friendly, a 1,000-foot distance was used create 
alternative development concepts for downtown Umatilla.  This is a comfortable walking distance 
for most pedestrians.   
 
The Downtown Revitalization Plan proposes that future development be concentrated along 6th 
Street between E and J streets.   Town Center also would extend along I Street one block to the 
north of 6th Street and along I Street to the south; a site for a proposed Civic Center.  Retail and 
commercial infill projects would be the most desirable type of development for Town Center.  New 
structures would typically include commercial storefronts that abut the sidewalk.   
 
Pedestrian and streetscape improvement projects, including street furnishings such as benches, 
lights and fountains, would be focused in the Town Center.  To improve the pedestrian 
environment, sidewalk bulb-outs would be added at critical intersections along 6th Street, as well 
as crosswalks and accent pavements.  
 
9.2.410(2) Intersection of 6th and I Streets  
The Downtown Revitalization Plan identifies the intersection of 6th and I streets as potentially the 
strongest pedestrian node within the community.  The intersection is the commercial center for the 
downtown area because 6th Street is the primary vehicular route through town and I Street is 
considered to have the greatest potential as a pedestrian-oriented cross street.  Improvements to 
this intersection would include accent pavement, benches, and possibly a raised intersection with 
pedestrian crossings designated with wide crossing strips. 
 
Two infill sites are adjacent to this intersection, one on the northwest corner, the other on the 
southwest corner.  An underutilized property also is identified at the southeast corner of the 
intersection. As the revitalization plan is implemented, redevelopment of these properties is likely.  
New structures at these locations should follow the commercial storefront model by building to 
the edge of the sidewalks and having facades orienting toward both 6th and I streets, including 
display windows and awnings.  
 
Figure 9.2-10 illustrates a vision of what 6th Street east of I Street could look like with the 
improvements described above.  
 
 
 

85



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 72  

Figure 9.2-10   6th Street Future Concept with Streetscape and Building Improvements 
 

86



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 73  

9.2.410(3) I Street  
Participants at the community workshops identified I Street as a likely place for a pedestrian center.  
I Street should be redeveloped as a commercial street strongly oriented to pedestrians.  Commercial 
storefronts would abut the sidewalk.  Street parking can be supplemented by off-street parking 
located behind buildings that face I Street.  The street would be designed for both vehicle and 
pedestrian use by using accent paving, historic lights, benches and fountains.  As a pedestrian 
street, I Street could be closed to vehicular traffic for special events or festivals.  
 
9.2.410(4) MOR Theatre  
One of the most significant buildings located in downtown is the MOR Theatre.  While some 
community participants commented on the building’s poor appearance, others suggested that the 
theatre was worth keeping.  Renovation of the building may serve both of these ends.  Figure 9.2-
11 illustrates how the exterior of the building might look after a major renovation.  It should be 
noted that building renovation is typically more expensive than new construction.  Major 
renovation of existing structures may not be economically viable until the revitalization of 
downtown is well underway.  
 
9.2.410(5) First Interstate Bank Building  
The First Interstate Bank building, which now houses the school district offices, is of relatively 
new construction.  The building is a utilitarian structure that lacks the detail and architectural 
character that are appropriate for a pedestrian-oriented downtown.  Figure 9.2-12 shows a sketch 
illustrating how architectural detailing applied to the building’s exterior might enhance its appeal 
to pedestrians in a manner suitable for its downtown location.  
 
9.2.410(6) Civic Center  
To anchor I Street as the primary pedestrian axis, the plan envisions a Civic Center located at the 
intersection of 7th and I Streets.  This complex of buildings would include a new city hall, library, 
post office, senior center, and recreation center.  The plan presents two options for development 
of the Civic Center.  One concept closes 7th Street west of the intersection of I Street and creates a 
Civic Center complex with new buildings oriented toward a park.  Option 1 is illustrated in Figure 
9.2-13.  The second concept closes I Street immediately south of 7th Street and centers the Civic 
Center complex and park on the axis of I Street.  Option 2 is illustrated in Figure 9.2-14.  
 
9.2.410(7) Library Square  
The plan identifies an open space located between the library and 6th Street that might become an 
attractive pedestrian gathering place.  The plan proposes that this space be developed as a joint- 
use space that allows parking during the week, but is available for pedestrian use on weekends.  
The Library Square project would likely reduce the number of existing parking spaces, planting 
shade trees and landscaping, and street furnishings such as benches, streetlights, and bollards.  
Figure 9.2-15 shows an improvement concept for the existing library parking lot where the area is 
accented with an archway façade and pedestrian plaza.  
 
  

87



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 74  

 
 
  

88



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 75  

 
  

89



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 76  

 
 
  

90



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 77  

 
 
  

91



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 78  

Figure 9.2-15.  Library Plaza Concept with Archway Façade 
 

 
 
 
 
  

92



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 79  

9.2.410(8) Downtown Residential  
Creating residential housing opportunities downtown will help the City establish a stronger 
downtown neighborhood.  New residents will build a market for new downtown businesses.  
Downtown housing development should be oriented toward the street with parking in the center 
of the block.  Access to center block parking lots would be by alleys running east to west between 
the numbered streets.  New housing development would be encouraged to follow this typical 
pattern of development.  
 
9.2.410(9) Downtown Mixed-Use  
The Downtown Revitalization Plan proposes a new development pattern for downtown Umatilla 
that combines office and residential uses.  This new pattern would allow office and commercial 
uses at street level with housing on the second floor or behind the storefront.  Parking would be 
available on the street with off-street parking located in the middle of the block.  Access to mid-
block parking would be by alleys running east to west between the numbered streets and driveways 
located at the center of the block.  
 
This mixed-use development concept is illustrated with typical plan and section drawings in Figure 
9.2-16.  The plan and section drawings illustrate how retail or office space might be located on the 
first floor with housing on the second floor.  The drawings also illustrate how off-street parking 
can be included in this type of development.  
 
9.2.410(10) Auto-Oriented Commercial  
A portion of the east side of downtown Umatilla is suitable for car- and truck-oriented uses.  The 
plan proposes that truck- and car-oriented uses be located along 6th Street from a point west of the 
intersection of Yerxa Avenue running east to the Union Pacific Railroad bridge.  Given that this 
location is near the Port of Entry and the Interstate 82 interchange, it provides an opportunity for 
commercial development in this area.  
 
9.2.420 Streetscape and Pedestrian Improvements  
This section describes streetscape and pedestrian improvements that are a part of the Downtown 
Revitalization Plan.  Sketches were developed to depict streetscape design elements, based on 
“typical” conditions.  Recommended improvements have been broken down into illustrative 
projects, which include estimated project costs the City can use for the purposes of planning.  
 
9.2.421 Design Elements  
To develop a schematic streetscape plan, it was assumed that a typical block measured 200 feet by 
200 feet and that the typical street right of way measured 80 feet in width, with streets measuring 
60 feet from curb to curb.  The existing 6th Street cross section is illustrated in Figure 9.2-17.  The 
section view shows an 8-foot-wide parking lane on both sides of the street, one 15-foot-wide travel 
lane in each direction and a 14-foot-wide center turning lane.  
 
The proposed 6th Street cross section design reduces the width of the travel lanes and adds center 
medians to slow traffic.  Bike lanes have also been designated.  The proposed 6th Street section, 
see Figure 9.2-18, shows a 7–foot-wide parking lane on both sides of the street, one 6-foot-wide 

93



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 80  

bike lane in each direction, one 11-foot-wide travel lane in each direction, and a 12-foot-wide 
center turning lane or median.  
 
A concept plan was developed for the 6th and I Streets intersection.  I Street should become the 
City’s “Pedestrian Street.”  Sixth Street is already considered to be the City’s “Main Street.”  The 
concept plan shows curb extensions and crosswalks, 10-foot-wide sidewalks along 6th Street, and 
14-foot-wide sidewalks along I Street.  Each curb extension depicts ramps to meet requirements 
of the American’s with Disabilities Act (ADA) and planting areas for landscape plants or trees.  
The concept plan also depicts concrete scoring patterns used on the paving surface.  The 6th Street 
and I Street intersection concept plan is shown in Figure 9.2-19.  
 
A “typical” sidewalk pavement sketch in Figure 9.2-20 illustrates the sidewalk design proposed 
for new improvement projects.  The sketch depicts a sidewalk that varies from 8- to 10-feet wide, 
curb and gutter, street trees, and parking.  A second sketch shown in Figure 9.2-21 illustrates the 
need for added width to include streetscape furnishings and other amenities.  This sketch defines 
a 4-foot wide furniture zone adjacent to the curb where street trees, lights, signage, benches, 
trashcans, and drinking fountains should be located.  The sketch also shows how storefront 
awnings (from 4- to 6-feet-wide) can make the street more attractive to pedestrians.  
 
A new proposed local side street cross section in the downtown core area is shown in Figure 5-13.  
This cross section shows angle parking on both sides of the roadway and two travel lanes within a 
pavement width of 64 feet and 80-foot right of way.  The angle parking lanes each take 20 feet and 
the two travel lanes are 12 feet each.  The remaining right of way is comprised of 6 foot sidewalks.  
An additional two feet of right-of-way is available for utilities behind the sidewalks on each side 
of the street.  
 
9.2.422 Illustrative Improvement Projects  
Using the design concepts described above, a list of illustrative improvement projects was 
developed to help the City budget and plan for implementation of the pedestrian and streetscape 
improvements (see the Pedestrian and Streetscape Improvement Plan, Figure 9.2-7).  Recognizing 
that financial resources to implement the improvements might be limited, a large number of small 
projects were created.  The series of cost estimates for typical improvements were used to develop 
the costs for illustrative improvement projects.  The cost estimates are intended to be used by the 
City for planning and budgeting purposes and are not intended to reflect the actual cost of the 
improvements.  A sequence of small projects allows the City greater flexibility in implementing 
the improvements.  If financial resources are limited, fewer projects can be implemented.  If 
funding is readily available, then the improvement schedule can be accelerated.  
 
 
  

94



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 81  

  

95



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 82  

 
 
  

96



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 83  

 
 
  

97



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 84  

 
 
  

98



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 85  

 
 
  

99



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 86  

 
 
  

100



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 87  

 
 

101



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 88  

Unit costs used to prepare the estimates are summarized in Table 9.2-9.  Many of the items listed 
area available in a range of different prices.  For example, the sample prices for tree grates ranged 
from $100 to $275 per grate.  Sample street lights prices ranged between $1,700 to $3,000 per 
light.  Median prices are shown in the table below and are adjusted to include installation.  
 

Table 9.2-9.  Unit Costs of Improvement Project Items  

ITEM UNIT COST/UNIT 

Demolition SF  $1.00  
Curbs LF  $15.00  
Street Patching SF  $6.00  
Trenching LF $15.00 
Sidewalk SF  $7.00  
Trees EA  $500.00  
Tree Grates EA  $190.00  
Irrigation (drip system) LF TBD 
Landscaping SF  $5.00  
Planters (trough) EA $600.00 
Street Lights EA  $2,250.00  
Trash Cans EA  $750.00  
Bench EA  $1,000.00  
Drinking Fountain EA  $3,000.00  
Bike Rack EA  $500.00  
Painted Crosswalk SF $1.00 
Concrete Crosswalk SF  $8.00  

 
Table 9.2-10 summarizes the improvement projects by phase and estimated total cost.  The 
Streetscape and Pedestrian Improvements Phasing Plan in Figure 9.2-23 illustrates how the 
projects might be implemented through a sequence of many projects.  
 

102



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 89  

Table 9.2-10.  Streetscape Improvement Projects by Phase  
Project Name/Phase Estimated Total Cost 

Phase 1 Projects  
Intersection at 6th and I Streets with Curb Extensions $65,000 
Intersection at 6th and H Streets with Curb Extensions $61,000 
Intersection at 6th and G Streets with Curb Extensions $61,000 
Subtotal $187,000 
  
Phase 2 Projects  
6th Street Sidewalks between H and I Streets $106,000 
6th Street Sidewalks between G and H Streets $106,000 
6th Street Median between G and H Streets $30,000 
Subtotal $242,000 
  
Phase 3 Projects  
6th Street Median between I and J Streets $30,000 
Intersection at 6th and J Streets with Curb Extensions $57,000 
6th Street Sidewalks between I and J Streets $106,000 
Subtotal $193,000 
  
Phase 4 Projects  
I Street Sidewalks between 6th and 7th Streets $133,000 
I Street Sidewalks between 5th and 6th Streets $133,000 
South of Intersection at Corner of 5th and I Street $66,500 
Subtotal $332,500 
  
Phase 5 Projects  
6th Street Median between F and G Streets $30,000 
Intersection at 6th and F Streets with Curb Extensions $61,000 
6th Street Sidewalks between F and G Streets $106,000 
6th Street Sidewalks between E and F Streets $106,000 
Subtotal $303,000 

103



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 90  

Table 9.2-10.  Streetscape Improvement Projects by Phase (Continued) 

Phase 6 Projects  
Gateway Feature (West End) $42,000 
Intersection at 6th and E Streets with Curb Extensions $61,000 
Intersection at 6th and D Streets with Curb Extensions $57,000 

Subtotal $160,000 

  

Phase 7 Projects  
6th Street Sidewalks between D and E Streets $106,000 
6th Street Median between D and E Streets $30,000 
Intersection at 7th and I Street (Special Condition) $57,000 
Sidewalks south of 7th and I Street Intersection $66,500 
Subtotal $153,500 

  

Phase 8 Projects  
Intersection of 6th and Switzler Avenue $61,000 
Intersection of 6th and Yerxa Avenue $61,000 
Intersection of 7th and Switzler Avenue $34,000 
6th Street Sidewalks east of Yerxa Avenue $106,000 
Subtotal $262,000 

  

Phase 9 Projects  
Sidewalks north of 6th Street and Switzler Avenue $53,000 
Sidewalks east of Intersection of 6th Street and Yerxa Avenue $106,000 
Subtotal $159,000 

  

Phase 10 Projects  
6th Street Sidewalks between Switzler and Yerxa Avenues $176,000 
6th Street Median between Switzler and Yerxa Avenues $30,000 
Subtotal $206,000 

  
Phase 11 Projects  
Switzler Avenue Sidewalks between 6th and 7th Streets $102,000 
Gateway Feature (East End) $42,000 
Subtotal $144,000 

Total Estimated Cost for all Phases $2,395,000 

 

104



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 91  

 
 
  

105



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 92  

9.2.423 Improvement Descriptions  
9.2.423(1) Switzler and Yerxa Avenues  
Two intersections on the east side of downtown Umatilla should be improved: the intersection of 
6th Street and Switzler Avenue, and the intersection of 6th Street and Yerxa Avenue.  The 
intersection of 6th Street and Switzler Avenue is important because Switzler Avenue provides a link 
to the neighborhoods to the north.  It is also a link to bicycle trail on 3rd Avenue.  Figure 9.2-24 
illustrates a park concept that could be constructed on the northwest corner of the 6th Street/Switzler 
Avenue intersection.  The intersection of 6th Street and Yerxa Avenue is important because Yerxa 
Avenue offers a connection between the High School and commercial establishments on 6th Street.  
Improvements should include, sidewalk bulb outs, street trees, and striped pedestrian crossings.  
 
9.2.423(2) West City Entrance  
The City can define the entrance to the City by creating a monument, sculpture, or other type of 
landmark feature.  The feature can be further enhanced using accent lighting, paving and landscape 
elements.  The location of the entrance feature should be along 6th Street near the intersection of C 
Street.  Figure 9.2-25 illustrates a gateway concept that could be implemented or the west city 
entrance.  
 
9.2.423(3) East City Entrance  
The bridge over the Union Pacific Railroad creates an entrance on the east side of the City.  Adding 
a landmark or symbol can enhance this entrance.  The landmark or symbol might take the form of 
a sculpture, monument, or sign.  The entrance can be accented with historic lights.  Figure 9.2-26 
illustrates a gateway feature for the east city entrance.  
 
9.2.423(4) Intersection of 6th and I Street  
The plan envisions the corner of 6th and I Streets as the commercial center for the downtown area 
because 6th Street is the primary vehicular route through town, and I Street is considered to have 
the greatest potential as a pedestrian-oriented cross street.  Improvements to this intersection would 
include accent pavement, benches, and possibly a raised intersection.  
 
9.2.423(5) Close A Street Intersection  
To increase safety at the Umatilla River Bridge it is recommended that the intersection of A Street 
and 6th Street be closed by creating a cul-de-sac or dead end at the south end of A Street.  
 
9.2.423(6) Heritage Trail/Senior Center Parking  
A new parking area is proposed to serve both users of the Lewis and Clark Heritage Trail and the 
Senior Center.  The joint parking lot is to be located at the intersection of B and 7th Streets.  
 
 
 
 
  

106



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 93  

Figure 9.2-24  Park Concept at the Northwest Corner of 6th Street/Switzler Avenue  

 
 
 
 
 

107



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 94  

Figure 9.2-25  West City Entrance Gateway Feature  

 
 
 
 
 
 

108



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 95  

Figure 9.2-26  East City Entrance Gateway Feature  

 
 
 
 
 
  

109



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 96  

9.2.500 CIRCULATION PLAN  
The circulation plan for the downtown study area is comprised of the following sections: functional 
classification, parking, street improvements, and access management.  The supporting information 
used to create this information can be found in the Appendix.  The majority of the supporting 
information can be found in the Opportunities and Constraints Report.  
 
9.2.510 Functional Classification  
The functional classification for the study area was taken from the 1999 City of Umatilla 
Transportation System Plan (TSP).  In the study area, 6th Street (Highway 730) is the only major 
arterial.  Five collectors exist in the study area.  They are 7th Street from “B” Street to Umatilla 
River Road, “B” Street from 6th Street to 7th Street, “F” Street from 3rd Street to 7th Street, Switzler 
Avenue from 3rd Street to 7th Street, and 3rd Street.  The remaining study area streets are local 
streets.  
 
No streets are being proposed to be reclassified by this study.  However, consideration should be 
given to create a pedestrian-oriented environment around “I” Street and portions of 6th Street within 
the downtown core area.  This can be done by considering this area as a Special Transportation 
Area (STA).  
 
9.2.511 Parking  
The parking survey summarized in the Opportunities and Constraints report has documented that 
sufficient on-street parking exists on 6th Street to support the existing commercial uses.  
 
Of the 160 on-street parking spaces along 6th Street between A Street and Jane Avenue, the peak 
usage occurred at 3:00 PM with only 23 spaces used.  This is a maximum overall utilization of 14 
percent.  At the maximum overall parking utilization, 137 on-street parking spaces were available.  
 
Based on the parking survey conducted, there seems to be more than sufficient parking supply for 
the immediate future.  Should the City of Umatilla encounter parking problems in the distant future, 
a two tiered strategy could be implemented to meet any future demand.  First, on-street parking 
spaces are not marked on the side streets.  Additional spaces could be sought by striping parking 
spaces on the side streets.  Conservatively, at least 100 spaces could be added from side street 
parking.  Considerably more side street parking spaces could be developed if the local street cross-
section depicted in Figure 9.2-22 was implemented.  Should the City of Umatilla add additional 
side street parking spaces, then it should consider installing curb, gutter, and storm drains at that 
time.  The second strategy to add parking in the downtown area is to close one or two side streets 
between 6th and 7th Streets and develop surface street public parking lots.  The closure of one or 
two side streets should not have a significant impact to traffic since the downtown area has a well-
developed grid system.  There is a side street approximately every 200 hundred feet.  The only 
consideration are to avoid closure of the collector side streets which include “B” Street, “F” Street, 
and Switzler Avenue and “I” Street which is the center of the downtown revitalization concept.  
Each side street block has a right-of-way dimension of 80 feet by 200 feet and could accommodate 
at least 30 new parking stalls.  
 

110



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 97  

9.2.512 TSP Street Improvements  
There are no roadway improvement projects planned in Umatilla’s Transportation System Plan 
(TSP) for the study area.  However, based on discussions with ODOT, the Umatilla River Bridge 
may be rebuilt in the next five or six years.  Should this occur, the City of Umatilla would like to 
consider a new alignment for the bridge.  The new alignment would cross the Umatilla River at 
5th Street.  Highway 730 would be re-aligned with 6th Street between “C” Street and “E” Street to 
the east.  To the west, Highway 730 would be re-aligned to the current highway alignment west of 
Powerline Road.  Powerline Road could then be re-aligned to the new highway alignment further 
west of the new bridge.  
 
There are three traffic signal projects planned for the study area at the eastern and western 
boundaries of the study area.  The three intersections identified in the TSP as needing signalization 
by 2017 are the Powerline Road/Highway 730, Umatilla River Road/Highway 730 (6th Street), and 
“J” Street/Highway 730 (fire signal) intersections.  
 
Other than the streetscape plan and pedestrian improvements, no new street improvement project 
is proposed.  
 
9.2.513 Median Improvements Created by the Downtown Revitalization Plan  
In order to enhance the pedestrian friendliness, attractiveness and traffic calming along 6th Street, 
medians and bulb-outs are proposed.  Medians narrow the area of pavement and may provide a 
refuge area for pedestrians.  Bulb-outs create a perception of narrowing the street to the motorist.  
They are also used to make pedestrian crossings shorter, and therefore easier and safer.  Both 
medians and bulb-outs narrow the area of pavement and travel lane widths providing a visual cue 
to the driver to slow down.  When used in conjunction they can have a significant impact on travel 
speeds along the roadway.  Figure 9.2-7 shows the proposed Pedestrian and Streetscape 
Improvements, which illustrate the proposed locations of medians and bulb-outs.  
 
The proposed medians will eliminate left turn pockets along 6th Street the following locations:  
 Westbound left at D Street  
 Eastbound left at E Street  
 Westbound left at F Street  
 Eastbound left at G Street  
 Westbound left at G Street  
 Eastbound left at H Street  
 Westbound left at I Street  
 Eastbound left at J Street  
 
Although the proposed medians may replace the left turn pocket in several locations along 
6th Street, left turn movements would still be allowed.  No turn restrictions are being proposed.  
 
Even though a median is proposed between Switzler Avenue and Yerxa Avenue, left turn pockets 
along 6th Street have been retained to provide access to the local businesses including the Red 

111



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 98  

Apple grocery store.  Bulb-outs along 6th Street are proposed at all intersections where medians 
are proposed.  
 
Replacing the left turn pockets with the proposed medians is not expected to have a significant 
impact on left turns from 6th Street to side streets for several reasons.  There are side streets 
approximately every 200 feet.  This provides numerous opportunities to make left turns, thereby 
spreading the left turn volumes on several intersections.  Also, left turn volumes do not constitute 
a large percentage of traffic along 6th Street between D Street and J Street (there are less than 
5 percent of the traffic at 6th Street/Switzler Avenue).  
 
The redevelopment along 7th Street between H Street and I Street is expected to close 7th Street in 
this section permanently.  Since 7th Street will no longer provide a continuous alternative to 
6th Street through Umatilla, little or no diversion is expected in through traffic from 6th Street to 
local streets.  
 
It is estimated that the reductions in travel speeds on 6th Street will also increase delay on the side 
streets by approximately five (5) to ten (10) percent.  In addition, round-the-block circulation 
should not be impeded by the proposed medians and bulb-outs.  
 
9.2.514 Bulb-Out Design Detail  
The intent of the proposed bulb-out detail is to provide a compact layout for pedestrian access 
beyond the existing curbs in the downtown area.  Seventy-five percent of the corners have no catch 
basins, and runoff is primarily directed to the north and west following the slope of the existing 
ground and adjacent highway grade.  A small tapered landscaped area would be provided on either 
side of handicap ramps, with these ramps faced in two directions, set out from the present curb 
line.  The bulb-out design detail described above is shown in Figure 9.2-27.  
 
Drainage would pass underneath this bulb-out following the current flow line of the existing curb, 
utilizing a combination of an open top metal grated trough behind the landscaped area to provide 
for ease of cleanout, connections between this trough and around the corner with a grated hatch 
into a 4-inch pipe, with the additional construction of a 12-inch wide concrete apron around the 
bulb-out to carry overflows in the event of plugging of the drainage trough or 4-inch diameter pipe.  
 
 
 
  

112



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 99  

 
  

113



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 100  

9.2.515 Access Management  
Appendix 9A-4 has a detailed discussion of Umatilla’s access management practice.  The City’s 
TSP documents the access management standards.  The only proposed change to those standards 
by this plan is to update the ODOT facility standards to meet the standards set in the recently 
adopted 1999 Oregon Highway Plan (OHP).  Also, the Downtown Core and Downtown 
Transitional areas should be considered as a Special Transportation Area (STA).  
 
9.2.520 Special Transportation Area Designation in Downtown Umatilla  
Access management is important to promoting safe and efficient travel for both local and long 
distance users along State Highway 730 in the City of Umatilla.  The 1999 Oregon Highway Plan 
specifies an access management spacing standards and policies for state facilities.  Although the 
City of Umatilla may designate state highways as arterial roadways within their transportation 
system, access management for these facilities follows the Access Management Spacing Standards 
of the 1999 Oregon Highway Plan.  These spacing standards are based on highway classification, 
type of area and speed, which are shown in the appendix to this document.  This section describes 
the state highway access management objectives and specific highway segment where special 
access spacing standards apply.  
 
Highway 730 through the City of Umatilla is categorized in the 1999 Oregon Highway Plan as a 
Regional Highway.  The primary function of these highways is to provide connections and links 
to regional centers, Statewide or Interstate Highways, or economic or activity centers of regional 
significance.  The management objective of Regional Highways is to provide safe and efficient, 
high speed, continuous-flow operation in rural areas and moderate to high-speed operations in 
urban and urbanizing areas.  A secondary function is to serve land uses in the vicinity of these 
highways.  Inside STAs (Special Transportation Areas), local access is also a priority.  Inside 
Urban Business Areas, mobility is balanced with local access.  
 
To assist in implementing state access management standards and policies, the 1999 Oregon Highway 
Plan also recognizes that state highways serve as main streets of many communities, such as 
downtown Umatilla.  Shorter block lengths and a well-developed grid system are important to a 
downtown area, along with convenient and safe pedestrian facilities.  In general, downtown 
commercial arterial streets typically have blocks 200 to 400 feet long, driveway access sometimes as 
close as 100-foot intervals and occasionally, crosswalks, along with on street parking.  The need to 
maintain these typical downtown characteristics must be carefully considered along with the need to 
maintain the safe and efficient movement of through traffic.  The Oregon Highway Plan recognizes 
the main street function through the designation of Special Transportation Areas (STAs).  
 
9.2.521 Special Transportation Area  
A Special Transportation Area (STA) is a designation that may be applied to a state highway, when 
a downtown, business district or community center straddles the state highway within a 
community’s urban growth boundary.  STAs can include central business districts but they do not 
apply to whole cities or strip development areas along individual highway corridors.  
 
The primary objective of a STA is to provide access to community activities, businesses and 
residences, and to accommodate pedestrian, and bicycle movements along and across the highway 

114



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 101  

in a compact central business district.  An STA designation will allow reduced mobility standards, 
accommodate existing public street spacing and compact development patterns, and enhance 
opportunities to provide improvements for pedestrians and bicyclists in the downtown area.  
Inclusion in an STA allows for redevelopment with exception to the proposed access management 
standards.  
 
Access management in STAs corresponds to the existing city block for public road connections 
and discourages private driveways.  However, where driveways are allowed and land use patterns 
permit, the minimum spacing for driveways is 175 feet or mid-block if the current city block 
spacing is less than 350 feet.  In addition, the need for local street connections may outweigh the 
consideration of maintaining highway mobility within an STA.  
 
In Umatilla, the area along Highway 730 between “A” Street (milepost (M.P.) 182.66) and River 
Road (M.P. 183.52) exemplifies the design features that would be consistent of an urban downtown 
area designated as an STA.  Within this mile segment, buildings are spaced close together, parking 
is on street, and the posted speed limit is 25 m.p.h.  The compact development pattern qualifies 
this area for an STA highway segment designation.  
 
After adoption of the TSP by the Umatilla City Council and a finding of compliance with the 
Oregon Highway Plan, the City of Umatilla and ODOT Region 5 may jointly designate this 
segment of Highway 730 as an STA through a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU).  The MOU 
should incorporate by reference the TSP and the following STA Management Plan provisions.  
 
9.2.522 Special Transportation Area Management Plan  
The Umatilla STA is located on the portion of Highway 730 (6th Street) between the intersections 
of “A” Street (M.P. 182.66) and River Road (M.P. 183.52), which is located completely within the 
urban growth boundary and city limits of the City of Umatilla.  
 
The primary objective of the Umatilla STA is to provide access to community activities, businesses 
and residences, and to accommodate pedestrian, and bicycle movements along and across the 
highway in the city’s central business district.  
 
The designation of an STA in Umatilla is intended to accommodate the existing public street 
spacing and compact development pattern.  Specific access management conditions for the 
Umatilla STA on Highway 730 include:  
 

a) Minimum spacing for public road connections at the current city block spacing of 200 
feet.  

b) Public road connections are preferred over private driveways.  Private driveways are 
discouraged in an STA.  

c) Where land use patterns permit, ODOT will work with the City and property owners to 
identify appropriate access to adjacent property owners within the STA.  

d) Where a right to access exists, access will be allowed to property at less than the 
designated spacing standard only if the property does not have reasonable alternative.  If 
possible, other options should be considered, such as joint access.  

115



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 102  

e) Where a right to access exists, the number of driveways to a single property shall be 
limited to one.  ODOT will work with the City and property owners if additional 
driveways are necessary to accommodate and service the traffic to the property, and will 
not interfere with driver expectancy and the safety of through traffic on the highway.  

f) Driveways shall be located where they do not create undue interference or hazard to the 
free movement of normal highway or pedestrian traffic.  Locations in areas of restricted 
sight distance or at points that interfere with the placement and proper functioning of 
traffic control signs, lighting or other devices that affect traffic operation will not be 
permitted.  

g) If a property is landlocked (no reasonable alternative exists) because a driveway cannot 
be safely constructed and operated and all other alternatives have been explored and 
rejected, ODOT might be required to purchase the property.  However, if a hardship is 
self-inflicted, such as by partitioning or subdividing a property, ODOT has no 
responsibility for purchasing the property.  

 
Traffic on the state highway operates at LOS C or better, which correlates to maximum volume to 
capacity ratio of 0.69.  Increase in traffic volumes over the 20-year projection period is expected 
to increase significantly based on Umatilla’s Transportation System Plan in Chapter 12.  The level 
of service and correlating volume to capacity ratio is projected at LOS E and F which correlates to 
a volume to capacity ratio greater than 0.80 which is the maximum standard for Highway 730 
within the city’s urban growth boundary.  This projection from the TSP is based on an aggressive 
growth assumption, which may not occur.  The volume to capacity ratio of Highway 730 through 
the STA area of Umatilla should be monitored periodically to assure that the state highway is 
operating at or better than the established standard.  
 
To maintain highway mobility through an STA in Umatilla, land use development decisions 
(within the urban growth boundary) shall not cause traffic flow to exceed a volume to capacity 
ratio of 0.80.  The posted speed limit in the STA is currently and will remain at 25 miles per hour 
as allowed by state statute in a business district.  Curb (parallel or perpendicular) parking is 
permitted in the STA, provided minimum sight distance requirements are met for all public road 
connections and private driveways.  Parking in this area is adequate at this time.  No signals or 
traffic control devices currently exist in this area.  
 
To enhance Highway 730 for pedestrians and bicycles, there is a proposal to change the use of the 
existing street cross-section.  Highway 730 is currently a three-lane roadway with parallel parking 
on both sides of the street.  Sidewalks generally exist along the highway but no bike lanes exist.  
The proposal is to restripe Highway 730 to include one travel lane in each direction, maintain the 
on-street parking, and stripe bicycle lanes on both sides of the highway.  In addition, medians are 
planned in place of the center turn lane in certain sections.  The proposed cross-section was shown 
previously in Figure 9.2-18.  
 
The designation of an STA in Umatilla further identifies the need to accommodate pedestrian, and 
bicycle movements along and across the highway in the central business district.  The 
recommended urban arterial standard within the STA consists of an 80-foot right-of-way with a 
paved width of 60 feet that includes two 11-foot travel lanes, 6-foot bike lanes, 7-foot parking strip 
on each side of the road, and a center median of 12 feet.  The standard includes 8 to 10 foot 

116



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 103  

sidewalks on each side of the road that includes a four-foot furniture zone that can accommodate 
street lighting and street trees.  To accommodate bicycle movements along the highway, bike lanes 
should be installed along the entire length of the STA boundary.  Bulb-outs have also been 
proposed throughout most of the STA area.  Figure 9.2-23, shows the locations where bulb-outs 
are being proposed.  There are no other bicycle and pedestrian improvements identified in this 
area.  
 
Another essential component to accommodate pedestrians in an STA is street crossings.  There is 
one crosswalk enhancement proposed.  Figure 9.2-19 shows the proposed crosswalk 
improvements to the intersection of Highway 730 (6th Street) and “I” Street.  There are no other 
specific crosswalk enhancements or safety improvements recommended within the STA at this 
time other than the bulb-outs previously mentioned.  Future improvements and modifications to 
the highway within the STA and within the curb line, or if no regular established curb, to the right-
of-way utilized for highway purposes will be made in accordance with the Oregon Highway 
Design Manual and with ODOT approval.  
 
Existing maintenance and operational strategies along Highway 730 will be employed within the 
STA, consistent with Oregon Revised Statute 373.020, as follows:  
 
• ODOT shall be responsible for the ongoing maintenance of: a) the roadway surface between 

curbs, or if no regular established curb, to that portion of right-of-way utilized for highway 
purposes b) painting centerline stripe, c) designated school crosswalk delineation, directional 
and regulatory signs except those signs described as the City’s responsibility and d) plowing 
snow one blade-width of centerline stripe provided there are no conflicts with utilities.  

• City shall be responsible for the on-going maintenance of: a) storm sewer system, b) sidewalks, 
c) landscaping, d) luminaries, e) U-turn signs, parking signs, and street name signs, f) painting 
parking-stripes and other pavement delineation not described as ODOT’s responsibility, and 
g) snow removal from parking strip.  

 
Future improvements and modifications to the highway within the STA will include maintenance 
and operational strategies with ODOT and City approval.  
 
 
 
  

117



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 104  

9.2.600 IMPLEMENTATION  
Implementation concepts can be broadly categorized as either downtown redevelopment strategies 
or changes to policies and plans.  Redevelopment strategies will enable the City to create an 
economic development program to make it more attractive to commercial and industrial 
businesses.  The strategies also identify funding sources to assist with implementation of public 
improvement projects defined in the Plan.  Ideally, changes in regulatory policies should remove 
any regulatory obstacles to development within downtown Umatilla and guide prospective 
development to achieve the community’s goals.  This chapter begins with a discussion of 
downtown redevelopment strategies and then identifies recommended changes in regulatory 
policies such as the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance.  
 
9.2.610 Downtown Redevelopment Strategies  
The civic center concept and other conceptual design work done to date for this project will be 
helpful in the creation of a more compact downtown and a sense of place.  However, it appears the 
City of Umatilla also needs to address commercial development and business recruitment and 
retention at a more basic level.  This section primarily speaks to those issues, but also identifies 
potential funding sources for both proposed improvements to the downtown and commercial 
development.  
 
While undergoing efforts to improve the physical appearance of the City and encourage 
commercial development it will be important to keep in mind that getting the first few new 
businesses in will be the most difficult.  Also, it will most likely be easier to get new businesses in 
than to get existing businesses to relocate.  
 
Development of tools for marketing and business recruitment will be a necessary first step.  
 
9.2.611 Getting Ready for Economic Development/Marketing  
Most economic development and marketing activities begin with compilation and interpretation of 
background data.  Getting the work done can be challenging because of the time commitment 
required and what often seems a lack of immediate results.  However, long-term success at 
improving the economic vitality of Umatilla may hinge on getting this up-front homework done.  
Key development/marketing tools could be expected to include:  
1. Business and property inventories.  Such an inventory would include information on land and 

building sizes, current use, and property ownership.  A database can be used to store this 
information.  Periodic updating of the business and property database is recommended as 
information about individual properties change, or at least once a year.  

 
2. Contact and survey Umatilla business and property owners.  Surveying these groups both 

provides key information and a critical opportunity to get their buy-in on the City’s efforts.  
Completed questionnaires should be entered into a computer database.  A brief report 
summarizing results should be prepared and made available to City staff as well as participants.  
Care should be taken to assure 1) that questions are limited in number and will provide usable 
results, and 2) results are aggregated in the report in such a way that confidential information 
is not attributed to any particular business or property owner.  

 

118



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 105  

3. Coordinate customer survey(s).  Two optional approaches may be taken to surveying current 
and/or prospective customer bases.  The first technique involves use of intercept surveys — 
targeted to those who already come to area businesses.  Examples of ways to conduct intercept 
surveys include: 1) distribution of survey cards by business owners to customers passing 
through the premises (with drop boxes available for completed survey cards); or 2) posting 
volunteers who ask survey questions at cooperating businesses and/or strategic places such as 
key street corners.  

 
A second optional approach involves gathering a random sample of the population of Umatilla 
trade area and (potentially) beyond.  The most common way to conduct this type of survey is 
through a telephone survey, with as many completed responses as possible obtained for 
statistical validity.  
 

4. Organizing economic and demographic data in a form useful for marketing Umatilla.  The 
final piece of the data collection effort involves organizing key information into a marketing 
piece useful to the City’s marketing efforts.  The purpose is to provide statistical indicators of 
business potential to market to possible investors.  Demographic and economic indicators 
typically covered include:  
 
• Population — and change over time.  
• Age of population — compared with county or city-wide averages.  
• Number of households — and household size.  
• Household incomes — and change over time.  
• Business cluster analysis — to define the mix that is uniquely Umatilla.  
• Umatilla employment — and change over time.  
• Sales leakage estimates — both for retail and services.  
 
Focus should be placed on the positive trends; for instance increasing incomes, households 
with family needs, product orientation to take advantage of growing Hispanic population.  In 
addition, updates to this information should be made as needed; especially when there are 
significant new data sources available (such as the year 2000 Census).  

 
9.2.612 Marketing Approach & Products  
What should be done with all this market information?  Several specific products and activities are 
recommended.  For each step recommended here, it will be necessary to identify responsible 
parties.  
 
1. Assemble a business development/marketing package.  Whether the target is the owner of an 

existing business or a prospective investor or developer, the best results are obtained by 
customizing information to the needs and interests of the recipient.  Economic development 
organizations often find that a well-designed folder with pockets for a variety of materials 
provides the greatest flexibility together with ease of presentation.  

 
Examples of materials that could be readily compiled follow.  These could be available on 
computer and provided as needed.  Each particular insert might be anywhere from 1-4 pages 
long:  

119



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 106  

 
• Summary results of customer, business and property owner surveys -- with particular focus 

on identified business gaps/opportunities.  
• Business inventory/directory and map.  
• Target business list — with reasons why Umatilla represents a good location choice for 

each business type targeted.  
• Success stories — highlighting examples of businesses that have done well in Umatilla and 

why (ideally with photos and quotes from the owners).  
• Listing of available properties together with rental rates and/or sales prices -- prepared in 

collaboration with property owners, management companies or realtors as appropriate.  
• Historical information and general description of the City of Umatilla -- including incentive 

programs and other financial assistance available.  
• Summary of community demographic and economic trends.  

 
2. Prepare a business directory.  The directory should include a map of the district showing 

business locations, cross-referenced by type.  If possible, the directory should be updated 
annually.  A completed business directory can serve multiple audiences — including visitors, 
regular customers and employees, though its intended use may be primarily for insertion in 
business development/recruitment folders.  

 
3. Organize a business recruitment program.  Once the data tools and marketing package are in 

place, it is time to put all of this information to good use.  The most effective recruitment 
program begins locally and expands outward.  First, identify current district business and 
property owners who may have the resources or know-how to open targeted business.  After 
local contacts have been made, identify and contact successful businesses operating elsewhere 
in the county that might represent a good fit for a Umatilla location.  Final areas of contact may 
include selected comparable businesses elsewhere in the Northeast Oregon/ Southwest 
Washington region.  
 
For maximum effectiveness, a tag team approach is suggested for contacting desired 
businesses.  This approach involves a recruitment coordinator and an individual who has an 
existing or potential peer relationship with the type of business being solicited (such as 
members of a local chamber of commerce or merchants association or even an ad hoc 
committee).  A database of business contacts should be maintained with a tickler file for 
follow-up as warranted.  
 

4. Define and activate business finance and incentive programs.  Business finance programs may 
include anything from a façade improvement program to the possibility of setting up a shared 
risk pool focused on business lines of credit for existing or start-up businesses.  

 
For instance the City of Pendleton created an incentive and marketing program for a four-block 
area in the downtown.  The City, Pacific Power, RCDC, but primarily a grant from Oregon 
Economic and Community Development Department funded this program.  It is a one-time 
program that continues until the $45,000 is spent.  The incentive program is structured so that 
if a business moves into the four-block area it receives $1.00 for every square foot (SF) leased, 

120



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 107  

$0.25 per SF for advertising, and $200 for educational purposes.  The goal is to cut vacancies 
in the four-block area in half.  Funds are also going toward the downtown’s share of freeway 
billboard cost and promotions of main street area.  Reportedly the incentive program is 
probably not bringing in businesses to downtown Pendleton but businesses coming in are 
getting off to a stronger start.  

 
5. Plan and execute Umatilla promotions and events.  Specific business district-related events 

and promotions could play an important role, especially as the commercial district becomes 
more active.  Potential events may be focused toward the general public or customers, or aimed 
at business recruitment targets.  Results of the surveys and demographic and economic analysis 
may suggest opportunities for events that address Umatilla’s best market prospects (for 
instance a Cinco de Mayo event).  

 
6. Jointly promote and advertise.  Promotional efforts need not be limited to events.  Better 

information on business/property owner and customer interests should make it possible to 
fashion cooperative business promotion and advertising campaigns.  Whatever the opportunity, 
the decision of where to spend marketing resources will be more informed and have a greater 
chance for success if based on solid marketing data.  Celebrate the City’s racial and ethnic 
diversity, the history of Umatilla, and the City’s roles as the location where the Columbia River 
reaches Oregon and as a gateway to the state.  

 
7. Cultivate strategic partners.  Let potential financial partners know about efforts being made, 

including results of studies and surveys.  One of the goals should be to increase awareness of 
the City of Umatilla and the potential role that the City can play in the overall economic 
development of county and region.  Cultivating this interest is important, because it can evolve 
into financial partnerships required for complex public/private development.  

 
In addition to the aforementioned marketing approaches, it is important to make the process for 
starting a business in Umatilla as easy and pleasant as possible.  Providing clear zoning 
codes/ordinances without too much room for administrative discretion, including specific use lists 
with a limited number of uses relegated to conditional use.  In order to stimulate activity, the City 
may want to be liberal in that most uses are allowed somewhere.  For instance, auto related uses 
may not be allowed in the downtown core but should be allowed at interchange.  The focus should 
be to make it simple and straightforward to locate in Umatilla.  
 
9.2.620 Potential Funding Sources  
The following two tables list potential funding sources for strategic investment in downtown 
Umatilla.  The first table includes the most commonly used or high-priority funding resources and 
the next table includes other or secondary resources.  
 
 
 
 

121



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 108  

Table 9.2-11.  Potential Funding Sources for City of Umatilla Strategic Investment  
Commonly Used/High Priority Funding Sources  
Funding Resource Description 
City of Umatilla City funds for downtown projects can come from the general fund or a dedicated fund. 

Examples of dedicated funds include transient room tax, meal tax, etc. Detailed 
descriptions of some of dedicated funding resources follow. 

Local Improvement 
District (LID) 

LIDs are used to finance public improvements and facilities by distributing the cost 
of the improvements to surrounding property owners. Costs are typically distributed 
to property owners by street footage or land area, but can also be allocated based on 
size or assessed value of property or building. LIDs allow property owners to finance 
their assessment over time at the cost of public borrowing. 

Economic Improvement 
District (EID) 

EIDs are an alternative to type of assessment district exclusive to commercial and 
industrial areas. EIDs can be used to fund intangible improvements such as planning, 
management, promotion or maintenance in addition to development or improvement 
activities. Assessments cannot exceed 1% of real market value of property located 
within the district in any given year. 

Revolving Loan Funds The City can develop and provide revolving loan funds for infill projects. Specific 
eligibility requirements can be attached to these funds. This is especially useful where 
attention to detail is required. 

Tax Increment Financing 
(TIF) 

Tax increment financing provides dedicated public funds for planned physical 
improvements in a specific geographic area. This process requires designation of a 
“blighted”* Urban Renewal Area, creation of an Urban Renewal Agency and 
development of Urban Renewal Plan. Tax increment funds accumulate through 
increases in property values in the renewal district. Recent small town strategies have 
included structuring the URA to include both downtown commercial areas and those 
along highways.  In this way development along the highway also functions as a 
source of tax increment funding that can be utilized for redevelopment of the 
downtown. 

Business License Fee Business license fees are placed on businesses within certain boundaries (for instance 
within an EID). The business license fee may be in the form of a surcharge on an 
existing license fee. The City is responsible for collection of fees and disbursement of 
funds. 

Transient Room Tax Additional funding could also potentially come from reallocating a percentage of the 
transient room tax (TRT) for debt service on revenue bonds or by increasing the tax 
rate.  

Community Development 
Block Grants (CDBG) 

Funds are available on a competitive basis for public improvements that benefit 
low/moderate income households. Some cities have received funding for public 
improvement projects or loans for private businesses for economic development 
purposes. 

Oregon Housing and 
Community Services 
(OHCS) Community 
Incentive Fund 

This fund is one part of the “Oregon Livability Initiative” and provides financing for 
development projects which help communities meet one or more of the following 
objectives: 1) Create more jobs in distressed 6  communities that want economic 
growth; 2) increase the supply of affordable housing near jobs and transportation; 3) 
Reduce sprawling development patterns; 4) Revitalize urban centers, downtowns, and 
main streets. Awards have been determined for the current biennium. The earliest new 
applications would be accepted is fall of this year subject to legislative refunding of 
the program. A well-defined project scope and budget and committed financial 
resources on the part of submitters is necessary to compete effectively for these funds. 

 

 
6 The economic distress index as employed by Oregon Economic and Community Development is used.  

122



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 109  

Table 9.2-11.  Potential Funding Sources for City of Umatilla Strategic Investment - (continued)  
Commonly Used/High Priority Funding Sources  
Funding Resource Description 
Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT), 
Transportation 
Enhancement Program 

Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) has financial assistance programs, 
such as the Transportation Enhancement Program, to help implement projects such as 
the pedestrian and streetscape improvements.  This program allocates federal TEA-21 
funding for projects to enhance the cultural, esthetic, and environmental value of the 
state’s transportation system.  Federal funding is available to a maximum of 89.73%.  
Matching funds are a minimum of 10.27% of the project cost. 
 

 
 
 

Table 9.2-12  Potential Secondary Funding Sources  
Other Possible Sources  
Funding Resource Description 
Business Gross Receipts 
Tax 

This is an excise tax on gross or net income earned by business activity. The fee 
amount can be based on the net income or gross receipts minus cost of goods sold. 
Gross receipts subject to such a tax must usually be based on local transactions. For 
example, Portland’s tax is based on net income and is currently at a rate of 2.2% 

County/Municipal Bonds These are bonds issued by a county or municipality. The tax-exempt bonds are used 
to finance public capital improvements. The bonds may either be voted or non-voted. 
Bonds must fall within the city’s allowable debt capacities. 

Current Employee Tax This can be a payroll tax or a tax on businesses in which the fee scale is based in part 
on the number of employees or employee income. 

Fuels Tax This is a tax on gasoline and diesel fuel. In Oregon, two counties and three cities have 
their own local fuels tax. Rates range from 1-3 cents per gallon. These funds are 
typically dedicated to transportation improvements. In Umatilla’s case could be 
allocated to improvements on 6th Street/ Hwy 730. 

Restaurant Meals Tax A selective sales tax on the purchase price of meals served in public establishments, 
this tax is added onto the patron’s bill. Revenues are based on rates typically ranging 
from 1% to 5%. It appears the State has preempted the possibility of including 
alcoholic beverages in the tax. Ashland is currently the only city in the state with a 
meal tax. Corvallis and Seaside failed when they tried to enact this tax. 

Special Assessments for 
Street Lighting, 
Maintenance and Cleaning 

Subject to voter approval a city may collect assessments on property within its 
boundaries for street lighting, maintenance or cleaning which benefit the property. 
The associated measure needs to focus on the provision of one service. Assessments 
for street lighting can include an amount sufficient to pay for construction, 
reconstruction, modification, installation, operating and maintenance costs 

Private Donations Occasionally funds are made available from private sources. An endowment fund, one 
time or ongoing contributions can fund a position, program or street furnishing. These 
private contributors may include major employers or citizens. This kind of funding 
strategy is usually most successful for: (a) A non-profit facility like museum or 
interpretive center; (b) arts and cultural organizations / events, (c) for a critical 
economic development initiative with major private sector leadership; or (d) 
beautification items such as benches or fountains which can bear a plaque with the 
name of the contributor. 

*Note: “Blighted” indicates that because of unsafe structures, deterioration, faulty planning, harmful land use or 
inadequate facilities the area is detrimental to the welfare of the community.  

 
  

123



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 110  

9.2.630 Policies and Plans  
Generally, the Downtown Revitalization Plan is consistent with the goals, findings and policies 
adopted in the City’s Comprehensive Plan; however, the City’s Plan, published in December of 
1977, is outdated.  To implement the Downtown Revitalization Plan, revisions to the Umatilla 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance are included under Sections 9.2.631 and 9.2.632.  
 
9.2.631 Umatilla Comprehensive Plan  
9.2.631(1) Land Use:  
The Downtown Revitalization Plan is consistent with the Land Use section (Chapter 2) of the 
Comprehensive Plan for the reasons listed below.  
 
The Downtown Revitalization Plan was based on the 1990 Census figures, preliminary figures 
released from the 2000 Census, and locally developed data from stakeholder interviews.  
Combined, the census figures provided sufficient information on projected population growth and 
economic development to use in the Downtown Revitalization Plan.  As additional 2000 Census 
data becomes available, it may provide additional insight needed for implementation.  
 
The location and capacity of city services is not anticipated to be an issue with the implementation 
of the improvements proposed in the Downtown Revitalization Plan due to the nature of the 
improvements.  The improvements are confined to streetscape projects that should not significantly 
affect the physical location of utilities or their capacity.  Utility location and capacity issues should 
be investigated at the time of new building construction or building renovation.  
 
Information on the existing land use patterns in downtown Umatilla and surrounding areas was 
incorporated during the planning and analysis process.  Plan recommendation carefully considered 
the existing land use pattern and developed recommendations based on city goals and findings.  
 
Projected land use needs for Umatilla are documented in Chapter 14, Sections 14.2 and 14.3.  This 
information is deemed reliable.  The Downtown Revitalization Plan is consistent with the 
Buildable Lands Analysis.  The Plan assumes growth that is well within the range outlined in the 
Buildable Lands Analysis.  Based on this Comprehensive Plan policy, the City should consider 
whether the policy is met, particularly with respect to findings on natural resources and public 
services capacity.  The City should also consider a complete revision of the Comprehensive Plan, 
given it was completed twenty-four years ago and the planning time horizon used was 2000.  
 
The Downtown Revitalization Plan was developed in a manner consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan goal for citizen involvement.  Several means of soliciting citizen involvement were used 
including a questionnaire, community visioning, and numerous public workshops.  More 
information about the citizen involvement process is included in Section 9.2.300.  
 
Because the Downtown Revitalization Plan encourages compact growth in the downtown area, it 
supports the City’s land use Finding 2.5.101 of minimizing development costs.  The Plan is also 
consistent with the City’s policy of encouraging new development within the area served by public 
utilities.  
 

124



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 111  

Revisions to downtown zoning designations recommended by the Downtown Revitalization Plan 
are intended to improve neighborhood quality and identity, as stated in Comprehensive Plan land 
use Finding 2.5.103.  Creation of a new Downtown Residential zone in downtown Umatilla is 
intended to promote new types of housing compatible with Downtown Commercial activities.  The 
zoning supports the housing policy stated in the Comprehensive Plan to provide a diversity of 
housing types.  
 
The Downtown Revitalization Plan functions as an Area Plan for the downtown.  The study area 
for the Downtown Revitalization Plan shall be used to establish the Area Plan boundary for the 
purposes of the Comprehensive Plan amendment and changes to the Comprehensive Plan map.  
The Plan boundary is described below.  
 

The study area, or Area Plan boundary, consists of a portion of the City of Umatilla, 
bounded on the north by the Union Pacific Railroad and on the west and south by 
the Umatilla River.  The area extends eastward ending at the Highway 730 overpass 
over the railroad tracks.  The southeast portion of the area includes public school 
properties and playing fields and also includes two city blocks west of Sloan 
Avenue.  The southeast portion of the area does not include land located beyond 
the railroad spur, which loops to the southeast to a point south of Sloan Avenue.  

 
9.2.631(2) Transportation  
The Downtown Revitalization Plan supports the transportation policies stated in the 
Comprehensive Plan by: 
 
• Encouraging pedestrians circulation;  
• Providing transportation alternatives to personal vehicles by creating a pedestrian and transit-

friendly downtown;  
• Limiting points of access along U.S. 730;  
• Reviewing pedestrian circulation problems downtown; and  
• Promoting adequate linkages between uses.  
 
9.2.631(3) Urbanization  
The purpose of the Downtown Revitalization Plan is directed at achieving urbanization objectives 
and policies stated in the Comprehensive Plan; specifically Policy 14.9.102, to promote “functional 
efficiency and visual attractiveness of public and private properties.”  
 
9.2.632 Umatilla Zoning Ordinance  
A careful review of the Umatilla Zoning Ordinance indicates that a few important changes to the 
Ordinance are required to implement the development concepts envisioned by the Downtown 
Revitalization Plan.  No revisions to regulatory processes are required or desirable.  The 
development approval process should remain relatively simple to encourage development.  
 

125



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 112  

Generally, the ordinance revisions are intended to achieve three objectives:  

• Focus Downtown Commercial development where it is likely to be most successful,  

• Create opportunities for a vital mixture of commercial and residential activities, and  

• Define a transition of land uses from the interchange to the downtown core that will provide 
a wide variety of opportunities for commercial development.  

 
The following changes implement the Plan.  First, the Downtown Commercial zone has been 
reduced in size to concentrate development in an area that is more pedestrian in scale.  Second, a 
new Downtown Residential zone has been designated to allow a mixture of professional office 
and residential uses that are compatible with the downtown core.  Another new zone, Downtown 
Transitional (DT), has been developed that can accommodate either an extension of Downtown 
Commercial uses, or as a conditional use small-scale auto-oriented commercial activities.  
Finally, minor revisions to the Downtown Commercial zone were made to increase density and 
create an environment more suitable for pedestrians. 
 
SECTION 9.3 DESTINATION MANAGEMENT PLAN 
Tourism industry has significant potential in Umatilla.  In 2018 City and Chamber worked 
together with a private consultant to identify opportunities for tourism development.  After a 
robust public involvement process, a Destination Management Plan recommended focus on four 
key areas of destination development, fishing and river activities, expansion of outdoor sports 
complex and activities, development of a trail along the Umatilla River and clearing of invasive 
species along the Umatilla and Columbia Rivers to open up the viewshed to and from the river.  
City is working to implement the plan, which will in turn increase demand and opportunity for 
restaurants and retail and lodging as well as enhance the overall livability of the city.   
 
SECTION 9.4 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT POLICIES 
 
9.4.101 The City will provide an adequate supply of development sites, as per State 

requirements, to accommodate anticipated employment growth with the public and 
private sectors and will encourage new and continuous employment opportunities. The 
City will provide lands with a variety of sizes, zoning and other characteristics needed 
by firms likely to locate in the City of Umatilla and maintain a 20-year supply of such 
lands. 

 
9.4.102 The City will coordinate with the Port of Umatilla, Umatilla County, Business Oregon 

and other local partners on local and regional economic development projects. 
 
9.4.103 The City will establish districts with tax abatements, loans, subsidized infrastructure, 

reduced regulations or other incentives available to businesses in the district that met 
specified criteria.  

 

126



City of Umatilla, Oregon  Title 9 – Comprehensive Land Use Plan  Page 113  

9.4.104 Within the downtown area, the City of Umatilla shall encourage development of a 
pedestrian-oriented town center that combines both commercial and public activities 
and is intended to become a community gathering place.  

 
9.4.105 The Downtown Commercial (DC) District is intended to provide a concentrated central 

business district centered on 6th Street, Highway 730.  The district allows a mix of 
civic, retail, service, and office uses, designed to be pedestrian-friendly and oriented 
towards fronting streets and sidewalks.  

 
9.4.106 In portions of the downtown area, the City of Umatilla shall allow for a variety of 

commercial opportunities accessible by pedestrians and vehicles alike that are 
compatible with the pedestrian scale of downtown.  The Downtown Transitional (DT) 
District provides for a transition of uses between General Commercial uses found near 
the interchange and Downtown Commercial uses, which are more pedestrian in scale.  
The District is primarily intended to accommodate Downtown Commercial uses, which 
are pedestrian-friendly and oriented toward the street; however, the District is designed 
for greater flexibility by allowing certain General Commercial uses that require sites 
located closer to the downtown.  

 
9.4.107 Within the downtown area, the City of Umatilla shall establish a Downtown Residential 

(DR) District to encourage improved land use compatibility between Downtown 
Commercial and residential uses.  The intent of the DR District is to accommodate 
residential or professional office projects near the downtown core. 

127



UMATILLA PLANNING COMMISSION
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

FOR
PLAN AMENDMENT PA-2-20

DATE OF HEARING: August 25, 2020

REPORT PREPARED BY: Jacob Foutz, Associate Planner

I. GENERAL INFORMATION AND FACTS

Applicant: Cleaver Land, LLC, 78757 Westland Rd, Hermiston, OR 97838

Land Use Review: An Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion.

II. NATURE OF REQUEST AND GENERAL FACTS

The applicant, Cleaver Land, LLC, is requesting approval of an Urban Growth Boundary 
Expansion to include approximately 146.69 acres land. The applicant also submitted an 
Annexation and Zone Change applications with the desired outcome to have approximately 450 
acres of land planned and zoned for industrial use. Current use of the property is agricultural. Crops 
under circle pivot irrigation regularly in rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, and grass seed. 
Improvements to the property include circle pivot irrigation systems and a general use storage 
building.

III. ANALYSIS
The criteria applicable to this request are shown in underlined text and the responses are shown in 
standard text. All of the following criteria must be satisfied in order for this request to be approved.

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0020 Adoption or Amendment 
of a UGB identifies which Statewide Planning Goals and related administrative rules are 
applicable. The following are considered:

(1) All statewide goals and related administrative rules are applicable when establishing or 
amending a UGB, except as follows:
(a) The exceptions process in Goal 2 and OAR chapter 660, division 4, is not applicable unless a 
local government chooses to take an exception to a particular goal requirement, for example, as 
provided in OAR 660-004-0010(1);

Applicants Response: Based on the provisions outlined here no exceptions to any of the Statewide 
Planning Goals are necessary. Later analyzed are additional Division 24 requirements meeting 
current planning requirements for an urban growth boundary expansion.

Conclusion: The City is not claiming a goal exception. 

(b) Goals 3 and 4 are not applicable;

128



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 2 of 40

Applicants Response: The applicant is relying on the Economic Opportunities Analysis (October 
2019) which utilizes Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24. This allows for an 
application to expand the urban growth boundary without an exception to Goal 3 Agricultural 
Land. The land under consideration for this urban growth boundary expansion is zoned Exclusive 
Farm Use and is currently inventoried in Umatilla County as part of Goal 3 protected lands. This 
action would remove approximately 150 acres from that inventory, adding it to the City of Umatilla 
urban growth boundary and city limits (by way of the included annexation application if approved).

Conclusion: Expansion of the urban growth boundary is allowed without an exception to State 
Goal 3 by way of Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24. Goal 4 is not applicable 
as there are no Forest Lands found in or surrounding the City of Umatilla. 

(c) Goal 5 and related rules under OAR chapter 660, division 23, apply only in areas added to the 
UGB, except as required under OAR 660-023-0070 and 660-023-0250;

Applicants Response: The applicant is not aware of or has identified any Goal 5 resources within 
the subject property for either the urban growth boundary expansion and associated annexation or 
within the area proposed to be zoned or rezoned to Light Industrial. 

Conclusion: According to the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan there are no identified Goal 
5 resources on the subject property. The proposed urban growth boundary expansion, associated 
annexation, and rezone would not affect any known Goal 5 resources. 

(d) The transportation planning rule requirements under OAR 660-012-0060 need not be applied 
to a UGB amendment if the land added to the UGB is zoned as urbanizable land, either by retaining 
the zoning that was assigned prior to inclusion in the boundary or by assigning interim zoning that 
does not allow development that would generate more vehicle trips than development allowed by 
the zoning assigned prior to inclusion in the boundary;

Applicants Response: The included Traffic Impact Analysis finds that the conversion of the 
residential land to industrial actually creates a reduction in trips. For the land that is subject to the 
urban growth boundary expansion and annexation, approximately 150 acres, there would be an 
increase in traffic over current Exclusive Farm Use zoning. That increase is consumed by the 
change in zoning of nearly 300 acres with a decrease in total daily trips. Transportation impacts 
are further analyzed later in this narrative.

Conclusion: A decrease in total daily trips is the net result from all three applications. 
Transportation impacts are further analyzed later in this narrative. 

(e) Goal 15 is not applicable to land added to the UGB unless the land is within the Willamette 
River Greenway Boundary;

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla is not within the Willamette River Greenway 
Boundary. Goal 15 is not considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla is not within the Willamette River Greenway Boundary. Goal 

129



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 3 of 40

15 is not applicable.

(f) Goals 16 to 18 are not applicable to land added to the UGB unless the land is within a coastal 
shorelands boundary;

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla is not within a coastal shorelands boundary. Goals 16 
through 18 are not considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla is not within a coastal shorelands boundary. Goals 16 through 
18 are not applicable.

(g) Goal 19 is not applicable to a UGB amendment.

Applicants Response: Goal 19 is not considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

Conclusion: Goal 19 is not applicable. 

(2) The UGB and amendments to the UGB must be shown on the city and county plan and zone 
maps at a scale sufficient to determine which particular lots or parcels are included in the UGB. 
Where a UGB does not follow lot or parcel lines, the map must provide sufficient information to 
determine the precise UGB location.

Applicants Response: Maps are included as part of the application package. The area subject to 
the urban growth boundary expansion (and related annexation) is the portion of Tax Lot 1400 of 
Assessor’s Map 5N28C that is outside of the current urban growth boundary and city limit line. 
Also included is Tax Lot 6601 of Assessor’s Map 5N28C. The acreage of the urban growth 
boundary expansion is approximately 150 acres. The Powerline Road right-of-way is also included 
in the urban growth boundary expansion to facilitate the future transfer of the portion of the Road 
from Umatilla County to the City of Umatilla.

Conclusion: The maps included in the application package clearly show the intention of the 
application. They are all at a scale sufficient to determine which particular lots or parcels are 
included in the UGB and subsequent applications. 

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0065 Establishment of Study 
Area to Evaluate Land for Including in the UGB is a continuation of the work embodied in 
the included Economic Opportunities Analysis which determines a need for large lot 
industrial opportunities. As part of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, Johnson 
Economics evaluated Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0040 
Land Need and Section 0050 Land Inventory and Response to Deficiency.  Section 0065 is 
reviewed here:

=(1) When considering a UGB amendment to accommodate a need deficit identified in OAR 660-
024-0050(4), a city outside of Metro must determine which land to add to the UGB by evaluating 

130



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 4 of 40

alternative locations within a “study area” established pursuant to this rule. To establish the study 
area, the city must first identify a “preliminary study area” which shall not include land within a 
different UGB or the corporate limits of a city within a different UGB. The preliminary study area
shall include:
(a) All lands in the city’s acknowledged urban reserve, if any;

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla does not have an acknowledged urban reserve. This 
is not applicable.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla does not have an acknowledged urban reserve. This is not 
applicable.

(b) All lands that are within the following distance from the acknowledged UGB:
(A) For cities with a UGB population less than 10,000: one-half mile;
(B) For cities with a UGB population equal to or greater than 10,000: one mile;
(c) All exception areas contiguous to an exception area that includes land within the distance 
specified in subsection (b) and that are within the following distance from the acknowledged UGB:
(A) For cities with a UGB population less than 10,000: one mile;
(B) For cities with a UGB population equal to or greater than 10,000: one and one-half miles;
(d) At the discretion of the city, the preliminary study area may include land that is beyond the 
distance specified in subsections (b) and (c).

Applicants Response: Please see the maps included with this application package that identify 
potential lands to be considered which are within one-half mile of the current urban growth 
boundary and within one mile of any other exception areas. There are three alternative locations 
identified as well as the subject property identified for inclusion. The three alternative areas are 1) 
land to the east of the Port of Umatilla development and north of Highway 730 along the banks of 
the Columbia River (site 1), 2) land east and south of the Port of Umatilla and both north and south 
of Highway 730 (site 2), and 3) land to the south of the City of Umatilla between Highway 395 
and Interstate 82 (site 3). The subject site is along Powerline Road to the south of the City of 
Umatilla. To the north of the City of Umatilla is the Columbia River and the State of Washington 
thereby restricting expansion and development.

Conclusion: Three alternative locations have been determined and evaluated. The three alternative 
areas are 1) land to the east of the Port of Umatilla development and north of Highway 730 along 
the banks of the Columbia River (site 1), 2) land east and south of the Port of Umatilla and both 
north and south of Highway 730 (site 2), and 3) land to the south of the City of Umatilla between 
Highway 395 and Interstate 82 (site 3). The City finds the subject property along Powerline Road 
to the south of the City of Umatilla to be the most viable location. The below findings will explain 
why. 

(2) A city that initiated the evaluation or amendment of its UGB prior to January 1, 2016, may 
choose to identify a preliminary study area applying the standard in this section rather than section 
(1). For such cities, the preliminary study area shall consist of:
(a) All land adjacent to the acknowledged UGB, including all land in the vicinity of the UGB that 
has a reasonable potential to satisfy the identified need deficiency, and
(b) All land in the city’s acknowledged urban reserve established under OAR chapter 660, division 

131



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 5 of 40

21, if applicable.

Applicants Response: It is after January 1, 2016, making this provision not available.

Conclusion: It is after January 1, 2016, making this provision not available.

(3) When the primary purpose for expansion of the UGB is to accommodate a particular industrial 
use that requires specific site characteristics, or to accommodate a public facility that requires 
specific site characteristics, and the site characteristics may be found in only a small number of 
locations, the preliminary study area may be limited to those locations within the distance 
described in section (1) or (2), whichever is appropriate, that have or could be improved to provide 
the required site characteristics. For purposes of this section:
(a) The definition of “site characteristics” in OAR 660-009-0005(11) applies for purposes of 
identifying a particular industrial use.
(b) A “public facility” may include a facility necessary for public sewer, water, storm water, 
transportation, parks, schools, or fire protection. Site characteristics may include but are not limited 
to size, topography and proximity.

Applicants Response: This application is specifically designed to identify opportunities for large 
lot industrial development. While no specific industrial or public facility is identified, the 
Economic Opportunities Analysis calls out several industry clusters with this application focusing 
on data centers, light industrial manufacturing, and warehousing opportunities that require 50-100 
acres or more than 100 acres. Based on this requirement, at least one of the alternative sites falls 
out of consideration as it does not have enough land to meet the total identified need – the site 
south of the City of Umatilla and west of Highway 395 (site 3). 

Conclusion: Site 3 which is land to the south of the City of Umatilla between Highway 395 and 
Interstate 82, does not have enough acreage to meet the needed lot sizes as identified in the EOA,
Site 3 is not considered a viable option. 

(4) The city may exclude land from the preliminary study area if it determines that:
(a) Based on the standards in section (7) of this rule, it is impracticable to provide necessary public 
facilities or services to the land;
(b) The land is subject to significant development hazards, due to a risk of:
(A) Landslides: The land consists of a landslide deposit or scarp flank that is described and mapped
on the Statewide Landslide Information Database for Oregon (SLIDO) Release 3.2 Geodatabase 
published by the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral Industries (DOGAMI) December 
2014, provided that the deposit or scarp flank in the data source is mapped at a scale of 1:40,000 
or finer. If the owner of a lot or parcel provides the city with a site-specific analysis by a certified 
engineering geologist demonstrating that development of the property would not be subject to 
significant landslide risk, the city may not exclude the lot or parcel under this paragraph;
(B) Flooding, including inundation during storm surges: the land is within the Special Flood 
Hazard Area (SFHA) identified on the applicable Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM);
(C) Tsunamis: the land is within a tsunami inundation zone established pursuant to ORS 455.446;
(c) The land consists of a significant scenic, natural, cultural or recreational resource described in 
this subsection:
(A) Land that is designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan prior to initiation of the UGB 

132



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 6 of 40

amendment, or that is mapped on a published state or federal inventory at a scale sufficient to 
determine its location for purposes of this rule, as:
(i) Critical or essential habitat for a species listed by a state or federal agency as threatened or 
endangered;
(ii) Core habitat for Greater Sage Grouse; or
(iii) Big game migration corridors or winter range, except where located on lands designated as 
urban reserves or exception areas;
(B) Federal Wild and Scenic Rivers and State Scenic Waterways, including Related Adjacent 
Lands described by ORS 390.805, as mapped by the applicable state or federal agency responsible 
for the scenic program;
(C) Designated Natural Areas on the Oregon State Register of Natural Heritage Resources;
(D) Wellhead protection areas described under OAR 660-023-0140 and delineated on a local 
comprehensive plan;
(E) Aquatic areas subject to Statewide Planning Goal 16 that are in a Natural or Conservation 
management unit designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan;
(F) Lands subject to acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulations that implement 
Statewide Planning Goal 17, Coastal Shoreland, Use Requirement 1;
(G) Lands subject to acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulations that implement 
Statewide Planning Goal 18, Implementation Requirement 2;
(d) The land is owned by the federal government and managed primarily for rural uses.

Applicants Response: The alternative location east of the City of Umatilla lying both north and 
south of Highway 730 (site 2) has significant wetlands with a portion specifically called out and 
protected within the Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan. Protection of wetlands and any 
required mitigation severely limit this site for development of large lot industrial activity, a primary 
objective of this application. 

The area east of the Port of Umatilla along the banks of the Columbia River (site 1) does have an 
adopted Goal 11 exception which could be seen as making this an ideal location for large lot 
expansion. Current ownership is the primary factor in removing it from consideration as it is 
currently owned or managed by the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, is not 
subject to local land use authority, and is not available for development. 

Conclusion: Due to the wetlands that are inventoried on the National Wetland Inventory as well 
as in the Umatilla County’s Comprehensive plan found on Site 2, this alternative location becomes 
impracticable and not viable. Site 3 is currently owned and managed by the Confederated Tribes 
of the Umatilla Indian Reservation. While the City supports development on the CTUIR property, 
it is not subject to local land use authority or the state-wide planning goals. The City would have 
no authority to ensure the land was maintained or developed to meet the City’s need for large lot 
industrial sites. 

(5) After excluding land from the preliminary study area under section (4), the city must adjust the 
area, if necessary, so that it includes an amount of land that is at least twice the amount of land 
needed for the deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050(4) or, if applicable, twice the 
particular land need described in section (3). Such adjustment shall be made by expanding the 
distance specified under the applicable section (1) or (2) and applying section (4) to the expanded 
area.

133



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 7 of 40

Applicants Response: The balance of the study area, the proposed site (the approximate 150 acre 
urban growth boundary expansion), when combined with the other property that is part of the 
change in zoning request (approximately 300 acres), is more than to accommodate the identified 
need as stated in the Economic Opportunities Analysis. The need is identified to be 250+/- acres; 
the subject site is approximately 450+/- acres.

Conclusion: The requirement to have at least twice the amount of land needed is met as the need 
is identified to be 250+/- acres in the Economic Opportunities Analysis. The subject site with 
subsequent applications approved would be approximately 450+/- acres.

(6) For purposes of evaluating the priority of land under OAR 660-024-0067, the “study area” 
shall consist of all land that remains in the preliminary study area described in section (1), (2) or 
(3) of this rule after adjustments to the area based on sections (4) and (5), provided that when a 
purpose of the UGB expansion is to accommodate a public park need, the city must also consider 
whether land excluded under subsection (4)(a) through (c) of this rule can reasonably 
accommodate the park use.

Applicants Response: Parks are not a part of this application.

Conclusion: Parks are not a part of this application.

(7) For purposes of subsection (4)(a), the city may consider it impracticable to provide necessary 
public facilities or services to the following lands:
(a) Contiguous areas of at least five acres where 75 percent or more of the land has a slope of 25 
percent or greater, provided that contiguous areas 20 acres or more that are less than 25 percent 
slope may not be excluded under this subsection. Slope shall be measured as the increase in 
elevation divided by the horizontal distance at maximum ten-foot contour intervals;
(b) Land that is isolated from existing service networks by physical, topographic, or other 
impediments to service provision such that it is impracticable to provide necessary facilities or 
services to the land within the planning period. The city’s determination shall be based on an 
evaluation of:
(A) The likely amount of development that could occur on the land within the planning period;
(B) The likely cost of facilities and services; and,
(C) Any substantial evidence collected by or presented to the city regarding how similarly situated 
land in the region has, or has not, developed over time.
(c) As used in this section, “impediments to service provision” may include but are not limited to:
(A) Major rivers or other water bodies that would require new bridge crossings to serve planned 
urban development;
(B) Topographic features such as canyons or ridges with slopes exceeding 40 percent and vertical 
relief of greater than 80 feet;
(C) Freeways, rail lines, or other restricted access corridors that would require new grade separated 
crossings to serve planned urban development;
(D) Significant scenic, natural, cultural or recreational resources on an acknowledged plan 
inventory and subject to protection measures under the plan or implementing regulations, or on a 
published state or federal inventory, that would prohibit or substantially impede the placement or 

134



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 8 of 40

construction of necessary public facilities and services.

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla had J-U-B Engineers complete an Umatilla Industrial 
Area Utility Technical Memorandum (dated March 2020) which states that the subject property, 
including the area that would be subject to the change in zoning, can be served with water, 
wastewater and industrial wastewater.  While there is slope on the subject property it is limited to 
the eastern edge, sloping down to Interstate 82. Most of the property, particularly the frontage 
along Powerline Road, is reasonably flat.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla had J-U-B Engineers complete an Umatilla Industrial Area 
Utility Technical Memorandum (March 2020) which states that the subject property, including the 
area that would be subject to the change in zoning, can be served with water, wastewater and 
industrial wastewater. According to the UTM, the subject property has been deemed viable to be 
served with water, wastewater and industrial wastewater.

(8) Land may not be excluded from the preliminary study area based on a finding of 
impracticability that is primarily a result of existing development patterns. However, a city may 
forecast development capacity for such land as provided in OAR 660-024-0067(1)(d).

Applicants Response: Current development patterns were not a consideration in the application 
process. The three alternative sites are currently bare. Development east of Umatilla consists of 
the Port of Umatilla, agricultural activities, and land maintained for habitat values. The alternative 
site south of Umatilla is surrounded by small parcels developed primarily for rural residential 
development. 

Conclusion: Development patterns were not applicable to the three alternative sites, as they are 
currently bare.  

(9) Notwithstanding OAR 660-024-0050(4) and section (1) of this rule, except during periodic 
review or other legislative review of the UGB, the city may approve an application under ORS 
197.610 to 197.625 for a UGB amendment to add an amount of land less than necessary to satisfy 
the land need deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050(4), provided the amendment 
complies with all other applicable requirements.

Applicants Response: This application is not a part of the City of Umatilla’s periodic review nor 
is it part of a legislative review of the urban growth boundary. It is submitted to meet a specific 
need of large lot industrial land as outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis that is included 
as part of the application. The amount of land included in the urban growth boundary expansion 
(150+/- acres), when coupled with the land in the associated change of zoning request (300+/-), 
meets the stated need for large lot industrial land within the Economic Opportunities Analysis.

Conclusion: Neither periodic review or other legislative review of the UGB is being conducted. 
Filling the need of large lot industrial land highlighted by the Economic Opportunities Analysis is 
the purpose of this application. As addressed above the subject property is large enough to satisfy 
the land need deficiency as determined under OAR 660-024-0050(4).

135



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 9 of 40

Oregon Administrative Rule 660 Division 24 Section 0067 Evaluation of Land in the Study 
Area for Inclusion in the UGB continues this analysis.

(1) A city considering a UGB amendment must decide which land to add to the UGB by 
evaluating all land in the study area determined under OAR 660-024-0065, as follows
(a) Beginning with the highest priority category of land described in section (2), the city must 
apply section (5) to determine which land in that priority category is suitable to satisfy the need 
deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050 and select for inclusion in the UGB as much of 
the land as necessary to satisfy the need.
(b) If the amount of suitable land in the first priority category is not sufficient to satisfy all the 
identified need deficiency, the city must apply section (5) to determine which land in the next 
priority is suitable and select for inclusion in the UGB as much of the suitable land in that 
priority as necessary to satisfy the need. The city must proceed in this manner until all the land 
need is satisfied, except as provided in OAR 660-024-0065(9).
(c) If the amount of suitable land in a particular priority category in section (2) exceeds the 
amount necessary to satisfy the need deficiency, the city must choose which land in that priority 
to include in the UGB by applying the criteria in section (7) of this rule.
(d) In evaluating the sufficiency of land to satisfy a need under this section, the city may use the 
factors identified in sections (5) and (6) of this rule to reduce the forecast development capacity 
of the land to meet the need.
(e) Land that is determined to not be suitable under section (5) of this rule to satisfy the need 
deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050 is not required to be selected for inclusion in 
the UGB unless its inclusion is necessary to serve other higher priority lands.

Applicants Response: This application is focused on an urban growth boundary amendment for 
large lot industrial development. This need was identified in the attached Economic 
Opportunities Analysis completed for the City of Umatilla in October 2019. The requirements of 
OAR 660-024-0065 are addressed above. The alternative sites identified in the section above 
where shown to have limitations removing them from consideration. The subject site meets the 
identified need for 250+ acres of large lot industrial land as outlined in the Economic 
Opportunities Analysis. The subject property for inclusion and rezoning totals 450+/- acres.

Conclusion: The lack of large lot industrial parcels as identified in the Economic Opportunities 
Analysis can be met by the submitted applications. The requirements of OAR 660-024-0065 are 
addressed above. The subject site meets the identified need for 250+ acres of large lot industrial 
land as outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis. The subject property for inclusion and 
rezoning totals 450+/- acres.

(2) Priority of Land for inclusion in a UGB:
(a) First Priority is urban reserve, exception land, and nonresource land. Lands in the study area 
that meet the description in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection are of equal (first) 
priority:
(A) Land designated as an urban reserve under OAR chapter 660, division 21, in an 
acknowledged comprehensive plan;
(B) Land that is subject to an acknowledged exception under ORS 197.732; and
(C) Land that is nonresource land.

136



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 10 of 40

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla does not have any urban reserves; no lands with an 
acknowledged exception are available (the parcel with the Goal 11 exception is owned or 
managed by the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, is not subject to local 
land use authority, and is not available for development to meet current needs); and no other 
non-resource land has been identified as being available or of sufficient size to meet the 
identified need.

Conclusion: While technically Site 3 would meet the priority of land for inclusion, The City 
would have no authority to ensure the land was maintained or developed to meet the city’s need 
for large lot industrial sites. Due to that exclusion, no other non-resource land has been identified 
as being available or of sufficient size to meet the identified need.

(b) Second Priority is marginal land: land within the study area that is designated as marginal 
land under ORS 197.247 (1991 Edition) in the acknowledged comprehensive plan.

Applicants Response: There are no designated marginal lands within Umatilla County.

Conclusion: There are no designated marginal lands within Umatilla County.

(c) Third Priority is forest or farm land that is not predominantly high-value farm land: land 
within the study area that is designated for forest or agriculture uses in the acknowledged 
comprehensive plan and that is not predominantly high-value farmland as defined in ORS 
195.300, or that does not consist predominantly of prime or unique soils, as determined by the 
United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA 
NRCS). In selecting which lands to include to satisfy the need, the city must use the agricultural 
land capability classification system or the cubic foot site class system, as appropriate for the 
acknowledged comprehensive plan designation, to select lower capability or cubic foot site class 
lands first.

Applicants Response: There are no Goal 4 or Forest Lands adjacent to the City of Umatilla. 
Already excluded are areas with wetlands and an area not of sufficient size to accommodate the 
need. The subject area is comprised of Class VIIe Soils if not irrigated. Specifically, the soils are 
Burbank loamy find sand with 0 to 5 percent slopes for the area to the west and Quincy loamy 
find sand with 5 to 25 percent slopes for the area to the east. The lands are not considered prime 
or unique.

Conclusion: As there are no Goal 4 or Forest Lands adjacent to the City of Umatilla and the subject 
property has no high-value farmland or prime or unique soils, the subject property is considered a 
suitable area for UGB expansion. 

(d) Fourth Priority is agricultural land that is predominantly high-value farmland: land within the 
study area that is designated as agricultural land in an acknowledged comprehensive plan and is 
predominantly high-value farmland as defined in ORS 195.300. A city may not select land that is 
predominantly made up of prime or unique farm soils, as defined by the USDA NRCS, unless 
there is an insufficient amount of other land to satisfy its land need. In selecting which lands to 
include to satisfy the need, the city must use the agricultural land capability classification system 
to select lower capability lands first.

137



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 11 of 40

Applicants Response: The land is not identified as high-value farmland, nor is it prime or 
unique. The approximate 150 acres identified for inclusion within the urban growth boundary is 
currently farmed with only about half under pivot irrigation. The balance is scrub land, 
unavailable based on the shape of the ownership and layout options for pivot irrigation. The most 
easterly portion of the property slopes down to Interstate 82.

Conclusion: The Subject property is not made up of prime of unique land as defined by the USDA 
NRCS. 

(3) Notwithstanding section (2)(c) or (d) of this rule, land that would otherwise be excluded from 
a UGB may be included if:
(a) The land contains a small amount of third or fourth priority land that is not important to the 
commercial agricultural enterprise in the area and the land must be included in the UGB to 
connect a nearby and significantly larger area of land of higher priority for inclusion within the 
UGB; or
(b) The land contains a small amount of third or fourth priority land that is not predominantly 
high-value farmland or predominantly made up of prime or unique farm soils and the land is 
completely surrounded by land of higher priority for inclusion into the UGB.

Applicants Response: This action does not seek to connect an area nor is it surrounded by land 
of higher priority. This action seeks to add approximately 150 acres to the urban growth 
boundary of which about half is under circle pivot irrigation, the balance scrub land not available 
for irrigation based on the shape and layout of the ownership. None of the land is prime or 
unique.

Conclusion: The above standards do not apply to the subject property. 

(4) For purposes of categorizing and evaluating land pursuant to subsections (2)(c) and (d) and 
section (3) of this rule,
(a) Areas of land not larger than 100 acres may be grouped together and studied as a single unit 
of land;
(b) Areas of land larger than 100 acres that are similarly situated and have similar soils may be 
grouped together provided soils of lower agricultural or forest capability may not be grouped 
with soils of higher capability in a manner inconsistent with the intent of section (2) of this rule, 
which requires that higher capability resource lands shall be the last priority for inclusion in a 
UGB;
(c) Notwithstanding subsection (4)(a), if a city initiated the evaluation or amendment of its UGB 
prior to January 1, 2016, and if the analysis involves more than one lot or parcel or area within a 
particular priority category for which circumstances are reasonably similar, these lots, parcels 
and areas may be considered and evaluated as a single group;
(d) When determining whether the land is predominantly high-value farmland, or predominantly 
prime or unique, “predominantly” means more than 50 percent.

Applicants Response: The land is not identified as high-value farmland, nor is it prime or 
unique. This action seeks to add approximately 150 acres to the urban growth boundary of which 
about half is under circle pivot irrigation, the balance scrub land not available for irrigation based 
on the shape and layout of the ownership.

138



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 12 of 40

Conclusion: The above standards do not apply to the subject property.

(5) With respect to section (1), a city must assume that vacant or partially vacant land in a 
particular priority category is “suitable” to satisfy a need deficiency identified in OAR 660-024-
0050(4) unless it demonstrates that the land cannot satisfy the specified need based on one or 
more of the conditions described in subsections (a) through (g) of this section: 
(a) Existing parcelization, lot sizes or development patterns of rural residential land make that 
land unsuitable for an identified employment need; as follows:
(A) Parcelization: the land consists primarily of parcels 2-acres or less in size, or
(B) Existing development patterns: the land cannot be reasonably redeveloped or infilled within 
the planning period due to the location of existing structures and infrastructure.
(b) The land would qualify for exclusion from the preliminary study area under the factors in 
OAR 660-024-0065(4) but the city declined to exclude it pending more detailed analysis.
(c) The land is, or will be upon inclusion in the UGB, subject to natural resources protections 
under Statewide Planning Goal 5 such that that no development capacity should be forecast on 
that land to meet the land need deficiency.
(d) With respect to needed industrial uses only, the land is over 10 percent slope, or is an existing 
lot or parcel that is smaller than 5 acres in size, or both. Slope shall be measured as the increase 
in elevation divided by the horizontal distance at maximum ten-foot contour intervals.
(e) With respect to a particular industrial use or particular public facility use described in OAR 
660-024-0065(3), the land does not have, and cannot be improved to provide, one or more of the 
required specific site characteristics.
(f) The land is subject to a conservation easement described in ORS 271.715 that prohibits urban 
development.
(g) The land is committed to a use described in this subsection and the use is unlikely to be 
discontinued during the planning period:
(A) Public park, church, school, or cemetery, or
(B) Land within the boundary of an airport designated for airport uses, but not including land 
designated or zoned for residential, commercial or industrial uses in an acknowledged 
comprehensive plan.

Applicants Response: None of the alternative sites have been parcelized. The alternative site 
east of the City of Umatilla lying both north and south of Highway 730 (site 2) has significant 
wetlands, some identified within the Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan, that would be 
subject to development restrictions limiting opportunities for large lot industrial development. 
The alternative site south of the City of Umatilla and west of Highway 395 (site 3) is about 160 
acres, long and narrow, which could limit large lot development and not of sufficient size to 
fulfill the need as identified within the Economic Opportunities Analysis. The subject site is of a 
size and shape to meet the needs as outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis.

Conclusion: Due to wetlands on site 2 and the lot sizes and shapes of site 3, the subject site is the 
only one that is a size and shape to meet the needs as outlined in the Economic Opportunities 
Analysis.

(6) For vacant or partially vacant lands added to the UGB to provide for residential uses:
(a) Existing lots or parcels one acre or less may be assumed to have a development capacity of 
one dwelling unit per lot or parcel. Existing lots or parcels greater than one acre but less than two 

139



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 13 of 40

acres shall be assumed to have an aggregate development capacity of two dwelling units per 
acre.
(b) In any subsequent review of a UGB pursuant to this division, the city may use a development 
assumption for land described in subsection (a) of this section for a period of up to 14 years from 
the date the lands were added to the UGB.

Applicants Response: This is not applicable as the intent is to create opportunities for large lot 
industrial uses.

Conclusion: This is not applicable as the intent is to create opportunities for the identified need 
for large lot industrial uses.

(7) Pursuant to subsection (1)(c), if the amount of suitable land in a particular priority category 
under section (2) exceeds the amount necessary to satisfy the need deficiency, the city must 
choose which land in that priority to include in the UGB by first applying the boundary location 
factors of Goal 14 and then applying applicable criteria in the acknowledged comprehensive plan 
and land use regulations acknowledged prior to initiation of the UGB evaluation or amendment. 
The city may not apply local comprehensive plan criteria that contradict the requirements of the 
boundary location factors of Goal 14. The boundary location factors are not independent criteria; 
when the factors are applied to compare alternative boundary locations and to determine the 
UGB location the city must show that it considered and balanced all the factors. The criteria in 
this section may not be used to select lands designated for agriculture or forest use that have 
higher land capability or cubic foot site class, as applicable, ahead of lands that have lower 
capability or cubic foot site class.

Applicants Response: No forest lands are being considered. The land classification of the 
subject area is Class VIIe, not high-value, prime or unique. The applicant would assert that the 
subject site balances the need for industrial land against other land needs. 

Conclusion: No forest lands are being considered. The land classification of the subject area is 
Class VIIe, not high-value, prime or unique. The subject site balances the need for industrial land 
against other land needs.

(8) The city must apply the boundary location factors of Goal 14 in coordination with service 
providers and state agencies, including the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) with 
respect to Factor 2 regarding impacts on the state transportation system, and the Oregon 
Department of Fish and Wildlife (ODFW) and the Department of State Lands (DSL) with respect 
to Factor 3 regarding environmental consequences. “Coordination” includes timely notice to 
agencies and service providers and consideration of any recommended evaluation
methodologies.

Applicants Response: The Oregon Department of Transportation was contacted early in the 
application process. The applicant anticipates that both the Oregon Department of Fish and 
Wildlife and Department of State Lands will be provided notice of the required public hearings 
to consider this application. The Department of Land Conservation and Development has been 
involved through pre-application contact and meetings. 

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla noticed the above agencies on August 4, 2020. 

140



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 14 of 40

(9) In applying Goal 14 Boundary Location Factor 2 to evaluate alternative locations under 
section (7), the city must compare relative costs, advantages and disadvantages of alternative 
UGB expansion areas with respect to the provision of public facilities and services needed to 
urbanize alternative boundary locations. For purposes of this section, the term “public facilities 
and services” means water, sanitary sewer, storm water management, and transportation 
facilities. The evaluation and comparison under Boundary Location Factor 2 must consider:
(a) The impacts to existing water, sanitary sewer, storm water and transportation facilities that 
serve nearby areas already inside the UGB;
(b) The capacity of existing public facilities and services to serve areas already inside the UGB 
as well as areas proposed for addition to the UGB; and
(c) The need for new transportation facilities, such as highways and other roadways, 
interchanges, arterials and collectors, additional travel lanes, other major improvements on 
existing roadways and, for urban areas of 25,000 or more, the provision of public transit service.

Applicants Response: An Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum was 
completed for the subject area concluding that public services can be reasonably provided. That 
memorandum evaluated water, wastewater, industrial process water, and the option of irrigation 
water. Also evaluated was how a connection to the Umatilla Army Depot reuse areas could 
create efficiencies and synergies. No other area was evaluated as they were eliminated from 
consideration for the reasons discussed above.

Conclusion: The Utility Technical Memorandum states that water, wastewater, industrial 
wastewater can be reasonably provided to the subject property. No other area was evaluated as 
they were eliminated from consideration for the reasons discussed above.

(10) The adopted findings for UGB amendment must describe or map all of the alternative areas 
evaluated in the boundary location alternatives analysis.

Applicants Response: Please see the included Study Area map.

Conclusion: Please see the included Study Area map.

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 12 Section 0060 governs Plan and Land 
Use Regulation Amendments. 

(1) If an amendment to a functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land use 
regulation (including a zoning map) would significantly affect an existing or planned 
transportation facility, then the local government must put in place measures as provided in 
section (2) of this rule, unless the amendment is allowed under section (3), (9) or (10) of this 
rule. A plan or land use regulation amendment significantly affects a transportation facility if it 
would:

(a) Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility 
(exclusive of correction of map errors in an adopted plan);
(b) Change standards implementing a functional classification system; or
(c) Result in any of the effects listed in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection 
based on projected conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in 

141



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 15 of 40

the adopted TSP. As part of evaluating projected conditions, the amount of traffic 
projected to be generated within the area of the amendment may be reduced if the 
amendment includes an enforceable, ongoing requirement that would demonstrably limit 
traffic generation, including, but not limited to, transportation demand management. This 
reduction may diminish or completely eliminate the significant effect of the amendment.

(A) Types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the functional 
classification of an existing or planned transportation facility;
(B) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility 
such that it would not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or 
comprehensive plan; or
(C) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility 
that is otherwise projected to not meet the performance standards identified in the 
TSP or comprehensive plan.

Applicants Response: As part of the application process the City of Umatilla accomplished a 
Traffic Impact Analysis (TIA), completed by J-U-B Engineers and dated May 2020. The TIA 
comes to several conclusions, summarized on page 17 of the Analysis, concerning the function 
of Powerline Road as well as its connection to both Interstate 82 and Highway 730. The effect of 
the urban growth boundary expansion and annexation, when coupled with the change in zoning, 
results in a net reduction in daily traffic including the pm peak hour (this is further discussed on 
page 7 of the TIA). The analysis does conclude there will be impacts to intersections at the 
Interstate 82 Interchange and the intersection with Highway 730. For this particular criterion the 
applicant would assert that the TIA provides evidence that Powerline Road along the frontage of 
the subject property does not require a change in functional classification or the standards to 
implement the functional classification, and in fact results in a lower pm peak hour by nearly 800 
trips in 2040.

Conclusion: The effect of the urban growth boundary expansion and annexation, when coupled 
with the change in zoning, results in a net reduction in daily traffic including the pm peak hour 
for the subject property.

(2) If a local government determines that there would be a significant effect, then the local 
government must ensure that allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function, 
capacity, and performance standards of the facility measured at the end of the planning period 
identified in the adopted TSP through one or a combination of the remedies listed in (a) through 
(e) below, unless the amendment meets the balancing test in subsection (2)(e) of this section or 
qualifies for partial mitigation in section (11) of this rule. A local government using subsection 
(2)(e), section (3), section (10) or section (11) to approve an amendment recognizes that 
additional motor vehicle traffic congestion may result and that other facility providers would not 
be expected to provide additional capacity for motor vehicles in response to this congestion.

(a) Adopting measures that demonstrate allowed land uses are consistent with the 
planned function, capacity, and performance standards of the transportation facility.
(b) Amending the TSP or comprehensive plan to provide transportation facilities, 
improvements or services adequate to support the proposed land uses consistent with the 
requirements of this division; such amendments shall include a funding plan or 
mechanism consistent with section (4) or include an amendment to the transportation 
finance plan so that the facility, improvement, or service will be provided by the end of 
the planning period.

142



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 16 of 40

(c) Amending the TSP to modify the planned function, capacity or performance standards 
of the transportation facility.
(d) Providing other measures as a condition of development or through a development 
agreement or similar funding method, including, but not limited to, transportation system 
management measures or minor transportation improvements. Local governments shall, 
as part of the amendment, specify when measures or improvements provided pursuant to 
this subsection will be provided.
(e) Providing improvements that would benefit modes other than the significantly affected 
mode, improvements to facilities other than the significantly affected facility, or 
improvements at other locations, if:

(A) The provider of the significantly affected facility provides a written statement 
that the system-wide benefits are sufficient to balance the significant effect, even 
though the improvements would not result in consistency for all performance 
standards;
(B) The providers of facilities being improved at other locations provide written 
statements of approval; and
(C) The local jurisdictions where facilities are being improved provide written 
statements of approval.

Applicants Response: The TIA identifies that the function along Powerline Road could be 
improved based on this action. The intersections with both Interstate 82 and Highway 730 do not 
fare as well and will need improvements particularly when combined with the assumed 
background growth along Powerline Road. Specifically, the TIA calls for signalization or a 
round-about at the Powerline Road and Highway 730 intersection stating that, “The traffic signal 
would likely be required at about 10 years of background growth and 50% of the site generated 
trips if the low-cost improvements described above were implemented.”

The TIA also call for work at the Interstate 82 Interchange as follows, “A southbound right turn 
at the southbound I-82 ramps will be needed at approximately 80% of the background growth 
and 80% of the industrial development. A southbound left turn will be needed at the I-82 
northbound ramps at approximately 33% of the background growth and 33% of the industrial 
development.”

The applicant would assert that the TIA provides evidence that the proposed urban growth 
boundary expansion and annexation along with the change in zoning would not significantly 
impact the identified function, capacity, and performance of Powerline Road. There will be 
impacts to the intersections with both Interstate 82 and Highway 730 at a future point in time 
based on both background growth and development of the proposed industrial area. The 
applicant expects to work with the City and other transportation providers to assure that 
necessary projects are identified for inclusion in the City and County Transportation System 
Plans. Funding for those projects could be secured through system development charges on 
industrial projects on the subject site. 

Conclusion: The TIA provides evidence that the proposed urban growth boundary expansion 
and annexation along with the change in zoning would not significantly impact the identified 
function, capacity, and performance of Powerline Road. There will be impacts to the 
intersections with both Interstate 82 and Highway 730 at a future point in time based on both 
background growth and development of the proposed industrial area. Funding for those projects 

143



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 17 of 40

could be secured through system development charges on industrial projects on the subject site.

(3) Notwithstanding sections (1) and (2) of this rule, a local government may approve an 
amendment that would significantly affect an existing transportation facility without assuring 
that the allowed land uses are consistent with the function, capacity and performance standards 
of the facility where:

(a) In the absence of the amendment, planned transportation facilities, improvements and 
services as set forth in section (4) of this rule would not be adequate to achieve 
consistency with the identified function, capacity or performance standard for that 
facility by the end of the planning period identified in the adopted TSP;
(b) Development resulting from the amendment will, at a minimum, mitigate the impacts 
of the amendment in a manner that avoids further degradation to the performance of the 
facility by the time of the development through one or a combination of transportation 
improvements or measures;
(c) The amendment does not involve property located in an interchange area as defined 
in paragraph (4)(d)(C); and
(d) For affected state highways, ODOT provides a written statement that the proposed 
funding and timing for the identified mitigation improvements or measures are, at a 
minimum, sufficient to avoid further degradation to the performance of the affected state 
highway. However, if a local government provides the appropriate ODOT regional office 
with written notice of a proposed amendment in a manner that provides ODOT 
reasonable opportunity to submit a written statement into the record of the local 
government proceeding, and ODOT does not provide a written statement, then the local 
government may proceed with applying subsections (a) through (c) of this section.

Applicants Response: The portion of Powerline Road that fronts the subject property is a paved 
county road (City if annexation approved), is not a state highway, nor is it within an interchange 
area or within an area with an adopted Interchange Area Management Plan. Based on the TIA 
the applicant would assert that Powerline Road is not significantly impacted by the urban growth 
boundary expansion and annexation, with the change in zoning providing a lower pm peak hour 
improving the function of Powerline Road. The applicant does acknowledge the future impacts 
to the intersections of Powerline Road with both Interestate-82 and Highway 730. 

Conclusion: Powerline Road is not significantly impacted by the urban growth boundary 
expansion and annexation. Future development will have impacts to the intersections on 
powerline road, these will be addressed at time of development. 

(4) Determinations under sections (1)–(3) of this rule shall be coordinated with affected 
transportation facility and service providers and other affected local governments.

(a) In determining whether an amendment has a significant effect on an existing or 
planned transportation facility under subsection (1)(c) of this rule, local governments 
shall rely on existing transportation facilities and services and on the planned 
transportation facilities, improvements and services set forth in subsections (b) and (c) 
below.
(b) Outside of interstate interchange areas, the following are considered planned 
facilities, improvements and services:

(A) Transportation facilities, improvements or services that are funded for 
construction or implementation in the Statewide Transportation Improvement 

144



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 18 of 40

Program or a locally or regionally adopted transportation improvement program 
or capital improvement plan or program of a transportation service provider.
(B) Transportation facilities, improvements or services that are authorized in a 
local transportation system plan and for which a funding plan or mechanism is in 
place or approved. These include, but are not limited to, transportation facilities, 
improvements or services for which: transportation systems development charge 
revenues are being collected; a local improvement district or reimbursement 
district has been established or will be established prior to development; a 
development agreement has been adopted; or conditions of approval to fund the 
improvement have been adopted.
(C) Transportation facilities, improvements or services in a metropolitan 
planning organization (MPO) area that are part of the area's federally-approved, 
financially constrained regional transportation system plan.
(D) Improvements to state highways that are included as planned improvements 
in a regional or local transportation system plan or comprehensive plan when 
ODOT provides a written statement that the improvements are reasonably likely 
to be provided by the end of the planning period.
(E) Improvements to regional and local roads, streets or other transportation 
facilities or services that are included as planned improvements in a regional or 
local transportation system plan or comprehensive plan when the local 
government(s) or transportation service provider(s) responsible for the facility, 
improvement or service provides a written statement that the facility, 
improvement or service is reasonably likely to be provided by the end of the 
planning period.

(c) Within interstate interchange areas, the improvements included in (b)(A)–(C) are 
considered planned facilities, improvements and services, except where:

(A) ODOT provides a written statement that the proposed funding and timing of 
mitigation measures are sufficient to avoid a significant adverse impact on the 
Interstate Highway system, then local governments may also rely on the 
improvements identified in paragraphs (b)(D) and (E) of this section; or
(B) There is an adopted interchange area management plan, then local 
governments may also rely on the improvements identified in that plan and which 
are also identified in paragraphs (b)(D) and (E) of this section.

(d) As used in this section and section (3):
(A) Planned interchange means new interchanges and relocation of existing 
interchanges that are authorized in an adopted transportation system plan or 
comprehensive plan;
(B) Interstate highway means Interstates 5, 82, 84, 105, 205 and 405; and
(C) Interstate interchange area means:

(i) Property within one-quarter mile of the ramp terminal intersection of 
an existing or planned interchange on an Interstate Highway; or
(ii) The interchange area as defined in the Interchange Area Management 
Plan adopted as an amendment to the Oregon Highway Plan.

(e) For purposes of this section, a written statement provided pursuant to paragraphs 
(b)(D), (b)(E) or (c)(A) provided by ODOT, a local government or transportation facility 
provider, as appropriate, shall be conclusive in determining whether a transportation 
facility, improvement or service is a planned transportation facility, improvement or 
service. In the absence of a written statement, a local government can only rely upon 

145



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 19 of 40

planned transportation facilities, improvements and services identified in paragraphs 
(b)(A)–(C) to determine whether there is a significant effect that requires application of 
the remedies in section (2).

Applicants Response: The subject area proposed for inclusion within the City of Umatilla urban 
growth boundary and city limits, and the larger project area proposed for a change in Zoning to 
Light Industrial, are located north approximately one-half mile of the Powerline Road 
interchange on Interstate 82. There is no adopted Interchange Area Management Plan and no 
corresponding interchange area that has been applied.

The portion of Powerline Road fronting the subject property is an Umatilla County paved road
(City if annexation approved). Based on the Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla 
County and the City of Umatilla a portion of Powerline Road has been transferred from the 
County to the City. Both Umatilla County and City of Umatilla transportation standards are 
discussed more fully later in this narrative. 

The applicant asserts that the TIA provides evidence that the impacts to Powerline Road are an 
improvement to the pm peak hour. The applicant also asserts that the proposed changes are at 
least one-half mile from the Interstate-82 Interchange.

Conclusion: There is no adopted Interchange Area Management Plan and no corresponding 
interchange area that has been applied. The proposed changes are at least one-half mile from the 
Interstate-82 Interchange. Upon approval of  UGB expansion, the portion of powerline road 
adjacent to the subject property will be subject to City of Umatilla transportation standards. 

(5) The presence of a transportation facility or improvement shall not be a basis for an exception 
to allow residential, commercial, institutional or industrial development on rural lands under 
this division or OAR 660-004-0022 and 660-004-0028.

Applicants Response: This is not an application to allow industrial development on rural lands, 
but an application package seeking an expansion of the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary 
and annexation along with an associated application requesting a change in Zoning to Light 
Industrial. While the Powerline Road Interchange on Interstate 82 is a beneficial transportation 
improvement, it is not the sole or primary reason for these applications. 

Conclusion: This application package is to expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary 
to allow for more large lot industrial parcels. This application is not to allow industrial 
development on rural lands. 

(6) In determining whether proposed land uses would affect or be consistent with planned 
transportation facilities as provided in sections (1) and (2), local governments shall give full 
credit for potential reduction in vehicle trips for uses located in mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly 
centers, and neighborhoods as provided in subsections (a)–(d) below;

(a) Absent adopted local standards or detailed information about the vehicle trip 
reduction benefits of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development, local governments 
shall assume that uses located within a mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly center, or
neighborhood, will generate 10% fewer daily and peak hour trips than are specified in 

146



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 20 of 40

available published estimates, such as those provided by the Institute of Transportation 
Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual that do not specifically account for the effects 
of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development. The 10% reduction allowed for by this 
section shall be available only if uses which rely solely on auto trips, such as gas 
stations, car washes, storage facilities, and motels are prohibited;
(b) Local governments shall use detailed or local information about the trip reduction 
benefits of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development where such information is 
available and presented to the local government. Local governments may, based on such 
information, allow reductions greater than the 10% reduction required in subsection (a) 
above;
(c) Where a local government assumes or estimates lower vehicle trip generation as 
provided in subsection (a) or (b) above, it shall assure through conditions of approval, 
site plans, or approval standards that subsequent development approvals support the 
development of a mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly center or neighborhood and provide for 
on-site bike and pedestrian connectivity and access to transit as provided for in OAR
660-012-0045(3) and (4). The provision of on-site bike and pedestrian connectivity and 
access to transit may be accomplished through application of acknowledged ordinance 
provisions which comply with 660-012-0045(3) and (4) or through conditions of 
approval or findings adopted with the plan amendment that assure compliance with these 
rule requirements at the time of development approval; and
(d) The purpose of this section is to provide an incentive for the designation and 
implementation of pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use centers and neighborhoods by lowering 
the regulatory barriers to plan amendments which accomplish this type of development. 
The actual trip reduction benefits of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development will vary 
from case to case and may be somewhat higher or lower than presumed pursuant to 
subsection (a) above. The Commission concludes that this assumption is warranted given 
general information about the expected effects of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly 
development and its intent to encourage changes to plans and development patterns. 
Nothing in this section is intended to affect the application of provisions in local plans or 
ordinances which provide for the calculation or assessment of systems development 
charges or in preparing conformity determinations required under the federal Clean Air 
Act.

Applicants Response: The proposed uses are industrial in nature – data centers, light 
manufacturing and warehousing – with traffic impacts addressed in the Traffic Impact Study for 
these activities. The growth of residential activity to the north of the subject property does 
include development of sidewalks and bicycle facilities along Powerline Road that could be 
connected to the proposed industrial area, creating a pedestrian and bicycle connection to the 
commercial and downtown area of the City of Umatilla. It is not known what the potential is for 
workers within the industrial area to either walk or bicycle to work, but that potential does exist 
and should be acknowledged. The proposed development can be connected to Powerline Road 
and the trail network that has been adopted by the City of Umatilla. 

Conclusion: The proposed development can be connected to Powerline Road and the trail 
network that has been adopted by the City of Umatilla. Bike and pedestrian standards will be 
enforced at the time of development. 

(7) Amendments to acknowledged comprehensive plans and land use regulations which meet all 

147



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 21 of 40

of the criteria listed in subsections (a)–(c) below shall include an amendment to the 
comprehensive plan, transportation system plan, the adoption of a local street plan, access 
management plan, future street plan or other binding local transportation plan to provide for on-
site alignment of streets or accessways with existing and planned arterial, collector, and local 
streets surrounding the site as necessary to implement the requirements in OAR 660-012-
0020(2)(b) and 660-012-0045(3):

(a) The plan or land use regulation amendment results in designation of two or more 
acres of land for commercial use;
(b) The local government has not adopted a TSP or local street plan which complies with 
OAR 660-012-0020(2)(b) or, in the Portland Metropolitan Area, has not complied with 
Metro's requirement for street connectivity as contained in Title 6, Section 3 of the Urban 
Growth Management Functional Plan; and
(c) The proposed amendment would significantly affect a transportation facility as 
provided in section (1).

Applicants Response: This request is proposed to result in land designated Light Industrial, the 
City of Umatilla has an adopted Transportation System Plan and the Traffic Impact Analysis
determined that there is a reduction in pm peak hour traffic. The applicant asserts that this 
criterion would not be applicable to this action. 

Conclusion: Due to the adopted TSP and provided TIA, this criterion is not applicable.

(8) A "mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly center or neighborhood" for the purposes of this rule, 
means:

(a) Any one of the following:
(A) An existing central business district or downtown;
(B) An area designated as a central city, regional center, town center or main 
street in the Portland Metro 2040 Regional Growth Concept;
(C) An area designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan as a transit 
oriented development or a pedestrian district; or
(D) An area designated as a special transportation area as provided for in the 
Oregon Highway Plan.

(b) An area other than those listed in subsection (a) above which includes or is planned 
to include the following characteristics:

(A) A concentration of a variety of land uses in a well-defined area, including the 
following:

(i) Medium to high density residential development (12 or more units per 
acre);
(ii) Offices or office buildings;
(iii) Retail stores and services;
(iv) Restaurants; and
(v) Public open space or private open space which is available for public 
use, such as a park or plaza.

(B) Generally include civic or cultural uses;
(C) A core commercial area where multi-story buildings are permitted;
(D) Buildings and building entrances oriented to streets;
(E) Street connections and crossings that make the center safe and conveniently 

148



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 22 of 40

accessible from adjacent areas;
(F) A network of streets and, where appropriate, accessways and major 
driveways that make it attractive and highly convenient for people to walk 
between uses within the center or neighborhood, including streets and major 
driveways within the center with wide sidewalks and other features, including 
pedestrian-oriented street crossings, street trees, pedestrian-scale lighting and 
on-street parking;
(G) One or more transit stops (in urban areas with fixed route transit service); 
and
(H) Limit or do not allow low-intensity or land extensive uses, such as most 
industrial uses, automobile sales and services, and drive-through services.

Applicants Response: This proposal, if approved, will result in an industrial area Zoned Light 
Industrial. It is not proposed as a mixed-use area but could connect to the sidewalk or bicycle 
paths that are being incorporated along Powerline Road as the residential areas develop. As 
discussed above connections to the adopted pedestrian and bicycle network can be achieved to 
allow for industrial workers to walk or bike to work or to the downtown area of Umatilla. There 
may also be opportunity for future transit connections to the working Kayak system or other 
transit systems that may be developed. 

Conclusion: The proposed subject property is not a mixed-use area. There is potential for 
alternative modes of transportation to future development on the property through use of 
walking, biking or public transit such as the CTUIR Kayak. 

(9) Notwithstanding section (1) of this rule, a local government may find that an amendment to a 
zoning map does not significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility if all of the 
following requirements are met.

(a) The proposed zoning is consistent with the existing comprehensive plan map 
designation and the amendment does not change the comprehensive plan map;
(b) The local government has an acknowledged TSP and the proposed zoning is 
consistent with the TSP; and
(c) The area subject to the zoning map amendment was not exempted from this rule at the 
time of an urban growth boundary amendment as permitted in OAR 660-024-0020(1)(d), 
or the area was exempted from this rule but the local government has a subsequently 
acknowledged TSP amendment that accounted for urbanization of the area.

Applicants Response: This application addresses transportation impacts because these factors 
cannot be met.

Conclusion: This application addresses transportation impacts because these factors cannot be 
met.

(10) Notwithstanding sections (1) and (2) of this rule, a local government may amend a 
functional plan, a comprehensive plan or a land use regulation without applying performance 
standards related to motor vehicle traffic congestion (e.g. volume to capacity ratio or V/C), 
delay or travel time if the amendment meets the requirements of subsection (a) of this section. 
This section does not exempt a proposed amendment from other transportation performance 
standards or policies that may apply including, but not limited to, safety for all modes, network 

149



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 23 of 40

connectivity for all modes (e.g. sidewalks, bicycle lanes) and accessibility for freight vehicles of 
a size and frequency required by the development.

(a) A proposed amendment qualifies for this section if it:
(A) Is a map or text amendment affecting only land entirely within a multimodal 
mixed-use area (MMA); and
(B) Is consistent with the definition of an MMA and consistent with the function of 
the MMA as described in the findings designating the MMA.

(b) For the purpose of this rule, “multimodal mixed-use area” or “MMA” means an 
area:

(A) With a boundary adopted by a local government as provided in subsection (d) 
or (e) of this section and that has been acknowledged;
(B) Entirely within an urban growth boundary;
(C) With adopted plans and development regulations that allow the uses listed in 
paragraphs (8)(b)(A) through (C) of this rule and that require new development 
to be consistent with the characteristics listed in paragraphs (8)(b)(D) through 
(H) of this rule;
(D) With land use regulations that do not require the provision of off-street 
parking, or regulations that require lower levels of off-street parking than 
required in other areas and allow flexibility to meet the parking requirements 
(e.g. count on-street parking, allow long-term leases, allow shared parking); and
(E) Located in one or more of the categories below:

(i) At least one-quarter mile from any ramp terminal intersection of 
existing or planned interchanges;
(ii) Within the area of an adopted Interchange Area Management Plan 
(IAMP) and consistent with the IAMP; or
(iii) Within one-quarter mile of a ramp terminal intersection of an existing 
or planned interchange if the mainline facility provider has provided 
written concurrence with the MMA designation as provided in subsection 
(c) of this section.

(c) When a mainline facility provider reviews an MMA designation as provided in 
subparagraph (b)(E)(iii) of this section, the provider must consider the factors listed in 
paragraph (A) of this subsection.

(A) The potential for operational or safety effects to the interchange area and the 
mainline highway, specifically considering:

(i) Whether the interchange area has a crash rate that is higher than the 
statewide crash rate for similar facilities;
(ii) Whether the interchange area is in the top ten percent of locations 
identified by the safety priority index system (SPIS) developed by ODOT; 
and
(iii) Whether existing or potential future traffic queues on the interchange 
exit ramps extend onto the mainline highway or the portion of the ramp 
needed to safely accommodate deceleration.

(B) If there are operational or safety effects as described in paragraph (A) of this 
subsection, the effects may be addressed by an agreement between the local 
government and the facility provider regarding traffic management plans 
favoring traffic movements away from the interchange, particularly those 
facilitating clearing traffic queues on the interchange exit ramps.

(d) A local government may designate an MMA by adopting an amendment to the 

150



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 24 of 40

comprehensive plan or land use regulations to delineate the boundary following an 
existing zone, multiple existing zones, an urban renewal area, other existing boundary, or 
establishing a new boundary. The designation must be accompanied by findings showing 
how the area meets the definition of an MMA. Designation of an MMA is not subject to 
the requirements in sections (1) and (2) of this rule.
(e) A local government may designate an MMA on an area where comprehensive plan 
map designations or land use regulations do not meet the definition, if all of the other 
elements meet the definition, by concurrently adopting comprehensive plan or land use 
regulation amendments necessary to meet the definition. Such amendments are not 
subject to performance standards related to motor vehicle traffic congestion, delay or 
travel time.

Applicants Response: This proposal is not for a development that would meet the requirements 
of the MMA. It is for an urban growth boundary expansion and associated change in zoning to 
Light Industrial. 

Conclusion: This application is not subject to requirements of the MMA.

(11) A local government may approve an amendment with partial mitigation as provided in 
section (2) of this rule if the amendment complies with subsection (a) of this section, the 
amendment meets the balancing test in subsection (b) of this section, and the local government 
coordinates as provided in subsection (c) of this section.

(a) The amendment must meet paragraphs (A) and (B) of this subsection or meet 
paragraph (D) of this subsection.

(A) Create direct benefits in terms of industrial or traded-sector jobs created or 
retained by limiting uses to industrial or traded-sector industries.
(B) Not allow retail uses, except limited retail incidental to industrial or traded 
sector development, not to exceed five percent of the net developable area.
(C) For the purpose of this section:

(i) “Industrial” means employment activities generating income from the 
production, handling or distribution of goods including, but not limited to, 
manufacturing, assembly, fabrication, processing, storage, logistics, 
warehousing, importation, distribution and transshipment and research 
and development.
(ii) “Traded-sector” means industries in which member firms sell their 
goods or services into markets for which national or international 
competition exists.

(D) Notwithstanding paragraphs (A) and (B) of this subsection, an amendment 
complies with subsection (a) if all of the following conditions are met:

(i) The amendment is within a city with a population less than 10,000 and 
outside of a Metropolitan Planning Organization.
(ii) The amendment would provide land for “Other Employment Use” or 
“Prime Industrial Land” as those terms are defined in OAR 660-009-
0005.
(iii) The amendment is located outside of the Willamette Valley as defined 
in ORS 215.010.

(E) The provisions of paragraph (D) of this subsection are repealed on January 1, 
2017.

151



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 25 of 40

(b) A local government may accept partial mitigation only if the local government 
determines that the benefits outweigh the negative effects on local transportation 
facilities and the local government receives from the provider of any transportation 
facility that would be significantly affected written concurrence that the benefits outweigh 
the negative effects on their transportation facilities. If the amendment significantly 
affects a state highway, then ODOT must coordinate with the Oregon Business 
Development Department regarding the economic and job creation benefits of the 
proposed amendment as defined in subsection (a) of this section. The requirement to 
obtain concurrence from a provider is satisfied if the local government provides notice as 
required by subsection (c) of this section and the provider does not respond in writing 
(either concurring or non-concurring) within forty-five days.
(c) A local government that proposes to use this section must coordinate with Oregon 
Business Development Department, Department of Land Conservation and Development, 
area commission on transportation, metropolitan planning organization, and 
transportation providers and local governments directly impacted by the proposal to 
allow opportunities for comments on whether the proposed amendment meets the 
definition of economic development, how it would affect transportation facilities and the 
adequacy of proposed mitigation. Informal consultation is encouraged throughout the 
process starting with pre-application meetings. Coordination has the meaning given in 
ORS 197.015 and Goal 2 and must include notice at least 45 days before the first 
evidentiary hearing. Notice must include the following:

(A) Proposed amendment.
(B) Proposed mitigating actions from section (2) of this rule.
(C) Analysis and projections of the extent to which the proposed amendment in 
combination with proposed mitigating actions would fall short of being consistent 
with the function, capacity, and performance standards of transportation 
facilities.
(D) Findings showing how the proposed amendment meets the requirements of 
subsection (a) of this section.
(E) Findings showing that the benefits of the proposed amendment outweigh the 
negative effects on transportation facilities.

Applicants Response: This request is for the expansion of the City of Umatilla urban growth 
boundary with an associated request to change the Zoning on the subject property to Light 
Industrial. Should the City of Umatilla wish to pursue the provisions of this criterion the 
applicant would be willing to participate. The applicant would assert that the economic benefits 
of this proposal do outweigh the negative impacts of any transportation impacts that are outlined 
in the TIA. 

Conclusion: Due to the fact that the proposed economic benefits of this application outweigh the 
negative impacts of transportation impacts. Staff recommendation is to not pursue the provisions 
of this criterion. 

The Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan, Transportation System Plan and Development 
Code are applicable, specifically Comprehensive Plan Findings and Policies 2, 9 and 25, 
Transportation System Plan Goals 1 and 3, and Development Code provisions found at 
152.019 Traffic Impact Study. 

152



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 26 of 40

Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan Chapter 15. TRANSPORTATION
All segments of Umatilla County's economy depend on the County's transportation network for 
movement inside County borders and to markets outside of the area. Fortunately, the County and 
particularly the developing West County has access to five modes of transportation. Interstate 
and state highways flow east-west and north-south in the County. The Port of Umatilla provides 
commercial freight use of the Columbia River. Railroad lines including Union Pacific's major 
switch-yard at Hinkle, bring passenger and freight service to Umatilla County. Two municipal 
airports make a wide variety of services available to county and regional residents, i.e. 
agriculture, freight, passenger, business. Natural gas and oil pipelines transport fuel to the 
county and to other areas. Local traffic between urban areas and highways travels on a fairly 
extensive county and state roads network. Mass transit is presently limited to long distance 
commercial bus lines and small fleet bus systems that serves some transportation needs of senior 
citizens.

The ability of existing services and facilities to serve future regional needs, and the specific 
requirements necessary to provide balanced forms of transportation for all segments of the 
county's future population, hinge upon cooperative city/county development of a transportation 
system plan. A major mechanism insuring this cooperative effort is found within the 
"Transportation" section of the Joint Management Agreements entered into with all cities of 
Umatilla County. A Transportation System Plan will also serve to assist state/federal 
transportation agencies in setting priorities and planning improvements in their areas of 
responsibilities.

Applicants Response: The following findings and policies are evaluated to meet Umatilla 
County Comprehensive Plan requirements.

Conclusion: The following findings and policies are evaluated to meet Umatilla County 
Comprehensive Plan requirements. 

Finding 2. Transportation planning within urban growth boundaries is important to insure 
adequate transportation facilities in the County.

Policy 2. To facilitate transportation system coordination within urban growth boundaries, the 
cities' TSPs shall apply within the UGB and shall be co-adopted by the County and addressed in 
the city/county joint management agreements.

Applicants Response: The Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla County and the 
City of Umatilla is considered as part of this application. Powerline Road is specifically called 
out in the Joint Management Agreement. There has been a recent transfer of a portion of 
Powerline Road from Umatilla County to the City of Umatilla. The portion of Powerline Road 
adjacent to the subject property is still a paved Umatilla County road.

Conclusion: If approved, Powerline road will be adopted by the City of Umatilla down from 
HWY 730 to the subject property, and be added to the City’s TSP. The County co adopted the 
City’s TSP on December 6th, 1999. The TSP was adopted via County Ordinance #99-07. 

Finding 9. Many County and public roads are not constructed to an acceptable County standard, 
and development is increasing along these roads.

153



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 27 of 40

Policy 9. Subdivision of land not on road constructed to County standards or not accepted for 
maintenance responsibility by the County or state shall not be permitted. A subdivision road 
shall be public and maintained by a public agency or homeowners association.

Applicants Response: Powerline Road is a paved county road, is classified as a minor collector 
and is not currently built to that standard. Future development in the subject area would be 
subject to development standards within the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance with appropriate 
development improvements to Powerline Road with the outcome of bringing the road to the 
applicable development standard. This will be affected as part of the zone change undertaken by 
the City of Umatilla once the urban growth boundary expansion is concluded. 

Conclusion: Powerline Road is a paved county road, is classified as a minor collector and is not 
currently built to that standard. Future development in the subject area will be subject to 
development standards. 

Finding 25. The development of 1-82 after the County's Comprehensive Plan was acknowledged 
established new interchanges which could affect the location of industries, commercial 
businesses and highway-oriented business. 

Policy 25A. Examine interchanges and other potential commercial and industrial locations for 
appropriateness of development taking into consideration access, sewer and water availability 
and environmental conditions. 

Policy 25B. Identify and evaluate factors limiting development in this area.

Applicants Response: The Interstate 82 Powerline Road interchange offers an opportunity to the 
City of Umatilla to consider additional uses of land between residential areas and the 
interchange. This application is to expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary to allow 
for additional industrial land to serve data centers, warehousing and certain low impact 
manufacturing operations. Earlier analysis evaluated these factors, finding the location to be 
suitable for an urban growth boundary expansion. The associated proposed change in zoning to 
Light Industrial is compatible with the Interstate 82 Interchange and the adjacent farm uses to the 
south. The included Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum indicates that the 
City of Umatilla does have the capacity to provide services to this area in support of future 
industrial uses.

Conclusion: The included Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum indicates 
that the City of Umatilla does have the capacity to provide services to this area in support of 
future industrial uses.

The Umatilla County Transportation System Plan’s OVERALL TRANSPORTATION GOAL 
is “To provide and encourage a safe, convenient, and economic transportation system.” Goals 1
and 3 are applicable; the appropriate Objectives are addressed here:

Goal 1 Preserve the function, capacity, level of service, and safety of the local streets, county 
roads, and state highways. 

154



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 28 of 40

Objectives 
A. Develop access management standards.
F. Develop procedures to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities, corridors, or 
sites during the development review process.

Applicants Response: Upon completion of this urban growth boundary expansion and the 
zoning of approximately 450 acres for industrial purposes, the City of Umatilla Transportation 
System Plan and Development Code would be applicable to any development. Those applicable 
provisions would impose access and development standards meeting this Goal. 

Conclusion: Upon approval of the proposed UGB expansion the City of Umatilla’s
Transportation System Plan and Development Code will be applicable to any development on 
the subject property. These will fulfil the purposes of this goal.  

Goal 3 Improve coordination among the cities of Umatilla County, the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT), the US Forest Service (USFS), the Federal Highway Administration 
(FHWA), and the county.
Objectives
F. Continue to work with cities planning for the county land within their urban growth 
boundaries.

Applicants Response: The urban growth boundary expansion process is one of cooperation 
between Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla. Powerline Road, a paved county road, is 
identified in the Joint Management Agreement for consideration to transfer to the City of 
Umatilla, a process that was recently completed for a portion of the road north of the proposed 
action.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla planning department has involved and informed Umatilla 
County planning department in preparation of this application. The urban growth boundary 
expansion process is one of cooperation between Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla. A 
portion of Powerline road was transferred to the City on June 2, 2020. The City & County will 
continue to work together as development occurs within the UGB. 

Umatilla County Development Code provisions 152.019 TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY. 
(A) Purpose: The purpose of this section of the code is to implement Section 660- 012-0045(2)(e) 
of the State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the County to adopt a process to apply 
conditions to specified land use proposals in order to minimize adverse impacts to and protect 
transportation facilities. This section establishes the standards for when a proposal must be 
reviewed for potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted with an 
application in order to determine whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and 
protect transportation facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Analysis; and who is qualified 
to prepare the analysis.
(B) Applicability: A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be required to be submitted to the County with 
a land use application, when one or more of the following actions apply:

(1) A change in plan amendment designation; or

Applicants Response: A change in plan amendment designation is requested as part of the urban 
growth boundary expansion process. A Traffic Impact Analysis is included as part of this 

155



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 29 of 40

application addressing the criteria in these provisions.

Conclusion: A change in plan amendment designation will be completed upon approval. The 
attached TIA addresses the criteria in these provisions. 

(2) The proposal is projected to cause one or more of the following effects, which can be 
determined by field counts, site observation, traffic impact analysis or study, field 
measurements, crash history, Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation 
manual; and information and studies provided by the local reviewing jurisdiction and/or 
ODOT:

(a) An increase in site traffic volume generation by 250 Average Daily Trips 
(ADT) or more (or as required by the County Engineer). The latest edition of the 
Trip Generation manual, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE) shall be used as standards by which to gauge average daily vehicle trips; or
(b) An increase in use of adjacent gravel surfaced County roads by vehicles 
exceeding the 10,000-pound gross vehicle weights by 20 vehicles or more per 
day; or
(c) The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum intersection sight 
distance requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving the 
property are restricted, or vehicles queue or hesitate, creating a safety hazard; or
(d) A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such as 
back up onto the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area; or
(e) Any development proposed within the Umatilla Army Chemical Depot 
boundary of the I-82/Lamb Road or I84/Army Depot Access Road Interchange 
Area Management Area prior to the completion of near-term improvements 
projects (Projects A and B) identified in the I-82/Lamb Road IAMP; or
(f) For development within the I82/US 730 Interchange Area Management Plan 
(IAMP) Management Area, the location of the access driveway is inconsistent 
with the Access Management Plan in Section 7 of the IAMP; or
(g) For development within the I84/Barnhart Road Interchange Area 
Management Plan (IAMP) Management Area.

Applicants Response: The completed Traffic Impact Analysis indicates that proposed 
development on the subject property would decrease pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips as 
analyzed against the current residential zoning of most of the rezone subject property (please see 
the earlier analysis). There are impacts to the intersections with both Interstate-82 and Highway 
730 during the planning horizon. 

Conclusion: The TIA indicates a decrease of pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips. Impacts to the 
intersections of I-82 and HWY 730 will be addressed at the time of proposed development. 

(C) Traffic Impact Analysis Requirements
(1) Preparation. A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be prepared by a professional engineer. 
The Traffic Impact Analysis will be paid for by the applicant.
(2) Transportation Planning Rule Compliance as provided in § 152.751.
(3) Pre-filing Conference. The applicant will meet with the Umatilla County Public 
Works Director and Planning Director prior to submitting an application that requires a 
Traffic Impact Analysis. The County has the discretion to determine the required 

156



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 30 of 40

elements of the TIA and the level of analysis expected. The County shall also consult the 
Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) on analysis requirements when the site of 
the proposal is adjacent to or otherwise affects a State roadway.
(4) For development proposed within the Umatilla Army Chemical Depot boundary of the 
I-82/Lamb Road or I84/Army Depot Access Road Interchange Area Management Plan 
(IAMP) Management Area Prior to the construction and completion of near-term 
improvements projects (Projects A and B) identified in the I-82/Lamb Road IAMP, the 
following additional submittal requirements may be required:

(a) An analysis of typical average daily vehicle trips using the latest edition of the 
Trip Generation Manual, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers 
(ITE) or other data source deemed acceptable by the County Engineer;
(b) A truck and passenger vehicle mode split analysis;
(c) An analysis that shows the traffic conditions of the project at full buildout and 
occupancy, assuming the background traffic conditions at the year of expected 
completion;
(d) Findings related to the impacts of the proposed development and the need for 
Projects A and B to mitigate those impacts. Once Projects A and B have been 
completed, this Section 4 will no longer apply to new development.

Applicants Response: The included Traffic Impact Analysis, dated May 2020, was completed 
by J-U-B Engineers, meeting the credential requirements. Umatilla County Development Code 
provisions at 152.751 are met as this application addresses the transportation requirements in the 
Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan, Transportation System Plan, and Development Code. 
Coordination with Umatilla County and the Oregon Department of Transportation was 
accomplished through consultation with City of Umatilla staff; in-person meetings were limited 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Conclusion: The TIA meets and addresses the above criterion. 

(D) Approval Criteria: When a Traffic Impact Analysis is required; approval of the proposal 
requires satisfaction of the following criteria:

(1) Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by an Oregon Registered Professional 
Engineer qualified to perform traffic engineering analysis;
(2) If the proposed action shall cause a significant effect pursuant to the Transportation 
Planning Rule, or other traffic hazard or negative impact to a transportation facility, the 
Traffic Impact Analysis shall include mitigation measures that meet the County’s Level-
of-Service and/or Volume/Capacity standards and are satisfactory to the County 
Engineer, and ODOT when applicable; and
(3) The proposed site design and traffic and circulation design and facilities, for all 
transportation modes, including any mitigation measures, are designed to:

(a) Have the least negative impact on all applicable transportation facilities;
(b) Accommodate and encourage non-motor vehicular modes of transportation to 
the extent practicable;
(c) Make the most efficient use of land and public facilities as practicable;
(d) Provide the most direct, safe and convenient routes practicable between on-
site destinations, and between on-site and off-site destinations; and
(e) Otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the Umatilla County Code.

157



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 31 of 40

Applicants Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers and 
addresses both Level-of-Service and Volume/Capacity standards. The pm peak hour traffic, 
when compared with current zoning, is reduced by 800 trips. There are impacts to the 
intersections at both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 when this action is considered with 
background growth, creating impacts within the 20-year planning horizon.

Conclusion: Future impacts forecasted by the TIA will be addressed as future development is 
proposed. 

(E) Conditions of Approval: The County may deny, approve, or approve a proposal with 
appropriate conditions.

(1) Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed 
action, dedication of land for streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or 
accessways may be required to ensure that the transportation system is adequate to 
handle the additional burden caused by the proposed action. 
(2) Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed 
action, improvements such as paving, curbing, installation or contribution to traffic 
signals, construction of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or streets that serve the 
proposed action may be required. 

Applicants Response: The applicant request that the County approve this request to expand the 
urban growth boundary. The Traffic Impact Analysis does show that pm peak hour traffic will be 
lowered when compared to current zoning. Future development would be subject to City of 
Umatilla Development Code provisions concerning onsite and adjacent improvements. 

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla staff foresee no complications in regards to the approval of 
the UGB expansion by Umatilla County. Preliminary conversations with the County have not 
identified any potential issues. Future development would be subject to City of Umatilla 
Development Code provisions concerning onsite and adjacent improvements.

The City of Umatilla Transportation System Plan, which is a part of the Comprehensive 
Plan, has certain Goals and Objectives that require review and analysis as well as the 
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 11 Supplementary Provisions 10-11-10: Traffic Impact 
Analysis should the transfer of Powerline Road be accomplished prior to the submittal of 
this application. Additionally, these provisions are applicable to the associated application 
for a change in Zoning to Light Industrial for the larger subject property. Both the County 
and City provisions are addressed to assure compliance.

City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan Chapter 12 Goal 12: Transportation
Section 12:0 Transportation Goal
To develop and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation system.

Applicants Response: The applicant supports this overall Transportation Goal of the City of 
Umatilla. Development of an industrial area on the south side of the City of Umatilla along 
Powerline Road just north of the Interstate 82 Interchange creates transportation linkages to the 
larger regional transportation system in a safe and efficient matter, with the opportunity to limit 
truck traffic within the downtown and residential areas.

158



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 32 of 40

Conclusion: The subject property and proposed UGB expansion will allow for development of 
the Transportation System in a safe and efficient manner. 

TSP Goal 1 
Promote a balanced, safe, and efficient transportation system. 
Objectives 
Develop a multi-modal transportation system that avoids reliance upon one form of 
transportation as well as minimizes energy consumption and air quality impacts.
Protect the qualities of neighborhoods and the community. 
Provide for adequate street capacity and optimum efficiency. 
Promote adequate transportation linkages between residential, commercial, public, and 
industrial land uses. 

Applicants Response: The applicant would support connection of the proposed industrial area to 
the residential areas north of the proposal along Powerline Road with appropriate pedestrian and 
bicycle facilities such as sidewalks or bike lanes. Further connections to downtown Umatilla via 
the walking bridge or other connections as envisioned in the City’s recent trails visioning project 
are worthwhile. 

Conclusion: At the time of future development the Umatilla Development Code provisions will 
be enforced. Required improvements to adopted City standard at the time development would
meet the above criterion.

TSP Goal 2 
Ensure the adequacy of the roadway network in terms of function, capacity, level of service, and 
safety. 
Objectives 
Identify existing and potential future capacity constraints and develop strategies to address those 
constraints, including potential intersection improvements, future roadway needs, and future 
street connections. 
Evaluate the need for modifications to and/or the addition of traffic control devices, including 
evaluation of traffic signal warrants as appropriate. 
Provide an acceptable level of service at all intersections in the City, recognizing the rural 
character of the area.

Applicants Response: The Traffic Impact Study addresses these three Objectives of Goal 2 by 
evaluating traffic impacts from the proposed urban growth boundary expansion and change in 
Zoning to Light Industrial. The current growth of residential uses along Powerline Road is 
creating additional pressure on the Powerline Road intersection with Highway 730 and will over 
time reduce the Level-of-Service of the intersection. The Traffic Impact Analysis provides an 
evaluation of traffic impacts along Powerline Road and at the intersections with both Interstate-
82 and Highway 730. The Traffic Impact Analysis does provide both timing and the types of 
improvements that may be appropriate to address future impacts. 

Conclusion: The included TIA evaluates in detail the above criterion. The TIA will be consulted 
for any future development of the subject site. Subsequent development would be subject to City 
review to ensure the City’s roadway network is adequate. 

159



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 33 of 40

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Ordinance Chapter 11 Supplementary Provisions
10-11-10: TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS (TIA) 
A. Purpose: The purpose of this section of the code is to implement Section 660-012-0045(2)(e) 
of the State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the City to adopt a process to apply 
conditions to specified land use proposals in order to minimize adverse impacts to and protect 
transportation facilities. This section establishes the standards for when a proposal must be 
reviewed for potential traffic impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted with an 
application in order to determine whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and 
protect transportation facilities; what must be in a Traffic Impact Analysis; and who is qualified 
to prepare the analysis. 

Applicants Response: The applicant has included with this application the Traffic Impact 
Analysis completed by J-U-B Engineers dated May 2020 meeting these requirements. 

Conclusion: The applicant has included with this application the Traffic Impact Analysis 
completed by J-U-B Engineers dated May 2020 meeting these requirements.

B. Applicability: A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be required to be submitted to the City with a 
land use application, when the following conditions apply: 

1. The application involves one or more of the following actions: 
a. A change in zoning or plan amendment designation; or 
b. The proposal is projected to cause one or more of the following effects, which 
can be determined by field counts, site observation, traffic impact analysis or 
study, field measurements, crash history, Institute of Transportation Engineers 
Trip Generation manual; and information and studies provided by the local 
reviewing jurisdiction and/or ODOT: 

1) An increase in site traffic volume generation by 250 Average Daily 
Trips (ADT) or more (or as required by the City Engineer). The latest 
edition of the Trip Generation manual, published by the Institute of 
Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used as standards by which to 
gauge average daily vehicle trips; or
2) An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000 
pound gross vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or more per day; or
3) The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum 
intersection sight distance requirements, or is located where vehicles 
entering or leaving the property are restricted, or vehicles queue or 
hesitate, creating a safety hazard; or 
4) The location of the access driveway does not meet the access spacing 
standard of the roadway on which the driveway is located; or
5) A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, 
such as back up onto the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area.

Applicants Response: The completed Traffic Impact Analysis indicates that proposed 
development on the subject property would decrease pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips as 
analyzed against the current residential zoning of most of the rezone subject property (please see 
the earlier analysis). There are impacts to the intersections with both Interstate-82 and Highway 
730 during the planning horizon. 

160



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 34 of 40

Conclusion: The TIA indicates a decrease of pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips. Impacts to the 
intersections of I-82 and HWY 730 will be addressed at the time of proposed development.

C. Traffic Impact Analysis Requirements 
1. Preparation. A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be prepared by an Oregon Registered 
Professional Engineer that is qualified to perform traffic engineering analysis and will be 
paid for by the applicant. 
2. Transportation Planning Rule Compliance. See Section 10-13-3 Amendments to the 
Zoning Text or Map. 
3. Pre-application Conference. The applicant will meet with the Umatilla Public Works 
Director and Planning Director prior to submitting an application that requires a Traffic 
Impact Analysis. The City has the discretion to determine the required elements of the 
TIA and the level of analysis expected. The City shall also consult the Oregon 
Department of Transportation (ODOT) on analysis requirements when the site of the 
proposal is adjacent to or otherwise affects a State roadway. 

Applicants Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers meeting 
the qualifications requirement. Section 10-13-3 of the Umatilla Zoning Ordinance is evaluated as 
part of the associated application for a change in zoning designation to Light Industrial. The 
applicant and their representatives have met with City staff on several occasions as these 
applications were being developed. 

Conclusion: The TIA was prepared by Shae Talley, an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer 
meeting the qualifications requirement. Section 10-13-3 of the Umatilla Zoning Ordinance is 
evaluated as part of the associated application for a change in zoning designation to Light 
Industrial. City staff has met with the applicant and their representatives on several occasions in 
preparation for these applications. City staff requested a pre-application meeting with ODOT on 
June 19th, 2020 and never received any comment due to what staff assume to be Covid-19
delays. 

D. Approval Criteria: When a Traffic Impact Analysis is required, approval of the proposal 
requires satisfaction of the following criteria: 

1. Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer 
qualified to perform traffic engineering analysis; 
2. If the proposed action shall cause a significant effect pursuant to the Transportation 
Planning Rule, or other traffic hazard or negative impact to a transportation facility, the 
Traffic Impact Analysis shall include mitigation measures that meet the City’s Level-of 
Service and/or Volume/Capacity standards and are satisfactory to the City Engineer, and 
ODOT when applicable; and 
3. The proposed site design and traffic and circulation design and facilities, for all 
transportation modes, including any mitigation measures, are designed to: 

a. Have the least negative impact on all applicable transportation facilities; 
b. Accommodate and encourage non-motor vehicular modes of transportation to 
the extent practicable; 
c. Make the most efficient use of land and public facilities as practicable; 
d. Provide the most direct, safe and convenient routes practicable between on-site 
destinations, and between on-site and off-site destinations; and 
e. Otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the City of Umatilla Code.

161



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 35 of 40

Applicants Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers and 
evaluates the proposed urban growth boundary expansion and associated change in Zoning to 
Light Industrial with a focus on the impacts to Powerline Road and its associated connections by 
evaluating both Level-of-Service and the Volume/Capacity standards. The Traffic Impact Study 
found that the pm peak hour traffic, when compared with current zoning, is reduced by 800 trips. 
There are impacts to the intersections at both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 when this action is 
considered with background growth, creating impacts within the 20-year planning horizon.

Conclusion: The TIA indicates a decrease of pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips. Impacts to the 
intersections of I-82 and HWY 730 will be addressed at the time of proposed development.

E. Conditions of Approval: The City may deny, approve, or approve a proposal with 
appropriate conditions. 

1. Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed 
action, dedication of land for streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or 
accessways may be required to ensure that the transportation system is adequate to 
handle the additional burden caused by the proposed action.
2. Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed 
action, improvements such as paving, curbing, installation or contribution to traffic 
signals, construction of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or streets that serve the 
proposed action may be required.

Applicants Response: The applicant requests that the City approve this request to expand the 
urban growth boundary. The Traffic Impact Analysis provides evidence that the proposed change 
in zoning achieves a lowered pm peak hour by 800 trips at buildout, creating benefits to the 
operation of Powerline Road. There are impacts to the intersections of Powerline Road with both 
Interstate-82 and Highway 730 when combined with background growth during the planning 
horizon. There is opportunity for the industrial area to be connected to the residential area north 
of the subject property and to the downtown area of the City of Umatilla via sidewalks and 
bicycle lanes, connecting to the trails network recently adopted by the City Council. 

Conclusion: Approval of this application will be determined by the City of Umatilla Planning 
Commission recommendation and City Council’s decision. Staff recommend approval based on 
findings and conclusions as contained in this report.

Analysis of the Statewide Planning Goals 1 through 14 follows.

Goal 1 Citizen Involvement: To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the 
opportunity for citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan and development codes 
outline the City’s citizen involvement program that includes the activities of the Planning 
Commission and provides for the public hearing process with its required notice provisions. 
These notice provisions provide for adjoining and affected property owner notice; notice to 
interested local, state and federal agencies; and allows for public comment to the process.

Conclusion: The required public notice process has been completed and staff hope for citizens to 

162



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 36 of 40

be involved at the Planning Commission and City Council meetings along with any other 
comments or participation. 

Goal 2 Planning: To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for 
all decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such 
decisions and actions.

Applicants Response: Goal 2 establishes the underlining process that a county or a city needs to 
utilize when considering changes to their Comprehensive Plans and development codes. This 
application meets those requirements for this request.

Conclusion: Established land use planning processes and policy framework were used in this 
application. 

Goal 3 Agricultural Lands: To preserve and maintain agricultural lands.

Applicants Response: The Goal 3 requires counties to preserve and maintain agricultural lands 
for farm uses. Counties must inventory agricultural lands and protect them by adopting exclusive 
farm use zones consistent with Oregon Revised Statute 215.203 et. seq. 

Goal 3 does not allow nonfarm uses like industrial development on lands zoned for exclusive 
farm use unless a local government adopts findings to justify an exception to Goal 3 or 
accomplishes an expansion of their urban growth boundary. The necessary analysis for an urban 
growth boundary is set out and included in this application and discusses why this particular 
location can support a change in designation from Agricultural to Industrial and be included in 
the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary.

Conclusion: The necessary analysis for an urban growth boundary is set out and included in this 
application and discusses why this particular location can support a change in designation from 
Agricultural to Industrial and be included in the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary.

Goal 4 Forest Lands: To conserve forest lands by maintaining the forest land base and to protect 
the state’s forest economy by making possible economically efficient forest practices that assure 
the continuous growing and harvesting of forest tree species as the leading use on forest land 
consistent with sound management of soil, air, water, and fish and wildlife resources and to 
provide for recreational opportunities and agriculture.

Applicants Response: There are no forest lands in the City of Umatilla. The community is, 
however, a Tree City USA participant, encouraging tree planting to create an urban canopy of 
trees to provide the many benefits of an urban landscape that includes trees.

Conclusion: There is no forest land in or adjacent to the City of Umatilla. 

Goal 5 Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Natural Resources: To protect natural 
resources and conserve scenic and historic areas and open spaces.

Applicants Response: The subject property does not have any overlays or other known cultural 
or historical sites. As part of the site analysis earlier in this narrative there was an area that was 

163



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 37 of 40

eliminated from consideration because of the wetlands that are found there. There are no mapped 
wetlands on the subject property. 

Conclusion: The subject site has no inventoried or known features referenced in Goal 5.

Goal 6 Air, Water and Land Resources Quality: To maintain and improve the quality of the air, 
water and land resources of the state.

Applicants Response: Goal 6 addresses the quality of air, water and land resources. In the 
context of comprehensive plan amendments, a local government complies with Goal 6 by 
explaining why it is reasonable to expect that the proposed uses authorized by the plan 
amendment will be able to satisfy applicable federal and state environmental standards, including 
air and water quality standards.

The proposed plan amendments do not seek approval of a specific development but seek to apply 
the City of Umatilla’s Light Industrial zoning designation with a specific intent of creating large 
lot industrial opportunities to serve data centers, transport facilities and manufacturing 
opportunities. This action can improve air quality by better facilitating the movement of freight 
along Interstate 82 with connections to Interstate 84 to the south and Highway 730 to the north. 
Industrial uses at this location will increase impervious surface, although by no more than could 
have occurred at another location and are subject to environmental requirements imposed by the 
City of Umatilla and the State of Oregon. The use of construction techniques that include 
temporary and permanent Best Management Practices for erosion and sediment control and spill 
control and prevention also can achieve compliance with clean water standards.

Noise is defined as unwanted sound. The uses authorized by the requested plan amendments 
should not create noise that differs from the types of industrially-related noise that could be 
comparable to agricultural activities already in the area. The location of these uses in very close 
proximity to Interstate 82 will reduce overall noise impacts because highway generated noise 
muffles and obscures other noises located nearby. Open space and landscaping provisions will 
provide additional protection from noise that may be generated. 

Conclusion: As addressed above any negative impacts can be and will be required to be 
mitigated to the extent possible at time of proposed development. 

Goal 7 Areas Subject to Natural Hazards and Disasters: To protect people and property from 
natural hazards.

Applicants Response: Goal 7 works to address natural hazards and disasters and through a 
comprehensive plan amendment process would seek to determine if there are known natural 
hazards and seek to mitigate any concerns. There are no known natural hazards on the subject 
property, and it is located significantly above and outside the flood plain for both the Umatilla 
and Columbia Rivers.  

Conclusion: There are no known natural hazards on the subject property, and it is located 
significantly above and outside the flood plain for both the Umatilla and Columbia Rivers.  

Goal 8 Recreation Needs: To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and 

164



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 38 of 40

visitors and, where appropriate, to provide for the siting of necessary recreational facilities 
including destination resorts.

Applicants Response: No recreation components are included in this application. However as 
industrial activities are sited, an increase in tax base for the City of Umatilla would occur. That 
tax base would provide additional revenue to the City of Umatilla leading to the opportunity for 
increased investment in parks and recreation opportunities for its citizens and visitors.

Conclusion: The ability to meet Recreation needs will be increased in the City of Umatilla due 
to the potential increase of the tax base from future development on the subject site. 

Goal 9 Economy: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of 
economic activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens.

Applicants Response: Goal 9 requires local governments to adopt comprehensive plans and 
policies that contribute to a stable and healthy economy. Both Umatilla County and the City of 
Umatilla have comprehensive plans that have been acknowledged to comply with Goal 9. This 
application is based upon the findings of the October 2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis 
completed under Goal 9. The major finding of the Analysis was a need for additional large lot 
industrial land with a focus on data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing. Approving the 
urban growth boundary expansion would be consistent with Goal 9.

Conclusion: This application is based upon the findings of the October 2019 Economic 
Opportunities Analysis completed under Goal 9. The major finding of the Analysis was a need 
for additional large lot industrial land with a focus on data centers, warehousing and light 
manufacturing. Approving the urban growth boundary expansion would be consistent with Goal 
9.

Goal 10 Housing: To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state.

Applicants Response: Housing is not considered as part of this application. Based on the 2019 
Housing Strategies Report, adopted by the City of Umatilla as part of a Goal 10 update, there is 
an overabundance of land zoned for single family residential development. The associated 
application for a change in both Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designations from residential to 
industrial would not negatively impact the City of Umatilla’s needed inventory of residential 
lands. Please see the attached Housing Strategies Report, particularly the analysis on page 26, 
that outlines the over 2,100-unit capacity and over 1,000-acre overabundance of residentially 
zoned land. Removal of 380 acres would not impact the needed residential land supply in the 20-
year planning horizon.

Conclusion: Based on the 2019 Housing Strategies Report, adopted by the City of Umatilla as 
part of a Goal 10 update, there is an overabundance of land zoned for single family residential 
development. The Housing and Residential Land Need Assessment (HNA) found that the City 
currently has an 873 acres surplus of residential lands in our single-family residential zone. All 
of the land proposed to be rezoned(PA-3-20) is currently zoned single family residential and the 
City would retain a 550+ acres surplus in the single-family zone, and a 750+ acre surplus of 
residential lands in general. The needed inventory of residential lands will not be negatively 
affected by the approval of this application. 

165



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 39 of 40

Goal 11 Public Services: To plan and develop a timely, orderly and efficient arrangement of 
public facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development.

Applicants Response: Goal 11 requires local governments to plan and develop a timely, orderly 
and efficient arrangement of public facilities and services. The goal provides that urban and rural 
development be guided and supported by types and levels of services appropriate for, but limited 
to, the needs and requirements of the area to be served. Attached and discussed previously is the 
Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum which concludes that the subject area 
can be adequately served and includes initial cost estimates for consideration. 

Conclusion: The UTM addresses bringing public services to the Subject site and determines it to 
technically feasible. 

Goal 12 Transportation: To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic 
transportation system.

Applicants Response: Goal 12 requires local governments to provide and encourage a safe, 
convenient and economic transportation system, implemented through the Transportation 
Planning Rule. The included Traffic Impact Analysis evaluates the urban growth boundary 
expansion and related change in designation and zoning based upon the requirements in both the 
Umatilla County and City of Umatilla Transportation System Plans and Development Codes, 
meeting both local and state requirements. Please see the earlier analysis and discussion for 
specifics or refer to page 17 of the Traffic Impact Analysis for the summary and conclusions. 

Conclusion: As addressed by the TIA and findings in this report the peak PM trips will be 
decreased by this application. It is reasonable to believe that the subject site will not negatively 
impact the transportation system in a way that can not be addressed by the findings in the TIA.
Needed improvements will be addressed at the time of future development. 

Goal 13 Energy: To conserve energy.

Applicants Response: Goal 13 directs local jurisdictions to manage and control land and uses 
developed on the land to maximize the conservation of all forms of energy, based on sound 
economic principles. Access to Interstate 82 creates easy connections to Interstate 84, Highway 
730 and Highway 395. These connections provide energy efficiency and convenience as travel 
connections, for both trucks and workers, are easily accessed. It should also be noted that the 
proposed industrial area is also adjacent to a large and growing residential area with the ability 
for both pedestrian and bicycle connections creating additional energy conservation 
opportunities.

Conclusion: The applicants referenced energy conservation opportunities will improve energy 
conservation in the City of Umatilla. 

Goal 14 Urbanization: To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban 
land use, to accommodate urban population and urban employment inside urban growth 
boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, and to provide for livable communities.

166



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-2-20) Page 40 of 40

Applicants Response: Goal 14 prohibits urban uses on rural lands. To locate urban uses on rural 
lands, local governments must either expand their urban growth boundaries to add property or 
take a Goal 14 exception setting forth reasons why urban development should be allowed on 
rural lands. This application seeks to expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary to 
allow urban light industrial uses within the city limits. The earlier analysis is in support of an 
urban growth boundary expansion.

Conclusion: This application seeks to expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary to 
allow urban light industrial uses within City limits. The earlier analysis is in support of an urban 
growth boundary expansion.

IV. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION

The applicant, Cleaver Land LLC, is proposing to amend the City of Umatilla Comprehensive 
Plan. Evidence has been provided in the form of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, Umatilla 
Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum, and Traffic Impact Study to support this and the 
associated requests. These documents show a clear need for large lot industrial land and 
indicated that need can be met with city services and without impacts to the transportation 
system that cannot be mitigated. The request appears to meet all of the applicable criteria and 
standards for this type of request. Therefore, based on the information in Sections I and II of this 
report, and the above criteria, findings of fact and conclusions addressed in Section III, the staff 
recommends approval of Plan Amendment (PA-2-20).

VI. EXHIBITS

Exhibit A - Draft Map Change
Exhibit B - Economic Opportunity Analysis
Exhibit C - Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum
Exhibit D - Traffic Impact Study

167



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 1 of 36

Application to Amend the Umatilla County and City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan Designation or 
Map and Zoning Maps, effecting an expansion to the Urban Growth Boundary.

Applicant/Owner: Cleaver Land, LLC
78757 Westland Rd
Hermiston, OR 97838
541-571-7403
alancleaver@cbsag.com

Consultant: Carla McLane Consulting, LLC
170 Van Buren Drive
Umatilla, OR 97882
541-314-3139
mclane@eoni.com

Documents to be Modified:
 Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map with associated Comprehensive Plan text 

in support of the amendments. 
 City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map with associated Comprehensive Plan text 

in support of the amendments.

Intended Outcomes of Application Process:
The applicant is working with the City of Umatilla to achieve approval of three applications – an Urban 
Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion, an Annexation, and a Zone Change – with the desired outcome to 
have some 450 acres of available land planned and zoned for industrial use. The UGB expansion will add 
about 150 acres to the UGB; the Annexation will add those same acres within the City Limits; and the 
Zone Change will add about 450 acres to the industrial land supply. The proposed zoning designation of 
Light Industrial will support the types of uses – data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing –
outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis completed by Johnson Economics that indicates that 
the City of Umatilla is in need of large lot industrial parcels. On page 43 of the Economic Opportunities 
Analysis it states, “For industrial users, there is an estimated deficit of sites of some sizes. Most notably 
there is a deficit of suitable large industrial sites, and a deficit of small industrial sites.” This statement is 
expanded on pages 44 and 45 providing more definition to the needs. At the top of page 45 the report 
states, “Given the projected short-term growth, and prospective long-term growth in this industry, 
Johnson Economics estimates a need for at least two sites of 100+ acres meeting serviceability 
requirements for data center or large manufacturing users, and at least one additional site of 50+ 
acres.” This suite of applications seeks to add 450 acres to the industrial land inventory for the City of 
Umatilla, more than meeting this need with the ability to also meet future needs for smaller lot or 
clustered industrial development. This action does not negatively impact the land supply for residential 
development in the 20-year planning period based on the Housing Strategies Report completed by 
Johnson Economics (2018).

Current and Proposed Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map Designations:
 Current Umatilla County Designations:

Comprehensive Plan: North/South County Agricultural Region 
Zoning Map: Exclusive Farm Use

 Proposed City of Umatilla Designations:
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning: M-1 Light Industrial

168



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 2 of 36

Current Use of the Property:
Current use of the property is agricultural. Crops under circle pivot irrigation regularly in rotation are 
potatoes, onions, corn, and grass seed. Improvements to the property include circle pivot irrigation 
systems and a general use storage building. 

Surrounding Uses: The City of Umatilla urban growth boundary and city limits are to the north of the 
property, currently zoned for residential use with limited Neighborhood Commercial available along 
Powerline Road. To the east and south is Interstate 82, with the Powerline Road interchange south of 
the subject property less than one mile. There is a residence and potato storage facility just north of the 
interchange. To the west are agricultural lands supporting a variety of crop types grown on Circle pivot 
irrigated land in crop rotation. 

Required Review:
o Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) Chapter 660 Land Conservation and Development 

Department Division 24 Urban Growth Boundaries is applicable, clarifying the procedures and 
requirements of Goal 14 which governs a local government adoption or amendment of an urban 
growth boundary. This application will specifically review 660-024-0020 Adoption or 
Amendment of a UGB, 660-024-0065 Establishment of Study Area to Evaluate Land for Inclusion
in the UGB and 660-024-0067 Evaluation of Land in the Study Area for Inclusion in the UGB as 
the next steps to consider in the urban growth boundary expansion process. In support of the 
need for large lot industrial opportunities there is attached the City of Umatilla Economic 
Opportunities Analysis completed by Johnson Economics, dated October 2019. This Economic 
Opportunities Analysis review the necessary requirements under the applicable Oregon 
Administrative Rule. 

o Goal 12, the Transportation Planning Rule and portions of the Umatilla County Development 
Code are applicable to evaluate how the transportation system can support or determine 
needed improvements to support the proposed UGB expansion. There was recently a transfer of 
a portion of Powerline Road jurisdiction from Umatilla County to the City of Umatilla. For that 
reason, the transportation provisions in the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance are also included 
and evaluated for compliance. To accomplish this analysis there is attached a Traffic Impact 
Study completed by J-U-B Engineers dated May 2020. 

o This application also provides a general review of Goals 1 through 14. Goals 15 through 19 are 
not applicable.

o The provisions of the Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla County and the City of 
Umatilla is also applicable and reviewed as part of this application.

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0020 Adoption or Amendment of a UGB
identifies which Statewide Planning Goals and related administrative rules are applicable. The 
following are considered:
(1) All statewide goals and related administrative rules are applicable when establishing or amending a 
UGB, except as follows:

(a) The exceptions process in Goal 2 and OAR chapter 660, division 4, is not applicable unless a 
local government chooses to take an exception to a particular goal requirement, for example, as 
provided in OAR 660-004-0010(1);

169



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 3 of 36

Response: Based on the provisions outlined here no exceptions to any of the Statewide Planning Goals 
are necessary. Later analyzed are additional Division 24 requirements meeting current planning 
requirements for an urban growth boundary expansion.

(b) Goals 3 and 4 are not applicable;

Response: The applicant is relying on the Economic Opportunities Analysis (October 2019) which utilizes 
Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24. This allows for an application to expand the urban 
growth boundary without an exception to Goal 3 Agricultural Land. The land under consideration for this 
urban growth boundary expansion is zoned Exclusive Farm Use and is currently inventoried in Umatilla 
County as part of Goal 3 protected lands. This action would remove approximately 150 acres from that 
inventory, adding it to the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary and city limits (by way of the 
included annexation application if approved).

(c) Goal 5 and related rules under OAR chapter 660, division 23, apply only in areas added to the 
UGB, except as required under OAR 660-023-0070 and 660-023-0250;

Response: The applicant is not aware of or has identified any Goal 5 resources within the subject 
property for either the urban growth boundary expansion and associated annexation or within the area 
proposed to be zoned or rezoned to Light Industrial. 

(d) The transportation planning rule requirements under OAR 660-012-0060 need not be applied 
to a UGB amendment if the land added to the UGB is zoned as urbanizable land, either by 
retaining the zoning that was assigned prior to inclusion in the boundary or by assigning interim 
zoning that does not allow development that would generate more vehicle trips than 
development allowed by the zoning assigned prior to inclusion in the boundary;

Response: The included Traffic Impact Analysis finds that the conversion of the residential land to 
industrial actually creates a reduction in trips. For the land that is subject to the urban growth boundary 
expansion and annexation, approximately 150 acres, there would be an increase in traffic over current 
Exclusive Farm Use zoning. That increase is consumed by the change in zoning of nearly 300 acres with a 
decrease in total daily trips. Transportation impacts are further analyzed later in this narrative.

(e) Goal 15 is not applicable to land added to the UGB unless the land is within the Willamette 
River Greenway Boundary;

Response: The City of Umatilla is not within the Willamette River Greenway Boundary. Goal 15 is not 
considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

(f) Goals 16 to 18 are not applicable to land added to the UGB unless the land is within a coastal 
shorelands boundary;

Response: The City of Umatilla is not within a coastal shorelands boundary. Goals 16 through 18 are not 
considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

(g) Goal 19 is not applicable to a UGB amendment.

Response: Goal 19 is not considered here or elsewhere in this narrative.

170



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 4 of 36

(2) The UGB and amendments to the UGB must be shown on the city and county plan and zone maps at a 
scale sufficient to determine which particular lots or parcels are included in the UGB. Where a UGB does 
not follow lot or parcel lines, the map must provide sufficient information to determine the precise UGB 
location.

Response: Maps are included as part of the application package. The area subject to the urban growth 
boundary expansion (and related annexation) is the portion of Tax Lot 1400 of Assessor’s Map 5N28C 
that is outside of the current urban growth boundary and city limit line. Also included is Tax Lot 6601 of 
Assessor’s Map 5N28C. The acreage of the urban growth boundary expansion is approximately 150 
acres. The Powerline Road right-of-way is also included in the urban growth boundary expansion to 
facilitate the future transfer of the portion of the Road from Umatilla County to the City of Umatilla. 

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0065 Establishment of Study Area to 
Evaluate Land for Including in the UGB is a continuation of the work embodied in the included 
Economic Opportunities Analysis which determines a need for large lot industrial opportunities. As 
part of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, Johnson Economics evaluated Oregon Administrative 
Rule Chapter 660 Division 24 Section 0040 Land Need and Section 0050 Land Inventory and Response 
to Deficiency. Section 0065 is reviewed here: 

(1) When considering a UGB amendment to accommodate a need deficit identified in OAR 660-024-
0050(4), a city outside of Metro must determine which land to add to the UGB by evaluating alternative 
locations within a “study area” established pursuant to this rule. To establish the study area, the city 
must first identify a “preliminary study area” which shall not include land within a different UGB or the 
corporate limits of a city within a different UGB. The preliminary study area shall include:

(a) All lands in the city’s acknowledged urban reserve, if any;

Response: The City of Umatilla does not have an acknowledged urban reserve. This is not applicable.

(b) All lands that are within the following distance from the acknowledged UGB:
(A) For cities with a UGB population less than 10,000: one-half mile;
(B) For cities with a UGB population equal to or greater than 10,000: one mile;

(c) All exception areas contiguous to an exception area that includes land within the distance 
specified in subsection (b) and that are within the following distance from the acknowledged 
UGB:

(A) For cities with a UGB population less than 10,000: one mile;
(B) For cities with a UGB population equal to or greater than 10,000: one and one-half 
miles;

(d) At the discretion of the city, the preliminary study area may include land that is beyond the 
distance specified in subsections (b) and (c).

Response: Please see the maps included with this application package that identify potential lands to be 
considered which are within one-half mile of the current urban growth boundary and within one mile of 
any other exception areas. There are three alternative locations identified as well as the subject 
property identified for inclusion. The three alternative areas are 1) land to the east of the Port of 
Umatilla development and north of Highway 730 along the banks of the Columbia River (site 1), 2) land 
east and south of the Port of Umatilla and both north and south of Highway 730 (site 2), and 3) land to 
the south of the City of Umatilla between Highway 395 and Interstate 82 (site 3). The subject site is 
along Powerline Road to the south of the City of Umatilla. To the north of the City of Umatilla is the 
Columbia River and the State of Washington thereby restricting expansion and development.

171



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 5 of 36

(2) A city that initiated the evaluation or amendment of its UGB prior to January 1, 2016, may choose to 
identify a preliminary study area applying the standard in this section rather than section (1). For such 
cities, the preliminary study area shall consist of:

(a) All land adjacent to the acknowledged UGB, including all land in the vicinity of the UGB that 
has a reasonable potential to satisfy the identified need deficiency, and

(b) All land in the city’s acknowledged urban reserve established under OAR chapter 660, 
division 21, if applicable.

Response: It is after January 1, 2016, making this provision not available.

(3) When the primary purpose for expansion of the UGB is to accommodate a particular industrial use 
that requires specific site characteristics, or to accommodate a public facility that requires specific site 
characteristics, and the site characteristics may be found in only a small number of locations, the 
preliminary study area may be limited to those locations within the distance described in section (1) or 
(2), whichever is appropriate, that have or could be improved to provide the required site characteristics. 
For purposes of this section:

(a) The definition of “site characteristics” in OAR 660-009-0005(11) applies for purposes of 
identifying a particular industrial use.
(b) A “public facility” may include a facility necessary for public sewer, water, storm water, 
transportation, parks, schools, or fire protection. Site characteristics may include but are not 
limited to size, topography and proximity.

Response: This application is specifically designed to identify opportunities for large lot industrial 
development. While no specific industrial or public facility is identified, the Economic Opportunities 
Analysis calls out several industry clusters with this application focusing on data centers, light industrial 
manufacturing, and warehousing opportunities that require 50-100 acres or more than 100 acres. Based 
on this requirement, at least one of the alternative sites falls out of consideration as it does not have 
enough land to meet the total identified need – the site south of the City of Umatilla and west of 
Highway 395 (site 3). 

(4) The city may exclude land from the preliminary study area if it determines that:
(a) Based on the standards in section (7) of this rule, it is impracticable to provide necessary 
public facilities or services to the land;
(b) The land is subject to significant development hazards, due to a risk of:

(A) Landslides: The land consists of a landslide deposit or scarp flank that is described 
and mapped on the Statewide Landslide Information Database for Oregon (SLIDO) 
Release 3.2 Geodatabase published by the Oregon Department of Geology and Mineral 
Industries (DOGAMI) December 2014, provided that the deposit or scarp flank in the 
data source is mapped at a scale of 1:40,000 or finer. If the owner of a lot or parcel 
provides the city with a site-specific analysis by a certified engineering geologist 
demonstrating that development of the property would not be subject to significant 
landslide risk, the city may not exclude the lot or parcel under this paragraph;
(B) Flooding, including inundation during storm surges: the land is within the Special 
Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) identified on the applicable Flood Insurance Rate Map (FIRM);
(C) Tsunamis: the land is within a tsunami inundation zone established pursuant to ORS 
455.446;

(c) The land consists of a significant scenic, natural, cultural or recreational resource described in 
this subsection:

172



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 6 of 36

(A) Land that is designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan prior to initiation of 
the UGB amendment, or that is mapped on a published state or federal inventory at a 
scale sufficient to determine its location for purposes of this rule, as:

(i) Critical or essential habitat for a species listed by a state or federal agency as 
threatened or endangered;
(ii) Core habitat for Greater Sage Grouse; or
(iii) Big game migration corridors or winter range, except where located on lands 
designated as urban reserves or exception areas;

(B) Federal Wild and Scenic Rivers and State Scenic Waterways, including Related 
Adjacent Lands described by ORS 390.805, as mapped by the applicable state or federal 
agency responsible for the scenic program;
(C) Designated Natural Areas on the Oregon State Register of Natural Heritage 
Resources;
(D) Wellhead protection areas described under OAR 660-023-0140 and delineated on a 
local comprehensive plan;
(E) Aquatic areas subject to Statewide Planning Goal 16 that are in a Natural or 
Conservation management unit designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan;
(F) Lands subject to acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulations that 
implement Statewide Planning Goal 17, Coastal Shoreland, Use Requirement 1;
(G) Lands subject to acknowledged comprehensive plan or land use regulations that 
implement Statewide Planning Goal 18, Implementation Requirement 2;

(d) The land is owned by the federal government and managed primarily for rural uses.

Response: The alternative location east of the City of Umatilla lying both north and south of Highway 
730 (site 2) has significant wetlands with a portion specifically called out and protected within the 
Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan. Protection of wetlands and any required mitigation severely limit 
this site for development of large lot industrial activity, a primary objective of this application. 

The area east of the Port of Umatilla along the banks of the Columbia River (site 1) does have an 
adopted Goal 11 exception which could be seen as making this an ideal location for large lot expansion. 
Current ownership is the primary factor in removing it from consideration as it is currently owned or 
managed by the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, is not subject to local land use 
authority, and is not available for development. 

(5) After excluding land from the preliminary study area under section (4), the city must adjust the area, 
if necessary, so that it includes an amount of land that is at least twice the amount of land needed for 
the deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050(4) or, if applicable, twice the particular land need 
described in section (3). Such adjustment shall be made by expanding the distance specified under the 
applicable section (1) or (2) and applying section (4) to the expanded area.

Response: The balance of the study area, the proposed site (the approximate 150 acre urban growth 
boundary expansion), when combined with the other property that is part of the change in zoning 
request (approximately 300 acres), is more than to accommodate the identified need as stated in the 
Economic Opportunities Analysis. The need is identified to be 250+/- acres; the subject site is 
approximately 450+/- acres.

(6) For purposes of evaluating the priority of land under OAR 660-024-0067, the “study area” shall 
consist of all land that remains in the preliminary study area described in section (1), (2) or (3) of this rule
after adjustments to the area based on sections (4) and (5), provided that when a purpose of the UGB 

173



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 7 of 36

expansion is to accommodate a public park need, the city must also consider whether land excluded 
under subsection (4)(a) through (c) of this rule can reasonably accommodate the park use.

Response: Parks are not a part of this application.

(7) For purposes of subsection (4)(a), the city may consider it impracticable to provide necessary public 
facilities or services to the following lands:

(a) Contiguous areas of at least five acres where 75 percent or more of the land has a slope of 25 
percent or greater, provided that contiguous areas 20 acres or more that are less than 25 
percent slope may not be excluded under this subsection. Slope shall be measured as the 
increase in elevation divided by the horizontal distance at maximum ten-foot contour intervals;
(b) Land that is isolated from existing service networks by physical, topographic, or other 
impediments to service provision such that it is impracticable to provide necessary facilities or 
services to the land within the planning period. The city’s determination shall be based on an 
evaluation of:

(A) The likely amount of development that could occur on the land within the planning 
period;
(B) The likely cost of facilities and services; and,
(C) Any substantial evidence collected by or presented to the city regarding how similarly 
situated land in the region has, or has not, developed over time.

(c) As used in this section, “impediments to service provision” may include but are not limited to:
(A) Major rivers or other water bodies that would require new bridge crossings to serve 
planned urban development;
(B) Topographic features such as canyons or ridges with slopes exceeding 40 percent and 
vertical relief of greater than 80 feet;
(C) Freeways, rail lines, or other restricted access corridors that would require new grade 
separated crossings to serve planned urban development;
(D) Significant scenic, natural, cultural or recreational resources on an acknowledged 
plan inventory and subject to protection measures under the plan or implementing 
regulations, or on a published state or federal inventory, that would prohibit or 
substantially impede the placement or construction of necessary public facilities and 
services.

Response: The City of Umatilla had J-U-B Engineers complete a Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical 
Memorandum (dated March 2020) which states that the subject property, including the area that would 
be subject to the change in zoning, can be served with water, wastewater and industrial wastewater. 
While there is slope on the subject property it is limited to the eastern edge, sloping down to Interstate 
82. Most of the property, particularly the frontage along Powerline Road, is reasonably flat.

(8) Land may not be excluded from the preliminary study area based on a finding of impracticability that 
is primarily a result of existing development patterns. However, a city may forecast development 
capacity for such land as provided in OAR 660-024-0067(1)(d).

Response: Current development patterns were not a consideration in the application process. The three 
alternative sites are currently bare. Development east of Umatilla consists of the Port of Umatilla, 
agricultural activities, and land maintained for habitat values. The alternative site south of Umatilla is 
surrounded by small parcels developed primarily for rural residential development. 

174



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 8 of 36

(9) Notwithstanding OAR 660-024-0050(4) and section (1) of this rule, except during periodic review or 
other legislative review of the UGB, the city may approve an application under ORS 197.610 to 197.625 
for a UGB amendment to add an amount of land less than necessary to satisfy the land need deficiency 
determined under OAR 660-024-0050(4), provided the amendment complies with all other applicable 
requirements.

Response: This application is not a part of the City of Umatilla’s periodic review nor is it part of a 
legislative review of the urban growth boundary. It is submitted to meet a specific need of large lot 
industrial land as outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis that is included as part of the 
application. The amount of land included in the urban growth boundary expansion (150+/- acres), when 
coupled with the land in the associated change of zoning request (300+/-), meets the stated need for 
large lot industrial land within the Economic Opportunities Analysis. 

Oregon Administrative Rule 660 Division 24 Section 0067 Evaluation of Land in the Study Area for 
Inclusion in the UGB continues this analysis.

(1) A city considering a UGB amendment must decide which land to add to the UGB by evaluating all land 
in the study area determined under OAR 660-024-0065, as follows

(a) Beginning with the highest priority category of land described in section (2), the city must 
apply section (5) to determine which land in that priority category is suitable to satisfy the need 
deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050 and select for inclusion in the UGB as much of 
the land as necessary to satisfy the need.
(b) If the amount of suitable land in the first priority category is not sufficient to satisfy all the 
identified need deficiency, the city must apply section (5) to determine which land in the next 
priority is suitable and select for inclusion in the UGB as much of the suitable land in that priority 
as necessary to satisfy the need. The city must proceed in this manner until all the land need is 
satisfied, except as provided in OAR 660-024-0065(9).
(c) If the amount of suitable land in a particular priority category in section (2) exceeds the 
amount necessary to satisfy the need deficiency, the city must choose which land in that priority 
to include in the UGB by applying the criteria in section (7) of this rule.
(d) In evaluating the sufficiency of land to satisfy a need under this section, the city may use the 
factors identified in sections (5) and (6) of this rule to reduce the forecast development capacity 
of the land to meet the need.
(e) Land that is determined to not be suitable under section (5) of this rule to satisfy the need 
deficiency determined under OAR 660-024-0050 is not required to be selected for inclusion in the
UGB unless its inclusion is necessary to serve other higher priority lands.

Response: This application is focused on an urban growth boundary amendment for large lot industrial 
development. This need was identified in the attached Economic Opportunities Analysis completed for 
the City of Umatilla in October 2019. The requirements of OAR 660-024-0065 are addressed above. The 
alternative sites identified in the section above where shown to have limitations removing them from 
consideration. The subject site meets the identified need for 250+ acres of large lot industrial land as 
outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis. The subject property for inclusion and rezoning totals 
450+/- acres.

(2) Priority of Land for inclusion in a UGB:
(a) First Priority is urban reserve, exception land, and nonresource land. Lands in the study area 
that meet the description in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection are of equal (first) 
priority:

175



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 9 of 36

(A) Land designated as an urban reserve under OAR chapter 660, division 21, in an 
acknowledged comprehensive plan;
(B) Land that is subject to an acknowledged exception under ORS 197.732; and
(C) Land that is nonresource land.

Response: The City of Umatilla does not have any urban reserves; no lands with an acknowledged 
exception are available (the parcel with the Goal 11 exception is owned or managed by the 
Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation, is not subject to local land use authority, and is 
not available for development to meet current needs); and no other nonresource land has been 
identified as being available or of sufficient size to meet the identified need.

(b) Second Priority is marginal land: land within the study area that is designated as marginal 
land under ORS 197.247 (1991 Edition) in the acknowledged comprehensive plan.

Response: There are no designated marginal lands within Umatilla County.

(c) Third Priority is forest or farm land that is not predominantly high-value farm land: land 
within the study area that is designated for forest or agriculture uses in the acknowledged 
comprehensive plan and that is not predominantly high-value farmland as defined in ORS 
195.300, or that does not consist predominantly of prime or unique soils, as determined by the 
United States Department of Agriculture Natural Resources Conservation Service (USDA NRCS). 
In selecting which lands to include to satisfy the need, the city must use the agricultural land 
capability classification system or the cubic foot site class system, as appropriate for the 
acknowledged comprehensive plan designation, to select lower capability or cubic foot site class 
lands first.

Response: There are no Goal 4 or Forest Lands adjacent to the City of Umatilla. Already excluded are 
areas with wetlands and an area not of sufficient size to accommodate the need. The subject area is 
comprised of Class VIIe Soils if not irrigated. Specifically, the soils are Burbank loamy find sand with 0 to 
5 percent slopes for the area to the west and Quincy loamy find sand with 5 to 25 percent slopes for the 
area to the east. The lands are not considered prime or unique.

(d) Fourth Priority is agricultural land that is predominantly high-value farmland: land within the 
study area that is designated as agricultural land in an acknowledged comprehensive plan and is 
predominantly high-value farmland as defined in ORS 195.300. A city may not select land that is 
predominantly made up of prime or unique farm soils, as defined by the USDA NRCS, unless there 
is an insufficient amount of other land to satisfy its land need. In selecting which lands to include 
to satisfy the need, the city must use the agricultural land capability classification system to 
select lower capability lands first.

Response: The land is not identified as high-value farmland, nor is it prime or unique. The approximate 
150 acres identified for inclusion within the urban growth boundary is currently farmed with only about
half under pivot irrigation. The balance is scrub land, unavailable based on the shape of the ownership 
and layout options for pivot irrigation. The most easterly portion of the property slopes down to 
Interstate 82.

(3) Notwithstanding section (2)(c) or (d) of this rule, land that would otherwise be excluded from a UGB 
may be included if:

176



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 10 of 36

(a) The land contains a small amount of third or fourth priority land that is not important to the 
commercial agricultural enterprise in the area and the land must be included in the UGB to 
connect a nearby and significantly larger area of land of higher priority for inclusion within the 
UGB; or
(b) The land contains a small amount of third or fourth priority land that is not predominantly 
high-value farmland or predominantly made up of prime or unique farm soils and the land is 
completely surrounded by land of higher priority for inclusion into the UGB.

Response: This action does not seek to connect an area nor is it surrounded by land of higher priority. 
This action seeks to add approximately 150 acres to the urban growth boundary of which about half is 
under circle pivot irrigation, the balance scrub land not available for irrigation based on the shape and 
layout of the ownership. None of the land is prime or unique.

(4) For purposes of categorizing and evaluating land pursuant to subsections (2)(c) and (d) and section 
(3) of this rule,

(a) Areas of land not larger than 100 acres may be grouped together and studied as a single unit 
of land;
(b) Areas of land larger than 100 acres that are similarly situated and have similar soils may be 
grouped together provided soils of lower agricultural or forest capability may not be grouped 
with soils of higher capability in a manner inconsistent with the intent of section (2) of this rule, 
which requires that higher capability resource lands shall be the last priority for inclusion in a 
UGB;
(c) Notwithstanding subsection (4)(a), if a city initiated the evaluation or amendment of its UGB 
prior to January 1, 2016, and if the analysis involves more than one lot or parcel or area within a 
particular priority category for which circumstances are reasonably similar, these lots, parcels 
and areas may be considered and evaluated as a single group;
(d) When determining whether the land is predominantly high-value farmland, or predominantly 
prime or unique, “predominantly” means more than 50 percent.

Response: The land is not identified as high-value farmland, nor is it prime or unique. This action seeks 
to add approximately 150 acres to the urban growth boundary of which about half is under circle pivot 
irrigation, the balance scrub land not available for irrigation based on the shape and layout of the 
ownership.

(5) With respect to section (1), a city must assume that vacant or partially vacant land in a particular 
priority category is “suitable” to satisfy a need deficiency identified in OAR 660-024-0050(4) unless it 
demonstrates that the land cannot satisfy the specified need based on one or more of the conditions 
described in subsections (a) through (g) of this section: 

(a) Existing parcelization, lot sizes or development patterns of rural residential land make that 
land unsuitable for an identified employment need; as follows:

(A) Parcelization: the land consists primarily of parcels 2-acres or less in size, or
(B) Existing development patterns: the land cannot be reasonably redeveloped or infilled 
within the planning period due to the location of existing structures and infrastructure.

(b) The land would qualify for exclusion from the preliminary study area under the factors in OAR 
660-024-0065(4) but the city declined to exclude it pending more detailed analysis.
(c) The land is, or will be upon inclusion in the UGB, subject to natural resources protections 
under Statewide Planning Goal 5 such that that no development capacity should be forecast on 
that land to meet the land need deficiency.

177



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 11 of 36

(d) With respect to needed industrial uses only, the land is over 10 percent slope, or is an existing 
lot or parcel that is smaller than 5 acres in size, or both. Slope shall be measured as the increase 
in elevation divided by the horizontal distance at maximum ten-foot contour intervals.
(e) With respect to a particular industrial use or particular public facility use described in OAR 
660-024-0065(3), the land does not have, and cannot be improved to provide, one or more of the 
required specific site characteristics.
(f) The land is subject to a conservation easement described in ORS 271.715 that prohibits urban 
development.
(g) The land is committed to a use described in this subsection and the use is unlikely to be 
discontinued during the planning period:

(A) Public park, church, school, or cemetery, or
(B) Land within the boundary of an airport designated for airport uses, but not including 
land designated or zoned for residential, commercial or industrial uses in an 
acknowledged comprehensive plan.

Response: None of the alternative sites have been parcelized. The alternative site east of the City of 
Umatilla lying both north and south of Highway 730 (site 2) has significant wetlands, some identified 
within the Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan, that would be subject to development restrictions 
limiting opportunities for large lot industrial development. The alternative site south of the City of 
Umatilla and west of Highway 395 (site 3) is about 160 acres, long and narrow, which could limit large 
lot development and not of sufficient size to fulfill the need as identified within the Economic 
Opportunities Analysis. The subject site is of a size and shape to meet the needs as outlined in the 
Economic Opportunities Analysis. 

(6) For vacant or partially vacant lands added to the UGB to provide for residential uses:
(a) Existing lots or parcels one acre or less may be assumed to have a development capacity of 
one dwelling unit per lot or parcel. Existing lots or parcels greater than one acre but less than 
two acres shall be assumed to have an aggregate development capacity of two dwelling units 
per acre.
(b) In any subsequent review of a UGB pursuant to this division, the city may use a development 
assumption for land described in subsection (a) of this section for a period of up to 14 years from 
the date the lands were added to the UGB.

Response: This is not applicable as the intent is to create opportunities for large lot industrial uses.

(7) Pursuant to subsection (1)(c), if the amount of suitable land in a particular priority category under 
section (2) exceeds the amount necessary to satisfy the need deficiency, the city must choose which land 
in that priority to include in the UGB by first applying the boundary location factors of Goal 14 and then 
applying applicable criteria in the acknowledged comprehensive plan and land use regulations 
acknowledged prior to initiation of the UGB evaluation or amendment. The city may not apply local 
comprehensive plan criteria that contradict the requirements of the boundary location factors of Goal 
14. The boundary location factors are not independent criteria; when the factors are applied to compare 
alternative boundary locations and to determine the UGB location the city must show that it considered 
and balanced all the factors. The criteria in this section may not be used to select lands designated for 
agriculture or forest use that have higher land capability or cubic foot site class, as applicable, ahead of 
lands that have lower capability or cubic foot site class.

178



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 12 of 36

Response: No forest lands are being considered. The land classification of the subject area is Class VIIe, 
not high-value, prime or unique. The applicant would assert that the subject site balances the need for 
industrial land against other land needs. 

(8) The city must apply the boundary location factors of Goal 14 in coordination with service providers 
and state agencies, including the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) with respect to Factor 2 
regarding impacts on the state transportation system, and the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife 
(ODFW) and the Department of State Lands (DSL) with respect to Factor 3 regarding environmental 
consequences. “Coordination” includes timely notice to agencies and service providers and consideration 
of any recommended evaluation methodologies.

Response: The Oregon Department of Transportation was contacted early in the application process. 
The applicant anticipates that both the Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife and Department of 
State Lands will be provided notice of the required public hearings to consider this application. The 
Department of Land Conservation and Development has been involved through pre-application contact 
and meetings. 

(9) In applying Goal 14 Boundary Location Factor 2 to evaluate alternative locations under section (7), 
the city must compare relative costs, advantages and disadvantages of alternative UGB expansion areas 
with respect to the provision of public facilities and services needed to urbanize alternative boundary 
locations. For purposes of this section, the term “public facilities and services” means water, sanitary 
sewer, storm water management, and transportation facilities. The evaluation and comparison under 
Boundary Location Factor 2 must consider:

(a) The impacts to existing water, sanitary sewer, storm water and transportation facilities that 
serve nearby areas already inside the UGB;
(b) The capacity of existing public facilities and services to serve areas already inside the UGB as 
well as areas proposed for addition to the UGB; and
(c) The need for new transportation facilities, such as highways and other roadways, 
interchanges, arterials and collectors, additional travel lanes, other major improvements on 
existing roadways and, for urban areas of 25,000 or more, the provision of public transit service.

Response: An Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum was completed for the subject 
area concluding that public services can be reasonably provided. That memorandum evaluated water, 
wastewater, industrial process water, and the option of irrigation water. Also evaluated was how a 
connection to the Umatilla Army Depot reuse areas could create efficiencies and synergies. No other 
area was evaluated as they were eliminated from consideration for the reasons discussed above.

(10) The adopted findings for UGB amendment must describe or map all of the alternative areas 
evaluated in the boundary location alternatives analysis.

Response: Please see the included Study Area map.

Oregon Administrative Rule Chapter 660 Division 12 Section 0060 governs Plan and Land Use 
Regulation Amendments.

(1) If an amendment to a functional plan, an acknowledged comprehensive plan, or a land use regulation 
(including a zoning map) would significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility, then the 
local government must put in place measures as provided in section (2) of this rule, unless the 

179



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 13 of 36

amendment is allowed under section (3), (9) or (10) of this rule. A plan or land use regulation 
amendment significantly affects a transportation facility if it would:

(a) Change the functional classification of an existing or planned transportation facility (exclusive 
of correction of map errors in an adopted plan);
(b) Change standards implementing a functional classification system; or
(c) Result in any of the effects listed in paragraphs (A) through (C) of this subsection based on 
projected conditions measured at the end of the planning period identified in the adopted TSP. 
As part of evaluating projected conditions, the amount of traffic projected to be generated 
within the area of the amendment may be reduced if the amendment includes an enforceable, 
ongoing requirement that would demonstrably limit traffic generation, including, but not limited 
to, transportation demand management. This reduction may diminish or completely eliminate 
the significant effect of the amendment.

(A) Types or levels of travel or access that are inconsistent with the functional 
classification of an existing or planned transportation facility;
(B) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility such that it 
would not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or comprehensive plan; 
or
(C) Degrade the performance of an existing or planned transportation facility that is 
otherwise projected to not meet the performance standards identified in the TSP or 
comprehensive plan.

Response: As part of the application process the City of Umatilla accomplished a Traffic Impact Analysis
(TIA), completed by J-U-B Engineers and dated May 2020. The TIA comes to several conclusions, 
summarized on page 17 of the Analysis, concerning the function of Powerline Road as well as its 
connection to both Interstate 82 and Highway 730. The effect of the urban growth boundary expansion 
and annexation, when coupled with the change in zoning, results in a net reduction in daily traffic 
including the pm peak hour (this is further discussed on page 7 of the TIA). The analysis does conclude
there will be impacts to intersections at the Interstate 82 Interchange and the intersection with Highway 
730. For this particular criterion the applicant would assert that the TIA provides evidence that 
Powerline Road along the frontage of the subject property does not require a change in functional 
classification or the standards to implement the functional classification, and in fact results in a lower 
pm peak hour by nearly 800 trips in 2040.

(2) If a local government determines that there would be a significant effect, then the local government 
must ensure that allowed land uses are consistent with the identified function, capacity, and 
performance standards of the facility measured at the end of the planning period identified in the 
adopted TSP through one or a combination of the remedies listed in (a) through (e) below, unless the 
amendment meets the balancing test in subsection (2)(e) of this section or qualifies for partial mitigation 
in section (11) of this rule. A local government using subsection (2)(e), section (3), section (10) or section 
(11) to approve an amendment recognizes that additional motor vehicle traffic congestion may result 
and that other facility providers would not be expected to provide additional capacity for motor vehicles 
in response to this congestion.

(a) Adopting measures that demonstrate allowed land uses are consistent with the planned 
function, capacity, and performance standards of the transportation facility.
(b) Amending the TSP or comprehensive plan to provide transportation facilities, improvements 
or services adequate to support the proposed land uses consistent with the requirements of this 
division; such amendments shall include a funding plan or mechanism consistent with section (4) 
or include an amendment to the transportation finance plan so that the facility, improvement, or 
service will be provided by the end of the planning period.

180



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 14 of 36

(c) Amending the TSP to modify the planned function, capacity or performance standards of the 
transportation facility.
(d) Providing other measures as a condition of development or through a development 
agreement or similar funding method, including, but not limited to, transportation system 
management measures or minor transportation improvements. Local governments shall, as part 
of the amendment, specify when measures or improvements provided pursuant to this 
subsection will be provided.
(e) Providing improvements that would benefit modes other than the significantly affected 
mode, improvements to facilities other than the significantly affected facility, or improvements 
at other locations, if:

(A) The provider of the significantly affected facility provides a written statement that 
the system-wide benefits are sufficient to balance the significant effect, even though the 
improvements would not result in consistency for all performance standards;
(B) The providers of facilities being improved at other locations provide written 
statements of approval; and
(C) The local jurisdictions where facilities are being improved provide written statements 
of approval.

Response: The TIA identifies that the function along Powerline Road could be improved based on this 
action. The intersections with both Interstate 82 and Highway 730 do not fair as well and will need 
improvements particularly when combined with the assumed background growth along Powerline Road.
Specifically the TIA calls for signalization or a round-about at the Powerline Road and Highway 730 
intersection stating that, “The traffic signal would likely be required at about 10 years of background 
growth and 50% of the site generated trips if the low cost improvements described above were 
implemented.”

The TIA also call for work at the Interstate 82 Interchange as follows, “A southbound right turn at the 
southbound I-82 ramps will be needed at approximately 80% of the background growth and 80% of the 
industrial development. A southbound left turn will be needed at the I-82 northbound ramps at 
approximately 33% of the background growth and 33% of the industrial development.”

The applicant would assert that the TIA provides evidence that the proposed urban growth boundary 
expansion and annexation along with the change in zoning would not significantly impact the identified 
function, capacity, and performance of Powerline Road. There will be impacts to the intersections with 
both Interstate 82 and Highway 730 at a future point in time based on both background growth and 
development of the proposed industrial area. The applicant expects to work with the City and other 
transportation providers to assure that necessary projects are identified for inclusion in the City and 
County Transportation System Plans. Funding for those projects could be secured through system 
development charges on industrial projects on the subject site. 

(3) Notwithstanding sections (1) and (2) of this rule, a local government may approve an amendment 
that would significantly affect an existing transportation facility without assuring that the allowed land 
uses are consistent with the function, capacity and performance standards of the facility where:

(a) In the absence of the amendment, planned transportation facilities, improvements and 
services as set forth in section (4) of this rule would not be adequate to achieve consistency with 
the identified function, capacity or performance standard for that facility by the end of the 
planning period identified in the adopted TSP;
(b) Development resulting from the amendment will, at a minimum, mitigate the impacts of the 
amendment in a manner that avoids further degradation to the performance of the facility by 

181



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 15 of 36

the time of the development through one or a combination of transportation improvements or 
measures;
(c) The amendment does not involve property located in an interchange area as defined in 
paragraph (4)(d)(C); and
(d) For affected state highways, ODOT provides a written statement that the proposed funding 
and timing for the identified mitigation improvements or measures are, at a minimum, sufficient 
to avoid further degradation to the performance of the affected state highway. However, if a 
local government provides the appropriate ODOT regional office with written notice of a 
proposed amendment in a manner that provides ODOT reasonable opportunity to submit a 
written statement into the record of the local government proceeding, and ODOT does not 
provide a written statement, then the local government may proceed with applying subsections 
(a) through (c) of this section.

Response: The portion of Powerline Road that fronts the subject property is a paved county road, is not 
a state highway, nor is it within an interchange area or within an area with an adopted Interchange Area 
Management Plan. Based on the TIA the applicant would assert that Powerline Road is not significantly 
impacted by the urban growth boundary expansion and annexation, with the change in zoning providing 
a lower pm peak hour improving the function of Powerline Road. The applicant does acknowledge the 
future impacts to the intersections of Powerline Road with both Interestate-82 and Highway 730. 

(4) Determinations under sections (1)–(3) of this rule shall be coordinated with affected transportation 
facility and service providers and other affected local governments.

(a) In determining whether an amendment has a significant effect on an existing or planned 
transportation facility under subsection (1)(c) of this rule, local governments shall rely on existing 
transportation facilities and services and on the planned transportation facilities, improvements 
and services set forth in subsections (b) and (c) below.
(b) Outside of interstate interchange areas, the following are considered planned facilities, 
improvements and services:

(A) Transportation facilities, improvements or services that are funded for construction 
or implementation in the Statewide Transportation Improvement Program or a locally or 
regionally adopted transportation improvement program or capital improvement plan or 
program of a transportation service provider.
(B) Transportation facilities, improvements or services that are authorized in a local 
transportation system plan and for which a funding plan or mechanism is in place or 
approved. These include, but are not limited to, transportation facilities, improvements 
or services for which: transportation systems development charge revenues are being 
collected; a local improvement district or reimbursement district has been established or 
will be established prior to development; a development agreement has been adopted; 
or conditions of approval to fund the improvement have been adopted.
(C) Transportation facilities, improvements or services in a metropolitan planning 
organization (MPO) area that are part of the area's federally-approved, financially 
constrained regional transportation system plan.
(D) Improvements to state highways that are included as planned improvements in a 
regional or local transportation system plan or comprehensive plan when ODOT provides 
a written statement that the improvements are reasonably likely to be provided by the 
end of the planning period.
(E) Improvements to regional and local roads, streets or other transportation facilities or 
services that are included as planned improvements in a regional or local transportation 
system plan or comprehensive plan when the local government(s) or transportation 

182



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 16 of 36

service provider(s) responsible for the facility, improvement or service provides a written 
statement that the facility, improvement or service is reasonably likely to be provided by 
the end of the planning period.

(c) Within interstate interchange areas, the improvements included in (b)(A)–(C) are considered 
planned facilities, improvements and services, except where:

(A) ODOT provides a written statement that the proposed funding and timing of 
mitigation measures are sufficient to avoid a significant adverse impact on the Interstate 
Highway system, then local governments may also rely on the improvements identified 
in paragraphs (b)(D) and (E) of this section; or
(B) There is an adopted interchange area management plan, then local governments 
may also rely on the improvements identified in that plan and which are also identified in 
paragraphs (b)(D) and (E) of this section.

(d) As used in this section and section (3):
(A) Planned interchange means new interchanges and relocation of existing 
interchanges that are authorized in an adopted transportation system plan or 
comprehensive plan;
(B) Interstate highway means Interstates 5, 82, 84, 105, 205 and 405; and
(C) Interstate interchange area means:

(i) Property within one-quarter mile of the ramp terminal intersection of an 
existing or planned interchange on an Interstate Highway; or
(ii) The interchange area as defined in the Interchange Area Management Plan 
adopted as an amendment to the Oregon Highway Plan.

(e) For purposes of this section, a written statement provided pursuant to paragraphs (b)(D), 
(b)(E) or (c)(A) provided by ODOT, a local government or transportation facility provider, as 
appropriate, shall be conclusive in determining whether a transportation facility, improvement 
or service is a planned transportation facility, improvement or service. In the absence of a 
written statement, a local government can only rely upon planned transportation facilities, 
improvements and services identified in paragraphs (b)(A)–(C) to determine whether there is a 
significant effect that requires application of the remedies in section (2).

Response: The subject area proposed for inclusion within the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary
and city limits, and the larger project area proposed for a change in Zoning to Light Industrial, are 
located north approximately one-half mile of the Powerline Road interchange on Interstate 82. There is 
no adopted Interchange Area Management Plan and no corresponding interchange area that has been 
applied.

The portion of Powerline Road fronting the subject property is a Umatilla County paved road. Based on 
the Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla a portion of 
Powerline Road has been transferred from the County to the City. Both Umatilla County and City of 
Umatilla transportation standards are discussed more fully later in this narrative.

The applicant asserts that the TIA provides evidence that the impacts to Powerline Road are an 
improvement to the pm peak hour. The applicant also asserts that the proposed changes are at least 
one-half mile from the Interstate-82 Interchange.

(5) The presence of a transportation facility or improvement shall not be a basis for an exception to allow 
residential, commercial, institutional or industrial development on rural lands under this division or OAR 
660-004-0022 and 660-004-0028.

183



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 17 of 36

Response: This is not an application to allow industrial development on rural lands, but an application
package seeking an expansion of the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary and annexation along with 
an associated application requesting a change in Zoning to Light Industrial. While the Powerline Road 
Interchange on Interstate 82 is a beneficial transportation improvement, it is not the sole or primary 
reason for these applications. 

(6) In determining whether proposed land uses would affect or be consistent with planned transportation 
facilities as provided in sections (1) and (2), local governments shall give full credit for potential reduction 
in vehicle trips for uses located in mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly centers, and neighborhoods as provided 
in subsections (a)–(d) below;

(a) Absent adopted local standards or detailed information about the vehicle trip reduction 
benefits of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development, local governments shall assume that 
uses located within a mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly center, or neighborhood, will generate 10% 
fewer daily and peak hour trips than are specified in available published estimates, such as those 
provided by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual that do not 
specifically account for the effects of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development. The 10% 
reduction allowed for by this section shall be available only if uses which rely solely on auto trips, 
such as gas stations, car washes, storage facilities, and motels are prohibited;
(b) Local governments shall use detailed or local information about the trip reduction benefits of 
mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development where such information is available and presented 
to the local government. Local governments may, based on such information, allow reductions 
greater than the 10% reduction required in subsection (a) above;
(c) Where a local government assumes or estimates lower vehicle trip generation as provided in 
subsection (a) or (b) above, it shall assure through conditions of approval, site plans, or approval 
standards that subsequent development approvals support the development of a mixed-use, 
pedestrian-friendly center or neighborhood and provide for on-site bike and pedestrian 
connectivity and access to transit as provided for in OAR 660-012-0045(3) and (4). The provision 
of on-site bike and pedestrian connectivity and access to transit may be accomplished through 
application of acknowledged ordinance provisions which comply with 660-012-0045(3) and (4) or 
through conditions of approval or findings adopted with the plan amendment that assure 
compliance with these rule requirements at the time of development approval; and
(d) The purpose of this section is to provide an incentive for the designation and implementation 
of pedestrian-friendly, mixed-use centers and neighborhoods by lowering the regulatory barriers 
to plan amendments which accomplish this type of development. The actual trip reduction 
benefits of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development will vary from case to case and may be 
somewhat higher or lower than presumed pursuant to subsection (a) above. The Commission 
concludes that this assumption is warranted given general information about the expected 
effects of mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly development and its intent to encourage changes to 
plans and development patterns. Nothing in this section is intended to affect the application of 
provisions in local plans or ordinances which provide for the calculation or assessment of systems 
development charges or in preparing conformity determinations required under the federal 
Clean Air Act.

Response: The proposed uses are industrial in nature – data centers, light manufacturing and 
warehousing – with traffic impacts addressed in the Traffic Impact Study for these activities. The growth 
of residential activity to the north of the subject property does include development of sidewalks and 
bicycle facilities along Powerline Road that could be connected to the proposed industrial area, creating 
a pedestrian and bicycle connection to the commercial and downtown area of the City of Umatilla. It is 
not known what the potential is for workers within the industrial area to either walk or bicycle to work, 

184



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 18 of 36

but that potential does exist and should be acknowledged. The proposed development can be 
connected to Powerline Road and the trail network that has been adopted by the City of Umatilla. 

(7) Amendments to acknowledged comprehensive plans and land use regulations which meet all of the 
criteria listed in subsections (a)–(c) below shall include an amendment to the comprehensive plan, 
transportation system plan, the adoption of a local street plan, access management plan, future street 
plan or other binding local transportation plan to provide for on-site alignment of streets or accessways 
with existing and planned arterial, collector, and local streets surrounding the site as necessary to 
implement the requirements in OAR 660-012-0020(2)(b) and 660-012-0045(3):

(a) The plan or land use regulation amendment results in designation of two or more acres of 
land for commercial use;
(b) The local government has not adopted a TSP or local street plan which complies with OAR 
660-012-0020(2)(b) or, in the Portland Metropolitan Area, has not complied with Metro's 
requirement for street connectivity as contained in Title 6, Section 3 of the Urban Growth 
Management Functional Plan; and
(c) The proposed amendment would significantly affect a transportation facility as provided in 
section (1).

Response: This request is proposed to result in land designated Light Industrial, the City of Umatilla has 
an adopted Transportation System Plan and the Traffic Impact Study determined that there is a 
reduction in pm peak hour traffic. The applicant asserts that this criterion would not be applicable to 
this action. 

(8) A "mixed-use, pedestrian-friendly center or neighborhood" for the purposes of this rule, means:
(a) Any one of the following:

(A) An existing central business district or downtown;
(B) An area designated as a central city, regional center, town center or main street in 
the Portland Metro 2040 Regional Growth Concept;
(C) An area designated in an acknowledged comprehensive plan as a transit oriented 
development or a pedestrian district; or
(D) An area designated as a special transportation area as provided for in the Oregon 
Highway Plan.

(b) An area other than those listed in subsection (a) above which includes or is planned to include 
the following characteristics:

(A) A concentration of a variety of land uses in a well-defined area, including the 
following:

(i) Medium to high density residential development (12 or more units per acre);
(ii) Offices or office buildings;
(iii) Retail stores and services;
(iv) Restaurants; and
(v) Public open space or private open space which is available for public use, 
such as a park or plaza.

(B) Generally include civic or cultural uses;
(C) A core commercial area where multi-story buildings are permitted;
(D) Buildings and building entrances oriented to streets;
(E) Street connections and crossings that make the center safe and conveniently 
accessible from adjacent areas;
(F) A network of streets and, where appropriate, accessways and major driveways that 
make it attractive and highly convenient for people to walk between uses within the 

185



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 19 of 36

center or neighborhood, including streets and major driveways within the center with 
wide sidewalks and other features, including pedestrian-oriented street crossings, street 
trees, pedestrian-scale lighting and on-street parking;
(G) One or more transit stops (in urban areas with fixed route transit service); and
(H) Limit or do not allow low-intensity or land extensive uses, such as most industrial 
uses, automobile sales and services, and drive-through services.

Response: This proposal, if approved, will result in an industrial area Zoned Light Industrial. It is not 
proposed as a mixed-use area but could connect to the sidewalk or bicycle paths that are being 
incorporated along Powerline Road as the residential areas develop. As discussed above connections to 
the adopted pedestrian and bicycle network can be achieved to allow for industrial workers to walk or 
bike to work or to the downtown area of Umatilla. There may also be opportunity for future transit 
connections to the working Kayak system or other transit systems that may be developed. 

(9) Notwithstanding section (1) of this rule, a local government may find that an amendment to a zoning 
map does not significantly affect an existing or planned transportation facility if all of the following 
requirements are met.

(a) The proposed zoning is consistent with the existing comprehensive plan map designation and 
the amendment does not change the comprehensive plan map;
(b) The local government has an acknowledged TSP and the proposed zoning is consistent with 
the TSP; and
(c) The area subject to the zoning map amendment was not exempted from this rule at the time 
of an urban growth boundary amendment as permitted in OAR 660-024-0020(1)(d), or the area 
was exempted from this rule but the local government has a subsequently acknowledged TSP 
amendment that accounted for urbanization of the area.

Response: This application addresses transportation impacts because these factors cannot be met.

(10) Notwithstanding sections (1) and (2) of this rule, a local government may amend a functional plan, a 
comprehensive plan or a land use regulation without applying performance standards related to motor 
vehicle traffic congestion (e.g. volume to capacity ratio or V/C), delay or travel time if the amendment 
meets the requirements of subsection (a) of this section. This section does not exempt a proposed 
amendment from other transportation performance standards or policies that may apply including, but 
not limited to, safety for all modes, network connectivity for all modes (e.g. sidewalks, bicycle lanes) and 
accessibility for freight vehicles of a size and frequency required by the development.

(a) A proposed amendment qualifies for this section if it:
(A) Is a map or text amendment affecting only land entirely within a multimodal mixed-
use area (MMA); and
(B) Is consistent with the definition of an MMA and consistent with the function of the 
MMA as described in the findings designating the MMA.

(b) For the purpose of this rule, “multimodal mixed-use area” or “MMA” means an area:
(A) With a boundary adopted by a local government as provided in subsection (d) or (e) 
of this section and that has been acknowledged;
(B) Entirely within an urban growth boundary;
(C) With adopted plans and development regulations that allow the uses listed in 
paragraphs (8)(b)(A) through (C) of this rule and that require new development to be 
consistent with the characteristics listed in paragraphs (8)(b)(D) through (H) of this rule;
(D) With land use regulations that do not require the provision of off-street parking, or 
regulations that require lower levels of off-street parking than required in other areas 

186



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 20 of 36

and allow flexibility to meet the parking requirements (e.g. count on-street parking, 
allow long-term leases, allow shared parking); and
(E) Located in one or more of the categories below:

(i) At least one-quarter mile from any ramp terminal intersection of existing or 
planned interchanges;
(ii) Within the area of an adopted Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) 
and consistent with the IAMP; or
(iii) Within one-quarter mile of a ramp terminal intersection of an existing or 
planned interchange if the mainline facility provider has provided written 
concurrence with the MMA designation as provided in subsection (c) of this 
section.

(c) When a mainline facility provider reviews an MMA designation as provided in subparagraph 
(b)(E)(iii) of this section, the provider must consider the factors listed in paragraph (A) of this 
subsection.

(A) The potential for operational or safety effects to the interchange area and the 
mainline highway, specifically considering:

(i) Whether the interchange area has a crash rate that is higher than the 
statewide crash rate for similar facilities;
(ii) Whether the interchange area is in the top ten percent of locations identified 
by the safety priority index system (SPIS) developed by ODOT; and
(iii) Whether existing or potential future traffic queues on the interchange exit 
ramps extend onto the mainline highway or the portion of the ramp needed to 
safely accommodate deceleration.

(B) If there are operational or safety effects as described in paragraph (A) of this 
subsection, the effects may be addressed by an agreement between the local 
government and the facility provider regarding traffic management plans favoring traffic 
movements away from the interchange, particularly those facilitating clearing traffic 
queues on the interchange exit ramps.

(d) A local government may designate an MMA by adopting an amendment to the 
comprehensive plan or land use regulations to delineate the boundary following an existing 
zone, multiple existing zones, an urban renewal area, other existing boundary, or establishing a 
new boundary. The designation must be accompanied by findings showing how the area meets 
the definition of an MMA. Designation of an MMA is not subject to the requirements in sections 
(1) and (2) of this rule.
(e) A local government may designate an MMA on an area where comprehensive plan map 
designations or land use regulations do not meet the definition, if all of the other elements meet 
the definition, by concurrently adopting comprehensive plan or land use regulation amendments 
necessary to meet the definition. Such amendments are not subject to performance standards 
related to motor vehicle traffic congestion, delay or travel time.

Response: This proposal is not for a development that would meet the requirements of the MMA. It is 
for an urban growth boundary expansion and associated change in zoning to Light Industrial. 

(11) A local government may approve an amendment with partial mitigation as provided in section (2) of 
this rule if the amendment complies with subsection (a) of this section, the amendment meets the 
balancing test in subsection (b) of this section, and the local government coordinates as provided in 
subsection (c) of this section.

(a) The amendment must meet paragraphs (A) and (B) of this subsection or meet paragraph (D) 
of this subsection.

187



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 21 of 36

(A) Create direct benefits in terms of industrial or traded-sector jobs created or retained 
by limiting uses to industrial or traded-sector industries.
(B) Not allow retail uses, except limited retail incidental to industrial or traded sector 
development, not to exceed five percent of the net developable area.
(C) For the purpose of this section:

(i) “Industrial” means employment activities generating income from the 
production, handling or distribution of goods including, but not limited to, 
manufacturing, assembly, fabrication, processing, storage, logistics, 
warehousing, importation, distribution and transshipment and research and 
development.
(ii) “Traded-sector” means industries in which member firms sell their goods or 
services into markets for which national or international competition exists.

(D) Notwithstanding paragraphs (A) and (B) of this subsection, an amendment complies 
with subsection (a) if all of the following conditions are met:

(i) The amendment is within a city with a population less than 10,000 and 
outside of a Metropolitan Planning Organization.
(ii) The amendment would provide land for “Other Employment Use” or “Prime 
Industrial Land” as those terms are defined in OAR 660-009-0005.
(iii) The amendment is located outside of the Willamette Valley as defined in ORS 
215.010.

(E) The provisions of paragraph (D) of this subsection are repealed on January 1, 2017.
(b) A local government may accept partial mitigation only if the local government determines 
that the benefits outweigh the negative effects on local transportation facilities and the local 
government receives from the provider of any transportation facility that would be significantly 
affected written concurrence that the benefits outweigh the negative effects on their 
transportation facilities. If the amendment significantly affects a state highway, then ODOT must 
coordinate with the Oregon Business Development Department regarding the economic and job 
creation benefits of the proposed amendment as defined in subsection (a) of this section. The 
requirement to obtain concurrence from a provider is satisfied if the local government provides 
notice as required by subsection (c) of this section and the provider does not respond in writing 
(either concurring or non-concurring) within forty-five days.
(c) A local government that proposes to use this section must coordinate with Oregon Business 
Development Department, Department of Land Conservation and Development, area 
commission on transportation, metropolitan planning organization, and transportation providers 
and local governments directly impacted by the proposal to allow opportunities for comments on 
whether the proposed amendment meets the definition of economic development, how it would 
affect transportation facilities and the adequacy of proposed mitigation. Informal consultation is 
encouraged throughout the process starting with pre-application meetings. Coordination has the 
meaning given in ORS 197.015 and Goal 2 and must include notice at least 45 days before the 
first evidentiary hearing. Notice must include the following:

(A) Proposed amendment.
(B) Proposed mitigating actions from section (2) of this rule.
(C) Analysis and projections of the extent to which the proposed amendment in 
combination with proposed mitigating actions would fall short of being consistent with 
the function, capacity, and performance standards of transportation facilities.
(D) Findings showing how the proposed amendment meets the requirements of 
subsection (a) of this section.
(E) Findings showing that the benefits of the proposed amendment outweigh the 
negative effects on transportation facilities.

188



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 22 of 36

Response: This request is for the expansion of the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary with an 
associated request to change the Zoning on the subject property to Light Industrial. Should the City of 
Umatilla wish to pursue the provisions of this criterion the applicant would be willing to participate. The 
applicant would assert that the economic benefits of this proposal do outweigh the negative impacts of 
any transportation impacts that are outlined in the TIA. 

The Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan, Transportation System Plan and Development Code are 
applicable, specifically Comprehensive Plan Findings and Policies 2, 9 and 25, Transportation System 
Plan Goals 1 and 3, and Development Code provisions found at 152.019 Traffic Impact Study.

Umatilla County Comprehensive Plan Chapter 15. TRANSPORTATION
All segments of Umatilla County's economy depend on the County's transportation network for 
movement inside County borders and to markets outside of the area. Fortunately, the County and 
particularly the developing West County has access to five modes of transportation. Interstate and state 
highways flow east-west and north-south in the County. The Port of Umatilla provides commercial 
freight use of the Columbia River. Railroad lines including Union Pacific's major switch-yard at Hinkle, 
bring passenger and freight service to Umatilla County. Two municipal airports make a wide variety of 
services available to county and regional residents, i.e. agriculture, freight, passenger, business. Natural 
gas and oil pipelines transport fuel to the county and to other areas. Local traffic between urban areas 
and highways travels on a fairly extensive county and state roads network. Mass transit is presently 
limited to long distance commercial bus lines and small fleet bus systems that serves some 
transportation needs of senior citizens.

The ability of existing services and facilities to serve future regional needs, and the specific requirements 
necessary to provide balanced forms of transportation for all segments of the county's future population, 
hinge upon cooperative city/county development of a transportation system plan. A major mechanism 
insuring this cooperative effort is found within the "Transportation" section of the Joint Management 
Agreements entered into with all cities of Umatilla County. A Transportation System Plan will also serve 
to assist state/federal transportation agencies in setting priorities and planning improvements in their 
areas of responsibilities.

Response: The following findings and policies are evaluated to meet Umatilla County Comprehensive 
Plan requirements.

Finding 2. Transportation planning within urban growth boundaries is important to insure adequate 
transportation facilities in the County.

Policy 2. To facilitate transportation system coordination within urban growth boundaries, the cities' 
TSPs shall apply within the UGB and shall be co-adopted by the County and addressed in the city/county 
joint management agreements.

Response: The Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla Is 
considered as part of this application. Powerline Road is specifically called out in the Joint Management 
Agreement. There has been a recent transfer of a portion of Powerline Road from Umatilla County to 
the City of Umatilla. The portion of Powerline Road adjacent to the subject property is still a paved 
Umatilla County road.

189



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 23 of 36

Finding 9. Many County and public roads are not constructed to an acceptable County standard, and 
development is increasing along these roads.

Policy 9. Subdivision of land not on road constructed to County standards or not accepted for 
maintenance responsibility by the County or state shall not be permitted. A subdivision road shall be 
public and maintained by a public agency or homeowners association.

Response: Powerline Road is a paved county road, is classified as a minor collector and is not currently 
built to that standard. Future development in the subject area would be subject to development 
standards within the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance with appropriate development improvements to 
Powerline Road with the outcome of bringing the road to the applicable development standard. This will 
be affected as part of the zone change undertaken by the City of Umatilla once the urban growth 
boundary expansion is concluded.

Finding 25. The development of 1-82 after the County's Comprehensive Plan was acknowledged 
established new interchanges which could affect the location of industries, commercial businesses and 
highway-oriented business. 

Policy 25A. Examine interchanges and other potential commercial and industrial locations for 
appropriateness of development taking into consideration access, sewer and water availability and 
environmental conditions. 

Policy 25B. Identify and evaluate factors limiting development in this area.

Response: The Interstate 82 Powerline Road interchange offers an opportunity to the City of Umatilla to 
consider additional uses of land between residential areas and the interchange. This application is to 
expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary to allow for additional industrial land to serve data 
centers, warehousing and certain low impact manufacturing operations. Earlier analysis evaluated these 
factors, finding the location to be suitable for an urban growth boundary expansion. The associated 
proposed change in zoning to Light Industrial is compatible with the Interstate 82 Interchange and the 
adjacent farm uses to the south. The included Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum
indicates that the City of Umatilla does have the capacity to provide services to this area in support of 
future industrial uses.

The Umatilla County Transportation System Plan’s OVERALL TRANSPORTATION GOAL is “To provide and 
encourage a safe, convenient, and economic transportation system.” Goals 1 and 3 are applicable; the 
appropriate Objectives are addressed here:

Goal 1 Preserve the function, capacity, level of service, and safety of the local streets, county roads, and 
state highways. 
Objectives 
A. Develop access management standards.
F. Develop procedures to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities, corridors, or sites 
during the development review process.

Response: Upon completion of this urban growth boundary expansion and the zoning of approximately 
450 acres for industrial purposes, the City of Umatilla Transportation System Plan and Development 
Code would be applicable to any development. Those applicable provisions would impose access and 
development standards meeting this Goal.

190



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 24 of 36

Goal 3 Improve coordination among the cities of Umatilla County, the Oregon Department of 
Transportation (ODOT), the US Forest Service (USFS), the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA), and 
the county.
Objectives
F. Continue to work with cities planning for the county land within their urban growth boundaries.

Response: The urban growth boundary expansion process is one of cooperation between Umatilla 
County and the City of Umatilla. Powerline Road, a paved county road, is identified in the Joint 
Management Agreement for consideration to transfer to the City of Umatilla, a process that was 
recently completed for a portion of the road north of the proposed action.

Umatilla County Development Code provisions 152.019 TRAFFIC IMPACT STUDY. 
(A) Purpose: The purpose of this section of the code is to implement Section 660- 012-0045(2)(e) of the 
State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the County to adopt a process to apply conditions to 
specified land use proposals in order to minimize adverse impacts to and protect transportation facilities. 
This section establishes the standards for when a proposal must be reviewed for potential traffic 
impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted with an application in order to determine 
whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities; what must 
be in a Traffic Impact Analysis; and who is qualified to prepare the analysis.
(B) Applicability: A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be required to be submitted to the County with a land use 
application, when one or more of the following actions apply:

(1) A change in plan amendment designation; or

Response: A change in plan amendment designation is requested as part of the urban growth boundary 
expansion process. A Traffic Impact Analysis is included as part of this application addressing the criteria 
in these provisions.

(2) The proposal is projected to cause one or more of the following effects, which can be 
determined by field counts, site observation, traffic impact analysis or study, field 
measurements, crash history, Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation manual; and 
information and studies provided by the local reviewing jurisdiction and/or ODOT:

(a) An increase in site traffic volume generation by 250 Average Daily Trips (ADT) or 
more (or as required by the County Engineer). The latest edition of the Trip Generation 
manual, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) shall be used as 
standards by which to gauge average daily vehicle trips; or
(b) An increase in use of adjacent gravel surfaced County roads by vehicles exceeding the 
10,000-pound gross vehicle weights by 20 vehicles or more per day; or
(c) The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum intersection sight 
distance requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving the property are 
restricted, or vehicles queue or hesitate, creating a safety hazard; or
(d) A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such as back up 
onto the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area; or
(e) Any development proposed within the Umatilla Army Chemical Depot boundary of 
the I-82/Lamb Road or I84/Army Depot Access Road Interchange Area Management 
Area prior to the completion of near-term improvements projects (Projects A and B) 
identified in the I-82/Lamb Road IAMP; or

191



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 25 of 36

(f) For development within the I82/US 730 Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) 
Management Area, the location of the access driveway is inconsistent with the Access 
Management Plan in Section 7 of the IAMP; or
(g) For development within the I84/Barnhart Road Interchange Area Management Plan 
(IAMP) Management Area.

Response: The completed Traffic Impact Analysis indicates that proposed development on the subject 
property would decrease pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips as analyzed against the current residential 
zoning of most of the rezone subject property (please see the earlier analysis). There are impacts to the 
intersections with both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 during the planning horizon. 

(C) Traffic Impact Analysis Requirements
(1) Preparation. A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be prepared by a professional engineer. The 
Traffic Impact Analysis will be paid for by the applicant.
(2) Transportation Planning Rule Compliance as provided in § 152.751.
(3) Pre-filing Conference. The applicant will meet with the Umatilla County Public Works Director 
and Planning Director prior to submitting an application that requires a Traffic Impact Analysis. 
The County has the discretion to determine the required elements of the TIA and the level of 
analysis expected. The County shall also consult the Oregon Department of Transportation 
(ODOT) on analysis requirements when the site of the proposal is adjacent to or otherwise 
affects a State roadway.
(4) For development proposed within the Umatilla Army Chemical Depot boundary of the I-
82/Lamb Road or I84/Army Depot Access Road Interchange Area Management Plan (IAMP) 
Management Area Prior to the construction and completion of near-term improvements projects 
(Projects A and B) identified in the I-82/Lamb Road IAMP, the following additional submittal 
requirements may be required:

(a) An analysis of typical average daily vehicle trips using the latest edition of the Trip 
Generation Manual, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) or other 
data source deemed acceptable by the County Engineer;
(b) A truck and passenger vehicle mode split analysis;
(c) An analysis that shows the traffic conditions of the project at full buildout and 
occupancy, assuming the background traffic conditions at the year of expected 
completion;
(d) Findings related to the impacts of the proposed development and the need for 
Projects A and B to mitigate those impacts. Once Projects A and B have been completed, 
this Section 4 will no longer apply to new development.

Response: The included Traffic Impact Analysis, dated May 2020, was completed by J-U-B Engineers, 
meeting the credential requirements. Umatilla County Development Code provisions at 152.751 are met
as this application addresses the transportation requirements in the Umatilla County Comprehensive 
Plan, Transportation System Plan, and Development Code. Coordination with Umatilla County and the 
Oregon Department of Transportation was accomplished through consultation with City of Umatilla 
staff; in-person meetings were limited due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

(D) Approval Criteria: When a Traffic Impact Analysis is required; approval of the proposal requires 
satisfaction of the following criteria:

(1) Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer qualified 
to perform traffic engineering analysis;

192



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 26 of 36

(2) If the proposed action shall cause a significant effect pursuant to the Transportation Planning 
Rule, or other traffic hazard or negative impact to a transportation facility, the Traffic Impact 
Analysis shall include mitigation measures that meet the County’s Level-of-Service and/or 
Volume/Capacity standards and are satisfactory to the County Engineer, and ODOT when 
applicable; and
(3) The proposed site design and traffic and circulation design and facilities, for all transportation 
modes, including any mitigation measures, are designed to:

(a) Have the least negative impact on all applicable transportation facilities;
(b) Accommodate and encourage non-motor vehicular modes of transportation to the 
extent practicable;
(c) Make the most efficient use of land and public facilities as practicable;
(d) Provide the most direct, safe and convenient routes practicable between on-site 
destinations, and between on-site and off-site destinations; and
(e) Otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the Umatilla County Code.

Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers and addresses both Level-of-
Service and Volume/Capacity standards. The pm peak hour traffic, when compared with current zoning, 
is reduced by 800 trips. There are impacts to the intersections at both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 
when this action is considered with background growth, creating impacts within the 20-year planning 
horizon.

(E) Conditions of Approval: The County may deny, approve, or approve a proposal with appropriate 
conditions.

(1) Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed action, 
dedication of land for streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or accessways may be 
required to ensure that the transportation system is adequate to handle the additional burden 
caused by the proposed action. 
(2) Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed action, 
improvements such as paving, curbing, installation or contribution to traffic signals, construction
of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or streets that serve the proposed action may be 
required. 

Response: The applicant request that the County approve this request to expand the urban growth 
boundary. The Traffic Impact Analysis does show that pm peak hour traffic will be lowered when 
compared to current zoning. Future development would be subject to City of Umatilla Development 
Code provisions concerning onsite and adjacent improvements. 

The City of Umatilla Transportation System Plan, which is a part of the Comprehensive Plan, has 
certain Goals and Objectives that require review and analysis as well as the Zoning Ordinance Chapter 
11 Supplementary Provisions 10-11-10: Traffic Impact Analysis should the transfer of Powerline Road 
be accomplished prior to the submittal of this application. Additionally, these provisions are 
applicable to the associated application for a change in Zoning to Light Industrial for the larger subject 
property. Both the County and City provisions are addressed to assure compliance.

City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan Chapter 12 Goal 12: Transportation
Section 12:0 Transportation Goal
To develop and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation system.

193



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 27 of 36

Response: The applicant supports this overall Transportation Goal of the City of Umatilla. Development 
of an industrial area on the south side of the City of Umatilla along Powerline Road just north of the 
Interstate 82 Interchange creates transportation linkages to the larger regional transportation system in 
a safe and efficient matter, with the opportunity to limit truck traffic within the downtown and 
residential areas.

TSP Goal 1 
Promote a balanced, safe, and efficient transportation system. 
Objectives 
Develop a multi-modal transportation system that avoids reliance upon one form of transportation as 
well as minimizes energy consumption and air quality impacts.
Protect the qualities of neighborhoods and the community. 
Provide for adequate street capacity and optimum efficiency. 
Promote adequate transportation linkages between residential, commercial, public, and industrial land 
uses. 

Response: The applicant would support connection of the proposed industrial area to the residential 
areas north of the proposal along Powerline Road with appropriate pedestrian and bicycle facilities such 
as sidewalks or bike lanes. Further connections to downtown Umatilla via the walking bridge or other 
connections as envisioned in the City’s recent trails visioning project are worthwhile. 

TSP Goal 2 
Ensure the adequacy of the roadway network in terms of function, capacity, level of service, and safety. 
Objectives 
Identify existing and potential future capacity constraints and develop strategies to address those 
constraints, including potential intersection improvements, future roadway needs, and future street 
connections. 
Evaluate the need for modifications to and/or the addition of traffic control devices, including evaluation 
of traffic signal warrants as appropriate. 
Provide an acceptable level of service at all intersections in the City, recognizing the rural character of 
the area.

Response: The Traffic Impact Study addresses these three Objectives of Goal 2 by evaluating traffic 
impacts from the proposed urban growth boundary expansion and change in Zoning to Light Industrial. 
The current growth of residential uses along Powerline Road is creating additional pressure on the 
Powerline Road intersection with Highway 730 and will over time reduce the Level-of-Service of the 
intersection. The Traffic Impact Analysis provides an evaluation of traffic impacts along Powerline Road 
and at the intersections with both Interstate-82 and Highway 730. The Traffic Impact Analysis does 
provide both timing and the types of improvements that may be appropriate to address future impacts. 

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Ordinance Chapter 11 Supplementary Provisions
10-11-10: TRAFFIC IMPACT ANALYSIS (TIA) 
A. Purpose: The purpose of this section of the code is to implement Section 660-012-0045(2)(e) of the 
State Transportation Planning Rule that requires the City to adopt a process to apply conditions to 
specified land use proposals in order to minimize adverse impacts to and protect transportation facilities. 
This section establishes the standards for when a proposal must be reviewed for potential traffic 
impacts; when a Traffic Impact Analysis must be submitted with an application in order to determine 
whether conditions are needed to minimize impacts to and protect transportation facilities; what must 
be in a Traffic Impact Analysis; and who is qualified to prepare the analysis. 

194



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 28 of 36

Response: The applicant has included with this application the Traffic Impact Analysis completed by J-U-
B Engineers dated May 2020 meeting these requirements. 

B. Applicability: A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be required to be submitted to the City with a land use 
application, when the following conditions apply: 

1. The application involves one or more of the following actions: 
a. A change in zoning or plan amendment designation; or 
b. The proposal is projected to cause one or more of the following effects, which can be 
determined by field counts, site observation, traffic impact analysis or study, field 
measurements, crash history, Institute of Transportation Engineers Trip Generation 
manual; and information and studies provided by the local reviewing jurisdiction and/or 
ODOT: 

1) An increase in site traffic volume generation by 250 Average Daily Trips (ADT) 
or more (or as required by the City Engineer). The latest edition of the Trip 
Generation manual, published by the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) 
shall be used as standards by which to gauge average daily vehicle trips; or
2) An increase in use of adjacent streets by vehicles exceeding the 20,000 pound 
gross vehicle weights by 10 vehicles or more per day; or
3) The location of the access driveway does not meet minimum intersection sight 
distance requirements, or is located where vehicles entering or leaving the 
property are restricted, or vehicles queue or hesitate, creating a safety hazard; 
or 
4) The location of the access driveway does not meet the access spacing 
standard of the roadway on which the driveway is located; or
5) A change in internal traffic patterns that may cause safety problems, such as 
back up onto the highway or traffic crashes in the approach area.

Response: The completed Traffic Impact Analysis indicates that proposed development on the subject 
property would decrease pm peak hour traffic by 800 trips as analyzed against the current residential 
zoning of most of the rezone subject property (please see the earlier analysis). There are impacts to the 
intersections with both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 during the planning horizon. 

C. Traffic Impact Analysis Requirements 
1. Preparation. A Traffic Impact Analysis shall be prepared by an Oregon Registered Professional 
Engineer that is qualified to perform traffic engineering analysis and will be paid for by the 
applicant. 
2. Transportation Planning Rule Compliance. See Section 10-13-3 Amendments to the Zoning 
Text or Map. 
3. Pre-application Conference. The applicant will meet with the Umatilla Public Works Director 
and Planning Director prior to submitting an application that requires a Traffic Impact Analysis. 
The City has the discretion to determine the required elements of the TIA and the level of analysis 
expected. The City shall also consult the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) on 
analysis requirements when the site of the proposal is adjacent to or otherwise affects a State 
roadway. 

Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers meeting the qualifications 
requirement. Section 10-13-3 of the Umatilla Zoning Ordinance is evaluated as part of the associated 

195



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 29 of 36

application for a change in zoning designation to Light Industrial. The applicant and their representatives 
have met with City staff on several occasions as these applications were being developed. 

D. Approval Criteria: When a Traffic Impact Analysis is required, approval of the proposal requires 
satisfaction of the following criteria: 

1. Traffic Impact Analysis was prepared by an Oregon Registered Professional Engineer qualified 
to perform traffic engineering analysis; 
2. If the proposed action shall cause a significant effect pursuant to the Transportation Planning 
Rule, or other traffic hazard or negative impact to a transportation facility, the Traffic Impact 
Analysis shall include mitigation measures that meet the City’s Level-of Service and/or 
Volume/Capacity standards and are satisfactory to the City Engineer, and ODOT when 
applicable; and 
3. The proposed site design and traffic and circulation design and facilities, for all transportation 
modes, including any mitigation measures, are designed to: 

a. Have the least negative impact on all applicable transportation facilities; 
b. Accommodate and encourage non-motor vehicular modes of transportation to the 
extent practicable; 
c. Make the most efficient use of land and public facilities as practicable; 
d. Provide the most direct, safe and convenient routes practicable between on-site 
destinations, and between on-site and off-site destinations; and 
e. Otherwise comply with applicable requirements of the City of Umatilla Code.

Response: The Traffic Impact Analysis was completed by J-U-B Engineers and evaluates the proposed 
urban growth boundary expansion and associated change in Zoning to Light Industrial with a focus on 
the impacts to Powerline Road and its associated connections by evaluating both Level-of-Service and 
the Volume/Capacity standards. The Traffic Impact Study found that the pm peak hour traffic, when 
compared with current zoning, is reduced by 800 trips. There are impacts to the intersections at both 
Interstate-82 and Highway 730 when this action is considered with background growth, creating impacts 
within the 20-year planning horizon.

E. Conditions of Approval: The City may deny, approve, or approve a proposal with appropriate 
conditions. 

1. Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed action,
dedication of land for streets, transit facilities, sidewalks, bikeways, paths, or accessways may be 
required to ensure that the transportation system is adequate to handle the additional burden 
caused by the proposed action.
2. Where the existing transportation system is shown to be impacted by the proposed action, 
improvements such as paving, curbing, installation or contribution to traffic signals, construction 
of sidewalks, bikeways, accessways, paths, or streets that serve the proposed action may be 
required.

Response: The applicant requests that the City approve this request to expand the urban growth 
boundary. The Traffic Impact Analysis provides evidence that the proposed change in zoning achieves a 
lowered pm peak hour by 800 trips at buildout, creating benefits to the operation of Powerline Road. 
There are impacts to the intersections of Powerline Road with both Interstate-82 and Highway 730 
when combined with background growth during the planning horizon. There is opportunity for the 
industrial area to be connected to the residential area north of the subject property and to the 
downtown area of the City of Umatilla via sidewalks and bicycle lanes, connecting to the trails network 
recently adopted by the City Council. 

196



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 30 of 36

Analysis of the Statewide Planning Goals 1 through 14 follows.

Goal 1 Citizen Involvement: To develop a citizen involvement program that insures the opportunity for 
citizens to be involved in all phases of the planning process.

Response: The City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan and development codes outline the City’s citizen 
involvement program that includes the activities of the Planning Commission and provides for the public 
hearing process with its required notice provisions. These notice provisions provide for adjoining and 
affected property owner notice; notice to interested local, state and federal agencies; and allows for 
public comment to the process.

Goal 2 Planning: To establish a land use planning process and policy framework as a basis for all 
decisions and actions related to use of land and to assure an adequate factual base for such decisions 
and actions.

Response: Goal 2 establishes the underlining process that a county or a city needs to utilize when 
considering changes to their Comprehensive Plans and development codes. This application meets those 
requirements for this request.

Goal 3 Agricultural Lands: To preserve and maintain agricultural lands.

Response: The Goal 3 requires counties to preserve and maintain agricultural lands for farm uses. 
Counties must inventory agricultural lands and protect them by adopting exclusive farm use zones 
consistent with Oregon Revised Statute 215.203 et. seq. 

Goal 3 does not allow nonfarm uses like industrial development on lands zoned for exclusive farm use 
unless a local government adopts findings to justify an exception to Goal 3 or accomplishes an expansion 
of their urban growth boundary. The necessary analysis for an urban growth boundary is set out and 
included in this application and discusses why this particular location can support a change in 
designation from Agricultural to Industrial and be included in the City of Umatilla urban growth 
boundary.

Goal 4 Forest Lands: To conserve forest lands by maintaining the forest land base and to protect the 
state’s forest economy by making possible economically efficient forest practices that assure the 
continuous growing and harvesting of forest tree species as the leading use on forest land consistent 
with sound management of soil, air, water, and fish and wildlife resources and to provide for recreational 
opportunities and agriculture.

Response: There are no forest lands in the City of Umatilla. The community is, however, a Tree City USA 
participant, encouraging tree planting to create an urban canopy of trees to provide the many benefits 
of an urban landscape that includes trees.

Goal 5 Open Spaces, Scenic and Historic Areas, and Natural Resources: To protect natural resources and 
conserve scenic and historic areas and open spaces.

Response: The subject property does not have any overlays or other known cultural or historical sites. As 
part of the site analysis earlier in this narrative there was an area that was eliminated from 

197



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 31 of 36

consideration because of the wetlands that are found there. There are no mapped wetlands on the 
subject property. 

Goal 6 Air, Water and Land Resources Quality: To maintain and improve the quality of the air, water and 
land resources of the state.

Response: Goal 6 addresses the quality of air, water and land resources. In the context of 
comprehensive plan amendments, a local government complies with Goal 6 by explaining why it is 
reasonable to expect that the proposed uses authorized by the plan amendment will be able to satisfy 
applicable federal and state environmental standards, including air and water quality standards.

The proposed plan amendments do not seek approval of a specific development but seek to apply the 
City of Umatilla’s Light Industrial zoning designation with a specific intent of creating large lot industrial 
opportunities to serve data centers, transport facilities and manufacturing opportunities. This action can
improve air quality by better facilitating the movement of freight along Interstate 82 with connections 
to Interstate 84 to the south and Highway 730 to the north. Industrial uses at this location will increase 
impervious surface, although by no more than could have occurred at another location and are subject 
to environmental requirements imposed by the City of Umatilla and the State of Oregon. The use of 
construction techniques that include temporary and permanent Best Management Practices for erosion 
and sediment control and spill control and prevention also can achieve compliance with clean water 
standards.

Noise is defined as unwanted sound. The uses authorized by the requested plan amendments should 
not create noise that differs from the types of industrially-related noise that could be comparable to 
agricultural activities already in the area. The location of these uses in very close proximity to Interstate 
82 will reduce overall noise impacts because highway generated noise muffles and obscures other 
noises located nearby. Open space and landscaping provisions will provide additional protection from 
noise that may be generated. 

Goal 7 Areas Subject to Natural Hazards and Disasters: To protect people and property from natural 
hazards.

Response: Goal 7 works to address natural hazards and disasters and through a comprehensive plan 
amendment process would seek to determine if there are known natural hazards and seek to mitigate 
any concerns. There are no known natural hazards on the subject property, and it is located significantly 
above and outside the flood plain for both the Umatilla and Columbia Rivers. 

Goal 8 Recreation Needs: To satisfy the recreational needs of the citizens of the state and visitors and, 
where appropriate, to provide for the siting of necessary recreational facilities including destination 
resorts.

Response: No recreation components are included in this application. However as industrial activities 
are sited, an increase in tax base for the City of Umatilla would occur. That tax base would provide 
additional revenue to the City of Umatilla leading to the opportunity for increased investment in parks 
and recreation opportunities for its citizens and visitors.

Goal 9 Economy: To provide adequate opportunities throughout the state for a variety of economic 
activities vital to the health, welfare, and prosperity of Oregon’s citizens.

198



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 32 of 36

Response: Goal 9 requires local governments to adopt comprehensive plans and policies that contribute 
to a stable and healthy economy. Both Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla have comprehensive 
plans that have been acknowledged to comply with Goal 9. This application is based upon the findings of 
the October 2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis completed under Goal 9. The major finding of the 
Analysis was a need for additional large lot industrial land with a focus on data centers, warehousing 
and light manufacturing. Approving the urban growth boundary expansion would be consistent with 
Goal 9.

Goal 10 Housing: To provide for the housing needs of citizens of the state.

Response: Housing is not considered as part of this application. Based on the 2019 Housing Strategies 
Report, adopted by the City of Umatilla as part of a Goal 10 update, there is an overabundance of land 
zoned for single family residential development. The associated application for a change in both 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designations from residential to industrial would not negatively impact 
the City of Umatilla’s needed inventory of residential lands. Please see the attached Housing Strategies 
Report, particularly the analysis on page 26, that outlines the over 2,100-unit capacity and over 1,000-
acre overabundance of residentially zoned land. Removal of 380 acres would not impact the needed 
residential land supply in the 20-year planning horizon.

Goal 11 Public Services: To plan and develop a timely, orderly and efficient arrangement of public 
facilities and services to serve as a framework for urban and rural development.

Response: Goal 11 requires local governments to plan and develop a timely, orderly and efficient 
arrangement of public facilities and services. The goal provides that urban and rural development be 
guided and supported by types and levels of services appropriate for, but limited to, the needs and 
requirements of the area to be served. Attached and discussed previously is the Umatilla Industrial Area 
Utility Technical Memorandum which concludes that the subject area can be adequately served and 
includes initial cost estimates for consideration. 

Goal 12 Transportation: To provide and encourage a safe, convenient and economic transportation 
system.

Response: Goal 12 requires local governments to provide and encourage a safe, convenient and 
economic transportation system, implemented through the Transportation Planning Rule. The included 
Traffic Impact Analysis evaluates the urban growth boundary expansion and related change in 
designation and zoning based upon the requirements in both the Umatilla County and City of Umatilla 
Transportation System Plans and Development Codes, meeting both local and state requirements. 
Please see the earlier analysis and discussion for specifics or refer to page 17 of the Traffic Impact 
Analysis for the summary and conclusions. 

Goal 13 Energy: To conserve energy.

Response: Goal 13 directs local jurisdictions to manage and control land and uses developed on the land
to maximize the conservation of all forms of energy, based on sound economic principles. Access to 
Interstate 82 creates easy connections to Interstate 84, Highway 730 and Highway 395. These 
connections provide energy efficiency and convenience as travel connections, for both trucks and 
workers, are easily accessed. It should also be noted that the proposed industrial area is also adjacent to 
a large and growing residential area with the ability for both pedestrian and bicycle connections creating 
additional energy conservation opportunities.

199



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 33 of 36

Goal 14 Urbanization: To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use, to 
accommodate urban population and urban employment inside urban growth boundaries, to ensure 
efficient use of land, and to provide for livable communities.

Response: Goal 14 prohibits urban uses on rural lands. To locate urban uses on rural lands, local 
governments must either expand their urban growth boundaries to add property or take a Goal 14 
exception setting forth reasons why urban development should be allowed on rural lands. This 
application seeks to expand the City of Umatilla urban growth boundary to allow urban light industrial 
uses within the city limits. The earlier analysis is in support of an urban growth boundary expansion.

The Joint Management Agreement between Umatilla County and the City of Umatilla is applicable. 
Sections or portions of Sections 2.1.2 City Processing of Comprehensive Plan Text, Plan Map and 
Zoning Map Amendments; 2.1.3 County Adoption of City Comprehensive Plan Text, Plan Map and 
Zoning Map Amendments; and 2.1.4 Adoption or Amendment to Land Use Regulations; Plan and Zone 
Maps are applicable. There are also provisions related to annexation, Section 3, and roads, Section 4,
that are also considered. The requirements, many of which are procedural, are included below with 
appropriate responses.

2.1.2 City Processing of Comprehensive Plan Text, Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendments.
a. The City shall have lead responsibility for reviewing and adopting amendments to the Comprehensive
Plan text, plan map and zoning map for the UGA. Amendments may be initiated by the City, the County, 
or an affected person, by application to the City.

Response: Application has been made to the City of Umatilla.

b. Amendment applications shall be processed by the City, with notification to the County at least twenty 
(20) days prior to the City Planning Commission’s first hearing on the proposed amendment.

Response: The applicant supports notice to Umatilla County as required.

c.  Any comments received from the County shall be considered by the City Planning Commission when 
making its recommendation to the City Council.

Response: The applicant supports incorporation of any comments received from Umatilla County.

d.  The County may also provide comments prior to the City Council hearing, in which case, the Council 
shall consider the County’s comments in making its final decision.

Response: The applicant supports incorporation of any comments received from Umatilla County

e. The City shall provide written notification of the City Council’s final decision to the County within five 
(5) working days.

Response: The applicant supports providing the City’s final decision timely to Umatilla County.

2.1.3 County Adoption of City Comprehensive Plan Text, Plan Map and Zoning Map Amendments.
a. All amendments to the Comprehensive Plan text, plan map and zoning map affecting the UGA shall be 
referred to the County for co-adoption.

200



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 34 of 36

Response: The applicant supports co-adoption of these changes by Umatilla County

b. The County must adopt the amendments approved by the City for these to be applicable in the UGA. 
The adoption shall be scheduled for hearing within sixty (60) days of City transmittal.

Response: The applicant is prepared to assist the City of Umatilla and Umatilla County to achieve this 
timely requirement.

c. If the City and County disagree on the proposed amendment, either party may request a conflict 
resolution process to resolve the conflict.

Response: The applicant supports conflict resolution but is hopeful that none would be needed.

2.1.4 Adoption or Amendment to Land Use Regulations; Plan and Zone Maps
a. It is the intent of the City and County to jointly develop and adopt a single set of land use regulations 
and plan and zone map designations for properties within the City and UGA.

Response: Co-adoption would maintain consistency between the City of Umatilla and Umatilla County.

b. The City agrees to adopt and apply the (1972) County zoning map designations and land use 
regulations to lands located within the UGA until adoption and implementation of City land use 
regulations and zoning designations for lands within the UGA.

Response: This application, along with the related change in zoning and annexation, will maintain 
consistency and provide updates to both the City of Umatilla and Umatilla County zoning maps and land 
use regulations.

c. The City shall have lead responsibility for reviewing and adopting amendments to land use regulations 
and to the Plan Map or Zoning Map for the UGA. Amendments may be initiated by the City, the County, 
or an affected person, by application to the City.

Response: Application was made to the City of Umatilla. This urban growth boundary application is 
proposed to be co-adopted by Umatilla County.

d. The City shall notify the County of proposed amendments at least (20) days prior to the City Planning 
Commission first hearing on the proposed amendment.

Response: The applicant supports notice to Umatilla County.

e. The County may comment on the proposed amendment in writing, or in person, before the Planning 
Commission. The City Planning Commission shall consider the County’s comments in making a 
recommendation to the City Council.

Response: The applicant welcomes comment by Umatilla County.

f. The County may review and comment on the Planning Commission’s recommendation to the City 
Council in writing, or in person at the City Council’s public hearing on the amendment. The City Council
shall consider the County’s comments in making a final decision.

201



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 35 of 36

Response: The applicant welcomes comment by Umatilla County.

g. The City shall notify the County of the City Council’s final decision within five (5) working days.

Response: The applicant supports timely notice to Umatilla County by the City of Umatilla.

h. All amendments to the land use regulations affecting the UGA shall be referred to the County for co-
adoption.

Response: The applicant supports co-adoption.

i. The County must adopt the land use regulation amendments approved by the City for these to be 
applicable in the UGA. The adoption shall be scheduled for hearing within sixty (60) days of City 
transmittal.

Response: The applicant supports timely action by Umatilla County to co-adopt.

j. If the City and County disagree on the proposed amendments, either party may request a conflict 
resolution process to resolve the conflict.

Response: The applicant supports conflict resolution but is hopeful that none would be needed.

3. City Services and Annexation
3.2 Annexation
Annexation of a property shall be in accordance with relevant methods and procedures in the ORS and 
City ordinances. After annexation, the City shall amend its plan and zoning maps, if necessary, to include 
the annexed property.

Response: The applicant has also made application for Annexation to be consistent with the City of 
Umatilla requirements. 

4. Roads
4.1 Jurisdiction of Roads within the UGA, Intent
The City and County agree the City should assume the jurisdiction of selected county roads within the City 
limits. Although the County would prefer the City eventually assume jurisdiction and maintenance of all 
county roads within the City, it is amenable to retaining jurisdiction over some roads. The City and 
County also agree that maintenance and improvement responsibilities are tied to jurisdiction. The City 
and County agree the attached map and inventory represents all County Roads within the UGA and City 
limits. 

The City and County shall work together to develop improvement plans for each of the following roads 
listed hereunder, with the intent that the City will assume ownership of, and maintenance for the road 
once the road has been developed to City, or other agreed upon standards.
4.1.1 Powerline Road

Response: The City of Umatilla has recently accepted from Umatilla County transfer of a portion of
Powerline Road north of the subject site. 

202



UGB Amendment Application to City of Umatilla and Umatilla County Page 36 of 36

4.3 Annexation
County roads will be annexed to the City when contiguous to properties being annexed. Within six 
months of such annexation, the City and County will decide which roads within the annexed area are 
appropriate for transfer of jurisdiction to the City and agree upon conditions and a timetable for transfer.

Response: This is an action for the City to initiate once these applications have been acted upon. The 
applicant supports transfer of additional miles of Powerline Road to the City of Umatilla.

In conclusion the applicant encourages the City of Umatilla Planning Commission and City Council, along 
with the Umatilla County Planning Commission and Board of Commissioners, to approve this request for 
an urban growth boundary expansion. There are two additional applications submitted to the City of 
Umatilla for a change in Zoning to Light Industrial and for Annexation of the proposed industrial area. 
Evidence has been provided in the form of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, Umatilla Industrial Area 
Utility Technical Memorandum, and Traffic Impact Study to support this and the associated requests. 
These documents show a clear need for large lot industrial land and indicated that need can be met with 
city services and without impacts to the transportation system that cannot be mitigated.

Attachments:
Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum (March 2020) (J-U-B Engineers)
Traffic Impact Analysis (May 2020) (J-U-B Engineers)
Economic Opportunities Analysis (October 2019) (Johnson Economics)
Housing and Residential Land Needs Assessment (June 2019) (Johnson Economics)

203



72.36 Acres

74.33 Acres

USA

TOPAZ LAND INC

USA

USA

TOPAZ LAND INC

TO
PA

Z L
AN

D 
IN

C

CLEAVER LAND, LLC

C C P D INC
TO

PA
Z L

AN
D 

IN
C

BR
OK

EN
 SP

UR
 RA

NC
H 

LL
C

US
A

FOX HARVESTING OF OREGON INC

WOODWARD DIANA BETTS USA BUREAU OF RECGIUSTI JAMES E
UMATILLA CITY OF

CLEAVER LAND, LLC

BR
OK

EN
 SP

UR
 RA

NC
H 

LL
C

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

CLEAVER LAND UGB EXPANSION SITE PLAN

Map should be used for reference purposes only.
Not survey grade or for legal use.

Legend
City Limits
Urban Growth Boundary

Tax Lots (3/23/20)
Proposed UGB Expansion Area

0 500 1,000 1,500
Feet

. 204



USA

USA

USA

USA (BLM)

PARKS ET HAN

BONNEY KEN ET  AL

PARKS ET HAN

LOGSDON NORRIS

SAT KO PEGGY

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

J R ZUKIN CORP

BONNEY KEN ET  AL

NOBLES CLYDE C & BET T Y L

ELYUT H T AT AR & INGRID T AT AR

WOOD T HOMAS J & DANA A

SARGENT  MARK P & GAIL A

NOBLES KIMBERLY JEAN ET  AL

POMEROY MICHAEL S & ASHLEY M
EVANS DANNY EARLE & PAULINE KAY

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

CLEAVER LAND 395 SUB AREALegend
Streets
Study Area
City Lim its

Urban Growth Boundary
T ax Lots (3/23/20)
Wetlands (NWI)

Alternative Site 3

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000
Feet
.

Class VII Soils
Hig h Value

Hig h Value if Irrig ated
Unique

Soils Soils are based on NRCS soils data. Values except for “Hig h Value
if Irrig ated” are based on non-irrig ated soil values. Hig h value if
irrig ated is based on irrig ated soil value only, availability of water
rig hts or irrig ation m ust be verified. Class VII Soils assum e 
non-irrig ated land, availability of water sh ould be verified. 205



DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

ST AT E OF OREGON DEPT  FISH & WILDLIFE

USA

USA

USA (T RS)

DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA
DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

DEPT  OF INT ERIOR BIA

USA

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

MORO GERALD J & LORI ANN Z
PARKS ET HAN

UMAT ILLA ELECT RIC COOP ASSN
B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

B. KIK PROPERT IES LLC

T URNEY WILLARD F & PAT RICIA E

KIKS GOLF CENT ER LLC
LANGLEY DUKE A

WARR ST EVEN & ANNET T E

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

CLEAVER LAND PORT SUB AREALegend
Streets
Study Area
T ax Lots (3/23/20)

City Lim its
Urban Growth Boundary
Wetlands (NWI)

Alternative Site 1
Alternative Site 2 0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000

Feet
.

Class VII Soils
Hig h Value

Hig h Value if Irrig ated
Unique

Soils Soils are based on NRCS soils data. Values except for “Hig h Value
if Irrig ated” are based on non-irrig ated soil values. Hig h value if
irrig ated is based on irrig ated soil value only, availability of water
rig hts or irrig ation m ust be verified. Class VII Soils assum e 
non-irrig ated land, availability of water should be verified. 206



TOPAZ LAND INC

TOPAZ LAND INC

TOPAZ LAND INC

USA

USA

USA

USA

TO
PA
Z L
AN
D 
IN
C

TO
PA
Z L
AN
D 
IN
C

BR
OK
EN
 SP
UR
 RA
NC
H 
LL
C

BROKEN SPUR RANCH LLC
BROKEN SPUR RANCH LLC

BROKEN SPUR RANCH LLC

CLEAV ER ALAN
FOX HARV ESTING OF OREGON INC

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS, USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

CLEAVER LAND 395 SUB AREALegend
Study Area
Proposed UGB Expan sion  Area
Tax Lots (3/23/20)

City Lim its
Urban Growth Boundary
Wetlands (NWI)

0 1,0002,0003,0004,000
Feet

.Class V II Soils
High V alue

High V alue if Irrigated
Un ique

Soils Soils are based on NRCS soils data. V alues except for “High V alue
if Irrigated” are based on  n on -irrigated soil values. High value if
irrigated is based on  irrigated soil value on ly, availability of water
rights or irrigation  m ust be verified. Class V II Soils assum e 
n on -irrigated land, availability of water should be verified.

TOPAZ LAND INC

N & C LAND LLC

USA

N & C LAND LLC

N & C LAND LLC

USA
USA

207



UMATILLA PLANNING COMMISSION
REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

FOR
PLAN AMENDMENT PA-3-20

DATE OF HEARING: August 25, 2020

REPORT PREPARED BY: Jacob Foutz, Associate Planner

I. GENERAL INFORMATION AND FACTS

Applicant: Cleaver Land, LLC, 78757 Westland Rd, Hermiston, OR 97838

Land Use Review: A Zone Change application.

II. NATURE OF REQUEST AND GENERAL FACTS

The applicant, Cleaver Land, LLC, is requesting approval of a Zone Change that would rezone 
294 acres of Single Family Residential designation to Light Industrial. The proposed zoning 
designation of Light Industrial will support the types of uses – data centers, warehousing and light 
manufacturing – outlined in the Economic Opportunities Analysis completed by Johnson 
Economics that clearly indicates that the City of Umatilla needs large lot industrial parcels. The 
applicant also submitted an Annexation and UGB applications with the desired outcome to have 
approximately 450 acres of land planned and zoned for industrial use. Current use of the property 
is agricultural. Crops under circle pivot irrigation regularly in rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, 
and grass seed. Improvements to the property include circle pivot irrigation systems and a general 
use storage building.

III. ANALYSIS
The criteria applicable to this request are shown in underlined text and the responses are shown in 
standard text. All of the following criteria must be satisfied in order for this request to be approved.

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Chapter 14 Administrative Provisions Section 10-14-4: 
APPLICATION provides the following requirements.

A permit application may only be initiated by the record property owner or contract purchaser, 
the City Council, or the Planning Commission. The City will not accept an application without 
the signed authorization from all record owners.

Applicants Response: Included with this application package is the required form signed by the 
record owner.

Conclusion: This application was initiated and signed by the record owner.

A. All permit applications shall be submitted on a form provided by the City, along with all 
necessary supporting documentation and information sufficient to demonstrate compliance with 

208



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 2 of 15

all applicable approval criteria and standards, and the appropriate fee. The applicant has the 
burden of demonstrating, with evidence, that all approval criteria and standards are, or can be, 
met.

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla required application is included along with 
narratives with responses discussing how the applicant has or can meet the requirements. Also 
included are the attachments referenced throughout.

Conclusion: The included application and narratives meet the above criterion. 

B. A complete application includes all the materials listed in this Section and any specific 
information requested for a particular permit. The City Administrator may waive the submission 
of any of the materials if not deemed to be applicable to the specific review sought. Likewise, 
within thirty (30) days of submission of the application, the City Administrator may require 
additional information beyond that listed in this subsection, such as a traffic report or other 
study prepared by an appropriate expert. The applicant is responsible for the completeness and 
accuracy of the application and all supporting documentation.

Applicants Response: Submitted to the City of Umatilla are the narratives which includes 
responses providing evidence of the applicant’s ability to meet the criteria, the required 
application form, the City of Umatilla Economic Opportunities Analysis dated November 2019 
and other attachments in support of this request.

Conclusion: The application has been deemed complete. 

1. A completed City application form that includes:
a. An accurate legal description, tax account number(s), map number, and street 
location of all properties that are the subject of the application.
b. Name, address, telephone number, and authorized signature(s) of all record 
property owners or contract owners, and the name, address, and telephone 
number of the applicant, if different from the property owner(s).

Applicants Response: The required applications, including this information and required 
signatures, is included with these narratives.

Conclusion: The application has been deemed complete.

2. A complete list of all City permit approvals sought by the applicant in this application.

Applicants Response: The applicant is requesting an urban growth boundary expansion, 
annexation of that same property, and a change in zoning of the subject property, proposing to 
apply a Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designation of M1 Light Industrial. No specific 
developments are proposed at this time.  

Conclusion: The application has been deemed complete.

3. A complete and detailed narrative describing the proposed development, existing site 
conditions, public facilities and services, natural features including wetlands and steep 

209



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 3 of 15

slopes, a discussion of the approval criteria and standards for all permits explaining how 
the criteria and standards are, or can be, met, and any other information indicated by the 
City at the pre-application conference as being required.

Applicants Response: The applicant is requesting concurrently an urban growth boundary 
expansion, an annexation of that same property, and a change in Comprehensive Plan and 
Zoning designation to Light Industrial of the subject site. Provided to the City of Umatilla are the 
necessary applications signed by the landowner, narratives in support of each application, and 
various attachments that support the requests which includes the 2019 Economic Opportunities 
Analysis.

Conclusion: The application has been deemed complete.

4. A site plan or plans and a vicinity map, drawn to scale. The site plan shall include at 
least the following features, along with any other information necessary to understand 
the proposal:

a. Dimensions of the site and all structures, existing and proposed.
b. Existing conditions, including topography and any other physical features such 
as vegetation, wetlands, watercourses, slopes, etc.
c. Rights of way abutting the site, whether public or private, and access to the 
site.
d. Locations and sizes of all public utilities, existing and proposed, on and in the 
vicinity of the site. 
e. Locations, dimensions, and purposes of all recorded easements.
f. Size of areas (in square feet) and percentages of the total site area devoted to 
structures, parking, landscaping, open space, dedication of right of way, and any 
other proposed feature.
g. Proposed landscaping plan, including size, species, and location of plants or 
other elements.
h. Parking plan.
i. Detail of screening and fencing.
j. Exterior lighting, including location, type, height, and areas of illumination.
k. Service areas for trash collection, mail delivery, etc.

Applicants Response: Included with these applications are vicinity maps that include the 
identified features currently in place and a conceptual layout of proposed uses (see the Umatilla 
Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum for representation of the potential future 
development of the subject property). There is no proposed development with this request for a 
change in zoning. Future development components such as landscaping, parking, fences, lighting 
and service areas are difficult to locate with certainty. Those features would be evaluated under 
the Light Industrial M1 zoning at the time of development. Both the Umatilla Industrial Area 
Utility Technical Memorandum and the Traffic Impact Analysis provide evidence that industrial 
development is feasible and can be accomplished safely.

Conclusion: There is no proposed development with this request for a change in zoning. A site 
plan is not required for a change in zoning. 

210



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 4 of 15

5. The applicant shall provide the City with up to twenty (20) copies of all reports, plans, 
site plans, and other documents required by this Section. The number of copies will be 
determined at the pre-application conference. One copy of all plans and maps reduced to 
eight and one-half inches by eleven inches (8 1/2" x 11") or eleven inches by seventeen 
inches (11" x 17"), and suitable for reproduction.

Applicants Response: The applicant has provided to the City of Umatilla the required and 
requested components in support of these applications for an urban growth boundary expansion, 
annexation, and change of zoning.

Conclusion: The application is deemed complete.

6. All required application fees.

Applicants Response: The applicant has provided to the City of Umatilla the required 
application fees in support of these applications for an urban growth boundary expansion, 
annexation, and a change of zoning.

Conclusion: All required application fees have been received. 

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Chapter 13 Other Permits and Actions Section 10-14-4: 
AMENDMENTS TO THE ZONING TEXT OR MAP provides the following requirements.

A. Type IV Procedure: Amendments to the zoning title text or Official Map are considered a 
Type IV procedure. A Map change may be legislative or quasi-judicial, depending on the number 
of properties and area involved. A text change is always a legislative decision. 

Applicants Response: This is a single owner application for a change in zoning and can be 
considered as a quasi-judicial request.

Conclusion: A change in zoning is considered quasi-judicial. 

B. Initiation of Application: An application may be initiated by a property owner or authorized 
agent, the Planning Commission, or the City Council.

Applicants Response: The landowner is the applicant for this change in zoning (and other 
related actions).

Conclusion: The property owner submitted the application for a change in zoning. 

C. Narrative, Identification Required: An application shall include a narrative that demonstrates 
compliance with the approval criteria and a site and vicinity map identifying the property and 
adjacent properties.

Applicants Response: This serves to meet the narrative requirement.

211



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 5 of 15

Conclusion: A sufficient narrative was submitted for this application. 

D. Approval Criteria: An amendment to this Title or Official Map shall comply with the 
following criteria:

1. The proposed designation is consistent with and supports the purposes of the portions 
of the City's Comprehensive Plan not proposed for amendment, or circumstances have 
changed to justify a change in the Comprehensive Plan.

Applicants Response: Since the City of Umatilla initially adopted the Comprehensive Plan and 
Zoning Ordinance several changes have taken place that should be considered when reviewing 
this application – the Oregon Department of Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal 
Highway Administration, has built Interstate 82 and in October 2019 the City of Umatilla 
completed an Economic Opportunities Analysis revealing a need for additional large lot 
industrial land. This request seeks to amend the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designation to 
Light Industrial on approximately 450 acres of land to meet that need for large lot industrial 
lands at a location that has easy access to Interstate 82. 

Conclusion: This application is consistent with and supports the City of Umatilla’s 
Comprehensive Plan not proposed for amendment. PA-1-20 will amend the Comprehensive plan 
to adopt the EOA. This request is consistent with the EOA. 

2. The proposed change will not affect the land supply for the existing zoning designation 
as related to projected need for the particular land use.

Applicants Response: A portion of the subject property is concurrently being added to the urban 
growth boundary, with approximately 320 acres of residential land being proposed to be 
converted. Based upon the Residential Buildable Lands Analysis, adopted by the City of 
Umatilla in 2019, there is a significant oversupply of residential land specific to single family 
residential use. This proposed change in zoning from Residential to Industrial would reduce that 
need, but not below the 20-year planning horizon required to be included in an inventory under 
Oregon law. 

Conclusion: Based on the 2019 Housing Strategies Report, adopted by the City of Umatilla as 
part of a Goal 10 update, there is an overabundance of land zoned for single family residential 
development. The Housing and Residential Land Need Assessment (HNA) found that the City 
currently has an 873 acres surplus of residential lands in our single-family residential zone. All 
of the land proposed to be rezoned is currently zoned single family residential and the City 
would retain a 550+ acres surplus in the single-family zone, and a 750+ acre surplus of 
residential lands in general.  The needed inventory of residential lands will not be negatively 
affected by the approval of this application.  The proposed change will affect the land supply but 
not reduce it below the 20-year planning horizon required to be included in an inventory under 
Oregon law.

3. The proposed designation will not negatively impact existing or planned public 
facilities and services.

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla evaluated the subject property for delivery of public 

212



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 6 of 15

services – potable water, sanitary sewer, potable water storage and industrial wastewater – and 
has determined that services can be provided to support the types of large lot industrial uses 
being proposed (data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing). The Umatilla Industrial 
Area Utility Technical Memorandum, dated March 9, 2020, is attached to support this 
conclusion.

Conclusion: Public facilities and services will be able to be provided to the subject site 
according to The Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum. 

4. The site is suitable for the proposed use, considering the topography, adjacent streets, 
access, size of the site, availability of public facilities, and any other pertinent physical 
features.

Applicants Response: The site is mostly flat with significant frontage along Powerline Road, 
providing access to a minor arterial with direct access to Interstate 82. Depending on how 
development proceeds internal streets could be considered to limit impacts to Powerline Road 
and facilitate development of the 450-acre site. Based on earlier responses public facilities are or 
can be available and have the capacity to serve the types of proposed uses. 

Conclusion: There is no proposed use at this time. The proposed rezone is to meet the need for 
large lot industrial sites. The submitted documents show it is feasible to provide services to the 
site. 

5. Other sites in the City or the vicinity are unsuitable for the proposed use. In other 
words, ownership and desire to develop a particular use in themselves provide 
insufficient rationale for changing a zoning designation that does not support the 
interests of the City as a whole.

Applicants Response: The companion application for an urban growth boundary expansion 
includes significant discussion that addresses this criterion, specifically the discussion around
study areas and the alternatives analysis. The applicant has concluded in that application that this 
location is the best, and possibly only, location that could accommodate large lot industrial 
opportunities. 

Conclusion: PA-2-20 addresses how other sites are considered and shown to not meet the needs 
of a location that could accommodate large lot industrial opportunities. As part of the UGB 
analysis no other sites were identified that could accommodate the need for large lot industrial. 

The City of Umatilla Rezone Application poses the following additional questions when a 
rezone is requested.

Explain why this particular parcel(s) of property should be rezoned as opposed to utilizing 
existing zoned property for proposed use.

Applicants Response: The October 2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis discusses the need 
for additional large lot industrial land. That need, with the access the subject property has to 
Powerline Road and Interstate 82, creates a location that can create employment opportunity 

213



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 7 of 15

within the City of Umatilla with limited impacts. The alternatives analysis in the Urban Growth 
Boundary application concludes that this location is best, and possibly only site, suited to the 
identified needs.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question. 

What is the land use plan designation for this property on the Comprehensive Plan map?

Applicants Response: A portion is not zoned currently by the City of Umatilla as it is part of the 
companion request for an urban growth boundary expansion and annexation. Its current zoning is 
Exclusive Farm Use. The balance is designated and zoned for single family residential uses.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question.

If there is a conflict between the plan map and the desired zone, how can a change be justified?

Applicants Response: There are two considerations in resolving any conflict. First the October 
2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis discusses a lack of land for large lot industrial uses. The 
focus of potential uses for the subject property is data centers, warehousing and light 
manufacturing, meeting the outlined needs. The second consideration is that the reduction of 
land zoned for residential purposes will not negatively impact the 20-year supply of residential 
land based on the analysis in the Housing Strategies Report (2019).

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question.

What policies or facts in the Comprehensive Plan and/or Zoning Code relate to use of the 
property after the zone is changed?

Applicants Response: The City of Umatilla is in the process of updating the Comprehensive 
Plan relative to Goal 9 with the intent of adopting the Economic Opportunities Analysis, which 
includes findings supportive of this application to create large lot industrial opportunities. New 
policies that are suggested for adoption would be applicable to future development.

The Development Code, specifically Title 10 Zoning, would have several factors that would 
relate to the use of the subject property after these applications have been approved and are in 
place. Within the Industrial Districts of Chapter 5, the Light Industrial Uses Permitted and 
Conditional Uses Permitted lists would define those allowable uses; the Development Standards 
would outline a variety of development criteria and would require screening and a variety of 
dimensional standards. Other provisions of the Zoning Ordinance would be applicable including 
Chapter 9 Off-Street Parking and Loading, Chapter 11 Supplementary Provisions and Chapter 13 
Other Permits and Actions. All these provisions would be applied under the requirements of 
Chapter 14 Administrative Provisions.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question. Goal 9 
updates can be found in PA-1-20. 

Explain how the surrounding property is zoned.

214



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 8 of 15

Applicants Response: The property to the north will retain its residential zoning, most of which 
is zoned R1 Single Family Residential. To the south and west, land outside the urban growth 
boundary is zoned Exclusive Farm Use with zoning south of Interstate 82 a combination of 20 
and 40-acre Exclusive Farm Use designations. This application is not proposing changes to those 
areas or current designations.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question.

Explain how this same property is used at present.

Applicants Response: The subject property is currently farmed with circle pivot irrigation 
improvements in place. That use would continue until such time that a development opportunity 
is identified.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question.

If the zone of your property is changed, explain how any permitted use of that district will be 
compatible with the surrounding property.

Applicants Response: Light Industrial zoning, with a focus on data centers, warehousing and 
light manufacturing, located along Powerline Road with access to Interstate 82 within a mile or 
so to the south allows for employment and economic opportunities with limited impacts to 
residential uses to the north along Powerline Road and downtown activities in the core of the 
City of Umatilla. Traffic along Powerline Road will increase over time based on the Traffic 
Impact Analysis (J-U-B Engineers, May 2020). However, that same Traffic Impact Analysis also 
found that the change in zoning from residential to industrial decreased future traffic volumes at 
buildout as traffic impacts are lower for the industrial uses proposed when compared to 
residential uses. The proposed industrial activities are compatible with the agricultural uses to the 
west and south of the subject property; the potential development of food processing would be 
allowable under current exclusive farm use zoning to the west and south. This proposal would 
create an opportunity for that type of development with the support of city services that 
otherwise would not be available. The anticipated activities, as outlined in the October 2019 
Economic Opportunities Analysis, do not tend to have associated negative impacts such as 
noxious odors, steam or other discharges. Landscaping requirements of the Light Industrial use 
zone would provide vegetative or other barriers to residential activities to the north. 

Conclusion: Any potential development would mitigate any negative effects by enforcing 
standards through a Site Plan Review. There is no reason to believe that a light industrial zoning 
designation would not be compatible with the surrounding property. 

Have any changes taken place which would make the zone change appropriate now rather than 
at an earlier date? You may consider such things as development of surrounding properties or 
similarly zoned property, new streets, sewer or water lines, and so forth. Please explain more 
fully.

Applicants Response: The release of the Economic Opportunities Analysis in October 2019 is a 
significant input into the decision to consider this zone change. Recent increases in residential 
development along Powerline Road and in the McNary area also provide evidence that the City 

215



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 9 of 15

of Umatilla is growing, which provides additional workforce that can reasonably lead to more 
interest from companies seeking new development opportunities. Also, to be considered is the 
effort to provide public services to the Umatilla Army Depot property further to the south, with 
proposed improvements to be installed along Powerline Road, creating possible synergy around 
economic development. 

Conclusion: The Economic Opportunities Analysis completed in October 2019 identified new 
needs that were not known or identified at an earlier date. 

Additional Information to be Furnished by Applicant:

Evidence that applicant is owner or purchaser of the property or has written permission from the 
owner to file the application.

Applicants Response: The application form is signed by the property owner.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the criterion. 

Two copies of plans and specifications, drawn to scale, showing the actual shape and dimensions 
of the lot to be built upon; the sizes and locations on the lot of existing and proposed structures; 
the intended use of each structure, the number of families, if any, to be accommodated thereon; 
the relationship of the property to the surrounding area, the location of any existing highways, 
streets, easements and public utilities.

Applicants Response: The applicant has provided the application forms, this narrative and the 
required maps and exhibits to the City of Umatilla as requested.

Conclusion: The City has received the required application forms, narrative, maps, and exhibits.

Portions of Oregon Revised Statute 227.175 concerned with applications to local 
governments for a permit or zone change are applicable. Much of ORS 227. 175 has 
already been incorporated into the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance and is implemented 
through a variety of measures including notice provisions and hearing procedures.

227.175 Application for permit or zone change; fees; consolidated procedure; hearing; approval 
criteria; decision without hearing.
(1) When required or authorized by a city, an owner of land may apply in writing to the hearings 
officer, or such other person as the city council designates, for a permit or zone change, upon 
such forms and in such a manner as the city council prescribes. The governing body shall 
establish fees charged for processing permits at an amount no more than the actual or average 
cost of providing that service.

Applicants Response: The applicant is submitting three applications, this one for the change in 
zoning, on the forms prescribed, paying the required fees, and providing this narrative addressing 
these and the other requirements in both Oregon law and the law of the City of Umatilla. The 
two companion applications are for an urban growth boundary expansion and an annexation of 
the same property.

216



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 10 of 15

Conclusion: The correct forms and fees have been submitted to the City of Umatilla as required 
by the City of Umatilla City Council. 

(2) The governing body of the city shall establish a consolidated procedure by which an 
applicant may apply at one time for all permits or zone changes needed for a development 
project. The consolidated procedure shall be subject to the time limitations set out in ORS 
227.178. The consolidated procedure shall be available for use at the option of the applicant no 
later than the time of the first periodic review of the comprehensive plan and land use 
regulations.

Applicants Response: The applicant is using this provided opportunity to apply for an urban 
growth boundary expansion, annexation, and change in zoning in a consolidated process. The 
urban growth boundary expansion does require co-adoption by Umatilla County.

Conclusion: The established procedure in the JMA has been and will continue to be followed.
The City will submit subsequent application to the County for co-adoption. 

(3) Except as provided in subsection (10) of this section, the hearings officer shall hold at least 
one public hearing on the application.

Applicants Response: The applicant understands that these actions will be heard by the 
Planning Commission and the City Council as they are legislative in nature.

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla Planning Commission will hold a hearing on this and the 
other applications on August 25, 2020. The City of Umatilla City Council will hold a hearing on 
this and the other applications on September 15, 2020. 

(4)
(a) A city may not approve an application unless the proposed development of land would 
be in compliance with the comprehensive plan for the city and other applicable land use 
regulation or ordinance provisions. The approval may include such conditions as are 
authorized by ORS 227.215 or any city legislation.
(b)

(A) A city may not deny an application for a housing development located within 
the urban growth boundary if the development complies with clear and objective 
standards, including clear and objective design standards contained in the city 
comprehensive plan or land use regulations.
(B) This paragraph does not apply to:

(i) Applications or permits for residential development in areas described 
in ORS 197.307 (5); or
(ii) Applications or permits reviewed under an alternative approval 
process adopted under ORS 197.307 (6).

(c) A city may not condition an application for a housing development on a reduction in 
density if:

(A) The density applied for is at or below the authorized density level under the 
local land use regulations; and
(B) At least 75 percent of the floor area applied for is reserved for housing.

217



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 11 of 15

(d) A city may not condition an application for a housing development on a reduction in 
height if:

(A) The height applied for is at or below the authorized height level under the 
local land use regulations;
(B) At least 75 percent of the floor area applied for is reserved for housing; and
(C) Reducing the height has the effect of reducing the authorized density level 
under local land use regulations.

(e) Notwithstanding paragraphs (c) and (d) of this subsection, a city may condition an 
application for a housing development on a reduction in density or height only if the 
reduction is necessary to resolve a health, safety or habitability issue or to comply with a 
protective measure adopted pursuant to a statewide land use planning goal. 
Notwithstanding ORS 197.350, the city must adopt findings supported by substantial 
evidence demonstrating the necessity of the reduction.
(f) As used in this subsection:

(A) “Authorized density level” means the maximum number of lots or dwelling 
units or the maximum floor area ratio that is permitted under local land use 
regulations.
(B) “Authorized height level” means the maximum height of a structure that is 
permitted under local land use regulations.
(C) “Habitability” means being in compliance with the applicable provisions of 
the state building code under ORS chapter 455 and the rules adopted thereunder.

Applicants Response: The applicant has, primarily through this application narrative and the 
urban growth boundary narrative, provided evidence that the City of Umatilla Comprehensive 
Plan is considered and can be met when this request is approved. There are no housing 
developments requested as part of this application.

Conclusion: As found in this narrative and the UGB narrative, there is evidence that the City of 
Umatilla Comprehensive Plan is considered and can be met.

(5) Hearings under this section may be held only after notice to the applicant and other 
interested persons and shall otherwise be conducted in conformance with the provisions of ORS 
197.763.

Applicants Response: The applicant supports compliance with required notice provisions and 
meeting the needs of Statewide Planning Goal 1 Citizen Involvement. 

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla has sent notice to the required recipients in conformance with 
the provisions ORS 197.763.

(6) Notice of a public hearing on a zone use application shall be provided to the owner of an 
airport, defined by the Oregon Department of Aviation as a “public use airport” if:

(a) The name and address of the airport owner has been provided by the Oregon 
Department of Aviation to the city planning authority; and
(b) The property subject to the zone use hearing is:

(A) Within 5,000 feet of the side or end of a runway of an airport determined by 
the Oregon Department of Aviation to be a “visual airport”; or
(B) Within 10,000 feet of the side or end of the runway of an airport determined 

218



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 12 of 15

by the Oregon Department of Aviation to be an “instrument airport.”

Applicants Response: The applicant is not aware of any airports within the identified distance 
of the subject property. To the east the Hermiston Airport and to the west the Boardman Airport 
are both several miles away, neither within 10,000 feet. There is a farm-based gravel airstrip to 
the west and south of the subject site that would function as a “visual airport” but does not 
further meet the definition of an airport. 

Conclusion: There are no airports within 10,000 feet of the subject property. 

(7) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (6) of this section, notice of a zone use hearing 
need only be provided as set forth in subsection (6) of this section if the permit or zone change 
would only allow a structure less than 35 feet in height and the property is located outside of the 
runway “approach surface” as defined by the Oregon Department of Aviation.

Applicants Response: This is not applicable.

Conclusion: The above criterion is not applicable.

(8) If an application would change the zone of property that includes all or part of a mobile 
home or manufactured dwelling park as defined in ORS 446.003, the governing body shall give 
written notice by first class mail to each existing mailing address for tenants of the mobile home 
or manufactured dwelling park at least 20 days but not more than 40 days before the date of the 
first hearing on the application. The governing body may require an applicant for such a zone 
change to pay the costs of such notice.

Applicants Response: No mobile homes or manufactured dwelling park is located on the 
subject property. 

Conclusion: The above criterion is not applicable.

(9) The failure of a tenant or an airport owner to receive a notice which was mailed shall not 
invalidate any zone change.

Applicants Response: No tenants are on the property and no airports are adjacent to the subject 
property.

Conclusion: The above criterion is not applicable.

(10)
(a)

(A) The hearings officer or such other person as the governing body designates 
may approve or deny an application for a permit without a hearing if the hearings 
officer or other designated person gives notice of the decision and provides an 
opportunity for any person who is adversely affected or aggrieved, or who is 
entitled to notice under paragraph (c) of this subsection, to file an appeal.
(B) Written notice of the decision shall be mailed to those persons described in 
paragraph (c) of this subsection.

219



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 13 of 15

(C) Notice under this subsection shall comply with ORS 197.763 (3)(a), (c), (g) 
and (h) and shall describe the nature of the decision. In addition, the notice shall 
state that any person who is adversely affected or aggrieved or who is entitled to 
written notice under paragraph (c) of this subsection may appeal the decision by 
filing a written appeal in the manner and within the time period provided in the 
city’s land use regulations. A city may not establish an appeal period that is less 
than 12 days from the date the written notice of decision required by this 
subsection was mailed. The notice shall state that the decision will not become 
final until the period for filing a local appeal has expired. The notice also shall 
state that a person who is mailed written notice of the decision cannot appeal the 
decision directly to the Land Use Board of Appeals under ORS 197.830.
(D) An appeal from a hearings officer’s decision made without hearing under this 
subsection shall be to the planning commission or governing body of the city. An 
appeal from such other person as the governing body designates shall be to a 
hearings officer, the planning commission or the governing body. In either case, 
the appeal shall be to a de novo hearing.
(E) The de novo hearing required by subparagraph (D) of this paragraph shall be 
the initial evidentiary hearing required under ORS 197.763 as the basis for an 
appeal to the Land Use Board of Appeals. At the de novo hearing:

(i) The applicant and other parties shall have the same opportunity to 
present testimony, arguments and evidence as they would have had in a 
hearing under subsection (3) of this section before the decision;
(ii) The presentation of testimony, arguments and evidence shall not be 
limited to issues raised in a notice of appeal; and
(iii) The decision maker shall consider all relevant testimony, arguments 
and evidence that are accepted at the hearing.

(b) If a local government provides only a notice of the opportunity to request a hearing, 
the local government may charge a fee for the initial hearing. The maximum fee for an 
initial hearing shall be the cost to the local government of preparing for and conducting 
the appeal, or $250, whichever is less. If an appellant prevails at the hearing or upon 
subsequent appeal, the fee for the initial hearing shall be refunded. The fee allowed in 
this paragraph shall not apply to appeals made by neighborhood or community 
organizations recognized by the governing body and whose boundaries include the site.
(c)

(A) Notice of a decision under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be provided 
to the applicant and to the owners of record of property on the most recent 
property tax assessment roll where such property is located:

(i) Within 100 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when the 
subject property is wholly or in part within an urban growth boundary;
(ii) Within 250 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when 
the subject property is outside an urban growth boundary and not within a 
farm or forest zone; or
(iii) Within 750 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when 
the subject property is within a farm or forest zone.

(B) Notice shall also be provided to any neighborhood or community organization 
recognized by the governing body and whose boundaries include the site.
(C) At the discretion of the applicant, the local government also shall provide 
notice to the Department of Land Conservation and Development.

220



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 14 of 15

Applicants Response: The applicant is anticipating that the City of Umatilla will hold a public 
hearing to consider this and the associated applications to be considered. 

Conclusion: The City of Umatilla Planning Commission will hold a hearing on this and the 
other applications on August 25, 2020. The City of Umatilla City Council will hold a hearing on 
this and the other applications on September 15, 2020. 

(11) A decision described in ORS 227.160 (2)(b) shall:
(a) Be entered in a registry available to the public setting forth:

(A) The street address or other easily understood geographic reference to the 
subject property;
(B) The date of the decision; and
(C) A description of the decision made.

(b) Be subject to the jurisdiction of the Land Use Board of Appeals in the same manner 
as a limited land use decision.
(c) Be subject to the appeal period described in ORS 197.830 (5)(b).

Applicants Response: The applicant is aware of these requirements and supports city staff 
providing such notice as required by Oregon law and provisions of the City of Umatilla 
Development Code.

Conclusion: Notice has been sent as required by Oregon law and provisions of the City of 
Umatilla Development Code.

(12) At the option of the applicant, the local government shall provide notice of the decision 
described in ORS 227.160 (2)(b) in the manner required by ORS 197.763 (2), in which case an 
appeal to the board shall be filed within 21 days of the decision. The notice shall include an 
explanation of appeal rights.

Applicants Response: The applicant is aware of these requirements.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the criterion.

(13) Notwithstanding other requirements of this section, limited land use decisions shall be 
subject to the requirements set forth in ORS 197.195 and 197.828.

Applicants Response: The applicant would provide that this is a legislative decision, subject to 
those requirements in both Oregon law and the City of Umatilla Development Code.

Conclusion: The applicants above response is sufficient for the purposes of the question.

IV. SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATION

The applicant, Cleaver Land LLC, is proposing to amend the City of Umatilla Comprehensive 

221



City of Umatilla, Plan Amendment (PA-3-20) Page 15 of 15

Plan. Evidence has been provided in the form of the Economic Opportunities Analysis, Umatilla 
Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum, and Traffic Impact Study to support this and the 
associated requests. These documents show a clear need for large lot industrial land and 
indicated that need can be met with city services and without impacts to the transportation 
system that cannot be mitigated. The request appears to meet all of the applicable criteria and 
standards for this type of request. Therefore, based on the information in Sections I and II of this 
report, and the above criteria, findings of fact and conclusions addressed in Section III, the staff 
recommends approval of Plan Amendment (PA-3-20).

VI. EXHIBITS

Exhibit A - Draft Map Change
Exhibit B - Economic Opportunity Analysis
Exhibit C - Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum
Exhibit D - Traffic Impact Study

222



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 1 of 12

Application to Amend the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan designation and associated Zoning 
Map, effecting a change to the zoning of the subject property.

Applicant/Owner: Cleaver Land, LLC
78757 Westland Rd
Hermiston, OR 97838
541-571-7403
alancleaver@cbsag.com

Consultant: Carla McLane Consulting, LLC
170 Van Buren Drive
Umatilla, OR 97882
541-314-3139
mclane@eoni.com

Documents to be Modified:
 City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan designation with associated Comprehensive Plan text in 

support of the zone change. 
 City of Umatilla Zoning Map.

Intended Outcomes of Application Process:
The applicant is working to achieve approval of three applications – an Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) 
expansion, an Annexation, and a Zone Change – with the desired outcome to have some 450 acres of 
available land planned and zoned for industrial use. The UGB expansion will add about 150 acres to the 
UGB; the Annexation will add those same acres within the City Limits; and the Zone Change will add 
about 450 acres to the industrial land supply. The proposed zoning designation of Light Industrial will 
support the types of uses – data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing – outlined in the 
Economic Opportunities Analysis completed by Johnson Economics that clearly indicates that the City of 
Umatilla is in need of large lot industrial parcels. On page 43 of the Economic Opportunities Analysis it 
states, “For industrial users, there is an estimated deficit of sites of some sizes. Most notably there is a 
deficit of suitable large industrial sites, and a deficit of small industrial sites.” This statement is expanded 
on pages 44 and 45 providing more definition to the needs. At the top of page 45 the report states, 
“Given the projected short-term growth, and prospective long-term growth in this industry, Johnson 
Economics estimates a need for at least two sites of 100+ acres meeting serviceability requirements for 
data center or large manufacturing users, and at least one additional site of 50+ acres.” This suite of 
applications seeks to add 450 acres to the industrial land inventory for the City of Umatilla, more than 
meeting this need with the ability to also meet future needs for smaller lot or clustered industrial 
development. This action does not negatively impact the land supply for residential development in the 
20-year planning period based on the Housing Strategies Report completed by Johnson Economics.

Current and Proposed Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map Designations:
 Current City of Umatilla Designations:

o Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map: Portion currently not designated, comes into the 
City of Umatilla through an Urban Growth Boundary expansion with necessary Goal 
exceptions to allow urban scale development. Balance designated R-1 Single Family 
Residential

 Proposed City of Umatilla Designations:
o Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map: M-1 Light Industrial

223



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 2 of 12

Current Use of the Property:
Current use of the property is agricultural. Crops regularly in rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, and 
grass seed. Improvements to the property include circle pivot irrigation systems and a general use 
storage building. 

Surrounding Uses: Within the City of Umatilla, to the north of the subject property, the land is currently 
zoned for residential use with limited Neighborhood Commercial available along Powerline Road. To the 
east and south is Interstate 82, with the Powerline Road interchange south of the subject property 
approximately one-half mile. There is a residence and potato storage facility just north of the 
interchange. To the west are agricultural lands supporting a variety of crop types grown on irrigated land 
in crop rotation. 

Required Review:
The City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance Title 10 Zoning Chapter 14 Administrative Provisions, specifically 
10-14-2, states that the City will employ the steps for a Type IV decision for a change in zoning. Chapter 
14, specifically 10-14-4, outlines the procedures that need to be followed and are listed next with 
responses. The requirements found in Chapter 13 follow with the applicant’s responses. 

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Chapter 14 Administrative Provisions Section 10-14-4: APPLICATION
provides the following requirements.

A permit application may only be initiated by the record property owner or contract purchaser, the City 
Council, or the Planning Commission. The City will not accept an application without the signed 
authorization from all record owners.

Response: Included with this application package is the required form signed by the record owner.

A. All permit applications shall be submitted on a form provided by the City, along with all necessary 
supporting documentation and information sufficient to demonstrate compliance with all applicable 
approval criteria and standards, and the appropriate fee. The applicant has the burden of 
demonstrating, with evidence, that all approval criteria and standards are, or can be, met.

Response: The City of Umatilla required application is included along with narratives with responses 
discussing how the applicant has or can meet the requirements. Also included are the attachments 
referenced throughout.

B. A complete application includes all the materials listed in this Section and any specific information 
requested for a particular permit. The City Administrator may waive the submission of any of the 
materials if not deemed to be applicable to the specific review sought. Likewise, within thirty (30) days of 
submission of the application, the City Administrator may require additional information beyond that 
listed in this subsection, such as a traffic report or other study prepared by an appropriate expert. The 
applicant is responsible for the completeness and accuracy of the application and all supporting 
documentation.

Response: Submitted to the City of Umatilla are the narratives which includes responses providing 
evidence of the applicant’s ability to meet the criteria, the required application form, the City of 

224



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 3 of 12

Umatilla Economic Opportunities Analysis dated November 2019 and other attachments in support of 
this request.

1. A completed City application form that includes:
a. An accurate legal description, tax account number(s), map number, and street 
location of all properties that are the subject of the application.
b. Name, address, telephone number, and authorized signature(s) of all record property 
owners or contract owners, and the name, address, and telephone number of the 
applicant, if different from the property owner(s).

Response: The required applications, including this information and required signatures, is included with
these narratives.

2. A complete list of all City permit approvals sought by the applicant in this application.

Response: The applicant is requesting an urban growth boundary expansion, annexation of that same 
property, and a change in zoning of the subject property, proposing to apply a Comprehensive Plan and 
Zoning designation of M1 Light Industrial. No specific developments are proposed at this time. 

3. A complete and detailed narrative describing the proposed development, existing site 
conditions, public facilities and services, natural features including wetlands and steep slopes, a 
discussion of the approval criteria and standards for all permits explaining how the criteria and 
standards are, or can be, met, and any other information indicated by the City at the pre-
application conference as being required.

Response: The applicant is requesting concurrently an urban growth boundary expansion, an annexation 
of that same property, and a change in Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designation to Light Industrial of 
the subject site. Provided to the City of Umatilla are the necessary applications signed by the landowner, 
narratives in support of each application, and various attachments that support the requests which 
includes the 2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis.

4. A site plan or plans and a vicinity map, drawn to scale. The site plan shall include at least the 
following features, along with any other information necessary to understand the proposal:

a. Dimensions of the site and all structures, existing and proposed.
b. Existing conditions, including topography and any other physical features such as 
vegetation, wetlands, watercourses, slopes, etc.
c. Rights of way abutting the site, whether public or private, and access to the site.
d. Locations and sizes of all public utilities, existing and proposed, on and in the vicinity 
of the site. 
e. Locations, dimensions, and purposes of all recorded easements.
f. Size of areas (in square feet) and percentages of the total site area devoted to 
structures, parking, landscaping, open space, dedication of right of way, and any other 
proposed feature.
g. Proposed landscaping plan, including size, species, and location of plants or other 
elements.
h. Parking plan.
i. Detail of screening and fencing.
j. Exterior lighting, including location, type, height, and areas of illumination.

225



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 4 of 12

k. Service areas for trash collection, mail delivery, etc.

Response: Included with these applications are vicinity maps that include the identified features 
currently in place and a conceptual layout of proposed uses (see the Umatilla Industrial Area Utility 
Technical Memorandum for representation of the potential future development of the subject 
property). There is no proposed development with this request for a change in zoning. Future 
development components such as landscaping, parking, fences, lighting and service areas are difficult to 
locate with certainty. Those features would be evaluated under the Light Industrial M1 zoning at the 
time of development. Both the Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum and the Traffic 
Impact Analysis provide evidence that industrial development is feasible and can be accomplished 
safely.

5. The applicant shall provide the City with up to twenty (20) copies of all reports, plans, site 
plans, and other documents required by this Section. The number of copies will be determined at 
the pre-application conference. One copy of all plans and maps reduced to eight and one-half 
inches by eleven inches (8 1/2" x 11") or eleven inches by seventeen inches (11" x 17"), and 
suitable for reproduction.

Response: The applicant has provided to the City of Umatilla the required and requested components in 
support of these applications for an urban growth boundary expansion, annexation, and change of 
zoning.

6. All required application fees.

Response: The applicant has provided to the City of Umatilla the required application fees in support of 
these applications for an urban growth boundary expansion, annexation, and a change of zoning.

City of Umatilla Title 10 Zoning Chapter 13 Other Permits and Actions Section 10-14-4: AMENDMENTS 
TO THE ZONING TEXT OR MAP provides the following requirements.

A. Type IV Procedure: Amendments to the zoning title text or Official Map are considered a Type IV 
procedure. A Map change may be legislative or quasi-judicial, depending on the number of properties 
and area involved. A text change is always a legislative decision. 

Response: This is a single owner application for a change in zoning and can be considered as a quasi-
judicial request.

B. Initiation of Application: An application may be initiated by a property owner or authorized agent, the 
Planning Commission, or the City Council.

Response: The landowner is the applicant for this change in zoning (and other related actions).

C. Narrative, Identification Required: An application shall include a narrative that demonstrates 
compliance with the approval criteria and a site and vicinity map identifying the property and adjacent 
properties.

Response: This serves to meet the narrative requirement.

226



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 5 of 12

D. Approval Criteria: An amendment to this Title or Official Map shall comply with the following criteria:
1. The proposed designation is consistent with and supports the purposes of the portions of the 
City's Comprehensive Plan not proposed for amendment, or circumstances have changed to 
justify a change in the Comprehensive Plan.

Response: Since the City of Umatilla initially adopted the Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Ordinance 
several changes have taken place that should be considered when reviewing this application – the 
Oregon Department of Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal Highway Administration, has 
built Interstate 82 and in October 2019 the City of Umatilla completed an Economic Opportunities 
Analysis revealing a need for additional large lot industrial land. This request seeks to amend the 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designation to Light Industrial on approximately 450 acres of land to 
meet that need for large lot industrial lands at a location that has easy access to Interstate 82. 

2. The proposed change will not affect the land supply for the existing zoning designation as 
related to projected need for the particular land use.

Response: A portion of the subject property is concurrently being added to the urban growth boundary, 
with approximately 320 acres of residential land being proposed to be converted. Based upon the 
Residential Buildable Lands Analysis, adopted by the City of Umatilla in 2019, there is a significant 
oversupply of residential land specific to single family residential use. This proposed change in zoning 
from Residential to Industrial would reduce that need, but not below the 20-year planning horizon 
required to be included in an inventory under Oregon law. 

3. The proposed designation will not negatively impact existing or planned public facilities and 
services.

Response: The City of Umatilla evaluated the subject property for delivery of public services – potable 
water, sanitary sewer, potable water storage and industrial wastewater – and has determined that 
services can be provided to support the types of large lot industrial uses being proposed (data centers, 
warehousing and light manufacturing). The Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum, 
dated March 9, 2020, is attached to support this conclusion.

4. The site is suitable for the proposed use, considering the topography, adjacent streets, access, 
size of the site, availability of public facilities, and any other pertinent physical features.

Response: The site is mostly flat with significant frontage along Powerline Road, providing access to a 
minor arterial with direct access to Interstate 82. Depending on how development proceeds internal 
streets could be considered to limit impacts to Powerline Road and facilitate development of the 450-
acre site. Based on earlier responses public facilities are or can be available and have the capacity to 
serve the types of proposed uses.

5. Other sites in the City or the vicinity are unsuitable for the proposed use. In other words, 
ownership and desire to develop a particular use in themselves provide insufficient rationale for 
changing a zoning designation that does not support the interests of the City as a whole.

Response: The companion application for an urban growth boundary expansion includes significant 
discussion that addresses this criterion, specifically the discussion around study areas and the 

227



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 6 of 12

alternatives analysis. The applicant has concluded in that application that this location is the best, and 
possibly only, location that could accommodate large lot industrial opportunities.

The City of Umatilla Rezone Application poses the following additional questions when a rezone is 
requested.

Explain why this particular parcel(s) of property should be rezoned as opposed to utilizing existing zoned 
property for proposed use.

Response: The October 2019 Economic Opportunities Analysis discusses the need for additional large lot 
industrial land. That need, with the access the subject property has to Powerline Road and Interstate 82,
creates a location that can create employment opportunity within the City of Umatilla with limited 
impacts. The alternatives analysis in the Urban Growth Boundary application concludes that this location 
is best, and possibly only site, suited to the identified needs.

What is the land use plan designation for this property on the Comprehensive Plan map?

Response: A portion is not zoned currently by the City of Umatilla as it is part of the companion request 
for an urban growth boundary expansion and annexation. Its current zoning is Exclusive Farm Use. The 
balance is designated and zoned for single family residential uses.

If there is a conflict between the plan map and the desired zone, how can a change be justified?

Response: There are two considerations in resolving any conflict. First the October 2019 Economic 
Opportunities Analysis discusses a lack of land for large lot industrial uses. The focus of potential uses 
for the subject property is data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing, meeting the outlined 
needs. The second consideration is that the reduction of land zoned for residential purposes will not 
negatively impact the 20-year supply of residential land based on the analysis in the Housing Strategies 
Report (2019).

What policies or facts in the Comprehensive Plan and/or Zoning Code relate to use of the property after 
the zone is changed?

Response: The City of Umatilla is in the process of updating the Comprehensive Plan relative to Goal 9 
with the intent of adopting the Economic Opportunities Analysis, which includes findings supportive of 
this application to create large lot industrial opportunities. New policies that are suggested for adoption 
would be applicable to future development.

The Development Code, specifically Title 10 Zoning, would have several factors that would relate to the 
use of the subject property after these applications have been approved and are in place. Within the 
Industrial Districts of Chapter 5, the Light Industrial Uses Permitted and Conditional Uses Permitted lists 
would define those allowable uses; the Development Standards would outline a variety of development 
criteria and would require screening and a variety of dimensional standards. Other provisions of the 
Zoning Ordinance would be applicable including Chapter 9 Off-Street Parking and Loading, Chapter 11 
Supplementary Provisions and Chapter 13 Other Permits and Actions. All these provisions would be 
applied under the requirements of Chapter 14 Administrative Provisions.

Explain how the surrounding property is zoned.

228



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 7 of 12

Response: The property to the north will retain its residential zoning, most of which is zoned R1 Single 
Family Residential. To the south and west, land outside the urban growth boundary is zoned Exclusive 
Farm Use with zoning south of Interstate 82 a combination of 20 and 40-acre Exclusive Farm Use
designations. This application is not proposing changes to those areas or current designations.

Explain how this same property is used at present.

Response: The subject property is currently farmed with circle pivot irrigation improvements in place. 
That use would continue until such time that a development opportunity is identified.

If the zone of your property is changed, explain how any permitted use of that district will be compatible 
with the surrounding property.

Response: Light Industrial zoning, with a focus on data centers, warehousing and light manufacturing, 
located along Powerline Road with access to Interstate 82 within a mile or so to the south allows for 
employment and economic opportunities with limited impacts to residential uses to the north along 
Powerline Road and downtown activities in the core of the City of Umatilla. Traffic along Powerline Road
will increase over time based on the Traffic Impact Analysis (J-U-B Engineers, May 2020). However that 
same Traffic Impact Analysis also found that the change in zoning from residential to industrial 
decreased future traffic volumes at buildout as traffic impacts are lower for the industrial uses proposed 
when compared to residential uses. The proposed industrial activities are compatible with the 
agricultural uses to the west and south of the subject property; the potential development of food 
processing would be allowable under current exclusive farm use zoning to the west and south. This 
proposal would create an opportunity for that type of development with the support of city services 
that otherwise would not be available. The anticipated activities, as outlined in the October 2019 
Economic Opportunities Analysis, do not tend to have associated negative impacts such as noxious 
odors, steam or other discharges. Landscaping requirements of the Light Industrial use zone would 
provide vegetative or other barriers to residential activities to the north. 

Have any changes taken place which would make the zone change appropriate now rather than at an 
earlier date? You may consider such things as development of surrounding properties or similarly zoned 
property, new streets, sewer or water lines, and so forth. Please explain more fully.

Response: The release of the Economic Opportunities Analysis in October 2019 is a significant input into 
the decision to consider this zone change. Recent increases in residential development along Powerline 
Road and in the McNary area also provide evidence that the City of Umatilla is growing, which provides 
additional workforce that can reasonably lead to more interest from companies seeking new 
development opportunities. Also, to be considered is the effort to provide public services to the Umatilla 
Army Depot property further to the south, with proposed improvements to be installed along Powerline 
Road, creating possible synergy around economic development. 

Additional Information to be Furnished by Applicant:

Evidence that applicant is owner or purchaser of the property or has written permission from the owner 
to file the application.

Response: The application form is signed by the property owner.

229



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 8 of 12

Two copies of plans and specifications, drawn to scale, showing the actual shape and dimensions of the 
lot to be built upon; the sizes and locations on the lot of existing and proposed structures; the intended 
use of each structure, the number of families, if any, to be accommodated thereon; the relationship of 
the property to the surrounding area, the location of any existing highways, streets, easements and 
public utilities.

Response: The applicant has provided the application forms, this narrative and the required maps and 
exhibits to the City of Umatilla as requested.

Portions of Oregon Revised Statute 227.175 concerned with applications to local governments for a 
permit or zone change are applicable. Much of ORS 227. 175 has already been incorporated into the 
City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance and is implemented through a variety of measures including notice 
provisions and hearing procedures.

227.175 Application for permit or zone change; fees; consolidated procedure; hearing; approval criteria; 
decision without hearing.
(1) When required or authorized by a city, an owner of land may apply in writing to the hearings officer, 
or such other person as the city council designates, for a permit or zone change, upon such forms and in 
such a manner as the city council prescribes. The governing body shall establish fees charged for 
processing permits at an amount no more than the actual or average cost of providing that service.

Response: The applicant is submitting three applications, this one for the change in zoning, on the forms 
prescribed, paying the required fees, and providing this narrative addressing these and the other 
requirements in both Oregon law and the law of the City of Umatilla. The two companion applications 
are for an urban growth boundary expansion and an annexation of the same property.

(2) The governing body of the city shall establish a consolidated procedure by which an applicant may 
apply at one time for all permits or zone changes needed for a development project. The consolidated 
procedure shall be subject to the time limitations set out in ORS 227.178. The consolidated procedure 
shall be available for use at the option of the applicant no later than the time of the first periodic review 
of the comprehensive plan and land use regulations.

Response: The applicant is using this provided opportunity to apply for an urban growth boundary 
expansion, annexation, and change in zoning in a consolidated process. The urban growth boundary 
expansion does require co-adoption by Umatilla County.

(3) Except as provided in subsection (10) of this section, the hearings officer shall hold at least one public 
hearing on the application.

Response: The applicant understands that these actions will be heard by the Planning Commission and 
the City Council as they are legislative in nature.

(4)
(a) A city may not approve an application unless the proposed development of land would be in 
compliance with the comprehensive plan for the city and other applicable land use regulation or 
ordinance provisions. The approval may include such conditions as are authorized by ORS 
227.215 or any city legislation.

230



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 9 of 12

(b)
(A) A city may not deny an application for a housing development located within the 
urban growth boundary if the development complies with clear and objective standards, 
including clear and objective design standards contained in the city comprehensive plan 
or land use regulations.
(B) This paragraph does not apply to:

(i) Applications or permits for residential development in areas described in ORS 
197.307 (5); or
(ii) Applications or permits reviewed under an alternative approval process 
adopted under ORS 197.307 (6).

(c) A city may not condition an application for a housing development on a reduction in density 
if:

(A) The density applied for is at or below the authorized density level under the local land 
use regulations; and
(B) At least 75 percent of the floor area applied for is reserved for housing.

(d) A city may not condition an application for a housing development on a reduction in height if:
(A) The height applied for is at or below the authorized height level under the local land 
use regulations;
(B) At least 75 percent of the floor area applied for is reserved for housing; and
(C) Reducing the height has the effect of reducing the authorized density level under 
local land use regulations.

(e) Notwithstanding paragraphs (c) and (d) of this subsection, a city may condition an application 
for a housing development on a reduction in density or height only if the reduction is necessary 
to resolve a health, safety or habitability issue or to comply with a protective measure adopted 
pursuant to a statewide land use planning goal. Notwithstanding ORS 197.350, the city must 
adopt findings supported by substantial evidence demonstrating the necessity of the reduction.
(f) As used in this subsection:

(A) “Authorized density level” means the maximum number of lots or dwelling units or 
the maximum floor area ratio that is permitted under local land use regulations.
(B) “Authorized height level” means the maximum height of a structure that is permitted 
under local land use regulations.
(C) “Habitability” means being in compliance with the applicable provisions of the state 
building code under ORS chapter 455 and the rules adopted thereunder.

Response: The applicant has, primarily through this application narrative and the urban growth 
boundary narrative, provided evidence that the City of Umatilla Comprehensive Plan is considered and 
can be met when this request is approved. There are no housing developments requested as part of this 
application.

(5) Hearings under this section may be held only after notice to the applicant and other interested 
persons and shall otherwise be conducted in conformance with the provisions of ORS 197.763.

Response: The applicant supports compliance with required notice provisions and meeting the needs of 
Statewide Planning Goal 1 Citizen Involvement. 

(6) Notice of a public hearing on a zone use application shall be provided to the owner of an airport, 
defined by the Oregon Department of Aviation as a “public use airport” if:

231



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 10 of 12

(a) The name and address of the airport owner has been provided by the Oregon Department of 
Aviation to the city planning authority; and
(b) The property subject to the zone use hearing is:

(A) Within 5,000 feet of the side or end of a runway of an airport determined by the 
Oregon Department of Aviation to be a “visual airport”; or
(B) Within 10,000 feet of the side or end of the runway of an airport determined by the 
Oregon Department of Aviation to be an “instrument airport.”

Response: The applicant is not aware of any airports within the identified distance of the subject 
property. To the east the Hermiston Airport and to the west the Boardman Airport are both several 
miles away, neither within 10,000 feet. There is a farm based gravel airstrip to the west and south of the 
subject site that would function as a “visual airport” but does not further meet the definition of an 
airport. 

(7) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (6) of this section, notice of a zone use hearing need 
only be provided as set forth in subsection (6) of this section if the permit or zone change would only 
allow a structure less than 35 feet in height and the property is located outside of the runway “approach 
surface” as defined by the Oregon Department of Aviation.

Response: This is not applicable.

(8) If an application would change the zone of property that includes all or part of a mobile home or 
manufactured dwelling park as defined in ORS 446.003, the governing body shall give written notice by 
first class mail to each existing mailing address for tenants of the mobile home or manufactured dwelling 
park at least 20 days but not more than 40 days before the date of the first hearing on the application. 
The governing body may require an applicant for such a zone change to pay the costs of such notice.

Response: No mobile homes or manufactured dwelling park is located on the subject property. 

(9) The failure of a tenant or an airport owner to receive a notice which was mailed shall not invalidate 
any zone change.

Response: No tenants are on the property and no airports are adjacent to the subject property.

(10)
(a)

(A) The hearings officer or such other person as the governing body designates may 
approve or deny an application for a permit without a hearing if the hearings officer or 
other designated person gives notice of the decision and provides an opportunity for any 
person who is adversely affected or aggrieved, or who is entitled to notice under 
paragraph (c) of this subsection, to file an appeal.
(B) Written notice of the decision shall be mailed to those persons described in 
paragraph (c) of this subsection.
(C) Notice under this subsection shall comply with ORS 197.763 (3)(a), (c), (g) and (h) and 
shall describe the nature of the decision. In addition, the notice shall state that any 
person who is adversely affected or aggrieved or who is entitled to written notice under 
paragraph (c) of this subsection may appeal the decision by filing a written appeal in the 
manner and within the time period provided in the city’s land use regulations. A city may 

232



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 11 of 12

not establish an appeal period that is less than 12 days from the date the written notice 
of decision required by this subsection was mailed. The notice shall state that the 
decision will not become final until the period for filing a local appeal has expired. The 
notice also shall state that a person who is mailed written notice of the decision cannot 
appeal the decision directly to the Land Use Board of Appeals under ORS 197.830.
(D) An appeal from a hearings officer’s decision made without hearing under this 
subsection shall be to the planning commission or governing body of the city. An appeal 
from such other person as the governing body designates shall be to a hearings officer, 
the planning commission or the governing body. In either case, the appeal shall be to a 
de novo hearing.
(E) The de novo hearing required by subparagraph (D) of this paragraph shall be the 
initial evidentiary hearing required under ORS 197.763 as the basis for an appeal to the 
Land Use Board of Appeals. At the de novo hearing:

(i) The applicant and other parties shall have the same opportunity to present 
testimony, arguments and evidence as they would have had in a hearing under 
subsection (3) of this section before the decision;
(ii) The presentation of testimony, arguments and evidence shall not be limited 
to issues raised in a notice of appeal; and
(iii) The decision maker shall consider all relevant testimony, arguments and 
evidence that are accepted at the hearing.

(b) If a local government provides only a notice of the opportunity to request a hearing, the local 
government may charge a fee for the initial hearing. The maximum fee for an initial hearing shall 
be the cost to the local government of preparing for and conducting the appeal, or $250, 
whichever is less. If an appellant prevails at the hearing or upon subsequent appeal, the fee for 
the initial hearing shall be refunded. The fee allowed in this paragraph shall not apply to appeals 
made by neighborhood or community organizations recognized by the governing body and 
whose boundaries include the site.
(c)

(A) Notice of a decision under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be provided to the 
applicant and to the owners of record of property on the most recent property tax 
assessment roll where such property is located:

(i) Within 100 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when the 
subject property is wholly or in part within an urban growth boundary;
(ii) Within 250 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when the 
subject property is outside an urban growth boundary and not within a farm or 
forest zone; or
(iii) Within 750 feet of the property that is the subject of the notice when the 
subject property is within a farm or forest zone.

(B) Notice shall also be provided to any neighborhood or community organization 
recognized by the governing body and whose boundaries include the site.
(C) At the discretion of the applicant, the local government also shall provide notice to 
the Department of Land Conservation and Development.

Response: The applicant is anticipating that the City of Umatilla will hold a public hearing to consider 
this and the associated applications to be considered. 

(11) A decision described in ORS 227.160 (2)(b) shall:
(a) Be entered in a registry available to the public setting forth:

233



Zone Change Request Application to the City of Umatilla Page 12 of 12

(A) The street address or other easily understood geographic reference to the subject 
property;
(B) The date of the decision; and
(C) A description of the decision made.

(b) Be subject to the jurisdiction of the Land Use Board of Appeals in the same manner as a 
limited land use decision.
(c) Be subject to the appeal period described in ORS 197.830 (5)(b).

Response: The applicant is aware of these requirements and supports city staff providing such notice as 
required by Oregon law and provisions of the City of Umatilla Development Code.

(12) At the option of the applicant, the local government shall provide notice of the decision described in 
ORS 227.160 (2)(b) in the manner required by ORS 197.763 (2), in which case an appeal to the board 
shall be filed within 21 days of the decision. The notice shall include an explanation of appeal rights.

Response: The applicant is aware of these requirements.

(13) Notwithstanding other requirements of this section, limited land use decisions shall be subject to the 
requirements set forth in ORS 197.195 and 197.828.

Response: The applicant would provide that this is a legislative decision, subject to those requirements 
in both Oregon law and the City of Umatilla Development Code.

In conclusion the applicant encourages the Planning Commission and City Council to approve this 
request for a change in Comprehensive Plan and Zoning designation to Light Industrial on the subject 
property, as a part of the package of requests that also include an urban growth boundary expansion 
and annexation of a portion of the subject property. Evidence has been provided in the Economic 
Opportunities Analysis (dated October 2019) that large lot industrial land is needed. Further the J-U-B 
Engineers report, Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum, dated March 9, 2020, 
provides evidence that the area can be served with the necessary services to allow industrial 
development. For discussion about traffic impacts and the Traffic Impact Study, please see the Urban 
Growth Boundary Expansion application which evaluates the criteria of both Umatilla County and the 
City of Umatilla. An evaluation of the 14 Statewide Planning Goals can also be found in that application 
and are also appropriate to be considered here as well. Those portions of the Urban Growth Boundary 
Expansion application are incorporated by this reference.

Attachments:
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map Area of Change and Vicinity Map 
Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum, J-U-B Engineers, March 9, 2020
Traffic Impact Analysis, J-U-B Engineers, May 2020
Economic Opportunities Analysis, Johnson Economics, October 2019
Housing and Residential Land Needs Assessment, Johnson Economics, June 2019

234



294 Acres

72.36 Acres

74.33 Acres

USA

TOPAZ LAND INC

USA

USA

TOPAZ LAND INC

TO
PA

Z L
AN

D 
IN

C

CLEAVER LAND, LLC

C C P D INC
TO

PA
Z L

AN
D 

IN
C

BR
OK

EN
 SP

UR
 RA

NC
H 

LL
C

US
A

FOX HARVESTING OF OREGON INC

WOODWARD DIANA BETTS USA BUREAU OF RECGIUSTI JAMES E
UMATILLA CITY OF

CLEAVER LAND, LLC

BR
OK

EN
 SP

UR
 RA

NC
H 

LL
C

Source: Esri, DigitalGlobe, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

CLEAVER LAND REZONE SITE PLAN

Map should be used for reference purposes only.
Not survey grade or for legal use.

Legend
New Light Industrial Add By UGB Expansion
Proposed Plan/Map Amendment Area
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary
Tax Lots (3/23/20) 0 500 1,000 1,500

Feet

. 235



1

City of Umatilla Planning
STAFF REPORT AND RECOMMENDATION

for
ANNEXATION ANX-1-2020

HEARING DATE: August 25, 2020

REPORT PREPARED BY: Jacob Foutz, Associate Planner

I. GENERAL INFORMATION AND FACTS

Applicant: Cleaver Land, LLC 
78757 Westland Road
Hermiston, OR 97838

Property Owner: Cleaver Land, LLC
78757 Westland Road
Hermiston, OR 97838

Land Use Review: Annex a public street and two parcels of land 
totaling 146.69 acres. 

Subject Property Description: 1. Public street named Powerline Rd from Radar 
Rd to the southern border of Tax Lot 6601 on 
Assessors map 5N28C.

2. The Remainder of Tax Lot 1400 on Assessors 
map 5N28C. All of Tax Lot 6601 on Assessors 
map 5N28C.

Existing Zoning: Exclusive Farm Use (F-1)

Proposed New Zoning: City Light Industrial (M1)

II. NATURE OF REQUEST/APPLICABLE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND ZONING ORDINANCE 

PROVISIONS

The applicant, Cleaver Land LLC, seeks approval to have a portion of a public street as well as 
two tax lots situated in the City of Umatilla’s urban growth boundary (after adoption PA-2-20)
annexed into the city limits.

Approval of this request is subject to Section 10-13-4 of the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance 
which requires a Type IV procedure review and for a zoning designation to be assigned that most 
closely corresponds to the Comprehensive Plan designation, unless an amendment to the Zoning 
Map is also proposed.  

It is City Staff’s recommendation that if the annexation is approved, Powerline Road and the two 

236



ANX-1-2020 / Cleaver Annexation. / staff report Page 2 of 4

tax lots be zoned City Light Industrial(M1) to meet needs demonstrated by The Economic 
Opportunities Analysis and to match the two other applications (PA-2-20, PA-3-20) submitted by 
the applicant. 

III. ANALYSIS

The applicable decision criteria are listed in Chapter 13, Section 4C, as outlined in this report, and 
the procedures for a Type IV review are contained under Chapter 14, Sections 6(C) and 7 of the 
City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance.  Generally, unless otherwise noted, if a request is found to be 
consistent with the Zoning Ordinance it is considered to be consistent with the Comprehensive 
Plan.

A. City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance Approval Criteria

All of the following criteria listed under Section 10-13-4C of the Zoning Ordinance must be 
satisfied and supported with findings and reasons as to how each criterion is met in order for this 
request to be approved.

1. The site is within the urban growth boundary for the City.

Findings: The sites are not currently in the urban growth boundary for the city. This application 
will go to the City Council only upon the approval of PA-2-20, at which point the sites will be 
within the urban growth boundary for the City. 

Conclusion: The sites are currently not in the urban growth boundary but will be if PA-2-20 is 
approved. This application is the last part of a 4-application package. 

2. It is economically and technically feasible to provide services to the area.

Findings: The City of Umatilla had J-U-B Engineers complete an Umatilla Industrial Area Utility 
Technical Memorandum (dated March 2020) which states that the subject sites, can be served with 
water, wastewater and industrial wastewater.  While there is slope on the subject property it is 
limited to the eastern edge, sloping down to Interstate 82. Most of the property, particularly the 
frontage along Powerline Road, is reasonably flat.

Conclusion: According to the UTM, the subject property has been deemed viable to be served 
with water, wastewater and industrial wastewater. In addition, all other City services are 
technically and economically feasible.

3. The proposal is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan or substantial changes in conditions 
have occurred which render the Plan inapplicable to the annexation.

Findings: For annexation requests, Comprehensive Plan Policy 14.10.103 specifies that the City 

237



ANX-1-2020 / Cleaver Annexation. / staff report Page 3 of 4

will annex lands upon request “when it is demonstrated that such annexations are consistent with 
the Comprehensive Plan policies and within the capabilities of the City’s services and facilities.”  
This policy is implemented in the City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance, as outlined and discussed 
under Sections III(A)(1) and (2) of this report, which require property proposed to be annexed to 
be located within the urban growth boundary and for services to be technically and economically 
feasible to serve the property.  As indicated above, these provisions were found to be met or 
capable of being met.

Conclusion: The 3 Plan Amendments which will be go before this application will allow for these 
criteria to be met in this application. The Comprehensive Plan recognizes property within the urban 
growth boundary as land intended to be brought into the city limits when requested, if services can
technically and economically be provided to serve the use of the property. Services to the subject 
public street either already exist, or are capable of being provided as necessary, to serve the use of 
the abutting properties. Planning staff concludes that the proposal complies with all other 
applicable Comprehensive Plan policies in regards to this annexation request. This application will 
not be approved unless PA-2-20 is approved by The City of Umatilla City Council. 

B. City of Umatilla Zoning Ordinance Section 10-13-4(B) – Zoning Designation

When approving an annexation request, Section 10-13-4(B) of the Zoning Ordinance requires the 
City to assign a zoning designation that most closely corresponds to the Comprehensive Plan 
designation, unless an amendment to the Zoning Map is proposed.

Findings: As stated before an amendment to the Zoning Map is proposed and it is City Staff’s 
recommendation that if the annexation is approved, Powerline Road and the two tax lots be zoned 
City Light Industrial(M1) to meet needs demonstrated by The Economic Opportunities Analysis 
and to match the two other applications (PA-2-20, PA-3-20) submitted by the applicant. 

Conclusion: It is the Staff’s recommendation that Powerline Road and the two tax lots be assigned 
City Light Industrial. This proposed designation is what will best fit the property directly 
surrounding the annexed land if PA-3-20 is adopted.   

IV. SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS AND STAFF RECOMMENDATION

This request by the applicant, Cleaver Land LLC, to annex a public street named Powerline Rd 
from Radar Rd to the southern border of Tax Lot 6601 on Assessors map 5N28C and the remainder 
of Tax Lot 1400, along with all of Tax Lot 6601 on Assessors map 5N28C into the City of Umatilla city 
limits appears to meet all of the applicable decision criteria for annexation into the city limits.

Therefore, based on the information in Sections I and II of this report, and the above review criteria, 
findings of fact and conclusions contained in Section III, Staff recommends the Planning 
Commission recommend APPROVAL of this annexation request, ANX-1-2020, to the Umatilla 
City Council to annex the following into the city limits;

Powerline Rd from Radar Rd to the southern border of Tax Lot 6601 on Assessors map 5N28C 
and the remainder of Tax Lot 1400, along with all of Tax Lot 6601 on Assessors map 5N28C

238



ANX-1-2020 / Cleaver Annexation. / staff report Page 4 of 4

V. EXHIBITS (Attached and included as part of this report).

Exhibit A Area map showing existing city limits and property proposed to be annexed

239



240



241



 
 

Page 2 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

This technical memorandum is for City use only and does not discuss recommended 
alternatives, other necessary upgrades to the existing system1, an implementation plan, nor a 
schedule, as these items will be included as part of future planning efforts. Future efforts 
include development of a Water Master Plan and Wastewater Facility Plan in accordance with 
state guidelines to further develop the improvements outlined in this tech memo. The 
proposed planning documents will further vet and quantify existing and future water demands 
and wastewater flows; identify system deficiencies; plan for system expansions; develop 
improvement alternatives and select a recommended alternative; develop planning level cost 
estimates; and outline an implementation plan for sustainable management of the City’s public 
utilities. 

1.2 Study Area 
The study area is comprised of approximately 450 acres. For the purposes of this study, the 
west boundary of the study area is delineated by County Road 1225; the north boundary of the 
study area is delineated by County Road 1226; the east boundary is delineated by Interstate 82; 
and the south boundary is delineated by County Road 1225 and Interstate 82. Figure 1 in 
Appendix A depicts the overall study area. 

2 PLANNING CRITERIA 
The evaluation of infrastructure projects was completed at a planning level of detail. The 
assumptions and design criteria used herein were developed by J-U-B and City staff and should 
be reviewed and refined during future planning and design efforts. 

2.1 Planning Assumptions and Design Criteria 

2.1.1 Land Use 
Currently, land within the study area is used for agricultural purposes. The City of Umatilla has 
indicated this land, falling within the future UGB, will be rezoned to light industrial. Based on 
City input, it is assumed for planning purposes that the study area will be comprised of a single 
100-acre data center facility, one 60-acre small food processing facility, and two 40-acre 
packaging/manufacturing facilities at full buildout. All four facilities are considered light 
industrial. 

2.1.2 Demands and Flows 
Buildout demands and flows represent the peak demands and flows anticipated in the system 
when the study area is fully developed. All undeveloped land around the study area was 
assumed to remain undeveloped; as such, demands and flows were not considered for this 
area. As the current study area land use is agricultural, there is no historical data for light 
industrial facilities within this area. Demands for each lot were determined based on the type of 
proposed facility and experience gained from analysis of similar sized industries. It was assumed 
that the data center will remain in operation 24 hours a day while other industries will only 
operate 8 hours a day. 
 

                                                      
1 Well withdraw increased and delivery capacity to subject property area, for example (not inclusive). 

242



 
 

Page 3 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

The data center will have both potable water and industrial water demands supplied by the City 
of Umatilla. Potable demands were determined using Oregon Administrative Rule (OAR) 340-
071-0220 Table 2 Quantities of Sewage Flows, as given by the State of Oregon Department of 
Environmental Quality in their publication Onsite Wastewater Treatment Systems, and 
assuming the data center has 350 employees on site, as estimated by City staff. Industrial 
demands were estimated to be 1.2 million gallons per day (MGD) based on PDX63 data center 
campus information provided by data center personnel.  

 
The data center will have both sanitary sewer and industrial wastewater flows. Sanitary sewer 
flows were determined using the OAR 340-071-0220 Table 2 factory flow and assuming the 
data center has 350 employees on site as estimated by City staff. Industrial wastewater flows 
were estimated to be 440,000 gallons per day (gpd) based on PDX63 data center campus 
information provided by data center personnel. 
 
All other industries were assumed to have 20 employees onsite per lot and have potable water 
demands corresponding to OAR 340-071-0220 Table 2. Industrial water demands were 
assumed to be 1,100 gallons per acre day (GPAD) as determined from the 2018 Umatilla 
Beneficial Reuse Feasibility Analysis (BRFA) report. Sanitary sewer flows were assumed to be 
equal to potable water flows and industrial wastewater flows were assumed to be equal to 
industrial water flows. 

 
For long-term planning purposes, the water demands and wastewater flow assumptions above 
were also applied to 880 acres of proposed light industrial land at the Army Depot site to 
adequately size the study area infrastructure that will one day serve the Army Depot.  Future 
water and wastewater infrastructure to serve the Army Depot area were not analyzed.  No 
analysis of infrastructure outside of the study area was performed. It is recommended the City 
develop a Water Master Plan and Wastewater Facility Plan in accordance with state guidelines 
to develop the possible infrastructure, such as piping and lift stations, to serve the Army Depot. 
 
The demands and flows above represent the estimated average day demand (ADD) and 
estimated average day flow (ADF), respectively. To identify the maximum day demand (MDD) 
and peak hourly demand (PHD), demand peaking factors were assumed based on data from the 
2008 Water Master Plan (WMP) and industry values in similarly sized cities. Sanitary and 
industrial sewer flows only require a peak hourly flow (PHF). A flow peaking factor equivalent to 
the PDD peaking factor was assumed based on the principle that demand inflows are equal to 
outflows. The following relationships were used to obtain MDD, PHD, and PHF: 
 

MDD = 1.6 * ADD 
PHD = 3.0 * ADD 
PHF = 3.0 * ADF 

 
Fire flows were also considered for the MDD scenario. It was assumed that the data center 
would have fire flows of 2,500 gpm for 2 hours and all light industrial lots would have fire flows 
of 3,000 gpm for 3 hours. These assumptions were based on the 2018 Umatilla BRFA. 
 
A summary of the assumed demands is given in the following table. 

243



 
 

Page 4 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

Table 1 - Demands 

Facility Type 

Number 

of Lots 

Total Water Demand 

(gpm) 

Sanitary Sewer Flows 

(gpm) 

Industrial Wastewater 

Flows (gpm) 

ADD MDD PHD ADF PHF ADF PHF 

Data Center 

     Noncontact 

     RO Reject 

1 546 874 1639 26 77  

191 

25 

 

573 

76 

Food Processing 1 139 222 417 2 4 138 413 

Packaging/Manufacturing 2 93 149 279 2 4 92 275 

Army Depot Industrial 35 59 95 178 2 4 58 174 

* Total Water Demand includes both industrial and potable demands. 

2.1.3 Manning’s “n” 
The roughness factor is used in the Manning’s formula below to relate flow in a gravity pipe (Q) 
with the cross-sectional area of the flow (A), hydraulic radius of the flow (R), and the pipe slope 
(So). 

𝑄 =  
1.49𝐴𝑅2/3

𝑆𝑜
1/2

 

Typical “n” values range from 0.009 for very smooth glass or new plastic to greater than 0.016 
for unfinished concrete. Sanitary sewer pipes, however, develop a slime layer on any pipe 
material in contact with sewage which provides a relatively consistent roughness regardless of 
material. To account for this, it was assumed that a Manning’s “n” of 0.013 would be used 
regardless of pipe material and size. 

2.1.4 Hazen-Williams “C” Coefficient 
The “C” coefficient is used in the Hazen-Williams formula below to relate flow in a pressurized 
pipe (Q) with the cross-sectional area of the flow (A), hydraulic radius of the flow (R), and the 
slope of the energy grade line (S). 

𝑄 = 1.318𝐶𝐴𝑅0.63𝑆0.54 
Typical “C” values range from 60 for rough, aged pipes to 150 for smooth, new pipes. It was 
assumed that a Hazen-Williams “C” value of 150 would be used regardless of pipe material as 
all pipes will be constructed new. 

2.1.5 Pipe Sizing Methodology 
Pipes were sized using two different methodologies depending on whether the pipe would be 
gravity fed or pressurized. 

2.1.5.1 Gravity Pipe 

All gravity pipes were sized using the Manning’s formula and the maximum depth of 
flow/diameter of pipe (d/D) indicator. This indicates how much of the pipe capacity is being 
used. When the calculated flow in a pipe reaches the point where the d/D ratio is greater than 
the maximum design d/D ratio, the pipe diameter is increased. Buildout flows were used to size 
the proposed pipes. 
 
A graduated scale for maximum d/D, dependent on the size of the pipe, was used and is given 
in the table below. This allows for a larger safety factor for smaller pipes where variations in 
land use and extensions of the service area can have large impacts on the available capacity of 

244



 
 

Page 5 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

the system. Larger pipes have a smaller safety factor because variations in land use tend to 
balance out over the larger area served by the system. Pipes smaller than 8 inches in diameter 
were not considered for this analysis and are not recommended as they are more difficult to 
maintain. 

Table 2 – Depth over Diameter Ratios for Design Pipes 

Size d/D Resultant Safety Factor 

8” 0.50 2.00 

10” 0.55 1.71 

12” 0.60 1.49 

15” 0.65 1.32 

≥ 18” 0.75 1.10 

2.1.5.2 Pressurized Pipe 

Pressurized potable water pipes were sized using the Hazen-Williams formula and the minimum 
allowable pressure criteria. Per Oregon Health Authority (OHA) OAR 333-061-0025, potable 
water mains must not have a pressure less than 20 psi at any given time. Two scenarios were 
evaluated for system pressures: MDD + Fire Flow and PDD. Pipe sizes were initially assumed to 
be 8-inch diameter pipe and were upsized as necessary to meet OHA pressure requirements.  
 
Pressurized irrigation water pipes were sized using the Hazen-Williams formula, the minimum 
allowable pressure criteria, and the maximum allowable velocity criteria. Per a 2008 publication 
by IRZ Consulting titled Irrigation Practices in the Umatilla and Morrow County Area, 
pressurized irrigation pipes must not have a pressure less than 50 psi at any given time. It is also 
considered good engineering practice to have pipe velocities below five feet per second. All 
irrigation pipe was analyzed under ADD and PHD scenarios. Pipe sizes were initially assumed to 
be 4-inch diameter pipe and were upsized as necessary to meet pressure and velocity 
requirements. 
 
Sanitary and industrial force mains were sized using the Hazen-Williams formula and the 
maximum allowable velocity criteria. Pipe velocities are not to exceed 8 feet per second (fps) 
per the State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality in Oregon Standards for Design 
and Construction of Wastewater Pump Stations. Pipe sizes were initially assumed to be 8-inch 
diameter pipe and were upsized as necessary to meet velocity requirements. 

3 WATER 
The City is evaluating the feasibility of providing potable and industrial water to the study area. 
Analysis of the proposed infrastructure did not include evaluating existing water system 
capacity, existing well capacity, existing pumping capacity, system storage needs, and water 
rights availability. The existing system capacity should be analyzed with future master planning 
efforts to determine if any portion of the system needs to be upsized to accommodate the 
study area demands. 
  

245



 
 

Page 6 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

3.1 Proposed Water Supply Infrastructure 

3.1.1 Water Main Extension 
The existing potable water main will be extended south along County Road 1225 until the end 
of the Cleaver Land. A stub will be provided at the intersection of the Cleaver Land and County 
Road 1225 to facilitate the anticipated Army Depot industrial area connection. The extension is 
sized to meet both potable and industrial water demands from the study area and the future 
Army Depot industrial lots to the southwest. 
 
Water demands for the study area were determined by applying a gallon per capita per day 
(GPCD) demand for potable needs and a gallon per acre per day (GPAD) demand for industrial 
needs. Specific values for GPCD and GPAD demands are given in section 2.1.2 above. 
 
The potential buildout water demand was calculated by multiplying the land area by the 
assumed GPAD unit demand for industrial needs and by multiplying the assumed number of 
employees by the assumed GPCD unit demand for potable needs. This calculation resulted in a 
gallon per day (GPD) value. The data center demand did not need to be converted to a per day 
value since it was already given as such. Gallons per minute (gpm) was determined from GPD. 
These average day demands (ADD) were converted to maximum day demands (MDD) and peak 
hourly demands (PHD) using the peaking factors in section 2.1.2 above. The total demands for 
each scenario are given in Table 1 above. 
 
Pipe size was determined for the preliminary layout using the Hazen-Williams equation. The 
value for the Hazen-Williams “C” coefficient is described in section 2.1.4. Resulting pipe size is 
shown in Figure 2 of Appendix A. It should be noted that the stub at the intersection of the 
Cleaver Land and County Road 1225 will need to be 16-inch pipe. Estimated costs for the water 
main extension are in Appendix B. It was assumed the City would utilize the existing right of 
way or acquire a utility easement while possessing the land therefore no easement acquisition 
cost was included in the estimate. The existing system capacity and condition was not analyzed 
therefore the cost estimate does not include costs for upsizing the existing system. 

3.1.2 Coyote Reservoir Expansion 
The 2008 WMP recommended a second Coyote Reservoir. As directed by the City, the second 
reservoir was upsized and assumed adequate to serve the study area. The second Coyote 
Reservoir was reviewed for probable cost for inclusion in this analysis. No analysis was 
completed to determine capacity needs, reservoir type, location, and sizing. It is assumed that 
improvements will be similar to those described in Chapter 4 of the 2008 WMP. Per the City’s 
request, this evaluation assumed a 1-million-gallon tank instead of the 750,000-gallon tank 
described in the 2008 WMP. The City also requested only a ground level reservoir be 
considered and to disregard the elevated reservoir alternative proposed in the 2008 WMP. 
 
Costs for a steel, ground level reservoir and appurtenances were based on costs from 
comparable projects by using a dollar per gallon amount. Estimated costs for the water storage 
expansion are in Appendix B. It should be noted that this evaluation did not analyze existing 
well capacities, water rights, nor booster station capabilities. 

246



 
 

Page 7 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

4 SANITARY SEWER 
The City is evaluating the feasibility of providing sanitary sewer service to the study area. Only 
new infrastructure was included in the analysis. The existing sanitary sewer system and 
wastewater treatment plant capacity and condition were not analyzed. The existing 
infrastructure should be analyzed with the future master planning efforts to determine if any 
portion of the system needs to be upsized to accommodate the study area flows. 

4.1 Sanitary Sewer Main Extension 
Due to the topography of the study area, it is not possible to serve the study area with only 
gravity sanitary sewer. The highest elevation is at the northwest corner of the study area and 
the land slopes steeply from that point east towards Interstate 82. Adverse slopes as high as 
24% would cause a gravity conveyance pipe to be too deep for conventional construction 
techniques; therefore, a wastewater pumping system is needed to convey flow to the existing 
collection system. All industrial lots will gravity flow to a lift station which will pump sanitary 
sewer flows west to County Road 1225 then north to County Road 1226 then west connecting 
to the existing manhole at the intersection of County Road 1225 and Dark Canyon Road as 
shown in Figure 3. The lift station and sanitary sewer pipes are sized to meet sanitary and 
“dirty” (typical strength) industrial sewer demands from industrial lots within the study area. 
Army Depot industrial lots will be served by a separate lift station on the Army Depot property 
and this lift station was not included in this analysis. 
 
Sanitary sewer demands for the study area were determined by applying a gallon per capita day 
per (GPCD) demand as described above for each worker. Industrial sanitary sewer demands 
were estimated using a gallon per acre per day (GPAD) demand for industrial sanitary sewer 
flows that will be connected to the sanitary sewer system. Specific values for GPCD and GPAD 
demands are given in section 2.1.2 above. 
 
It should be noted that domestic sanitary sewer flows are the only flows from the data center 
that will be incorporated into the sanitary sewer system. Other data center waste streams, such 
as Reverse Osmosis (RO) reject water, are assumed to be managed onsite by the industrial user 
(e.g. by evaporation). 
 
The majority of the industrial wastewater will be non-contact cooling tower industrial 
wastewater from the data center. Non-contact cooling tower industrial wastewater is 
considered “clean” or low-strength and does not require treatment; therefore, “clean” IWW 
will be collected and disposed of separately as described in section 5. 
 
Potential buildout flows were calculated by multiplying the land area by the assumed GPAD unit 
demand for industrial needs and by multiplying the assumed number of employees by the 
assumed GPCD unit demand for sanitary sewer needs. This calculation resulted in a gallon per 
day (GPD) value. Gallons per minute (gpm) was determined from GPD. The total flows are given 
in Table 1 above. 
 
The lift station was placed at the lowest elevation on the southeast corner of the proposed data 
center property. The lift station was sized to accommodate 110 % of the buildout flows from 
the study area which is approximately 1,157 gpm. This is desirable to reduce the chance of 

247



 
 

Page 8 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

overloading the lift station. All lots are served from the back and gravity flow to the lift station. 
The food processor is served by the 12-inch gravity pipe. The data center and two 
packaging/manufacturing facilities are served by the 15-inch gravity pipe as shown in Figure 3. 
A force main will then carry flows west to County Road 1225 and then north to the existing 
sanitary sewer system. It is important to note that everything east of the lift station will not be 
able to be served due to steep slopes. Further analysis should take place as part of future 
planning studies to identify the best location for the lift station. 
 
Pipe sizes were determined for the preliminary layout using Manning’s equation. Values for 
Manning’s “n” coefficient and d/D ratios are described in sections 2.1.3 and 2.1.5, respectively. 
Resulting pipe sizes are shown in Figure 3 in Appendix A. Estimated costs for the water main 
extension are included with the estimated costs for the sanitary sewer main extension in 
Appendix B. It was assumed the City would acquire an easement while possessing the land 
therefore no easement acquisition cost is included in the estimate. While no analysis of the 
existing system was performed, it is expected that the connection between the larger diameter, 
proposed sanitary sewer piping and the smaller diameter, existing piping will create a 
bottleneck. This will require all downstream infrastructure, possibly including the wastewater 
treatment plant, to be upsized to accommodate the study area flows. The cost estimate does 
not include costs for upsizing the existing system. 

5 INDUSTRIAL WASTEWATER 
The City is evaluating the feasibility of providing industrial wastewater service to the study area. 
Each industrial user has different expected industrial wastewater needs. As such, different 
collection and treatment options were analyzed for the different types of industrial 
wastewater. 

5.1 Standard Industrial Wastewater – Pretreat IWW Onsite and Convey to 
WWTP 

Standard industrial wastewater, also referred to as “dirty” (typical strength) industrial 
wastewater, is all water that has come into contact with contaminants during use and requires 
treatment. Industrial wastewater is often high-strength as compared to typical sanitary sewer 
flows. These flows must be properly treated to meet federal and state pretreatment 
requirements before they can be discharged. For the study area and Army Depot property, it is 
assumed all industrial lots will be required to pretreat their industrial wastewater to typical 
sanitary sewer strengths before they can discharge to the sanitary sewer system. Once 
discharged, study area industrial flows will be carried to the existing wastewater treatment 
plant (WWTP) for treatment and disposal as described in section 4. Due to topography, a 
separate lift station at the Army Depot property is expected to be needed to collect flows from 
the Army Depot and pump the wastewater to the existing system. There is the possibility of 
constructing an industrial wastewater treatment plant (IWWTP) on the Army Depot property. 
After construction, all industrial wastewater flows will be carried to the IWWTP and not to the 
existing WWTP. Analysis and cost estimation of an IWWTP and its collection system was not 
performed. No analysis of the existing sanitary sewer system or WWTP capacities were 
performed. Infrastructure needs for the Army Depot, including the additional lift station, were 
not evaluated and should be analyzed in future master planning efforts. 

248



 
 

Page 9 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

5.2 “Clean” Industrial Wastewater (IWW) Alternatives 
Industrial wastewater from the data center noncontact cooling tower is considered “clean” as it 
was kept within a closed system and did not come into contact with chemical or biological 
contaminants during use. Due to the low-strength nature of these flows, no treatment is 
necessary before discharging. Additionally, this “clean” IWW can be used for irrigation. Samples 
taken from a similar data center campus in Umatilla showed that total dissolved solids (TDS) 
levels were well below the 450 mg/L maximum for irrigation reuse therefore it was assumed 
that no dilution of the “clean” wastewater would be needed. 

5.2.1 Alternative 1 – Land Application to Farmland 
This alternative involves land applying the “clean” industrial wastewater to farmland just north 
of the industrial parcels during the irrigation season. The City will need to develop a contract 
with a nearby farmer and discharge the “clean” wastewater to the farmer’s irrigation system. 
At the time of this report, no conversations have been had with farmers regarding taking the 
water for irrigation. As the project is pursued and landowners are engaged, the alignment 
should be adjusted as necessary to convey IWW flow to the desired landowner and tie into 
existing piping. An irrigation water balance was calculated using the expected non-contact 
cooling IWW flow and typical values for alfalfa irrigation demand, rain, evaporation and 
temperature. The expected annual IWW flow of 48 million gallons would need approximately 
50 acres of irrigated alfalfa (at 42.25 inches of irrigation per year) to dispose of the water. Since 
some IWW is produced when irrigation demand is low, about three million gallons of storage is 
needed. If storage is not constructed, about 60 acres of irrigated alfalfa would be needed to 
receive the IWW during periods of low irrigation demand; however, supplemental irrigation 
water would be needed to meet irrigation demands during peak irrigation season. It was 
assumed that all supplemental water would be provided by the farmer and that the farmer 
would take IWW flows at all times. Graphs of the irrigation water balance on 50 acres and 60 
acres are shown in Figure 4 and Figure 5, respectively, in Appendix A. For cost estimation 
purposes, it was assumed storage would not be constructed and additional irrigation water 
would be provided by the farmer as needed.  Calculations are shown in Appendix C. 
 
Piping will be provided to convey the wastewater from the property line of the data center 
north to the farmland along County Road 1225. Pumps required for conveyance are assumed to 
be provided by the data center. All collection and distribution piping, equipment, and 
appurtenances on either the data center property or farmland is the responsibility of the 
respective landowners and was not evaluated or estimated. 
 
Pipe size was determined for the preliminary layout using the Hazen-Williams formula. The 
values for the Hazen-Williams “C” coefficient is described in section 2.1.4. The resulting pipe 
size is shown in Figure 6 in Appendix A. Estimated costs for this alternative are included in 
Appendix B. 

5.2.2 Alternative 2 – Storage and Land Application to Residential Irrigation 
This alternative involves storing the data center non-contact cooling wastewater in a storage 
facility and providing residential irrigation to nearby neighborhoods north of the study area. 
This will require a new storage facility and booster station to provide system pressurization. 
 

249



 
 

Page 10 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

Residential area lawns, perfectly maintained, have an estimated irrigation demand of 47.2 
inches. For this analysis, it was estimated that the public would only be about 50% reliable 
resulting in an assumed irrigation demand of 23.6 inches per irrigation season. 
 
As before, an irrigation water balance was calculated using the expected non-contact cooling 
IWW flow and typical values for lawn irrigation demand, rain, evaporation, and temperature. 
The expected annual IWW flow of 48 million gallons would need about 94 acres of irrigated 
lawn (at 23.6 inches of irrigation per year) to dispose of the water and 6.5 million gallons of 
storage to hold IWW when flow is greater than expected irrigation use. If the public is more 
efficient, less acreage and storage would be needed; however, a buffer is recommended. It is 
important to note that there are currently not enough residential neighborhoods between the 
Study Area and Pine Tree Avenue to fully utilize the expected annual IWW flow.  However, the 
City has several residential developments planned for the area adjacent to County Road 
1225/Powerline Road between the Study Area and Pine Tree Avenue.  It is assumed the new 
developments would provide the additional 81 acres needed to dispose of all the IWW flow and 
would require supplemental irrigation water when fully built out.  If this alternative is selected, 
an additional method for disposing of the remaining IWW flows may be needed if sufficient 
residential lawn area is not available. A graph of the irrigation water balance on 94 acres is 
shown in Figure 7 in Appendix A. Calculations are shown in Appendix C. 
 
Piping will be provided on County Road 1225 to convey the wastewater from the property line 
of the data center to the residential neighborhoods. This pipe was determined to be 8-inch 
diameter and was included in the cost estimate. All collection and distribution piping, 
equipment, and appurtenances on the data center property and in residential neighborhoods is 
the responsibility of the respective land owners and was not evaluated or estimated.  
 
The 6.5 MG storage facility would be needed to store excess “clean” industrial wastewater 
during the middle of the irrigation season when wastewater flows are greater than residential 
irrigation demands. Stored water will be irrigated when irrigation demand exceeds IWW 
production toward the end of the season. It was assumed that storage would be located 
adjacent to County Road 1225 on the data center property. The data center would be 
responsible for providing their own piping and pumping to the storage facility therefore costs 
for such were not estimated. A booster station would be needed to pump water from the 
storage facility to the residential neighborhoods.  Booster station costs were based on flow and 
no evaluation of booster station pumps, piping, and appurtenances was performed. 
 
Supplemental irrigation water is needed for the residential lawns during the beginning of the 
irrigation season and, if residents are more efficient than 50%, during the rest of the season. It 
was assumed residents would use potable water for additional irrigation from the City system. 
The two systems cannot be directly connected. It was assumed that the proposed potable 
water main extension discussed in section 3 would provide supplement irrigation via a 
connection to the proposed storage facility with a backflow prevention device. The 
infrastructure needed for this alternative was included in the cost estimate. The existing water 
rights, supplemental irrigation storage, and pumping capacities were not analyzed as part of 
this improvement. Other supplemental irrigation water options available to the City include 
utilizing the water right from the acquired study area land and utilizing the existing surface 

250



 
 

Page 11 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

water right from the Columbia River. It is recommended that these alternatives be analyzed in 
depth during future master planning efforts. 
 
Pipe size was determined for the preliminary layout using the Hazen-Williams equation. The 
values for the Hazen-Williams “C” coefficient is described in section 2.1.4. The resulting pipe 
size is shown in Figure 8 in Appendix A. Estimated costs for this alternative are included in 
Appendix B. 
  

251



 
 

Page 12 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

6 REFERENCES 
Anderson-Perry & Associates, Inc. (2008). City of Umatilla, Oregon Water System Master Plan. 

La Grande. 
IRZ Consulting, LLC (2008). Irrigation Practices in the Umatilla and Morrow County Area. 

Hermiston. 
J-U-B Engineers, Inc. (2018). City of Umatilla, Beneficial Reuse Feasibility Analysis. La Grande. 
OAR 333-061-0025. 
OAR 340-071-0220. 
State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (2001). Oregon Standards for Design and 

Construction of Wastewater Pump Stations. Portland. 
State of Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (2014). Onsite Wastewater Treatment 

Systems. Portland. 
  

252



 
 

Page 13 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

 
 
 
Appendix A – Figures 
  

253



HIGHWAY 730

3RD

I 8
2

POWER CITY

LIN
D

COUNTY ROAD 1226

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D 

12
25

HIGHWAY 395

COLUMBIA RIVER

 S.
 W

AS
HIN

GT
ON

 ST
.

 S.
 GU

M 
ST

.

. Date: Dec 24, 2019

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

Major Streets

Highway/Interstate

Railroad

Umatilla River

Study Area

Figure 1Figure 1
Study AreaStudy Area

City of UmatillaCity of Umatilla
Industrial Area

Utility Tech Memo

Not to scale

254



Food Processor

COUNTY ROAD 1226

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D 

12
25

I 8
2

Data Center

Packaging/
Manufacturing

Packaging/
Manufacturing

 S.
 W

AS
HIN

GT
ON

 ST
.

 S.
 GU

M 
ST

.

. Date: Dec 24, 2019

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

Study Area

Assumed Lot Boundaries

Parcel Boundaries

Major Streets

Highway/Interstate

Railroad

Umatilla River

Existing Potable Water Main

Proposed Water Main Pipe
16-inch

Figure 2Figure 2
Potable WaterPotable Water

City of UmatillaCity of Umatilla
Industrial Area

Utility Tech Memo

Not to scale

255



!=

Food Processor

COUNTY ROAD 1226

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D 

12
25

I 8
2

Data Center

Packaging/Manufacturing

Packaging/Manufacturing

Bottleneck
Proposed pipe is larger than existing pipe

 S.
 W

AS
HIN

GT
ON

 ST
.

 S.
 GU

M 
ST

.

. Date: Dec 24, 2019

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

Study Area

Assumed Lot Boundaries

Parcel Boundaries

Major Streets

Highway/Interstate

Railroad

Umatilla River

Existing Potable Water Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Manhole

!= Lift Station

Proposed Sanitary Sewer Pipe
12-inch Forcemain

12-inch Gravity Pipe

15-inch Gravity Pipe

Figure 3Figure 3
Sanitary SewerSanitary Sewer

City of UmatillaCity of Umatilla
Industrial Area

Utility Tech Memo

Not to scale

256



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s
Umatilla Water Balance 

47.9 MG IWW/yr,
Annual Irrigation Demand:  42.2 in/yr

Land Acreage:  50 Acres
Storage: 2.9 Million Gallons

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

Figure 4

257



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s
Umatilla Water Balance 

47.9 MG IWW/yr,
Annual Irrigation Demand:  42.2 in/yr

Land Acreage:  60 Acres
Storage: ZERO Million Gallons

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

Figure 5

258



&Ö

Food Processor

COUNTY ROAD 1226

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D 

12
25

I 8
2

Data Center

Packaging/Manufacturing

Packaging/Manufacturing

 S.
 W

AS
HIN

GT
ON

 ST
.

 S.
 GU

M 
ST

.

. Date: Jan 8, 2020

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

Study Area

Assumed Lot Boundaries

Parcel Boundaries

Major Streets

Highway/Interstate

Railroad

Umatilla River

Existing Potable Water Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Manhole

&Ö Booster Station

Proposed Industrial Wastewater Pipe
10-Inch

Figure 6Figure 6
Industrial WastewaterIndustrial Wastewater

Alternative 1Alternative 1

City of UmatillaCity of Umatilla
Industrial Area

Utility Tech Memo

Not to scale

259



0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s
Umatilla Water Balance  = 48 MG per Year IWW
Annual Irrigation Demand:  23.6 inches (50%)

Land Acreage:  94 Acres
Storage: 6.5 MG

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

Figure 67

260



")&Ö

Food Processor

COUNTY ROAD 1226

CO
UN

TY
 R

OA
D 

12
25

I 8
2

Data Center

Packaging/Manufacturing

Packaging/Manufacturing

Supplemental irrigation is provided by a
connection to the proposed potable water

pipes with a backflow prevention device

 S.
 W

AS
HIN

GT
ON

 ST
.

 S.
 GU

M 
ST

.

. Date: Mar 4, 2020

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

Study Area

Assumed Lot Boundaries

Parcel Boundaries

Major Streets

Highway/Interstate

Railroad

Umatilla River

Existing Potable Water Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Main

Existing Sanitary Sewer Manhole

") Storage Lagoon

&Ö Booster Station

Proposed Industrial Wastewater Pipe
8-Inch

Figure 8Figure 8
Industrial WastewaterIndustrial Wastewater

Alternative 2Alternative 2

City of UmatillaCity of Umatilla
Industrial Area

Utility Tech Memo

Not to scale

261



 
 

Page 14 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

 
 
 
Appendix B – Preliminary Cost Opinions  

262



Mobilization2
LS 1 $201,600 $201,600

Traffic Control3 LS 1 $34,000 $34,000

Potable Water

16 Inch C900 PVC Pipe4
LF 7,930 $107 $848,510

Sanitary Sewer

12 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 5'-10' Depth5 LF 2,060 $40 $82,400

12 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 10'-15' Depth5 LF 590 $48 $28,320

15 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 10'-15' Depth5 LF 300 $59 $17,700

15 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 15'-20' Depth5 LF 180 $68 $12,240

15 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 20'-25' Depth5 LF 430 $76 $32,680

15 Inch ASTM D3034 PVC Pipe, 25'-30' Depth5 LF 260 $83 $21,580

48 Inch Manholes, 5-10 Feet EA 8 $4,000 $32,000

48 Inch Manholes, 10-15 Feet EA 3 $4,500 $13,500

48 Inch Manholes, 15-20 Feet EA 1 $6,000 $6,000

60 Inch Manholes, 20-25 Feet EA 2 $8,500 $17,000

60 Inch Manholes, 25-30 Feet EA 1 $13,500 $13,500
12 Inch C-900 PVC Forcemain6

LF 9,900 $55 $544,500

Access Road7
TON 250 $35 $8,750

Lift Station8
LS 1 $800,000 $800,000

35% $952,000

20% $734,000

5% $183,500

1% $36,700

2% $73,400

1% $36,700

12 Topographic, Boundary, and Utility Survey includes all labor, equipment, and travel expenses to obtain existing survey information for planning and design 
purposes.
13 Legal and City Administration includes all expenses associated with financial and legal oversite by the City.
14 Construction survey includes all expenses, including labor and equipment, to conduct construction staking and construction verification/quality control checks.
15 The Total Improvement Cost reflects an estimate of potential overall project costs based on preliminary estimates, and should not be considered an actual cost or 
encompassing all scenarios and circumstances. 

5 Pipe cost includes the cost of equipment, materials, and labor of trench excavation, pipe bedding, piping, backfill, compaction, and restoration to existing 
conditions.
6 Pipe cost includes the cost of equipment, materials, and labor of trench excavation, pipe bedding, piping, restrained joints, air valves, pressure cleanouts, backfill, 
compaction, and restoration to existing conditions.

9 A contingency of 35 percent was used due to the high degree of unknown factors.  Assumes AACEI Class 4.
10 Engineering and Construction Administration includes all administrative and direct expenses to develop plans, specifications, and an engineer's estimate for 

8 Lift station cost includes the cost of equipment, materials, and labor of sitework, yard piping, submersible lift station, precast structures, and electrical and controls.

7 Access road costs include the costs of all work associated with construction of the access road including earthwork, gravel, and restoration.

11 Environmental and Cultural includes all expenses associated with environmental or cultural studies and procedures.

3 Traffic control includes all labor, material, and equipment expenses associated with safely moving traffic through the work zone including signage, flagging, 
temporary barriers, temporary pavement markings, and lane delineators.

$4,700,000

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION10

TOPOGRAPHIC, BOUNDARY, AND UTILITY SURVEY12

LEGAL AND CITY ADMINISTRATIVE13

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY14

 TOTAL IMPROVEMENT COST15

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL11

4 Pipe cost includes the cost of all equipment, material, and labor for pipe installation, excavation, bedding, backfill, earthwork, compaction, valves, fittings, fire 
hydrants, and restoration to existing conditions.

SUBTOTAL 2 $3,670,000

Domestic Water and Sewer Conveyance Systems
PLANNING LEVEL ESTIMATE

Industrial Area Utility Tech Memo

Item No. Item Description Unit Quantity
Adjusted Bid Prices

Unit Price ($) Amount ($)1

SUBTOTAL 1 $2,720,000
CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY9

1 Cost estimates are provided in 2020 dollars.  All dollar amounts are rounded for planning purposes. 
2 Mobilization includes the contractor's administrative and direct expenses to mobilize equipment, materials, and labor to the project site.

263



1 Mobilization2 LS 1               $67,000 $67,000

2 Land Acquisition3 LS 1               $75,000 $75,000

3 Site Work4 LS 1               $33,000 $33,000

4 1 MG Steel Reservoir5
LS 1               $673,000 $673,000

5 PAX Mixing System6
LS 1               $57,000 $57,000

35% $318,500

20% $246,000

5% $61,500

1% $12,300

2% $24,600

1% $12,300

11 Legal and City Administration includes all expenses associated with financial and legal oversite by the City.

9 Environmental and Cultural includes all expenses associated with environmental or cultural studies and procedures.

13 The Total Improvement Cost reflects an estimate of potential overall project costs based on preliminary estimates, and should not be considered an actual cost 
or encompassing all scenarios and circumstances.   This does not reflect the cost of all pipes and services which will increase the overall cost.

1 Cost estimates are provided in 2020 dollars.  All dollar amounts are rounded for planning purposes. 
2 Mobilization includes the contractor's administrative and direct expenses to mobilize equipment, materials, and labor to the project site.
3 Land acquisition includes the cost of obtaining additional land to construct the proposed improvements. Assume each site requiring land acquisition is half an 
acre in size.

12 Construction survey includes all expenses, including labor and equipment, to conduct construction staking and construction verification/quality control checks.

5 Reservoir costs include the costs of all work associated with reservoir construction including all materials, labor, equipment to construct the reservoir, 
foundation, and yard piping.

7 A contingency of 35 percent was used due to the high degree of unknown factors.  Assumes AACEI Class 4.
8 Engineering and Construction Administration includes all administrative and direct expenses to develop plans, specifications, and an engineer's estimate for 
construction. 

10 Topographic, Boundary, and Utility Survey includes all labor, equipment, and travel expenses to obtain existing survey information for planning and design 
purposes.

4 Site work includes the cost of excavation, grading, backfill, compaction, base rock, fencing, and site piping.

6 PAX mixing system includes the costs of the mixer, shipping and handling, start-up, and training.

Water Project - Coyote Reservoir and Booster Station Upgrades
PLANNING LEVEL ESTIMATE

Industrial Area Utility Tech Memo

Item No. Item Description Unit Quantity
Adjusted Bid Prices

Unit Price ($) Amount ($)1

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION8

TOPOGRAPHIC, BOUNDARY, AND UTILITY SURVEY10

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL9

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY12

 TOTAL IMPROVEMENT COST13

SUBTOTAL 1 $910,000

CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY7

SUBTOTAL 2 $1,230,000

$1,600,000

LEGAL AND CITY ADMINISTRATIVE11

264



Mobilization2
LS 1 $8,000 $8,000

Traffic Control3 LS 1 $9,000 $9,000
10 Inch C900 PVC Pipe4

LF 3,100 $29 $89,900

35% $38,500

20% $30,000

10% $15,000

1% $1,500

2% $3,000

1% $1,500

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL7

7 Environmental and Cultural includes all expenses associated with environmental or cultural studies and procedures.

Adjusted Bid Prices

Unit Price ($) Amount ($)1

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION6

SUBTOTAL 1 $110,000
CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY5

SUBTOTAL 2 $150,000

2 Mobilization includes the contractor's administrative and direct expenses to mobilize equipment, materials, and labor to the project site.
3 Traffic control includes all labor, material, and equipment expenses associated with safely moving traffic through the work zone including signage, flagging, 
temporary barriers, temporary pavement markings, and lane delineators.
4 Pipe cost includes the cost of all pipe, pipe installation, earthwork, compaction, valves, fittings, fire hydrants, pavement repair, and restoration associated with the 
project. Farmer to provide distribution piping.
5 A contingency of 35 percent was used due to the high degree of unknown factors.  Assumes AACEI Class 4.

TOPOGRAPHIC, BOUNDARY, AND UTILITY SURVEY8

Industrial Wastewater Conveyance Systems - Alternative 1
PLANNING LEVEL ESTIMATE

Industrial Area Utility Tech Memo

Item No. Item Description Unit Quantity

LEGAL AND CITY ADMINISTRATIVE9

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY10

 TOTAL IMPROVEMENT COST11 $200,000
1 Cost estimates are provided in 2020 dollars.  All dollar amounts are rounded for planning purposes. 

6 Engineering and Construction Administration includes all administrative and direct expenses to develop plans, specifications, and an engineer's estimate for 

8 Topographic, Boundary, and Utility Survey includes all labor, equipment, and travel expenses to obtain existing survey information for planning and design 
purposes.
9 Legal and City Administration includes all expenses associated with financial and legal oversite by the City.
10 Construction survey includes all expenses, including labor and equipment, to conduct construction staking and construction verification/quality control checks.
11 The Total Improvement Cost reflects an estimate of potential overall project costs based on preliminary estimates, and should not be considered an actual cost or 
encompassing all scenarios and circumstances. 

265



Mobilization2
LS 1 $156,000 $156,000

Traffic Control3 LS 1 $10,000 $10,000

8 Inch C900 PVC Pipe4
LF 7,050 $21 $148,050

6.5 MG Lagoon5
LS 1 $1,700,000 $1,700,000.00

Booster Station6
LS 1 $90,000 $90,000

35% $735,000

20% $568,000

3% $85,200

1% $28,400

2% $56,800

1% $28,400

12 Construction survey includes all expenses, including labor and equipment, to conduct construction staking and construction verification/quality control checks.
13 The Total Improvement Cost reflects an estimate of potential overall project costs based on preliminary estimates, and should not be considered an actual cost or 
encompassing all scenarios and circumstances. 

6 Booster pump station costs include the costs of all work associated with construction of the booster pump station including, booster pumps, site work, building 
construction, yard piping, electrical and controls, and HVAC system.
7 A contingency of 35 percent was used due to the high degree of unknown factors.  Assumes AACEI Class 4.
8 Engineering and Construction Administration includes all administrative and direct expenses to develop plans, specifications, and an engineer's estimate for 
9 Environmental and Cultural includes all expenses associated with environmental or cultural studies and procedures.
10 Topographic, Boundary, and Utility Survey includes all labor, equipment, and travel expenses to obtain existing survey information for planning and design 
purposes.
11 Legal and City Administration includes all expenses associated with financial and legal oversite by the City.

1 Cost estimates are provided in 2020 dollars.  All dollar amounts are rounded for planning purposes. 
2 Mobilization includes the contractor's administrative and direct expenses to mobilize equipment, materials, and labor to the project site.
3 Traffic control includes all labor, material, and equipment expenses associated with safely moving traffic through the work zone including signage, flagging, 
temporary barriers, temporary pavement markings, and lane delineators.
4 Pipe cost includes the cost of all pipe, pipe installation, earthwork, compaction, valves, fittings, fire hydrants, pavement repair, and restoration associated with the 
project. City to provide neighborhood distribution piping.
5 Lagoon costs include the costs of all work associated with lagoon construction including the cost of earthwork, compaction, HDPE lining, perimeter road, perimeter 
fencing, water level gauges, and piping. No land acquisition costs are needed as the City will own this property prior to construction.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL9

TOPOGRAPHIC, BOUNDARY, AND UTILITY SURVEY10

LEGAL AND CITY ADMINISTRATIVE11

CONSTRUCTION SURVEY12

 TOTAL IMPROVEMENT COST13 $3,600,000

SUBTOTAL 1 $2,100,000
CONSTRUCTION CONTINGENCY7

SUBTOTAL 2 $2,840,000

ENGINEERING AND CONSTRUCTION ADMINISTRATION8

Industrial Wastewater Conveyance Systems - Alternative 2
PLANNING LEVEL ESTIMATE

Industrial Area Utility Tech Memo

Item No. Item Description Unit Quantity
Adjusted Bid Prices

Unit Price ($) Amount ($)1

266



 
 

Page 15 of 15 

 
www.jub.com 

 
 
 
Appendix C – Calculations 

267



-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

POWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR

Annual Irrigation Demand 57.23 inches Area Irrigated 49.86 AcresIWW INFLOW 47.86 MG Storage 2.9 MG

WATER BALANCE

268



FILE: Amazon powerline road Water Balance.xlsm/Water BalancePOWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR Annual Irrigation Demand 57.23 inches Area Irrigated 49.86 Acres IWW INFLOW 47.86 MG 0.0

Flow 0.223 MGD Summer Average Storage 2.9 MG Flow 0.13 MGD Annual Average
SORAGE LAGOON W/ LAND APPLICATION ON ALFALFA DURING GROWING SEASON DRAFT WORKING DOCUMENT: 12/19/2019

AVG ANN WASTEWATER DESIGN FLOW, MGD…………………………….. 0.13 REQ'D IRRIGATION AREA (AC).......................................................................50
RAIN CATCHMENT AREA (AC)................................................................................................. 0.40 Acres of Storage Ponds

POND PERIMETER RUNOFF FRACTION........................................................................................... 1.00 AVERAGE IRRIGATION REDUCTION …………………………………….. 1.00 To reduce the average demend to design value
POND EVAP AREA AT ZERO STOR (AC)........................................................................................ 0.40 IRRIGATION EFFICIENCY (DECIMAL FRACT)............................................... 1.00 This increased the irrigationd demand due to inefficiency
POND EVAP AREA ADD PER UNIT STOR (AC/MG).................................................................... 0.033 PRECIP/AVG PRECIP RATIO....................................................................... 1.00 This increaseds the average precipitation for a wet year

EVAPORATION / AVE EVAPORATION RATION…………………………….. 1.00 This reduces the average evaporation to the design evaporation
Flow Ratio KNOW AVERAGE FLOW / DESIGN FLOW……………………………………. 1.00 This increased the flow to the future design flow

PARAMETER

11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

INPUT DATA November December January February March April May June July August September October TOTAL

MONTHLY FLOW RATIOS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01
MONTHLY FLOWS (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 0.1303             Annual Avg. Daily Flow (MGD)
GIVEN INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   
AVG PAN EVAP (IN) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   Average Annual Pan Evaporation
AVG PRECIP (IN) 1.14 1.32 1.23 0.85 0.67 0.79 0.69 0.50 0.22 0.29 0.39 0.60 8.69                 Average Annual Precipitation
MONTHLY AVE. TEMP. 42.00 34.70 34.20 38.70 46.00 52.70 60.50 67.70 74.60 73.10 73.10 52.40 Degrees F

CALCULATIONS

DAYS IN MONTH 30.0 31.0 31.0 28.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 31.0 30.0 31.0
BEGINNING STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.2 2.0 2.9 1.5
WASTEWATER FLOW (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 4.0                   Million Gallons per Month
WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 3.9 12.6 13.6 12.4 4.5 0.2 47.9                 Million Gallon Per Year
PAN COEFFICIENT 0.89 0.96 0.96 0.93 0.85 0.80 0.72 0.66 0.59 0.60 0.60 0.80
POND EVAP (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Design Annual Evaporation
EVAPORATION AREA (AC) 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.4
EVAPORATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Evaporation Volume
PRECIPITATION (IN) 1.1 1.3 1.2 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6 8.7                   Designed Annual Precipitation
PRECIPITATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1                   Precip Volume
RAIN YET TO FALL (IN) 8.7 7.6 6.2 5.0 4.2 3.5 2.7 2.0 1.5 1.3 1.0 0.6

AVG. MONTHLY Pdef (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 5.7 7.7 10.2 8.5 4.4 1.3 42.24               Average Annual Pdef
Vadose Zone Storage (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Inches Stored in The Vadose Zone
MODELED IRRIG DEMAND (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 5.7 7.7 10.2 8.5 4.4 1.3 42.24               Designed Annual Irrigation Demand
IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 6.2 7.7 10.4 13.8 11.5 5.9 1.7 57.2                 Irrigation Demand (MG)
REUSE WATER IRRIGATED 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 3.9 10.4 13.8 11.5 5.9 1.7 48.0                 Volume Reuse water Irrigated (MG)
STORAGE GAIN (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -5.5 -3.8 2.2 -0.2 0.9 -1.4 -1.5

FINAL STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 2.2 2.0 2.9 1.5 0.0

ANNUAL INFLOW SUMMARY (MG) ANNUAL OUTFLOW SUMMARY (MG) OVERALL BALANCE

WASTEWATER........................................... 47.9 POND EVAPORATION................................................... 0.0 TOTAL INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG)............................ 0.0

PRECIPITATION....................................... 0.1 POND PERCOLATION...................................... 0.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (MG)…… 2.94
GIVEN INFLOWS-OUTFLOWS................... 0.0 IRRIGATION................................................. 48.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (ACFT) 9.0

TOTAL 48.0 TOTAL 48.0 MAX. DEPTH (FT) 25.0
SURFACE AREA (AC) 1.2

SURFACE  AREA (SF) 54,330

SQUARE DIM (FT) 233

Acres Needed, vertical walls 0.4

Storage Catchment Area Large Enough

 
12/19/2019

8:23 AM

269



-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

POWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR

Annual Irrigation Demand 68.87 inches Area Irrigated 60 AcresIWW INFLOW 47.86 MG Storage 0.1 MG

WATER BALANCE

270



FILE: Amazon powerline road Water Balance.xlsm/Water BalancePOWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR Annual Irrigation Demand 68.87 inches Area Irrigated 60 Acres IWW INFLOW 47.86 MG 0.0

Flow 0.223 MGD Summer Average Storage 0.1 MG Flow 0.13 MGD Annual Average
SORAGE LAGOON W/ LAND APPLICATION ON ALFALFA DURING GROWING SEASON DRAFT WORKING DOCUMENT: 12/19/2019

AVG ANN WASTEWATER DESIGN FLOW, MGD…………………………….. 0.13 REQ'D IRRIGATION AREA (AC).......................................................................60
RAIN CATCHMENT AREA (AC)................................................................................................. 0.40 Acres of Storage Ponds

POND PERIMETER RUNOFF FRACTION........................................................................................... 1.00 AVERAGE IRRIGATION REDUCTION …………………………………….. 1.00 To reduce the average demend to design value
POND EVAP AREA AT ZERO STOR (AC)........................................................................................ 0.40 IRRIGATION EFFICIENCY (DECIMAL FRACT)............................................... 1.00 This increased the irrigationd demand due to inefficiency
POND EVAP AREA ADD PER UNIT STOR (AC/MG).................................................................... 0.033 PRECIP/AVG PRECIP RATIO....................................................................... 1.00 This increaseds the average precipitation for a wet year

EVAPORATION / AVE EVAPORATION RATION…………………………….. 1.00 This reduces the average evaporation to the design evaporation
Flow Ratio KNOW AVERAGE FLOW / DESIGN FLOW……………………………………. 1.00 This increased the flow to the future design flow

PARAMETER

11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

INPUT DATA November December January February March April May June July August September October TOTAL

MONTHLY FLOW RATIOS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01
MONTHLY FLOWS (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 0.1303             Annual Avg. Daily Flow (MGD)
GIVEN INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   
AVG PAN EVAP (IN) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   Average Annual Pan Evaporation
AVG PRECIP (IN) 1.14 1.32 1.23 0.85 0.67 0.79 0.69 0.50 0.22 0.29 0.39 0.60 8.69                 Average Annual Precipitation
MONTHLY AVE. TEMP. 42.00 34.70 34.20 38.70 46.00 52.70 60.50 67.70 74.60 73.10 73.10 52.40 Degrees F

CALCULATIONS

DAYS IN MONTH 30.0 31.0 31.0 28.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 31.0 30.0 31.0
BEGINNING STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
WASTEWATER FLOW (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 4.0                   Million Gallons per Month
WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 3.9 12.6 13.6 12.4 4.5 0.2 47.9                 Million Gallon Per Year
PAN COEFFICIENT 0.89 0.96 0.96 0.93 0.85 0.80 0.72 0.66 0.59 0.60 0.60 0.80
POND EVAP (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Design Annual Evaporation
EVAPORATION AREA (AC) 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4
EVAPORATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Evaporation Volume
PRECIPITATION (IN) 1.1 1.3 1.2 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6 8.7                   Designed Annual Precipitation
PRECIPITATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1                   Precip Volume
RAIN YET TO FALL (IN) 8.7 7.6 6.2 5.0 4.2 3.5 2.7 2.0 1.5 1.3 1.0 0.6

AVG. MONTHLY Pdef (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 5.7 7.7 10.2 8.5 4.4 1.3 42.24               Average Annual Pdef
Vadose Zone Storage (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Inches Stored in The Vadose Zone
MODELED IRRIG DEMAND (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.5 5.7 7.7 10.2 8.5 4.4 1.3 42.24               Designed Annual Irrigation Demand
IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 7.4 9.2 12.5 16.6 13.8 7.2 2.1 68.9                 Irrigation Demand (MG)
REUSE WATER IRRIGATED 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 3.9 12.5 13.7 12.4 4.5 0.3 48.0                 Volume Reuse water Irrigated (MG)
STORAGE GAIN (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -6.8 -5.3 0.1 -3.0 -1.4 -2.7 -1.8

FINAL STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

ANNUAL INFLOW SUMMARY (MG) ANNUAL OUTFLOW SUMMARY (MG) OVERALL BALANCE

WASTEWATER........................................... 47.9 POND EVAPORATION................................................... 0.0 TOTAL INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG)............................ 0.0

PRECIPITATION....................................... 0.1 POND PERCOLATION...................................... 0.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (MG)…… 0.08
GIVEN INFLOWS-OUTFLOWS................... 0.0 IRRIGATION................................................. 48.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (ACFT) 0.3

TOTAL 48.0 TOTAL 48.0 MAX. DEPTH (FT) 25.0
SURFACE AREA (AC) 1.2

SURFACE  AREA (SF) 54,330

SQUARE DIM (FT) 233

Acres Needed, vertical walls 0.0

Storage Catchment Area Large Enough

 
12/19/2019

8:28 AM

271



-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

M
il

li
o

n
 G

a
ll

o
n

s

IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG)

WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG)

FINAL STORAGE (MG)

POWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR

Annual Irrigation Demand 60.25 inches Area Irrigated 93.94 AcresIWW INFLOW 47.86 MG Storage 6.5 MG

WATER BALANCE

272



FILE: Amazon powerline road Water Balance with lawn 2.xlsm/Water BalancePOWERLINE ROAD, UMATILLA OR Annual Irrigation Demand 60.25 inches Area Irrigated 93.94 Acres IWW INFLOW 47.86 MG 0.0

Flow 0.223 MGD Summer Average Storage 6.5 MG Flow 0.13 MGD Annual Average
STORAGE LAGOON W/ LAND APPLICATION ON LAWN DURING GROWING SEASON DRAFT WORKING DOCUMENT: 12/19/2019

AVG ANN WASTEWATER DESIGN FLOW, MGD…………………………….. 0.13 REQ'D IRRIGATION AREA (AC).......................................................................94
RAIN CATCHMENT AREA (AC)................................................................................................. 0.80 Acres of Storage Ponds

POND PERIMETER RUNOFF FRACTION........................................................................................... 1.00 AVERAGE IRRIGATION REDUCTION …………………………………….. 1.00 To reduce the average demend to design value
POND EVAP AREA AT ZERO STOR (AC)........................................................................................ 0.40 IRRIGATION EFFICIENCY (DECIMAL FRACT)............................................... 1.00 This increased the irrigationd demand due to inefficiency
POND EVAP AREA ADD PER UNIT STOR (AC/MG).................................................................... 0.033 PRECIP/AVG PRECIP RATIO....................................................................... 1.00 This increaseds the average precipitation for a wet year

EVAPORATION / AVE EVAPORATION RATION…………………………….. 1.00 This reduces the average evaporation to the design evaporation
Flow Ratio KNOW AVERAGE FLOW / DESIGN FLOW……………………………………. 1.00 This increased the flow to the future design flow

PARAMETER

11 12 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

INPUT DATA November December January February March April May June July August September October TOTAL

MONTHLY FLOW RATIOS 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01
MONTHLY FLOWS (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 0.1303             Annual Avg. Daily Flow (MGD)
GIVEN INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   
AVG PAN EVAP (IN) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 -                   Average Annual Pan Evaporation
AVG PRECIP (IN) 1.14 1.32 1.23 0.85 0.67 0.79 0.69 0.50 0.22 0.29 0.39 0.60 8.69                 Average Annual Precipitation
MONTHLY AVE. TEMP. 42.00 34.70 34.20 38.70 46.00 52.70 60.50 67.70 74.60 73.10 73.10 52.40 Degrees F

CALCULATIONS

DAYS IN MONTH 30.0 31.0 31.0 28.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 30.0 31.0 31.0 30.0 31.0
BEGINNING STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 4.1 6.5 3.2
WASTEWATER FLOW (MGD) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.02 0.13 0.42 0.44 0.40 0.15 0.01 4.0                   Million Gallons per Month
WASTEWATER VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.6 3.9 12.6 13.6 12.4 4.5 0.2 47.9                 Million Gallon Per Year
PAN COEFFICIENT 0.89 0.96 0.96 0.93 0.85 0.80 0.72 0.66 0.59 0.60 0.60 0.80
POND EVAP (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Design Annual Evaporation
EVAPORATION AREA (AC) 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.6 0.5
EVAPORATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Evaporation Volume
PRECIPITATION (IN) 1.1 1.3 1.2 0.9 0.7 0.8 0.7 0.5 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.6 8.7                   Designed Annual Precipitation
PRECIPITATION VOL (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.2                   Precip Volume
RAIN YET TO FALL (IN) 8.7 7.6 6.2 5.0 4.2 3.5 2.7 2.0 1.5 1.3 1.0 0.6

AVG. MONTHLY Pdef (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2.5 3.4 4.4 4.3 3.9 3.0 1.4 23.60               Average Annual Pdef
Vadose Zone Storage (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -                   Inches Stored in The Vadose Zone
MODELED IRRIG DEMAND (IN) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.7 2.5 3.4 4.4 4.3 3.9 3.0 1.4 23.60               Designed Annual Irrigation Demand
IRRIGATION DEMAND VOLUME (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.8 6.4 8.7 11.2 11.0 10.0 7.7 3.5 60.2                 Irrigation Demand (MG)
REUSE WATER IRRIGATED 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.6 3.9 11.2 11.0 10.0 7.7 3.5 48.0                 Volume Reuse water Irrigated (MG)
STORAGE GAIN (MG) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -1.8 -5.7 -4.8 1.4 2.7 2.4 -3.2 -3.2

FINAL STORAGE (MG) 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4 4.1 6.5 3.2 0.0

ANNUAL INFLOW SUMMARY (MG) ANNUAL OUTFLOW SUMMARY (MG) OVERALL BALANCE

WASTEWATER........................................... 47.9 POND EVAPORATION................................................... 0.0 TOTAL INFLOW-OUTFLOW (MG)............................ 0.0

PRECIPITATION....................................... 0.2 POND PERCOLATION...................................... 0.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (MG)…… 6.46
GIVEN INFLOWS-OUTFLOWS................... 0.0 IRRIGATION................................................. 48.0 MAX. REQ'D STORAGE (ACFT) 19.8

TOTAL 48.1 TOTAL 48.0 MAX. DEPTH (FT) 25.0
SURFACE AREA (AC) 1.2

SURFACE  AREA (SF) 54,330

SQUARE DIM (FT) 233

Acres Needed, vertical walls 0.8

Storage Catchment Area Large Enough

 
12/19/2019

8:32 AM

273



 
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion  

City of Umatilla, Oregon 
 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
 
 
 

June 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: 
 
 
 
 

 
 

J-U-B ENGINEERS, Inc. 
1201 Adams Avenue 

La Grande, Oregon 97850 
 
  

 

274



275



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 i 

 

Table of Contents 
Introduction and Background ................................................................................ 1 

Existing Conditions ........................................................................................... 3 

Land Use ................................................................................................... 3 

Roadway Characteristics ................................................................................... 3 

Traffic Volumes ............................................................................................ 3 

Operational Analysis ....................................................................................... 5 

2040 Conditions .............................................................................................. 7 

Proposed Land Use Change ................................................................................ 7 

Forecast 2040 Traffic Volumes ............................................................................ 7 

Traffic Operations Analysis ............................................................................... 10 

Turn Lane Analysis ........................................................................................ 13 

Summary and Recommendations ........................................................................... 17 
 

List of Figures 
Figure 1. Vicinity Map ........................................................................................ 2 

Figure 2. Existing PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes and Lane Configurations ................................ 4 

Figure 3. Proposed Urban Growth Boundary Expansion and Rezone ....................................... 8 

Figure 4. 2040 No Action PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes ................................................... 9 

Figure 5. Site Generated PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes .................................................. 11 

Figure 6. 2040 PM Peak Hour Traffic Volumes with UGB Expansion and Rezone ......................... 12 
 

List of Tables 
Table 1. Level of Service Criteria for Intersections ....................................................................................... 5 

Table 2.  2020  Existing Conditions Delay, Level of Service and volume to capacity ratios .......................... 6 

Table 3. Trip Generation ............................................................................................................................. 10 

Table 4. 2040  Delay, Level of Service and volume to capacity ratios ........................................................ 13 

 

Appendices 
Appendix A – Traffic Counts 
Appendix B–  Level of Service Worksheets 
Appendix C – City of Umatilla Plan Map 
Appendix D – Traffic Growth Calculations 

 

276



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 1 

 

Introduction and Background 
 
Cleaver Land, LLC is preparing an application proposing a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to expand 
the City of Umatilla Urban Growth Area and associated Zoning Map for economic development 
purposes.  There is interest in development on property with good highway access adjacent to the 
existing Umatilla City limits. 
 
The proposed Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion includes two parcels, Tax Lots 1400 and 6601 
on Assessors Map 5N28C totaling approximately 147 acres situated between Powerline Road and I-82 
south of the current city limits. The proposed UGB expansion would add the remainder of Tax lot 1400, 
107.66 acres, and all of Tax Lot 6601, 39.09 acres, into the UGB. This property would be brought into the 
UGB as Light Industrial land.  A rezone of approximately 294 acres, situated immediately north of the 
expansion area, from residential to Light Industrial is also part of the land use action. The area for the 
UGB Expansion and rezone totaling 441 acres to be rezoned as Light Industrial is shown in Figure 1. This 
report provides the Traffic Impact Analysis of the UGB expansion and rezoning.  
 
This Traffic Impact Analysis has been requested by the City of Umatilla to document potential traffic 
impacts as a result of the proposed 147 acre UGB expansion and rezone of the 294 acre parcel.  This 
study will summarize existing traffic conditions (2020) as well as future traffic operational conditions in 
2040 with and without the anticipated action of the UGB rezone and expansion. This study also 
identifies mitigation that may be necessary to provide safety and acceptable Levels of Service (LOS) in 
order to meet City of Umatilla and Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) standards.  ODOT 
relies on the Volume-To-Capacity (VC) Ratio as the measure of quality of service.  VC represents the 
measurement of the operating capacity of a roadway or intersection where the number of vehicles 
passing through is divided by the number of vehicles that could theoretically pass through when at 
capacity. If vehicles (v) divided by capacity (c) is less than one the facility has additional capacity. 

 
 
  

277



§̈¦82

HIGHWAY 730

PO
WE

RL
IN

E 
RD

UMATILLA RIVER RD

3RD ST

HIGHWAY 730
COONEY LN

6TH ST

LIN
D 

RD

HIGHWAY 395 N

SU
NS

HIN
EL

N

RADAR RD

SUNSHINELN

BOWDIN LN

COUNTRY LN

POTATO LN

Oregon Statewide Imagery Program (OSIP) - Oregon Imagery Framework
Implementation Team

#

STUDY AREA

CITY OF
UMATILLA

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis
FIGURE 1:

VICINITY MAP

Legend
Study Area
Umatilla UGB
City of Umatilla

278



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 3 

 

Existing Conditions 
 
This section will document existing conditions with respect to land use, roadway characteristics, traffic 
volumes and traffic operations at the study intersections.   
 
Land Use 
Land use of the 294 acres parcel within the current city limits is zoned residential but currently functions 
as agricultural production.  Crops regularly in rotation are potatoes, onions, corn, legumes and recently 
hemp.  The 147 acres to be expanded into the UGB is zoned agricultural which is consistent with the 
immediate vicinity and zoning in the area.  There is, however, substantial residential subdivision growth 
north of the subject UGB expansion.   
 
Roadway Characteristics 
Roadways are described below, while the lane geometry for study intersections and existing PM peak 
hour traffic volumes are shown in Figure 2. 
 
Powerline Road is a north-south Major Collector that provides a connection from an I-82 interchange 
(Exit 5) to the south to an intersection with US 730 to the north in the City of Umatilla. South, Powerline 
Road crosses over I-82 and intersects Westland Road 2.7 miles south of I-82. Powerline Road has a single 
through lane in each direction. The 12 foot lanes are paved with minimal gravel shoulders. The north 0.5 
mile prior to US 730 has paved shoulders. The speed limit of Powerline Road from the intersection of US 
730 south 1.4 miles is posted 35 MPH then the speed limit is increased to 45 MPH to MP 2. South of MP 
2 the assumed speed limit is 55 MPH per rural highway standards in Oregon.  
 
I-82 is an east-west divided Interstate Highway which connects I-90 at Ellensburg, WA to I-84 
approximately 10.5 miles south of the Oregon-Washington border.  There are two lanes in each 
direction separated by a center median.  It has a posted speed limit of 70 MPH (65 MPH Trucks).  At the 
I-82 Interchange with Powerline road single lane approaches exist for all movements at both ramps.  In 
the study area I-82 is oriented in a north-south direction, thus for clarity and for the purposes of this 
report I-82 westbound will be referred to as northbound, with the ramps being the east and west legs of 
the intersection at Powerline Road which also runs north/south, and I-82 eastbound will be referred to 
as southbound with the ramps being the east and west legs of the intersection at Powerline Road. 
  
US 730 in the vicinity of the intersection with Powerline Road is a 3 lane principal arterial Highway with 
one through lane in each direction and a center turn lane (although the west leg of the intersection at 
Powerline Road is not striped such that it promotes a northbound left turn into the center lane). US 730 
has wide paved shoulders on both sides. US 730 terminates at I-84 west of Umatilla and terminates at 
the Wallula Junction to the east. At the Intersection with Powerline Road the posted speed is 40 MPH.   
 
Traffic Volumes 
Turning movement counts were collected by All Traffic Data (provided to PBS for a separate TIA) 
collected on March 4, 2020 prior to the COVID-19 stay at home orders.  PM peak period traffic at the 
intersection of US 730 /Powerline Road as well as the I-82 SB Ramps/Powerline Road and I-82 NB 
Ramps/Powerline Road are included in Appendix A.  The PM peak hour occurred from 4:05 – 5:05 at US 
730 and from 4:45 – 5:45 PM for both ramp intersections.   

279



2ND ST

CO
ON

EY
 LN

PO
WE

RL
IN

E 
RD

UMATILLA
RIV ER

RD

JOY
LN

HIGHWAY 730

RADAR RD

COUNTRY LN

POTATO LN

Oregon Statewide Imagery Program (OSIP) - Oregon Imagery Framework
Implementation Team

5
1

52

9 75

à

ã á

à

ã
á

1
13

6
!"$

ã

¹

290
141

39 84

410
77

à

ã

á ã !"$àá

11
6 4

22
1
5

à
á ã

ã

á

à

ã

11
5 45!" $

         Lane Configuration
345 - PM Peak Hour Volumes
         Stop Sign!"$

à

ã

FIGURE 2:
EXISTING PM PEAK HOUR
TRAFFIC VOLUMES AND 
LANE CONFIGURATIONS

§̈¦82

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis

Study Area

280



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 5 

 

Operational Analysis 
The analysis of Level-of-Service (LOS) is a means of quantitatively describing the quality of operational 
conditions of a roadway segment or intersection and the perception by motorists and passengers.  
Service levels are identified by letter designation, A – F, with LOS “A” representing the best operating 
conditions and LOS “F” the worst.  Each LOS represents a range of operating conditions. For 
intersections the measure used is average control delay in seconds per vehicle.  While there are several 
methodologies for estimating the LOS of intersections, the most commonly used is presented in the 
Highway Capacity Manual and is the methodology used in this study (HCM 2010).  The Highway Capacity 
Manual LOS criteria for intersections are summarized in Table 1.  
 
Table 1. Level of Service Criteria for Intersections 

Level of Service 
 (LOS) 

Average Control Delay (seconds/vehicle) 
Signalized 

Intersections 
Unsignalized 
Intersections 

A < =10 < =10 
B >10 - < 20 >10 - < 15 
C >20 - < 35 >15 - < 25 
D >35 - < 55 >25 - < 35 
E >55 - < 80 >35 - < 50 
F >80 >50 

Source: Highway Capacity Manual 6th Edition, Transportation Research 
Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 2017. 

 
For unsignalized intersections “delay” is based on the availability of gaps in the major street to allow 
minor street movements to occur.  The methodology prioritizes each movement at an unsignalized 
intersection consistent with rules that govern right-of-way for drivers.  In other words, major street 
through and right turn traffic has absolute priority over all other movements. Major street left turns 
must yield to opposing through traffic and right turns.  Minor street through traffic and right turns yield 
to major street higher priority movements, and the minor street left turns have the lowest priority and 
must yield to all other movements. As traffic volumes increase, the availability of gaps will decrease and 
greater delay tends to result in driver frustration and anxiety, loss of time, unnecessary fuel 
consumption, and contributes to unnecessary air pollution.  The City of Umatilla Transportation System 
Plan references ODOT’s minimum requirements which has LOS D for signalized intersections (meaning 
the LOS must be D or better), and LOS E for two-way stop controlled (TWSC) conditions.  ODOT has a 
mobility standard of a v/c ratio of 0.85 or less for Highway 730 at Powerline road based on its 
classification and location.  ODOT also has a mobility standard of a v/c ratio of 0.70 or less for interstate 
highways for locations outside a UGB and on rural lands.  This standard would apply to the two 
interchange ramps of I-82 at Powerline Road. 
 
Peak hour traffic volumes and existing intersection geometry were evaluated using the Highway 
Capacity Software to determine the delay and LOS at the existing study intersections.  The LOS 
worksheet calculations are included in Appendix B.  The results of the capacity analysis are shown in 
Table 2, which shows that all study intersections currently function at acceptable Levels of Service with 
the two I-82 ramps providing LOS B, and the Powerline Road/US 730 intersection providing LOS C with 
23 seconds of average vehicle delay. 
 

281



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 6 

 

Table 2.  2020  Existing Conditions Delay, Level of Service and volume to capacity ratios 
 

 Intersection 2020 Existing 

I-82 SB ramps/Powerline Road WB – 10.4/B, 0.09 

I-82 NB ramps/Powerline Road EB—10.2/B, 0.04 

US 730/Powerline Road NB—23.0/C, 0.41 
WBL—9.2/A, 0.16 

LEGEND  
 

 10.4/B, 0.09           Delay (in seconds) and Level of Service, volume to capacity ratio 
 NB = northbound, SB = southbound, WB = westbound, EB = eastbound 

 
  

282



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 7 

 

2040 Conditions 
This section evaluates traffic volumes at the study intersections for future conditions with the proposed 
UGB Expansion and Rezone as well as under the No Action Scenario. 

Proposed Land Use Change  
The proposed land use action includes 294 acres currently within the City limits and zoned R-1 Single Family 
Residential to be rezoned to Light Industrial.  It also includes expansion of the Urban Growth Boundary by 
147 acres of currently zoned agricultural land to be zoned Light Industrial for a total of 441 acres of Light 
Industrial land. This is shown in Figure 3.   The current City of Umatilla Plan Map showing existing zoning is 
included in Appendix C. 

Forecast 2040 Traffic Volumes  
As is typical with most traffic studies, a growth rate for background traffic is used to apply to existing traffic 
volumes to account for growth in traffic that is the result of development outside the study area.  The 
Coordinated Population Forecast for Umatilla County produced by Population Research Center at Portland 
State University indicates a forecast population growth rate of 1.1% per year for the City of Umatilla.  For 
the purposes of this analysis a background growth rate of 1.5% was used to represent a conservatively high 
growth rate for traffic forecasting purposes.  Added to this growth were trips for a recently approved 
residential development that is anticipated to add trips to the Powerline Road/US 730 intersection.  The 
resulting 2040 No Action Traffic Volumes are shown in Figure 4, with detailed trips by movement included in 
Appendix D. 

To estimate the new trips that could be generated by the proposed rezone and UGB Expansion the 10th 
Edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual was used.  This is a 
nationally recognized compilation of trip generation rates for common land uses.  There is no specific 
development layout to use for development projections.  

General Light Industrial (Land Use 110) fitted curve was used.  To estimate the potential square footage 
of development for the site a floor area of 20% was applied to the 441 acres, resulting in 3.841 million 
square feet.  Using the fitted curve equations in the ITE manual the resulting trips shown in Table 3 are 
anticipated upon build-out of the proposed industrial land. 

By comparison, the trips for Single Family Residential is also shown in Table 3.  The number of potential 
homes that could be constructed on the 294 acres of currently zoned residential land was estimated by 
reducing the total land by 25% to account for buildable lands, right-of-way, stormwater, etc. and 
dividing by a lot size of 7,000 sq ft, resulting in 1,372 potential residential lots.  The fitted curve 
equations are shown in Table 3. 

Examination of Table 3 shows that the proposed 441 acres of light industrial land would generate 
approximately 458 PM peak hour trips.  The existing zoning of 294 acres of residential would generate 
approximately 1,256 PM peak hour trips.  Thus, even with the UGB Expansion under this proposal, the 
rezone from residential to light industrial is likely to reduce the total trips generated by the 441 acres by 
nearly 800 trips during the PM peak hour.  This would indicate that the combined UGB 
Expansion/rezone proposed land use action would have significantly less impact than the current zoning 
of the land in question. 

 

 

283



§̈¦82

PO
WE

RL
IN

E R
D

RADAR RD

COUNTRY LN

P O T A T O L N

Oregon Statewide Imagery Program (OSIP) - Oregon Imagery Framework
Implementation Team

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis
FIGURE 3: 

PROPOSED URBAN
GROWTH BOUNDARY 

EXPANSION AND REZONE

Legend
City Limits
Urban Growth Boundary
Proposed Plan/Map
Amendment Area
New Light Industrial Add By
UGB Expansion

¹

284



2ND ST

CO
ON

EY
 LN

PO
WE

RL
IN

E 
RD

UMATILLA
RIV ER

RD

JOY
LN

HIGHWAY 730

RADAR RD

COUNTRY LN

POTATO LN

Oregon Statewide Imagery Program (OSIP) - Oregon Imagery Framework
Implementation Team

10
0

70

10 10
0

5
18

5
!"$

à

ã

à

ã á

ã
á

¹

390
220

90 13
0

550
130

à

ã

!"$àáá ã

15
5 5

30
0

10 15
5 60!" $

à
á ã

à

ã ã

á

         Lane Configuration
345 - PM Peak Hour Volumes
         Stop Sign!"$

à

ã

FIGURE 4:
2040 NO ACTION
PM PEAK HOUR

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

§̈¦82

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis

Study Area

285



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 10 

 

Table 3. Trip Generation  

Description
/ ITE Code Units 

ITE Vehicle Trip Generation Rates  
Expected 

Units 

Total Trips Distribution 
of Trips  

Weekday PM  PM 
In 

PM 
Out Daily PM 

Hour 
PM 
In 

PM 
Out 

General 
Light 
Industrial   
110 

1,000 sq 
ft 

T = 3.79(X) 
+ 57.96  

Ln(T) = 
¡.69 Ln(X¡ 

+ 0.43  
13% 87% 3,842 14,620 458 60 398 

Single 
Family 
Residential 
210 

Dwelling 
Unit  

Ln(T) = 
0.92 Ln{X) 

+ 2.71  

Ln(T) = 
0.96 Ln(X) 

+ O.2O  
63% 37% 1,372 11,570 1,256 791 465 

 
To distribute the new 458 PM peak hour trips to the study intersections, an examination of traffic 
volumes in the study area considered in conjunction with the roadway network and the type of 
development proposed, resulted in the following trip distribution percentages: 

 10% to/from the south on I-82 
 15% to/from the north on I-82 
 20% to/from the south on Powerline towards Hermiston 
 25% to/from the west on US 730 
 30% to/from the east on US 730 

 
These percentages account for deliveries that will use I-82 more than the current traffic patterns, and 
the proximity to I-82 may lend itself to some northbound traffic to access the freeway at Powerline Road 
rather than using US 730.  These percentages are also conservatively high in that they do not discount 
for employees that could live off Powerline to the north but south of US 730.  Trip distribution 
percentages along with the resulting site generated trips are shown in Figure 5.  Traffic volumes shown 
in Figure 5 were added to the No Action volumes shown in Figure 4 to estimate total 2040 PM peak hour 
traffic volumes with the UGB expansion and associated rezone that are shown in Figure 6. 
 
Traffic Operations Analysis 
The traffic volumes shown in Figures 4 and 6 were evaluated for traffic operations to determine the 
anticipated delay and Level of Service for 2040 Conditions under the No Action Scenario as well as with 
the UGB Expansion and associated Rezone.  The results of the analysis are summarized in Table 4, with 
the LOS worksheets included in Appendix B. 
 
As shown in Figure 4, under the No Action scenario, the two I-82 interchange ramps are anticipated to 
function at LOS B with relative low delay.  The intersection of Powerline Road, however, is anticipated to 
have significant delay with over 300 seconds for the northbound approach.  As noted earlier, US 730 has 
very wide shoulders as well as a two-way left turn lane that is not specifically striped to receive a 
northbound left turn from Powerline Road.  An analysis was performed to determine appropriate 
mitigation.  It was found that if the west leg were restriped to include an eastbound right turn lane and 
to accommodate left turns into the two way left turn lane, along with an exclusive northbound left turn 
lane, that acceptable LOS could be provided with the delay for the northbound left turn reduced to 39 
seconds for LOS E. 

286



<-1
5%

->

20%<-1
0%

->

<--25%-->
<-30%->

ã

ã

2ND ST

CO
ON

EY
 LN

PO
WE

RL
IN

E 
RD

UMATILLA
RIVE R

RD

HIGHWAY 730

RADAR RD

COUNTRY LN

POTATO LN

10
0
0

40 14
0

0 25
!"$

ã
á

à

ã á

à

ã

¹

0
20

10
0

12
0

0
15

à
ã

!"$àáá ã

80 60

5
0
0 20 0!" $

à

ãà
á ã

ã

á

110
90

15 20

11
0 15

!"$

ã

á

à

ã à
á

110
90

90 15

15 20
!"$

à

ã à
á

ã

á

         Lane Configuration
345 - PM Peak Hour Volumes
         Stop Sign!"$

à

ã

FIGURE 5:
SITE GENERATED
PM PEAK HOUR

TRAFFIC VOLUMES

§̈¦82

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis
287



2ND ST

CO
ON

EY
 LN

PO
WE

RL
IN

E 
RD

UMATILLA
RIVE R

RD

HIGHWAY 730

RADAR RD

COUNTRY LN

POTATO LN

20
0

70

50 24
0

5
21

0
!"$

ã
á

à

ã á

à

ã

¹

390
240

17
0

25
0

550
145

à
ã

!"$àáá ã

23
5 65

35
0

10 17
5 60!" $

à

ãà
á ã

ã

á

110
90

11
0 20

34
0 15

!"$

ã

á

à

ã à
á

110
90

20
0 15

21
0 20

!"$

à

ã à
á

ã

á

         Lane Configuration
345 - PM Peak Hour Volumes
         Stop Sign!"$

à

ã

FIGURE 6:
2040 PM PEAK HOUR

TRAFFIC VOLUMES WITH
UGB EXPANSION AND REZONE

§̈¦82

CITY OF UMATILLA
Urban Growth Bounday Expansion

Traffic Impact Analysis
288



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 13 

 

Table 4. 2040  Delay, Level of Service and Volume to Capacity Ratios 
 

 Intersection 2020 Existing 2040 No Action 2040 With UGB Expansion 
and Rezone 

I-82 SB ramps/Powerline Road WB – 10.4/B, 0.09 
 

WB—11.1/B, 0.13 WB—13.1/B,0.18 

I-82 NB ramps/Powerline Road EB—10.2/B, 0.04 
 

EB—10.8/B, 0.07 EB—13.2/B, 0.10 

US 730/Powerline Road NB—23.0/C, 0.41 
WBL—9.2/A, 0.16 

NB—322.8/F, 1.54 
WBL—10.9/B, 0.29 

NB—1066/F, 3.23 
WBL—11.3/B, 0.32 

(1) NBL—39.0/E, 0.49 
WBL—10.9/B, 0.29 

(1) NB—120.4/F, 1.01 
WBL—11.3/B, 0.32 

LEGEND    
10.4/B, 0.09           Delay (in seconds) and Level of Service, volume to capacity ratio 
NB = northbound, SB = southbound, WB = westbound, EB = eastbound 

(1) Includes exclusive NB left turn lane, exclusive EB right turn lane and restriping for a receiving lane WB for NB 
left turn traffic to use the two-way left-turn lane. 

 
 
With the UGB Expansion and associated rezone, acceptable LOS/delay is again provided at the two I-82 
ramps.  Even greater delay is expected at the Powerline Road/US 730 intersection.  The improvements 
described above for the No Action scenario (restriping for an eastbound right turn lane and westbound 
receiving lane for the two-way left turn lane, and northbound left turn lane) will help significantly, but 
will still not achieve acceptable LOS.  The intersection of Powerline Road/US 730 will need a higher level 
of traffic control such as a traffic signal or roundabout.  A sensitivity analysis was conducted to 
determine what level of growth could occur prior to the need for a traffic signal.  It was found that 10 
years of background growth and 50% of the site generated trips could be added to the intersection 
while still providing acceptable LOS if the low cost improvements described above were implemented.   

 
Turn Lane Analysis 
An evaluation of left and right turn lanes, for the 2040 PM Peak traffic with the UGB expansion and 
rezoning, on US 730 and Powerline Road and at the two I-82 interchange ramp locations was performed.  
The ODOT Analysis Procedures Manual (APM) states:   

“A left turn lane improves safety and increases the capacity of the roadway by reducing the speed 
differential between the through and the left turn vehicles.  Furthermore, the left turn lane provides 
the turning vehicle with a potential waiting area until acceptable gaps in the opposing traffic allow 
them to complete the turn.” 

“The purpose of a right turn lane at an unsignalized intersection is to improve safety and to 
maximize the capacity of a roadway by reducing the speed differential between the right turning 
vehicles and the other vehicles on the roadway.”  

Exhibits 12-1 and 12-2 from the April 2020 ODOT Analysis Procedures Manual Version 2, were used to 
determine the need for turn lanes at the three study intersections.  
 

289



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 14 

 

Examination of Exhibit 12-1 shows that the intersection of Powerline Road and the southbound I-82 on 
ramp will not require an exclusive left turn lane. The northbound Powerline Road advancing traffic 
equals 215 vehicles of which only 5 vehicles turn left to the I-82 eastbound on ramp. The single shared 
through and left lane is sufficient given the 290 opposing southbound vehicles. Note there are no 
opposing left turns due to the one-way ramp intersection.  
 
Examination of Exhibit 12-1 shows that the intersection of Powerline Road and the northbound I-82 on 
ramp will require an exclusive left turn lane. The southbound Powerline Road advancing traffic equals 
300 vehicles of which 65 vehicles turn left to the I-82 northbound on ramp towards Umatilla. A single 
shared through and left lane exceeds the ODOT requirement given the 235 opposing northbound 
vehicles. Note there are no opposing left turns due to the one-way ramp intersection. The speed limit of 
Powerline Road is 55 MPH although the 95% percentile could logically be less but examination of Exhibit 
12-1, even a much lesser speed would still require the left turn lane. Design of this additional lane will 
need to consider the proximity to the I-82 overpass structure.   A sensitivity analysis indicated that 
approximately 33% of the industrial land and background growth could occur without the need for the 
left turn lane based on the assumptions of this study.  
 
Examination of Exhibit 12-2 shows that the intersection of Powerline Road and eastbound I-82 on ramp 
will require an exclusive right turn lane. The southbound Powerline Road approaching volume is 290 
peak hourly vehicles of which 50 are turning right on to the eastbound I-82 on ramp. The speed limit for 
Powerline Road is 55 MPH.   Sensitivity analysis revealed that this right turn lane would not be needed 
until approximately 80% of the background growth and industrial land were developed. 
 
Examination of Exhibit 12-2 shows that the intersection of US 730 and Powerline Road will require an 
exclusive right turn lane for the eastbound US 730 to southbound Powerline Road movement. The 
eastbound US 730 approaching volume equals 695 peak hour vehicles of which 145 will turn right on 
Powerline Road southbound. The speed limit for US 730 is 40 MPH at this location.   Given the results of 
this analysis the traffic volumes for existing conditions were also evaluated and are shown in the exhibit 
as well.  This indicates that an eastbound right turn lane is currently warranted at the Powerline 
Road/US 730 intersection. 
 
 
 
 
 
  

290



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 15 

 

 
 
 

  2040 with UGB – NB Powerline Road/ -I-82 SB On Ramp  

2040 with UGB  - SB Powerline Road/I-82 NB On Ramp  

Speed Limit 55 MPH 

291



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 16 

 

 
  2040 with UGB – SB Powerline Road/I-82 SB On Ramp  

2040 with UGB – NB  Powerline Road/I-82 NB On Ramp 

2040 with UGB – US 730/Powerline Road  

Existing – US 730/Powerline Road  

 

 
  

292



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 17 

 

Summary and Recommendations 
Cleaver Land, LLC is preparing an application proposing a Comprehensive Plan Amendment to expand 
the City of Umatilla Urban Growth Area and associated Zoning Map.  There is interest in development on 
property with good highway access adjacent to the existing Umatilla city limits for economic 
development purposes.  
 
The proposed Urban Growth Boundary (UGB) expansion includes two parcels, Tax Lots 1400 and 6601 
on Assessors Map 5N28C totaling approximately 147 acres situated between Powerline Road and I-82 
south of the current city limits. The proposed UGB expansion would add the remained of Tax lot 1400, 
107.66 acres, and all of Tax Lot 6601, 39.09 acres, into the UGB. This property would be brought into the 
UGB as Light Industrial land.  A rezone of approximately 294 acres, situated immediately north of the 
expansion area, from residential to Light Industrial is also part of the land use action.  
 
Three study intersections of Powerline Road at the I-82 northbound and southbound ramps as well as at 
US 730 have been evaluated for existing conditions, 2040 No Action and 2040 with the Urban Growth 
Boundary Expansion and associated Rezone. 
 
New trips that could be generated by the proposed rezone and UGB Expansion were estimated with 
over 3.8 million square feet of Light Industrial development potential.  It is anticipated that this level of 
development could generate 458 PM peak hour trips.  By comparison, however, the trips for Single 
Family Residential which is the current zoning that could accommodate approximately 1,372 residential 
lots, could generate 1,256 PM peak hour trips.   Thus, even with the UGB Expansion under this proposal, 
the rezone from residential to light industrial is likely to reduce the total trips generated by the 441 
acres by nearly 800 trips during the PM peak hour.  This would indicate that the combined UGB 
Expansion/rezone proposed land use action would have significantly less impact than the current zoning 
of the land in question. 

Capacity analysis of the three study intersections indicates that they all function with acceptable Levels 
of Service.  For the 2040 No Action Scenario the I-82 interchange ramps will function with good LOS, 
however the intersection of Powerline Road/US 730 will need an exclusive northbound left turn and 
restriping of the west leg to accommodate an exclusive right turn lane and westbound receiving lane for 
northbound left turns to utilize the two-way left-turn nature of US 730. 
 
With the UGB Expansion and associated rezone, acceptable LOS/delay is again provided at the two I-82 
ramps.  Even greater delay is expected at the Powerline Road/US 730 intersection.  The improvements 
described above for the No Action scenario will help significantly, but will still not achieve acceptable 
LOS.  The intersection of Powerline Road/US 730 will need a higher level of traffic control such as a 
traffic signal or roundabout.  The traffic signal would likely be required at about 10 years of background 
growth and 50% of the site generated trips if the low cost improvements described above were 
implemented.   

An evaluation of the need for left and right turns for safety purposes was also performed.  A southbound 
right turn at the southbound I-82 ramps will be needed at approximately 80% of the background growth 
and 80% of the industrial development.  A southbound left turn will be needed at the I-82 northbound 
ramps at approximately 33% of the background growth and 33% of the industrial development. 
 

293



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
May 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 5-15-20 18 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Traffic Counts 
  

294



295



296



297



298



299



300



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
June 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 6-18-20 19 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX B 
 

Level of Service Worksheets 
  

301



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 SB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 SB ramps

Analysis Year 2020 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.84

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR LT TR

Volume, V (veh/h) 52 1 5 1 136 75 9

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 69 1

Capacity, c (veh/h) 738 1485

v/c Ratio 0.09 0.00

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.3 0.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.4 7.4

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 10.4 0.1

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:05:48 PM
I84-SB ramps 2020 Existing.xtw 302



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 NB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 NB ramps

Analysis Year 2020 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.89

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR TR LT

Volume, V (veh/h) 22 1 5 115 45 4 116

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 32 4

Capacity, c (veh/h) 725 1388

v/c Ratio 0.04 0.00

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.1 0.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.2 7.6

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 10.2 0.2

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:12:40 PM
I84-NB ramps 2020 Existing.xtw 303



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2020 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.88

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Configuration TR L T LR

Volume, V (veh/h) 410 77 141 290 39 84

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 160 139

Capacity, c (veh/h) 1010 337

v/c Ratio 0.16 0.41

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.6 2.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 9.2 23.0

Level of Service, LOS A C

Approach Delay (s/veh) 3.0 23.0

Approach LOS C

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:36:20 PM
US 730 Powerline 2020 Existing.xtw 304



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 SB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 SB ramps

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion - No Action

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR LT TR

Volume, V (veh/h) 70 0 10 5 185 100 10

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 89 6

Capacity, c (veh/h) 676 1457

v/c Ratio 0.13 0.00

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.5 0.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 11.1 7.5

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 11.1 0.2

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 3:59:30 PM
I84-SB ramps 2040 No Action.xtw 305



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 NB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 NB ramps

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion - No Action

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR TR LT

Volume, V (veh/h) 30 0 10 155 60 5 155

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 44 6

Capacity, c (veh/h) 660 1320

v/c Ratio 0.07 0.00

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.2 0.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.8 7.7

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 10.8 0.3

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:14:18 PM
I84-NB ramps 2040 No Action.xtw 306



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion - No Action

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Configuration TR L T LR

Volume, V (veh/h) 550 130 220 390 90 130

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 244 244

Capacity, c (veh/h) 850 159

v/c Ratio 0.29 1.54

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 1.2 16.3

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.9 322.8

Level of Service, LOS B F

Approach Delay (s/veh) 3.9 322.8

Approach LOS F

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/15/2020 12:36:54 PM
US 730 Powerline 2040 No Action.xtw 307



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion-No Action-Mit w/turns

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0

Configuration T R L T L R

Volume, V (veh/h) 550 130 220 390 90 130

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 244 100 144

Capacity, c (veh/h) 850 202 492

v/c Ratio 0.29 0.49 0.29

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 1.2 2.5 1.2

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.9 39.0 15.3

Level of Service, LOS B E C

Approach Delay (s/veh) 3.9 25.0

Approach LOS D

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/15/2020 12:34:33 PM
US 730 Powerline 2040 No Action mitigated with turn lanes.xtw 308



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 NB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 NB ramps

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion with Rezone

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR TR LT

Volume, V (veh/h) 35 0 10 175 60 65 235

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 50 72

Capacity, c (veh/h) 489 1296

v/c Ratio 0.10 0.06

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.3 0.2

Control Delay (s/veh) 13.2 7.9

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 13.2 2.1

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:15:34 PM
I84-NB ramps 2040 with Rezone.xtw 309



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection I-84 SB ramps/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street I-84 SB ramps

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation North-South Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion with Rezone

Lanes

Major Street: North-South

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 10 11 12 7 8 9 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6

Number of Lanes 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0

Configuration LTR LT TR

Volume, V (veh/h) 70 0 20 5 210 240 50

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 7.1 6.5 6.2 4.1

Critical Headway (sec) 6.43 6.53 6.23 4.13

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.5 4.0 3.3 2.2

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 3.53 4.03 3.33 2.23

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 100 6

Capacity, c (veh/h) 546 1230

v/c Ratio 0.18 0.00

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.7 0.0

Control Delay (s/veh) 13.1 7.9

Level of Service, LOS B A

Approach Delay (s/veh) 13.1 0.2

Approach LOS B

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:01:38 PM
I84-SB ramps 2040 with Rezone.xtw 310



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion-with Rezone

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0

Configuration TR L T LR

Volume, V (veh/h) 550 145 240 390 170 250

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Undivided

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 267 467

Capacity, c (veh/h) 838 145

v/c Ratio 0.32 3.23

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 1.4 44.2

Control Delay (s/veh) 11.3 1066.0

Level of Service, LOS B F

Approach Delay (s/veh) 4.3 1066.0

Approach LOS F

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/14/2020 4:34:32 PM
US 730 Powerline 2040 with Rezone.xtw 311



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2040 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion-with Rezone

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0

Configuration T R L T L R

Volume, V (veh/h) 550 145 240 390 170 250

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 267 189 278

Capacity, c (veh/h) 838 187 492

v/c Ratio 0.32 1.01 0.57

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 1.4 8.5 3.5

Control Delay (s/veh) 11.3 120.4 21.4

Level of Service, LOS B F C

Approach Delay (s/veh) 4.3 61.5

Approach LOS F

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/15/2020 12:47:53 PM
US 730 Powerline 2040 with Rezone mitigated with turns.xtw 312



HCS7 Two-Way Stop-Control Report

General Information Site Information
Analyst Montgomery Intersection US 730/Powerline

Agency/Co. JUB Engineers Jurisdiction City of Umatilla

Date Performed 5/14/2020 East/West Street US 730

Analysis Year 2030 North/South Street Powerline Road

Time Analyzed PM Peak Hour Peak Hour Factor 0.90

Intersection Orientation East-West Analysis Time Period (hrs) 0.25

Project Description Umatilla UGB Expansion-with Rezone, with turns

Lanes

Major Street: East-West

Vehicle Volumes and Adjustments
Approach Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound

Movement U L T R U L T R U L T R U L T R

Priority 1U 1 2 3 4U 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Number of Lanes 0 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 0 0

Configuration T R L T L R

Volume, V (veh/h) 480 115 195 340 60 115

Percent Heavy Vehicles (%) 3 3 3

Proportion Time Blocked

Percent Grade (%) 0

Right Turn Channelized No No No No

Median Type/Storage Left Only 1

Critical and Follow-up Headways
Base Critical Headway (sec) 4.1 7.1 6.2

Critical Headway (sec) 4.13 6.43 6.23

Base Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.2 3.5 3.3

Follow-Up Headway (sec) 2.23 3.53 3.33

Delay, Queue Length, and Level of Service
Flow Rate, v (veh/h) 217 67 128

Capacity, c (veh/h) 922 245 545

v/c Ratio 0.24 0.27 0.24

95% Queue Length, Q₉₅ (veh) 0.9 1.1 0.9

Control Delay (s/veh) 10.1 25.1 13.6

Level of Service, LOS B D B

Approach Delay (s/veh) 3.7 17.6

Approach LOS C

Copyright © 2020 University of Florida. All Rights Reserved. HCS7™ TWSC Version 7.2.1 Generated: 5/15/2020 1:28:42 PM
US 730 Powerline 2030 No Action mitigated with turn lanes.xtw 313



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
May 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 5-15-20 20 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX C 
 

City of Umatilla Plan Map 
 
 
 

  

314



6TH

7TH

BENSEL

GRANT

PINE TREE

TUCKER

UNION

PIERCE

MADISON

TRUMAN

LOCUST

EAGLE

DARK CANYON

MARGARET

JACKSON

BOBWHITE

ROBNETT

OFFICIAL CITY AND URBAN GROWTH BOUNDARY
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND CITY ZONING MAP

CITY OF UMATILLA
PLAN MAP

(PER ORDINANCE #827, UPDATED APRIL 2018)

Legend
City Limits

Urban Growth Boundary

CS, Community Service

DR, Downtown Residential

DT, Downtown Transitional

DC, Downtown Commercial

NC, Neighborhood Commercial

MC, McNary Center Mixed Use

GC, General Commercial

GC/CS, General Commercial/Community Service

R-1, Single-Family Residential

R-1/CS, Single-Family/Community Service

R-2, Medium Density Residnetial

R-2/CS, Medium Density/Community Service

R-3, Multi-Family

M-1, Light Industrial

M-1/CS, Light Industrial/Community Service

M-2, Heavy Industrial

M-2/CS, Heavy Industrial/Community Service

R, Residential Plan

C, Commercial Plan

M, Industrial Plan

NP, Natural Resource Plan

PF, Public Facility Plan

R-O/S, Recreation-Open/Space Plan

FP, Flood Plain

MAP DISCLAIMER: No warranty is made as to the
accuracy, reliability or completeness of this data.
Map should be used for reference purposes only.
Not survey grade or for legal use.
Created by Brandon Seitz

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4,000500
Feet

Ü
UGB PLAN DESIGNATIONS

315



City of Umatilla  
Urban Growth Boundary Expansion 

Traffic Impact Analysis 
May 2020 

 

J-U-B Engineers, Inc. |33-20-008/ Umatilla UGB Expansion TIA 5-15-20 21 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX D 
 

Traffic Growth Calculations 
 

316



 
In

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

T
O

T
A

L
P

o
w

er
lin

e 
/U

S
 7

3
0

E
xi

st
in

g 
20

20
 P

M
 P

ea
k 

H
r

39
--

84
--

--
--

--
41

0
77

14
1

29
0

0
10

41
20

4
0 

B
ac

kg
ro

un
d 

@
 1

.5
%

/y
ea

r
53

--
11

3
--

--
--

--
55

2
10

4
19

0
39

1
0

14
02

A
m

bi
en

ce
 V

e
st

ed
 T

ri
ps

15
--

17
--

--
--

--
0

26
30

0
0

88
T

ot
al

 2
04

0
 N

o 
A

ct
io

n 
(r

ou
n

de
d)

70
--

13
0

--
--

--
--

55
0

13
0

22
0

39
0

0
14

90
U

G
B

 E
xp

an
si

on
/R

ez
on

e 
T

rip
s

10
0

--
12

0
--

--
--

--
0

15
20

0
0

25
5

T
ot

al
 2

04
0

 T
ri

ps
 w

ith
 U

G
B

 &
 R

ez
on

e
17

0
--

25
0

--
--

--
--

55
0

14
5

24
0

39
0

0
17

4
4

 
In

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

T
O

T
A

L
P

o
w

er
lin

e/
I-

82
 E

B
 r

am
p

s 
(S

B
)

E
xi

st
in

g 
20

20
 P

M
 P

ea
k 

H
r

1
13

6
--

--
75

9
--

--
--

52
1

5
27

9
20

4
0 

B
ac

kg
ro

un
d 

@
 1

.5
%

/y
ea

r
1

18
3

--
--

10
1

12
--

--
--

70
1

7
37

6
A

m
bi

en
ce

 V
e

st
ed

 T
ri

ps
--

--
--

--
--

0
T

ot
al

 2
04

0
 N

o 
A

ct
io

n 
(r

ou
n

de
d)

5
18

5
--

--
10

0
10

--
--

--
70

0
10

38
0

U
G

B
 E

xp
an

si
on

/R
ez

on
e 

T
rip

s
0

25
--

--
14

0
40

--
--

--
0

0
10

21
5

T
ot

al
 2

04
0

 T
ri

ps
 w

ith
 U

G
B

 &
 R

ez
on

e
5

21
0

--
--

24
0

50
--

--
--

70
0

20
59

6

 
In

te
rs

ec
ti

o
n

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

L
T

T
R

T
L

T
T

R
T

T
O

T
A

L
P

o
w

er
lin

e/
I-

82
 W

B
 r

am
p

s 
(N

B
)

E
xi

st
in

g 
20

20
 P

M
 P

ea
k 

H
r

--
11

5
45

4
11

6
--

22
1

5
--

--
--

30
8

20
4

0 
B

ac
kg

ro
un

d 
@

 1
.5

%
/y

ea
r

--
15

5
61

5
15

6
--

30
1

7
--

--
--

41
5

A
m

bi
en

ce
 V

e
st

ed
 T

ri
ps

--
--

--
--

--
0

T
ot

al
 2

04
0

 N
o 

A
ct

io
n 

(r
ou

n
de

d)
--

15
5

60
5

15
5

--
30

0
10

--
--

--
41

5
U

G
B

 E
xp

an
si

on
/R

ez
on

e 
T

rip
s

--
20

0
60

80
--

5
0

0
--

--
--

16
5

T
ot

al
 2

04
0

 T
ri

ps
 w

ith
 U

G
B

 &
 R

ez
on

e
--

17
5

60
65

23
5

--
35

0
10

--
--

--
58

0

N
B

S
B

E
B

W
B

U
m

at
ill

a 
U

rb
an

 G
ro

w
th

 B
ou

nd
ar

y 
Tr

af
fic

 G
ro

w
th

 C
al

cu
la

tio
ns

N
B

S
B

E
B

W
B

N
B

S
B

E
B

W
B

31
7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS 

(OREGON STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 9) 
 

 

 

Prepared For: 

The City of Umatilla, Oregon 

 

October 2019 

318



CITY OF UMATILLA | ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS   ii 
 

Acknowledgments 
 
Johnson Economics prepared this report for the City of Umatilla. Johnson Economics and the City of 
Umatilla thank the many people who helped to develop this document.  
 
Advisory Committee 
Mary Dedrick, Mayor 

Ashley Wheeler, City Council 

Bruce McLane, Planning Commission 

Jodi Hinsley, Planning Commission 

Kim Puzey, Port of Umatilla 

Joseph Franell, Eastern Oregon Telecom 

Tami Sinor, Umatilla Electric Cooperative 

Lori Wyman, PacifiCorp 

Bill Clemens, PacifiCorp 

Cheryl Jarvis-Smith, Oregon Department of Transportation, Region V 

Ryan DeGroft, Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation 

 
City Staff 
David Stockdale, City Manager 

Tamra Mabbott, Community Development Director 

Brandon Seitz, Senior Planner 

 
Consultants 
Jerry Johnson, Johnson Economics 
Brendan Buckley, Johnson Economics 
 
State of Oregon Staff 
Phil Stenbeck, Eastern Regional Representative, DLCD 
 
Thanks To 
City of Umatilla 
Umatilla County 
 

 
City of Umatilla 
PO Box 130 
700 Sixth Street 
Umatilla, OR 97882 
(503) 922-3226 

 
Johnson Economics 
621 SW Alder Street 
Suite 605 
Portland, OR 97205 
(503) 295-7832 
 

 
 

  

319



CITY OF UMATILLA | ECONOMIC OPPORTUNITIES ANALYSIS   iii 
 

Table of Contents 
 

I. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................... 1 

II. ECONOMIC TRENDS .............................................................................................................................. 2 

NATIONAL TRENDS ............................................................................................................................................ 2 

UMATILLA COUNTY & CITY OF UMATILLA ECONOMIC TRENDS ................................................................................... 7 

Population and Workforce ................................................................................................................. 15 

III. TARGET INDUSTRY ANALYSIS .............................................................................................................. 19 

ECONOMIC SPECIALIZATION .............................................................................................................................. 19 

ECONOMIC DRIVERS ........................................................................................................................................ 21 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSETS..................................................................................................................... 23 

TARGET INDUSTRY CLUSTERS............................................................................................................................. 24 

Data Centers/ Cloud Storage Services ................................................................................................ 24 

Manufacturing (Traditional and Advanced)........................................................................................ 25 

Tourism and Retail .............................................................................................................................. 25 

Transportation, Warehousing and Distribution.................................................................................. 26 

Health Care ......................................................................................................................................... 27 

IV. FORECAST OF EMPLOYMENT AND LAND NEED ................................................................................... 28 

CITY OF UMATILLA EMPLOYMENT FORECASTS ...................................................................................................... 28 

Overview of Employment Forecast Methodology .............................................................................. 28 

Scenario 1: Safe Harbor Forecast ....................................................................................................... 29 

Scenario 2: Alternative Employment Forecast ................................................................................... 30 

Summary of Employment Forecast Scenarios .................................................................................... 30 

EMPLOYMENT LAND NEED FORECAST – CITY OF UMATILLA ..................................................................................... 32 

Land Demand Analysis (Adjusted Forecast) ....................................................................................... 33 

EMPLOYMENT LAND NEED FORECAST – NEEDED SITE SIZES .................................................................................... 35 

Additional Considerations in Land Demand ....................................................................................... 36 

V. CURRENT EMPLOYMENT LAND SUPPLY .............................................................................................. 37 

BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY ............................................................................................................................ 37 

BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY VS. 20-YEAR LAND NEED.......................................................................................... 41 

VI. EMPLOYER SITE NEEDS VS. BUILDABLE LAND SUPPLY ......................................................................... 42 

Estimated 20-Year Site Needs vs. Current Supply .............................................................................. 42 

Identified Industrial Site Deficits ........................................................................................................ 44 

APPENDIX A: SITE REQUIREMENTS ...................................................................................................................... 46 

General Requirements: ....................................................................................................................... 49 

Site Requirements: ............................................................................................................................. 49 

APPENDIX B: BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY REPORT 

 

320



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 1 

I. INTRODUCTION 
 
This report introduces analytical research presenting an Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA) for the City 
of Umatilla, Oregon. 

Cities are required to periodically reconcile estimates of future employment land demand with existing 
inventories of vacant and redevelopable employment land within their Urban Growth Boundary (UGB). The 
principal purpose of the analysis is to provide an adequate land supply for economic development and 
employment growth. The intent is to conduct this through a linkage of planning for an adequate land supply 
to infrastructure planning, community involvement and coordination among local governments and the 
state. 

To this end, this report is organized into six primary sections: 

▪ Economic Trends: Overview of national, state and local economic trends affecting Umatilla 
County and the city of Umatilla, including population projections, employment growth and a 
demographic profile. 

▪ Target Industries: Analysis of key industry typologies the City should consider targeting as 
economic opportunities over the planning period. 

▪ Employment Land Needs: Examines projected demand for industrial and commercial land 
based on anticipated employment growth rates by sector. 

▪ Capacity: Summarizes the City’s inventory of vacant and redevelopable industrial and 
commercial land (employment land) within the City of Umatilla’s UGB. 

▪ Reconciliation: Compares short- and long-term demand for employment land to the existing 
land inventory to determine the adequacy and appropriateness of capacity over a five and 
twenty-year horizon. 

▪ Economic Development Potential and Conclusions: Summary of findings and policy 
implications. 

This analysis reflects changes in employment, land supply, and macro-economic trends since the city of 
Umatilla last reviewed local economic development policies. 
 
 
 
  

321



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 2 

II. ECONOMIC TRENDS 
 
This report section summarizes long and intermediate-term trends at the national, state, and local level 

that will influence economic conditions in Umatilla over the 20-year planning period. This section is 

intended to provide an economic context for growth projections and establish a socioeconomic profile of 

the community. This report’s national evaluation has a focus on potential changes in structural 

socioeconomic conditions both nationally and globally. Our localized analysis considers local growth trends, 

demographics, and economic performance. 

 

NATIONAL TRENDS 
The long-term trend indicates that the United States economy has settled into a moderate growth 

trajectory at around 2.0% per year, after growing at above 4.0% per year during the 1960s and above 3.0% 

per year between 1970 and 2000. While the overall growth pace is moderating, there has been a shift within 

the economy from consumption of goods to consumption of services, especially services oriented around 

personal wellbeing (health, private education, finance). This reflects increasing levels of wealth and 

discretionary income in the population. Growth in fixed investment (equipment and structures) and 

government defense spending is also moderating – making manufactured goods a less significant part of 

the economy.  

 

Increasing international trade led to strong growth in imports during the 1990s and 2000s, partly due to 

U.S. firms offshoring operations to lower-cost markets. Exports also grew over the period, but at a slower 

pace. The offshoring trend has partially reversed in the current decade, due to rising costs and greater 

awareness of cultural barriers and various associated risks. Greater emphasis on leaner and more agile 

supply chains, combined with demand for customized products and rapid delivery, has also contributed to 

growth in domestic production. This impact has been greatest in auto manufacturing. Despite this 

“reshoring” trend, imports from Asia continue to grow at a faster clip than domestic manufacturing. 

 

The most commonly used measure of economic prosperity is real gross domestic product (GDP) per capita. 

Real GDP per capita is essentially a measure of national wealth considered on an individual basis, and the 

increased purchasing power of the population translates into greater investment in health care, education, 

housing, leisure, and many other sectors.  U.S. real GDP per capita remains stable. Over the last century, 

the average annual growth rate has been 1.8%, despite considerable shifts in economic and social 

conditions—a finding that suggests long-term economic growth is more closely related to broad trends, 

such as population growth and investment in physical and human capital, than temporary economic 

fluctuations, like the recent recession and government policy. 

 

The “Great Recession” officially spurred six consecutive quarters of negative economic growth in 2008 and 

early 2009. The depth and duration of this downturn was the most pronounced since World War II. The 

current expansion cycle has been sustained yet the pace of growth is modest to date. Credit markets have 

been more stringent, businesses are more cautious, and housing construction has yet to emerge as a driving 

catalyst. 

 

  

322



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 3 

FIGURE 2.01: NATIONAL GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT TRENDS 

 
 

Overall, national economic output has seen a notable moderation in growth over the past two decades, 

with most of the current business cycle hovering around 2.0% growth per year. Economic forecasters 

generally expect a cyclical moderation over the 2020-23 period, reflecting downward pressures from the 

maturing of our decade-long economic expansion. Potential GDP growth, which measures the GDP growth 

that can be sustained at a constant rate of inflation, indicates future long-term growth will remain around 

2.0% per year.  In the near-term, considerable economic uncertainty exists due to global trade and currency 

conflicts among the US and many of its traditional trading partners. 

 

SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis

PERCENT CHANGE IN REAL GROSS DOMESTIC PRODUCT

ANNUAL PERCENT CHANGE IN GDP COMPONENTS

-4

-2

0

2

4

6

8

10

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 C

h
an

ge

-25

0

25

50

75

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

ge
 C

h
an

ge

Personal consumption expenditures

Gross private domestic investment

  Imports

  Exports

Government consumption

323



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 4 

The expansion in GDP has been reflected in employment growth, which has ranged between 1.4% and 2.2% 

in the current expansion cycle. Preliminary estimates indicate an acceleration in the rate of GDP as well as 

employment growth in 2018. While overall trends have been positive for almost a decade, there will likely 

be two to three downturns at the national level over the next twenty years.  

 

FIGURE 2.02: NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT TRENDS 

 
SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 

A few additional trends have significant implications for the industrial real estate market: E-commerce is 

rapidly taking market share from brick-and-mortar retailers, approaching 10% of all retail sales. This has 

caused a shift in storage needs from retail stores to warehouses and distribution centers. At the same time, 

1
.9

% 2
.4

%

0.
1%

-0
.3

%

0
.5

%

1.
8% 2.

1%

2
.0

%

2
.1

%

-0
.2

%

-3
.1

%

-0
.4

%

1.
8%

1
.6

%

1
.9

% 2
.1

%

2.
2%

1.
6%

1
.4

%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

PERCENTAGE CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT BY YEAR - NATIONAL

150,000

155,000

160,000

165,000

170,000

175,000

180,000

185,000

190,000

195,000

200,000

1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

TOTAL EMPLOYMENT LEVEL, NATIONAL

324



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 5 

automation is causing a consolidation within the warehousing and distribution industry, leading to 

increasing reliance on larger third-party operators capable of making heavy investments in capital and 

expertise. Automation is also impacting the manufacturing industry, though to a lesser extent and primarily 

among larger industry leaders. Finally, changes in the use of electronic devices and growth in online services 

are causing a shift in the tech sector, from hardware manufacturing to software development. 

 

Due to limited growth in demand for domestic goods and competition from low-cost markets, the U.S. 

manufacturing sector has lost one-third of its jobs since its peak in the late 1970s, with its share of total 

employment falling from 24% to 8%. With a strong dollar relative to the currencies of key trading partners, 

there remains significant headwinds for manufacturers that export a considerable level of product. Sectors 

seeing significant expansion over the prior decade include health care, professional and business services, 

and leisure and hospitality. Projections call for all major sectors except for manufacturing and federal 

government will see growth over the coming decade.  

 

FIGURE 2.03: NATIONAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH BY SECTOR, HISTORIC AND PROJECTED 

 
SOURCE: US Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 

Recent trends and current forecasts reflect a shift from a goods economy, featuring manufacturing and 

natural resources, towards a service economy, which emphasizes technological innovation, research, and 

design. 

 

Consumer spending accounts for more than two-thirds of the U.S. economy, therefore changing spending 

patterns dictate much of the shifts in the economy. The post-war era has been marked by increasing wealth 

and discretionary spending, which has shifted spending away from necessities and led households to buy 

goods and services that used to be produced in-house. The strongest spending growth over recent decades 

0 10,000 20,000 30,000

Agriculture, natural resources

Mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Utilities

Wholesale trade

Retail trade

Transportation and warehousing

Information

Financial activities

Professional and business services

Educational services

Health care and social assistance

Leisure and hospitality

Other services

Federal government

State and local government

Nonagriculture self-employed

THOUSANDS OF JOBS

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY, HISTORIC AND PROJECTED

2026

2016

2006

-4,000 -2,000 0 2,000 4,000 6,000

THOUSANDS OF JOBS

EMPLOYMENT CHANGE BY INDUSTRY

2016-26

2006-16

325



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 6 

has come in categories that represent investments in personal wellbeing, with healthcare/health products 

at the top of the list, followed by private education and financial services. Categories that represent more 

short-term enjoyment, like recreation, food services, and accommodations, occupy the middle segment, 

while necessities like groceries, clothing, transportation, and housing have seen only moderate growth. 

Spending on health is expected to continue to increase strongly over the coming decades as the baby 

boomer cohort ages.  

 

FIGURE 2.04: CONSUMER SPENDING GROWTH SINCE 1960, BY CATEGORY, UNITED STATES (1960-2017) 

 

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 

The most dramatic spending shift in the context of real estate in recent times is the growth in online 

shopping, which has reduced the overall need for brick-and-mortar space, especially from retailers selling 

physical goods, while increasing the need for warehousing and distribution space. Online retailing 

accounted for an estimated 10% of all retail spending in 2018, at around $500 million in annual sales on a 

national level. Since the last recession, the segment has grown by around 15% per year, and it is currently 

taking market share from brick-and-mortar stores at a rate of nearly one percentage point annually.  

 

FIGURE 2.05: ONLINE RETAIL MARKET SHARE, UNITED STATES (2000-2017) 

  

SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS  

0%

5000%

10000%

15000%

1
9

6
0

1
9

6
3

1
9

6
6

1
9

6
9

1
9

7
2

1
9

7
5

1
9

7
8

1
9

8
1

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
7

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
3

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
9

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
8

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
7

Health

Education

Financial services, insurance

Recreation

Communication

Food services, accommodations

Housing, utilities, and fuels

Other goods and services

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

1
Q

0
0

4
Q

0
0

3
Q

0
1

2
Q

0
2

1
Q

0
3

4
Q

0
3

3
Q

0
4

2
Q

0
5

1
Q

0
6

4
Q

0
6

3
Q

0
7

2
Q

0
8

1
Q

0
9

4
Q

0
9

3
Q

1
0

2
Q

1
1

1
Q

1
2

4
Q

1
2

3
Q

1
3

2
Q

1
4

1
Q

1
5

4
Q

1
5

3
Q

1
6

2
Q

1
7

326



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 7 

UMATILLA COUNTY & CITY OF UMATILLA ECONOMIC TRENDS 
The annual rate of employment growth in Umatilla County has mirrored the broad national and statewide 

trends.  However, after the emerging from the recession in 2008/2009, the county again experienced job 

losses until 2016.  In recent years, county employment has been growing at roughly 1% per year. 

 

FIGURE 2.06: COMPARISON OF ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH RATES 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
On a cumulative basis Umatilla County has fallen behind the national and statewide averages, with the 

employment base up less than 10% over the last twenty years. 

 

FIGURE 2.07: CUMULATIVE EMPLOYMENT GROWTH 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

-5%

-4%

-3%

-2%

-1%

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

1
9

99

2
0

00

2
0

01

2
0

02

2
0

03

2
0

04

2
0

05

2
0

06

2
0

07

2
0

08

2
0

09

2
0

10

2
0

11

2
0

12

2
0

13

2
0

14

2
0

15

2
0

16

2
0

17

A
n

n
u

a
l E

m
p

lo
ym

en
t 

G
ro

w
th

ANNUAL EMPLOYMENT GROWTH RATE

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

90

95

100

105

110

115

120

125

130

135

140

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

Em
p

lo
ym

e
n

t I
n

d
e

x 
(1

99
8 

= 
10

0)

CUMULATIVE EMPLOYMENT GROWTH (1998=100)

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

327



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 8 

The employment base in Umatilla County has a somewhat lower share of self-employed than the national 

and state averages, with wage and salary employment accounting for roughly 80% of overall estimated 

employment in the county. This compares to rates approaching 78% statewide as well as nationally.  

 

FIGURE 2.08: % OF TOTAL EMPLOYMENT REPRESENTED BY WAGE & SALARY 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
Umatilla County’s employment base has been relatively stable since 2000, with the economic expansion 

adding a notable number of new jobs since 2016. The local employment level is at an all-time high, with 

average employment levels approaching 40,000 in 2017.  However, this level does not greatly exceed the 

employment level seen in 2008 prior to the outset of the recession. 

 
 
  

60%

65%

70%

75%

80%

85%

90%

95%

100%

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

% OF EMPLOYMENT WAGE & SALARY

National State of Oregon Umatilla County

328



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 9 

 
FIGURE 2.09: UMATILLA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT TRENDS 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis 

 

The local employment profile is highly seasonal, reflecting the area’s relatively high proportion of 

agricultural employment.  

 

  

329



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 10 

FIGURE 2.10: UMATILLA COUNTY EMPLOYMENT LEVEL BY MONTH 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
FIGURE 2.11: UNEMPLOYMENT RATE TRENDS 

 
SOURCE: U.S. Bureau of Economic Analysis, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

40,000
2

0
0

1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t

EMPLOYMENT LEVEL - UMATILLA
QUARTERLY CENSUS OF EMPLOYMNT AND WAGES (COVERED EMPLOYMENT)

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

19
98

19
99

20
00

20
01

20
02

20
03

20
04

20
05

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

20
11

20
12

20
13

20
14

20
15

20
16

20
17

20
18

20
19

U
N

EM
PL

O
YM

EN
T 

R
A

TE

UNEMPLOYMENT RATE COMPARISON

U.S.

Oregon

Umatilla County

330



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 11 

The economic expansion has facilitated a commensurate drop in the unemployment rate, with Umatilla 

County following the national and statewide patterns. Tight labor market conditions are likely to limit 

growth potential in the future both locally and nationally. The local area’s ability to attract and retain 

workforce will be critical to sustaining economic growth going forward.  In mid-2019, the countywide 

unemployment rate had fallen to a healthy 5%, slightly higher than the statewide rate of 4%. 
 

According to the Oregon Employment Department, most industries are forecast to expand at a modest rate 

over the next decade in the broader area (Morrow and Umatilla Counties). On an absolute basis, the 

greatest gains are forecast in professional and business services, leisure and hospitality, and construction. 

On a rate of growth basis, the most rapid expansion is expected in the natural resources, manufacturing, 

government, and education and health services sectors. 

 

FIGURE 2.12: PROJECTED EMPLOYMENT GROWTH BY SECTOR, MORROW & UMATILLA COUNTIES 

 
SOURCE: State of Oregon Employment Department 

 

Like much of eastern and central Oregon, the forestry industry has seen a sharp decline in production, which 

is largely attributable to declines in production from public lands since 1993 (Figure 2.13). The broader 

region has been actively pursuing new and ongoing opportunities in the industry, including small diameter 

timber, biomass, and engineered wood products.  Forestry is a smaller factor in communities along the river 

Natural Resources

Mining

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transport.,Warehousing,Utilities

Information

Financial Activities

Professional & Technical Services

Education & Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

Self-Employment

EMPLOYMENT BY INDUSTRY, PROJECTED

2017

2027

EMPLOYMENT CHANGE BY 
INDUSTRY

2017-27

331



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 12 

gorge, such as Umatilla, however timber activity to the south can create some opportunities in wood 

manufacturing and shipping. 

 

FIGURE 2.13: ANNUAL TIMBER PRODUCTION IN UMATILLA COUNTY (1962-2017) 

 
SOURCE: Oregon Department of Forestry 

 

Employment in Umatilla County is concentrated in the Hermiston/Umatilla corridor, as well as in the 

Pendleton area.  Employment in the city of Umatilla is concentrated in the downtown area, in the area of 

the correctional facility and Port properties, and along Lind Road (Figure 2.14). 

 

FIGURE 2.14: DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT, CITY OF UMATILLA CITY, 2017 

 
SOURCE: Census Bureau, LEHD Data 

0

25,000

50,000

75,000

100,000

125,000

150,000

175,000

200,000

19
62

19
64

19
66

19
68

19
70

19
72

19
74

19
76

19
78

19
80

19
82

19
84

19
86

19
88

19
90

19
92

19
94

19
96

19
98

20
00

20
02

20
04

20
06

20
08

20
10

20
12

20
14

20
16

Th
o

u
sa

n
d

s 
o

f B
o

ar
d

 F
e

e
t

Total Private

Total Public

332



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 13 

Commuting 
Residents and employees commute broadly within Umatilla County and beyond. In the City of Umatilla, the 
local workforce was estimated at roughly 2,589 in 2017, of which 2,345 (90%) travelled outside of the city 
for employment while an estimated 244 both lived and worked within the city limits (Figure 2.15). 
 
At the same time, an estimated 1,730 workers commuted into the city for employment, making up over 
85% of the local job base of roughly 1,975.  (These figures include covered employment and do not capture 
all forms of self-employment or contracting.  Therefore, these figures are best used as an imprecise 
indicator of the overall pattern.) 
 
This pattern is familiar to many communities across the state, but the extent to which local residents 
commute elsewhere for employment, and residents of other communities commute in for local jobs, seems 
somewhat starker in the case of Umatilla. 
 

FIGURE 2.15: NET INFLOW-OUTFLOW OF EMPLOYEES, CITY OF UMATILLA, 2017 

 
SOURCE: Census Bureau, LEHD Data 

 
 

Commuting patterns are an important element in the local economy. They are indicative of the labor shed 

from which companies can draw workers, the extent to which job creation translates into increased demand 

for housing, goods, and services, and the overall balance of population and employment in the community.  

 

Income and age demographics of the workforce commuting into and out of Umatilla are similar (Figure 

2.16). 

 

2,3451,730 244

Local Employees
Commuting From

Elsewhere

Local Residents
Employed in

The City

Local Residents
Employed
Elsewhere

333



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 14 

FIGURE 2.16: NET INFLOW-OUTFLOW DETAIL, CITY OF UMATILLA, 2017 

 
 

 
 

Count Share Count Share

Selection Area Labor Market Size (Primary Jobs)
Employed in the Selection Area 1,974 100.0% 31,226 100.0%

Living in the Selection Area 2,589 131.2% 31,621 101.3%

Net Job Inflow (+) or Outflow (-) (615) - (395) -

In-Area Labor Force Efficiency (Primary Jobs)
Living in the Selection Area 2,589 100.0% 31,621 100.0%

Living and Employed in the Selection Area 244 9.4% 21,396 67.7%

Living in the Selection Area but Employed Outside 2,345 90.6% 10,225 32.3%

In-Area Employment Efficiency (Primary Jobs)
Employed in the Selection Area 1,974 100.0% 31,226 100.0%

Employed and Living in the Selection Area 244 12.4% 21,396 68.5%

Employed in the Selection Area but Living Outside 1,730 87.6% 9,830 31.5%

Outflow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
External Jobs Fil led by Residents 2,345 100.0% 10,225 100.0%

Workers Aged 29 or younger 570 24.3% 2,445 23.9%

Workers Aged 30 to 54 1,192 50.8% 5,222 51.1%

Workers Aged 55 or older 583 24.9% 2,558 25.0%

Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 443 18.9% 2,301 22.5%

Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 1,010 43.1% 3,820 37.4%

Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 892 38.0% 4,104 40.1%

Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 835 35.6% 3,119 30.5%

Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 578 24.6% 2,235 21.9%

Workers in the "All Other Services" Industry Class 932 39.7% 4,871 47.6%

Inflow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
Internal Jobs Fil led by Outside Workers 1,730 100.0% 9,830 100.0%

Workers Aged 29 or younger 318 18.4% 2,325 23.7%

Workers Aged 30 to 54 970 56.1% 5,078 51.7%

Workers Aged 55 or older 442 25.5% 2,427 24.7%

Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 372 21.5% 2,262 23.0%

Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 594 34.3% 3,953 40.2%

Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 764 44.2% 3,615 36.8%

Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 715 41.3% 2,600 26.4%

Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 143 8.3% 2,683 27.3%

Workers in the "All Other Services" Industry Class 872 50.4% 4,547 46.3%

Interior Flow Job Characteristics (Primary Jobs)
Internal Jobs Fil led by Residents 244 100.0% 21,396 100.0%

Workers Aged 29 or younger 58 23.8% 4,975 23.3%

Workers Aged 30 to 54 128 52.5% 11,242 52.5%

Workers Aged 55 or older 58 23.8% 5,179 24.2%

Workers Earning $1,250 per month or less 63 25.8% 4,566 21.3%

Workers Earning $1,251 to $3,333 per month 99 40.6% 9,214 43.1%

Workers Earning More than $3,333 per month 82 33.6% 7,616 35.6%

Workers in the "Goods Producing" Industry Class 78 32.0% 5,105 23.9%

Workers in the "Trade, Transportation, and Util ities" Industry Class 26 10.7% 3,882 18.1%

Workers in the "All Other Services" Industry Class 140 57.4% 12,409 58.0%

SOURCE: US Census Burea, LEHD Origin-Destination Employment Statistics

Umatilla Umatilla County

2017 2017

334



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 15 

Population and Workforce 
The population base in Umatilla County and Umatilla have grown at a rate of slightly under 1% since 2010, 

according to the Population Research Center at Portland State University.  The growth rate is estimated to 

have increased in more recent years and is projected to accelerate over the coming 20-year period.  The 

City of Umatilla had an estimated population of 7,320 in 2018, or 9% of the Umatilla County total of nearly 

81,000 people.  

 

FIGURE 2.17: HISTORIC POPULATION TRENDS, UMATILLA COUNTY AND CITY OF UMATILLA 

 

 
SOURCE: Population Research Center, Portland State University 

 

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

100,000
TOTAL RESIDENT POPULATION

City of Umatilla

Remainder of County

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

POPULATION GROWTH, CITY OF UMATILLA

335



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 16 

The composition of the population base is expected to become generally older. The trend is most 

pronounced for residents over 75 years of age, but modest growth is also anticipated in age categories that 

are traditionally in the workforce.  

 

FIGURE 2.18: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY AGE COHORT, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: Population Research Center, Portland State University 

 

Race and Ethnicity:  The population of Umatilla County is estimated to be 85% white and 15% minority or 

bi-racial, a very similar minority share as Oregon.  The County is estimated to have a higher share of Native 

Americans, and a somewhat lower share of Black and Asian residents.   Latinos are estimated to make up 

26% of the county population, compared to 13% statewide. 

 

FIGURE 2.19: DISTRIBUTION OF POPULATION BY RACE & ETHNICITY, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: Census (Tables QT-P3, B02001, B03002) Population Research Center, Portland State University 

* 2017 Total county population is based on PSU 2017 estimate, applying the distribution of race and ethnicity from 2017 ACS. 

0 2,000 4,000 6,000 8,000

00-04

05-09

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

70-74

75-79

80-84

85+

POPULATON BY AGE COHORT

2040

2030

2020

-500 0 500 1,000 1,500

00-04

05-09

10-14

15-19

20-24

25-29

30-34

35-39

40-44

45-49

50-54

55-59

60-64

65-69

70-74

75-79

80-84

85+

NET CHANGE IN POPULATON BY AGE COHORT

2030-40

2020-30

2000 2017 Change Share 2000 2017 Change Share

Total: 70,548 80,500 14% 100% 3,421,399 4,025,127 18% 100%

White 57,852 68,585 19% 85% 2,961,623 3,416,776 15% 85%

Black 582 626 8% 1% 55,662 76,347 37% 2%

Native American 2,375 2,514 6% 3% 45,211 45,332 0% 1%

Asian 530 635 20% 1% 101,350 166,351 64% 4%

Hawaiian or Pac. Islander 124 140 13% 0% 7,976 15,157 90% 0%

Other Race 7,529 4,263 -43% 5% 144,832 121,000 -16% 3%

Two or More Races 1,556 3,738 140% 5% 104,745 184,164 76% 5%

Latino (of any race) 11,366 20,917 84% 26% 275,314 509,507 85% 13%

Distribution of Population
Umatilla County Oregon

336



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 17 

With steady growth in population, residential permits in Umatilla County have averaged 137 per year since 

2000, with the majority being single-family homes.  After experiencing some multi-family development 

prior to the 2008 recession, permitting has been slow for the past decade. 

 

FIGURE 2.20: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL PERMITS, UMATILLA COUNTY 

 
SOURCE: HUD 

 

The city of Umatilla has accounted for roughly 12% of the total county residential permits since 2000.  Nearly 

300 units have been permitted since 2000, with 20% being multi-family units permitted prior to 2008. 

 

FIGURE 2.21: HISTORIC AND PROJECTED RESIDENTIAL PERMITS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 
SOURCE: HUD 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

19
80

19
82

19
84

19
86

19
88

19
90

19
92

19
94

19
96

19
98

20
00

20
02

20
04

20
06

20
08

20
10

20
12

20
14

20
16

20
18

U
N

IT
S

RESIDENTIAL PERMITS - UMATILLA COUNTY TOTAL

Multi Family

Single Family

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

1
9

8
0

1
9

8
2

1
9

8
4

1
9

8
6

1
9

8
8

1
9

9
0

1
9

9
2

1
9

9
4

1
9

9
6

1
9

9
8

2
0

0
0

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
8

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
8

U
N

IT
S

RESIDENTIAL PERMITS - UMATILLA CITY

Multi Family

Single Family

337



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 18 

The educational attainment level of the local workforce is lower in the city and county as the statewide 

profile.  Residents of working age are more likely to have a high-school education, and less likely to have a 

college degree. 

 

FIGURE 2.23: EDUCATIONAL ATTAINMENT PROFILE BY EMPLOYMENT STATUS, 2017 

 

CITY (In
 Lab

o
r Fo

rce)

C
o

u
n

t
%

C
o

u
n

t
%

C
o

u
n

t
%

Le
ss Th

an
 H

igh
 Sch

o
o

l G
rad

u
ate

4
,2

5
2

5
7

.8
%

3
8

,7
2

1
5

5
.1

%
2

0
7

,9
4

5
9

.8
%

In
 la

b
o

r fo
rce:

6
6

4
1

5
.6

%
4

,9
8

7
1

2
.9

%
1

3
7

,6
2

1
6

6
.2

%

   In
 A

rm
ed

 Fo
rces

0
0

.0
%

0
0

.0
%

0
0

.0
%

   C
ivilia

n
:

6
6

4
1

5
.6

%
4

,9
8

7
1

2
.9

%
1

3
7

,6
2

1
6

6
.2

%

      Em
p

lo
yed

6
0

0
1

4
.1

%
4

,5
5

5
1

1
.8

%
1

2
0

,9
9

8
5

8
.2

%

      U
n

em
p

lo
yed

6
4

1
.5

%
4

3
2

1
.1

%
1

6
,6

2
3

8
.0

%

   N
o

t in
 la

b
o

r fo
rce

4
7

8
1

1
.2

%
2

,2
3

6
5

.8
%

7
0

,3
2

4
3

3
.8

%

H
igh

 sch
o

o
l grad

u
ate

 (in
clu

d
e

s e
q

u
ivale

n
cy):

1
,6

2
9

2
2

.1
%

1
0

,8
1

4
1

5
.4

%
4

7
8

,3
1

6
2

2
.5

%

In
 la

b
o

r fo
rce:

6
6

2
4

0
.6

%
7

,2
4

1
6

7
.0

%
3

4
0

,3
2

7
7

1
.2

%
STA

TE O
F O

R
EG

O
N

 (In
 Lab

o
r Fo

rce)
   In

 A
rm

ed
 Fo

rces
0

0
.0

%
1

0
0

.1
%

3
4

4
0

.1
%

   C
ivilia

n
:

6
6

2
4

0
.6

%
7

,2
3

1
6

6
.9

%
3

3
9

,9
8

3
7

1
.1

%

      Em
p

lo
yed

5
7

8
3

5
.5

%
6

,6
6

6
6

1
.6

%
3

0
9

,3
6

1
6

4
.7

%

      U
n

em
p

lo
yed

8
4

5
.2

%
5

6
5

5
.2

%
3

0
,6

2
2

6
.4

%

   N
o

t in
 la

b
o

r fo
rce

9
6

7
5

9
.4

%
3

,5
7

3
3

3
.0

%
1

3
7

,9
8

9
2

8
.8

%

So
m

e
 co

lle
ge

 o
r asso

ciate
's d

e
gre

e
:

1
,2

8
2

1
7

.4
%

1
4

,8
2

4
2

1
.1

%
7

5
0

,3
0

3
3

5
.4

%

In
 la

b
o

r fo
rce:

4
4

7
3

4
.9

%
1

0
,6

0
8

7
1

.6
%

5
7

0
,9

3
1

7
6

.1
%

   In
 A

rm
ed

 Fo
rces

0
0

.0
%

1
6

0
.1

%
1

,0
0

4
0

.1
%

   C
ivilia

n
:

4
4

7
3

4
.9

%
1

0
,5

9
2

7
1

.5
%

5
6

9
,9

2
7

7
6

.0
%

      Em
p

lo
yed

4
2

0
3

2
.8

%
9

,9
9

6
6

7
.4

%
5

3
0

,0
0

3
7

0
.6

%

      U
n

em
p

lo
yed

2
7

2
.1

%
5

9
6

4
.0

%
3

9
,9

2
4

5
.3

%
U

N
EM

P
LO

YM
EN

T R
A

TES
   N

o
t in

 la
b

o
r fo

rce
8

3
5

6
5

.1
%

4
,2

1
6

2
8

.4
%

1
7

9
,3

7
2

2
3

.9
%

B
ach

e
lo

r's d
e

gre
e

 o
r h

igh
e

r:
1

9
9

2
.7

%
5

,8
6

0
8

.3
%

6
8

4
,6

4
8

3
2

.3
%

In
 la

b
o

r fo
rce:

9
4

4
7

.2
%

4
,8

4
4

8
2

.7
%

5
7

3
,0

8
3

8
3

.7
%

   In
 A

rm
ed

 Fo
rces

0
0

.0
%

1
0

.0
%

7
4

6
0

.1
%

   C
ivilia

n
:

9
4

4
7

.2
%

4
,8

4
3

8
2

.6
%

5
7

2
,3

3
7

8
3

.6
%

      Em
p

lo
yed

9
4

4
7

.2
%

4
,7

1
7

8
0

.5
%

5
4

9
,5

7
4

8
0

.3
%

      U
n

em
p

lo
yed

0
0

.0
%

1
2

6
2

.2
%

2
2

,7
6

3
3

.3
%

   N
o

t in
 la

b
o

r fo
rce

1
0

5
5

2
.8

%
1

,0
1

6
1

7
.3

%
1

1
1

,5
6

5
1

6
.3

%

SO
U

R
C

E: U
.S. C

en
su

s B
u

rea
u

, 2
0

1
3

-2
0

1
7

 A
m

erica
n

 C
o

m
m

u
n

ity Su
rvey 5

-Yea
r Estim

a
tes

U
m

atilla C
o

u
n

ty

2
0

1
7

C
ity o

f U
m

atilla
State

 o
f O

re
go

n

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
7

< H
igh

 
Sch

o
o

l

3
6

%

H
igh

 

Sch
o

o
l 

G
ra

d
u

ate
3

5
%

So
m

e
 C

o
lle

ge
/ 

A
ssociates

24%

B
a

ch
e

lo
r's 

D
e

gre
e +

5
%

< H
igh

 Scho
ol

9
%

H
igh

 Sch
o

o
l 

G
ra

d
u

ate
2

1
%

Som
e College/ 

A
sso

cia
te

s

3
5

%

B
a

ch
e

lo
r's 

D
e

gre
e +

35%0%
5%

1
0

%
15%

< H
igh

 Sch
o

o
l

H
igh Sch

ool…

Som
e C

ollege/…

B
ach

elo
r's D

eg
ree

…
State

C
ity

338



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 19 

III. TARGET INDUSTRY ANALYSIS 
 
This element of the Economic Opportunities Analysis uses analytical tools to assess the economic landscape 

in Umatilla and Umatilla County. The objective of this process is to identify a range of industry types that 

can be considered targeted economic opportunities over the 20-year planning period. 

 

A range of analytical tools to assess the local and regional economic landscape are used to determine the 

industry typologies the City should consider targeting over the planning period. Where possible, we look to 

identify the sectors that are likely to drive growth in current and subsequent cycles. 

 

ECONOMIC SPECIALIZATION 
The most common analytical tool to evaluate economic specialization is a location quotient (LQ) analysis. 

This metric compares the concentration of employment in an industry at the local level to a larger 

geography. All industry categories are assumed to have a quotient of 1.0 on the national level, and a 

locality’s quotient indicates if the local share of employment in each industry is greater or less than the 

share seen nationwide.  For instance, a quotient of 2.0 indicates that locally, that industry represents twice 

the share of total employment as seen nationwide.  A quotient of 0.5 indicates that the local industry has 

half the expected employment. 

 
We completed a location quotient analysis for Umatilla County, which compares the distribution of local 

employment relative to national averages, as well as average annual wage levels by industry (Figure 3.1). 

The most over-represented industries were natural resources and mining, manufacturing and government. 

 

FIGURE 3.1: INDUSTRY SECTOR SPECIALIZATION BY MAJOR INDUSTRY, UMATILLA COUNTY, 20181 

 
SOURCE: Bureau of Labor Statistics 

 
1  QCEW Data, Annual Average 2018 Data 

Annual Avg. Annual Total Annual Avg. Annual Employment

Establishments Employment Wages Wages Loc. Quotient

1011 Natural resources and mining 193 3,386 $111,161,727 $32,832 8.3

1012 Construction 193 1,176 $61,441,498 $52,265 0.8

1013 Manufacturing 74 3,415 $139,497,112 $40,849 1.3

1021 Trade, transportation, and utilities 402 6,341 $260,936,079 $41,149 1.1

1022 Information 23 175 $7,251,966 $41,479 0.3

1023 Financial activities 153 698 $32,889,517 $47,137 0.4

1024 Professional and business services 201 1,403 $55,157,349 $39,319 0.3

1025 Education and health services 218 3,778 $159,564,205 $42,233 0.8

1026 Leisure and hospitality 211 2,578 $44,250,408 $17,166 0.8

1027 Other services 421 999 $26,607,848 $26,634 1.1

Federal Government 32 485 $36,873,687 $76,002 0.8

State Government 44 1,391 $90,039,107 $64,730 1.4

Local Government 104 5,047 $216,324,995 $42,861 1.7

Total 2,269 30,872 $1,241,995,498 $40,231

Industry

339



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 20 

In terms of total employment, the largest sectors are government, transportation/warehousing/utilities, 

education and health services, and manufacturing.  Natural resources (agriculture and forestry, and support 

services to these industries) as well as leisure and hospitality (tourism-related industry) are also major 

employment sectors in the county. 

 

Figure 3.2 shows a more detailed analysis of the top 20 local industry subsectors in the county, as ranked 

by their LQ. The LQ shows that agricultural subsectors have the highest share of employment in comparison 

to nationwide averages, but also food manufacturing and wood product manufacturing.  Various 

transportation and distribution-related industries are also well represented, as are utilities.  Nursing and 

residential care, construction, and retailers are some of the subsectors rounding out the list. 

 

The average wage LQ (right column) is an indicator of how much local wages paid in these industries are 

paid relative to the total wages in that industry typical across the nation.  For instance, the agricultural and 

forestry subsector in Umatilla County represents 28.5 times the share of total wages paid as would be 

expected by looking at the national average. 

 

FIGURE 3.2: INDUSTRY SECTOR SPECIALIZATION BY DETAILED INDUSTRY, UMATILLA COUNTY, 2018 

 
SOURCE: Bureau of Labor Statistics 

 

Sectors such as local government, education, health care and retail trade, are industries that are driven by 

serving a local population. The county also has a significant amount of employment in export or “traded 

sector” industries that send their products beyond the county, and thus bring new dollars into the region.  

These industries include manufacturing, utilities, and data centers. 

Rank NAICS Description Employment
Emp. 

L.Q.

Average 

Wage

Total Wages 

L.Q.

1 115 Agriculture and forestry support activities 1,685 20.6 $32,950 28.5

2 111 Crop production 1,393 12.0 $31,030 15.6

3 311 Food manufacturing 1,711 5.0 $41,909 6.2

4 112 Animal production and aquaculture 237 4.2 $38,318 5.9

5 321 Wood product manufacturing 357 4.2 $44,516 5.8

6 814 Private households 235 3.9 $18,252 3.8

7 484 Truck transportation 789 2.5 $60,964 4.1

8 447 Gasoline stations 450 2.3 $19,028 2.8

9 485 Transit and ground passenger transportation 151 1.5 $23,353 1.4

10 221 Utilities 170 1.5 $109,579 2.1

11 623 Nursing and residential care facilities 985 1.4 $28,869 1.8

12 236 Construction of buildings 422 1.2 $52,518 1.4

13 452 General merchandise stores 787 1.2 $26,238 1.8

14 441 Motor vehicle and parts dealers 484 1.1 $46,121 1.5

15 813 Membership associations and organizations 331 1.1 $22,670 0.8

16 811 Repair and maintenance 295 1.1 $34,824 1.2

17 445 Food and beverage stores 684 1.1 $24,680 1.5

18 424 Merchant wholesalers, nondurable goods 449 1.0 $56,184 1.1

19 312 Beverage and tobacco product manufacturing 54 0.9 $24,687 0.6

20 562 Waste management and remediation services 85 0.9 $45,727 1.0

340



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 21 

ECONOMIC DRIVERS 
The identification of the economic drivers of a local or regional economy is critical in informing the character 

and nature of future employment, and by extension land demand over a planning cycle. To this end, we 

employ a shift-share analysis of the local economy emerging out of the current expansion cycle2.  

 

A shift-share analysis measures local effect of economic performance within an industry or occupation. The 

process considers local economic performance in the context of national economic trends—indicating the 

extent to which local growth can be attributed to unique regional competitiveness or simply growth in line 

with broader trends.  

 

For example, assume that Widget Manufacturing is growing at a 1.5% rate locally, about the same rate as 

the local economy. On the surface we would consider the Widget Manufacturing industry to be healthy and 

contributing soundly to local economic expansion. However, consider also that Widget Manufacturing is 

booming across the country, growing at a robust 4% annually. In this context, local widget manufacturers 

are struggling, and some local or regional condition is stifling economic opportunities. 

 

We can generally classify industries, groups of industries, or clusters into four groups:  

 

• Growing, Outperforming: Industries that are growing locally at a rate faster than the national 

average. These industries have local characteristics leading them to be particularly competitive.  

 

• Growing, Underperforming: Industries that are growing locally but slower than the national average. 

These industries generally have a sound foundation, but some local factor is limiting growth.  

 

• Contracting, Outperforming: Industries that are declining locally but slower than the national 

average. These industries have structural issues that are impacting growth industry wide. However, 

local firms are leveraging some local or regional factor that is making them more competitive than 

other firms on average.  

 

• Contracting, Underperforming: Industries that are declining locally at a rate faster than the national 

average. These industries have structural issues that are impacting growth industry wide. However, 

some local or regional factor is making it increasingly tough on local firms.  

 

We evaluated the average annual growth rate by industry from 2008 through 2017 for Umatilla County 

relative to the national rate. The observed local change was compared to a standardized level reflecting 

what would be expected if the local industry grew at a rate consistent with national rates for that industry.  

 

As shown in Figure 3.3, only a few industries showed growth in excess of national rates. These include 

manufacturing, natural resources industries, real estate rental and leasing, and wholesale trade.   

 

 
2  Measured from the trough of recent recession to 2017, the most recent period available for local employment 

data. 

341



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 22 

It is also known that in the last few years, Umatilla County has added significant employment and 

investment in the data center industry.  This employment is not yet reflected in the most recent QCEW data 

(2017) of covered employment where it would appear under the “Information” sector.  It is known that this 

industry has experienced significant and rapid growth in the county and the city of Umatilla itself.  (This 

target industry is discussed more in the following section.) 

 

FIGURE 3.3: INDUSTRY SECTOR SHIFT SHARE ANALYSIS, UMATILLA COUNTY (2008 – 2017) 

 

Standardized Regional

Industry 2007 2017 Total AAGR Level - 2017 * Shift

Farm Employment 3,036 3,401 365 1.1% 3,038 363

Forestry, Fishing, and Related Activities 1,124 1,537 413 3.2% 1,209 328

Mining 58 106 48 6.2% 72 34

Utilities 180 193 13 0.7% 200 (7)

Construction 1,663 1,569 (94) -0.6% 1,642 (73)

Manufacturing 3,449 3,771 322 0.9% 3,284 487

Wholesale Trade 890 1,002 112 1.2% 885 117

Retail Trade 4,095 3,948 (147) -0.4% 4,246 (298)

Transportation and Warehousing 2,901 3,047 146 0.5% 3,820 (773)

Information 310 236 (74) -2.7% 299 (63)

Finance and Insurance 994 924 (70) -0.7% 1,147 (223)

Real Estate and Rental and Leasing 985 1,250 265 2.4% 1,168 82

Professional, Scientific, and Technical Services 1,018 871 (147) -1.5% 1,153 (282)

Management of Companies and Enterprises 86 153 67 5.9% 111 42

Administrative and Waste Services 2,270 1,222 (1,048) -6.0% 2,551 (1,329)

Educational Services 191 140 (51) -3.1% 233 (93)

Health Care and Social Assistance 3,913 4,349 436 1.1% 4,713 (364)

Arts, Entertainment, and Recreation 475 407 (68) -1.5% 558 (151)

Accommodation and Food Services 2,410 2,657 247 1.0% 2,881 (224)

Other Services (except Public Administration) 1,714 1,800 86 0.5% 1,897 (97)

Federal Civilian 892 495 (397) -5.7% 905 (410)

Military 209 178 (31) -1.6% 194 (16)

State Government 1,654 1,417 (237) -1.5% 1,669 (252)

Local Government 4,820 5,039 219 0.4% 4,779 260

TOTAL 39,337 39,712 375 0.1% 42,654 (2,942)

* Employment level  in each industry had i t grown at the same rate as  i ts  counterparts  at the national  level  over the same period.

SOURCE: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analys is

Average Employment Net Change

(1,500)

(1,000)

(500)

0

500

1,000

1,500

Fa
rm

 E
m

p
lo

ym
en

t

Fo
re

st
ry

, F
is

h
in

g,
 a

n
d

 R
el

at
ed

 A
ct

iv
it

ie
s

M
in

in
g

U
ti

lit
ie

s

Co
ns

tr
uc

ti
on

M
an

u
fa

ct
ur

in
g

W
h

o
le

sa
le

 T
ra

d
e

R
et

ai
l T

ra
d

e

T
ra

n
sp

o
rt

at
io

n
 a

n
d

 W
a

re
h

o
u

si
n

g

In
fo

rm
at

io
n

Fi
n

an
ce

 a
n

d
 In

su
ra

n
ce

R
ea

l E
st

at
e 

an
d

 R
en

ta
l a

n
d

 L
ea

si
n

g

P
ro

fe
ss

io
n

a
l, 

S
ci

e
n

ti
fic

, a
n

d
 T

e
ch

n
ic

a
l S

e
rv

ic
e

s

M
an

ag
em

en
t 

o
f C

o
m

p
an

ie
s 

an
d

 E
n

te
rp

ri
se

s

A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
iv

e 
an

d
 W

as
te

 S
er

vi
ce

s

Ed
u

ca
ti

o
n

al
 S

er
vi

ce
s

H
ea

lt
h 

C
ar

e 
an

d
 S

o
ci

al
 A

ss
is

ta
n

ce

A
rt

s,
 E

n
te

rt
ai

n
m

en
t,

 a
nd

 R
ec

re
at

io
n

A
cc

o
m

m
o

d
at

io
n

 a
n

d
 F

o
o

d
 S

er
vi

ce
s

O
th

er
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

(e
xc

ep
t P

ub
lic

 A
d

m
in

is
tr

at
io

n)

Fe
d

er
al

 C
iv

ili
an

M
ili

ta
ry

St
at

e 
G

ov
er

n
m

en
t

Lo
ca

l G
o

ve
rn

m
en

t

Observed

Predicted

342



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 23 

 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ASSETS 
In this section, we summarize some of the key economic development assets of the city and the area, which 
will shape the nature of economic growth in the foreseeable future. 

 
1. Abundance of Energy & Water 

Availability of quality power will continue to increase regional competitiveness over the long-term. 
This provides an advantage when pursuing users requiring large power sources, including data 
center investments, as well as durable goods manufacturing.  While much of the local power 
production is exported outside of the region, there is substantial loss in transmission.  Average 
electrical rates in Oregon are 23% below national levels, but higher than those in Washington or 
Idaho. 

 
2. Transportation Linkages 

Along with abundant affordable power, transportation linkages are arguably the region’s best 
asset. The city of Umatilla is positioned near one of only five confluences of major interstates in 
Oregon and is the only one outside of the Willamette Valley. The City is also located at the border 
with Washington State, with the next nearest bridge crossings of the Columbia located 50 miles 
north, or 80 miles to the west. Further, the Port terminals and regional rail linkages provide access 
to world-wide shipping networks, particularly for the region’s agricultural products. 

 
3. Amenity Values 

Amenity values are encompassed in the concept of livability.  Amenity values are often 
characterized in the field of Economics and Economic Geography because amenity values have real 
economic impacts on attracting residents, employers and workforce to an area. The Columbia 
Basin has abundant natural amenities, with scenery and proximity to nature and recreational 
activities. However, the region is lacking in some urban amenities given the size of its communities. 

 
4. Proximity to a Large Well-Educated Workforce 

While the local workforce is underrepresented in higher skilled laborers, regional economic growth 
can tap into a large population base with above average training levels. Both Umatilla (15.6%) and 
Morrow Counties (10.7%) have lower rates of persons aged 25 and older holding bachelor’s 
degrees than the State of Oregon (29.0%).  In Benton County, the ratio is 27.7% while the State of 

Washington ratio is 31.4%.3  Benton and Franklin Counties in Washington combine for 42,000 
adults with an Associate Degree or better.  The size and commuting patterns of the greater region, 
allows for large new employers to draw sufficient workforce from beyond the immediate 
community if needed. 

 
5. Flat, Developable Land 

The study area has a diversity of potentially available land to accommodate a range of uses and 
intensity of uses. This diversity can expand regional marketability and offers the flexibility to plan 
uses meeting specific site criteria.  Within the State of Oregon, there are very limited opportunities 
for large-lot industrial development.  The region’s potential supply of large sites can provide a 
strong competitive advantage, if it is made available.  While the land in the county may be 
hypothetically suitable however, the right amount, location, and sizes of development sites for 
different employers may not be currently available within the Urban Growth Boundary. The 
suitability of buildable land in Umatilla is discussed elsewhere in this report. 

 

 
3  2010 Census 

343



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 24 

6. Economic Development Support & Partnerships 
The region benefits from an aggressive and well-organized economic development climate. The 
Port Districts have had noted economic development success and local communities have 
undertaken countless initiatives to improve economic competitiveness. The Confederated Tribes 
of the Umatilla Indian Reservation also is an active participant in regional economic development 
efforts.  The end result has been a region that has significantly outperformed non-metropolitan 
areas of the State over the last decade in terms of economic growth. 

 
 
 

TARGET INDUSTRY CLUSTERS 
This section discusses potential target industries for the City of Umatilla based on the community’s historical 
strengths and advantages, established economic development goals, and discussion of community 
priorities through this process.  These are industries where the city might focus efforts to grow local 
business and attract new businesses. At the end of this section is a more detailed glossary of potential 
community partners for economic development. 
 

Data Centers/ Cloud Storage Services 
The City of Umatilla, along with other locations in Umatilla and Morrow Counties has quickly grown as a 
hub for large, very-high investment data center users who seek ready access to ample inexpensive power 
and water, as well as large suitable development sites. 
 
These types of industrial land users make very large capital 
investments in facilities and equipment.  They can employ 
hundreds of people at each site and pay wages far above 
the average income for the area. 
 
This sector is a major target industry identified by the 
community.  There are currently nine major data centers 
located in the Columbia Basin, demonstrating the 
suitability and desirability of the area and its 
infrastructure. The nation’s largest tech companies 
continue to express interest in locating new data center 
and cloud-computing facilities in the area, and in Umatilla 
specifically. There have been recent real-world opportunities to recruit these types of businesses to 
Umatilla if suitable sites are available. 
 
Cluster Strengths 

▪ Proximity to abundant and inexpensive power and water sources 
▪ Excellent fiber optic telecom connectivity 
▪ Suitability of land for large, flat industrial sites 
▪ Establishment of successful examples and building of skilled workforce in this sector 
▪ Strong economic development support from local and regional partners 

 
Cluster Challenges 

▪ Limited supply of appropriately large, shovel-ready development sites, within the UGB 
▪ Need to continually recruit and grow trained workforce and supply workforce housing. 

 

Potential Opportunities 

▪ Recruitment of additional data center facilities 

▪ Ensure sufficient adequately-sized shovel-ready industrial parcels within UGB and/or City limits 

344



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 25 

▪ Partnerships with local education sector to train and recruit additional workforce 

 

 

Manufacturing (Traditional and Advanced) 
Manufacturing is typically a highly desirable sector, which creates considerable value, pays good wages, 
and often exports the bulk of its output. The manufacturing sector currently accounts for a relatively small 
share of the current employment base in the city of Umatilla but is targeted by the community as a potential 
growth sector in the future. 
 

Umatilla has been home to food, wood and metals 
product manufacturers.  Going forward, these will 
remain good opportunities for growth taking 
advantage of available industrial lands, power and 
water resources.  These export industries also benefit 
from the ample transportation connections and 
shipping options in the area. 
 
Advanced manufacturing is also expected to be an 
increasing opportunity.  In general, this refers to 
modern manufacturers who use advanced 
technologies such as robots and software to increase 

productivity and make traditional methods more efficient.  Like data centers, these manufacturers also 
benefit from ample power and their facilities may rely on significant mechanization.  Despite the 
automation, these industries typically require a sizable trained workforce to run the advanced processes. 
 
Manufacturing firms can be a full range of sizes with differing land needs from small sites to very large.  
Potential large-site manufacturers have made inquiries in the Umatilla area. 
 
Cluster Strengths 

▪ Proximity to abundant and inexpensive power and water sources 
▪ Existing food and wood products industries with workforce expertise. 
▪ Available and serviced land supply of smaller and medium sites 

 
Cluster Challenges 

▪ Limited supply of larger shovel-ready development sites, for largest manufacturers 
▪ Need to continually recruit and grow trained workforce and supply workforce housing. 

 
Potential Manufacturing Opportunities 

▪ Food products/value-added specialty foods 
▪ Advanced agricultural technology, such as robotics, precision tools, indoor-growing technology 
▪ Specialty river recreation or other recreation equipment 
▪ Drones and robotics 
▪ Recruitment of other large-lot, large-power users 

 

 

Tourism and Retail 
Umatilla has physical and locational attributes that make recreation and hospitality an attractive target 

sector.  The city offers access to the river and recreation and has plans to redevelop the marina to encourage 

more visitors, concessions, tours and related activity.  Regional outdoor recreation includes camping, hiking, 

345



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 26 

hunting, fishing, and rafting.  Major regional draws such as the Pendleton Round Up and tribal gaming also 

provide an opportunity to market to new visitors.   

 

Tourism growth can be mutually reinforcing with new business development along the city’s main 

downtown corridor of 6th Street, and elsewhere in the community.  While retail trade is typically viewed as 

a function of growth in local population and buying power, developing a strong retail trade base in an area 

helps limit spending from leaking out of the market, retaining dollars in the local economy. 

 

The amenities that tourism traffic supports are also 

largely consistent with what is desirable to local 

residents. Quality retail, restaurant, recreation, and 

hospitality businesses make a community an 

attractive place to live and work. Studies have shown 

that tourism-related supportive uses have a positive 

impact on housing values and attract residents and 

businesses alike. This is a growing phenomenon in the 

context of emerging consumer preferences observed 

across Millennial and Boomer generations. Attraction 

of these types of businesses would offer Umatilla the 

opportunity to raise its amenity profile. 

 

Cluster Strengths 
▪ Recreational amenities, river location 
▪ Location on freeway, at state border 
▪ Historic Oldtown site 
▪ Investment in trails, and outdoor and recreation events 

 
Cluster Challenges 

▪ Need to raise awareness/visibility beyond the region 
 
Cluster Opportunities 

▪ Drawing visitors from other regional attractions 
▪ Improved access use of the marina/river 

 

 

Transportation, Warehousing and Distribution 
Currently, Transportation & Warehousing is among the largest sectors in the county. The location quotient 

analysis indicated that the study area’s concentration in truck transportation is more than two and a half 

times the national average. The region has succeeded in attracting and retaining large transportation firms, 

including three firms with 100-249 employees and two additional firms with more than 250 employees. 

 

The reason for the emergence of this industry cluster is intuitively clear. The area’s geographic position and 

transportation linkages afford a reasonable (distribution) drive-time from major population centers 

throughout the Northwest, Northern California, British Columbia, and the Western Mountain States. Other 

regional attributes include a refrigerator cargo dock on the Columbia River, fiber optic telecommunications, 

and the location of the Union Pacific switching station.   

 

346



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 27 

The area’s strong transportation access and multi-modal opportunities makes it ideal for transportation and 

warehousing uses.  Umatilla County has successfully attracted multiple large distribution centers, including 

a Walmart Distribution Center and Fed Ex Freight distribution facility.  One or more such distribution 

facilities are a viable target recruitment for Umatilla City, if appropriate sites are available. 

 

Cluster Strengths 
▪ Multi-modal transportation connections, confluence of two freeways 
▪ Port/rail access 

 
Cluster Challenges 

▪ Need for additional large, shovel-ready sites near the freeway and within the UGB 
 
Cluster Opportunities 

▪ Distribution centers 
▪ Central hub for transportation/freight/logistics businesses 

 
Health Care 
Demand for health services tends to follow demographic trends.  The local population and workforce are 

projected to continue growing at a strong rate.  At the same time, a major segment of the population will 

be aging in place, increasing the demand for health services and continuing care.  The following are key 

industry trends: 

▪ Emphasis on leveraging cost advantages.  

▪ Strong growth in utilization of mobile health systems, software, and access to information. 

▪ Emerging care models including smaller, distributed clinics (i.e. Zoomcare). 

▪ Video or phone appointments. 

▪ An estimated 5% to 8% of Boomers will age in multi-family retirement and care facilities.  
 

The community has identified a need for more local 

health services located in Umatilla for the local 

households, many of whom currently travel to 

Hermiston or beyond for needed health care.  Needed 

services include urgent care, additional clinics, dental 

care and other specialists.  As the population grows, 

there should be increasing opportunities for health 

care providers to locate in the community to serve 

the local population. 

 

 
Cluster Strengths 

▪ Growth and aging of population will support health services. 
▪ Dedicated service area. 
▪ Identified need and captive market. 

 
Cluster Weakness 

▪ Sector is concentrated in Hermiston. 
 
Cluster Opportunities 

▪ Development of expanded and/or new medical office clusters 
▪ Expansion of training offerings for nurses and other medical professionals. 

 

347



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 28 

IV. FORECAST OF EMPLOYMENT AND LAND NEED 
 

CITY OF UMATILLA EMPLOYMENT FORECASTS 
Goal 9 requires that jurisdictions plan for a 20-year supply of commercial and industrial capacity. Because 

employment capacity is the physical space necessary to accommodate new workers in the production of 

goods and services, employment needs forecasts typically begin with a forecast of employment growth in 

the community. The previous analysis of economic trends and targeted industries set the context for these 

estimates. This analysis translates those influences into estimates of employment growth by broad industry. 

Forecasts are produced at the sector or subsector level (depending on available information) and are 

subsequently aggregated to two-digit NAICS sectors. Estimates in this analysis are intended for long-range 

land planning purposes and are not designed to predict or respond to business cycle fluctuation.  

 

The projections in this analysis are built on an estimate of employment in 2019, the commencement year 

for the planning period. Employment growth will come as the result of net-expansion of businesses in the 

community, new business formation, or the relocation/recruitment of new firms. Forecast scenarios 

consider a range of factors influencing growth. Long-range forecasts typically rely on a macroeconomic 

context for growth. Inflections in business cycles or the impact of a major shift in employment (i.e. a major 

unknown recruitment) are not considered.  

 

Overview of Employment Forecast Methodology 
Our methodology starts with employment forecasts by major commercial and industrial sector. Forecasted 

employment is allocated to building type, and a space demand is a function of the assumed square footage 

per employee ratio multiplied by projected change. The need for space is then converted into land and site 

needs based on assumed development densities using floor area ratios (FARs). 

 

FIGURE 4.01: CONVERSION OF EMPLOYMENT FORECAST TO LAND NEED FORECAST - METHODOLOGY 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics 

 

The first step of the analysis is to update covered employment to the 2019 base year. Our City of Umatilla 

Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) dataset provides covered employment by industry 

Building Type 
Distribution

x

Sq.ft. 
Employee 

Employment Forecast 

Building 
Needs

Office

Industrial

Commercial

Floor Area Ratios
(FAR)

Land/Site Needs

348



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 29 

through 2017. To update these estimates, we use observed industry specific growth rates for the region 

between 2017 and 2019. 

 

The second step in the analysis is to convert “covered”4 employment to “total” employment. Covered 

employment only accounts for a share of overall employment in the economy. Specifically, it does not 

consider sole proprietors or some contracted workers. Covered employment was converted to total 

employment based on observed ratios at the national level derived from the Bureau of Economic Analysis 

from 2010 through 2017.  

 

The differential is the most significant in construction, professional, and administrative services. The 

adjusted 2019 total non-farm employment base for the City of Umatilla is an estimated 1,968 jobs.   

 

FIGURE 4.02: UPDATE TO 2019 BASELINE AND CONVERSION OF COVERED TO TOTAL EMPLOYMENT 

 
T.W.U. = Transportation, Warehousing, and Utilities 
*Information sector:  Employment in 2019 is estimated from local sources 

Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 

 

Scenario 1: Safe Harbor Forecast 
The Goal 9 statute does not have a required method for employment forecasting. However, OAR 660-024-

0040(9)(a) outlines several safe harbor methods, which are intended to provide jurisdictions a 

methodological approach that will not be challenged. The most applicable for Umatilla County jurisdictions 

is 660-024-0040(9)(a)(B), which recommends reliance on the adopted projected population growth rate as 

determined by the Portland State University Population Research Center. This method applies the projected 

 
4  The Department of Labor’s Quarterly Census of Employment and Wages (QCEW) tracks employment data through 

state employment departments. Employment in the QCEW survey is limited to firms with employees that are 
“covered” by unemployment insurance.       

2017 '17-'19 2019 Total Emp. 2019

Major Industry Sector Employment County Δ1
Estimate Conversion2

Estimate

Construction 172 1.8% 178 73.5% 243

Manufacturing 59 1.1% 60 97.6% 62

Wholesale Trade 88 1.0% 90 97.3% 92

Retail Trade 145 1.0% 148 94.4% 157

T.W.U. 93 1.1% 95 91.3% 104

Information* 0 2.9% 200 94.7% 211

Finance & Insurance 8 0.4% 8 91.6% 9

Real Estate 11 0.4% 11 91.6% 12

Professional & Technical Services 9 1.1% 9 88.5% 10

Administration Services 20 1.1% 20 88.5% 23

Education 215 1.5% 221 94.5% 234

Health Care 126 1.5% 130 94.5% 137

Leisure & Hospitality 79 1.0% 81 94.4% 85

Other Services 45 0.9% 46 82.7% 55

Government 525 0.7% 533 100.0% 533

TOTAL 1,595 7.1% 1,830 93.0% 1,968

1 Forecasted AAGR from 2017-2024 for Umatilla County. Oregon Employment Department

2 Bureau of Economic Analysis. Calculated as an eight-year average between 2010 and 2017

QCEW Employment

349



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 30 

population growth rate to the 2019 Umatilla County base, essentially reflecting that employment growth is 

expected to keep track with population growth. For individual industries, the projected growth rate is based 

on the most recent regional forecast (2017-2027) published by the Oregon Employment Department for 

Morrow and Umatilla Counties. 

 

This method results in an average annual growth rate of 1.7%, with total job growth of 805 jobs over the 

forecast period when applied to the employment profile in Umatilla.    

 

Scenario 2: Alternative Employment Forecast 
A second prepared forecast scenario was influenced by the research and analysis conducted in the EOA. 

This scenario formulates an employment growth trajectory based on identified trends, the growth outlook 

for targeted industries, and input from the project advisory committee. Further, the alternative scenario 

recognizes that the city’s policy direction has influence over realized growth in targeted sectors. This 

scenario considers the influence of known or anticipated development over a near and medium-term 

horizon. The following identified factors that are expected to influence growth informed the forecast 

Target Industries – The key industries that the community has identified for targeted growth and 

focused economic development efforts.  Known real-world business interest and location scouting 

from industries have also been considered.  The most significant changes were to reflect targeted 

growth in the information (data centers) and transportation & warehousing (distribution centers). 

Power, Water and Fiber Resources – Umatilla has excellent infrastructure resources that have proven 

attractive to large, high-investment industrial users such as data centers. 

Location - Umatilla’s location within the region will influence the mix of employment uses it can attract.  

Transportation, labor shed, recreation, and livability are some key locational factors. 

Household Growth - Growth in many sectors, including retail, hospitality, banking, and real estate, is a 

direct function of population and households in a community. 

 

Taken together, the 20-year forecast in this scenario projects 3.2% average annual growth. Our outlook for 

growth in information, manufacturing, transportation and distribution, retail, and leisure & hospitality is 

more optimistic than macroeconomic forecasts indicate—reflecting the area’s recent strength in these 

sectors. 

 

Summary of Employment Forecast Scenarios 

The two forecast scenarios in this analysis range from 1.7% to 3.1% average annual growth. Job growth 

estimates range from roughly 805 to 1,730 jobs. The first scenario is useful in creating a baseline 

understanding of macroeconomic growth prospects. These are common and broadly accepted approaches 

when looking at large geographic regions.   

 

However, forecasts grounded in broad-based economic variables do not account for the realities of local 

businesses and trends among evolving industries. The second scenario is meant to reflect these unique 

circumstances along with local economic development goals.  Any long-term forecast is inherently 

uncertain and should be updated on a regular basis to reflect more current information. 

 

  

350



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 31 

FIGURE 4.03: COMPARISON OF ALTERNATIVE FORECASTS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 

 

 
  

Industry 2019 2039 Chg. AAGR 2019 2039 Chg. AAGR

Construction 243 381 139 2.3% 243 390 147 2.4%

Manufacturing 62 82 20 1.4% 62 149 88 4.5%

Wholesale Trade 92 120 28 1.3% 92 132 40 1.8%

Retail  Trade 157 203 46 1.3% 157 222 66 1.8%

Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 135 31 1.3% 104 718 614 10.1%

Information 211 430 219 3.6% 211 642 431 5.7%

Finance & Insurance 9 10 1 0.5% 9 10 1 0.5%

Real Estate 12 13 1 0.5% 12 13 1 0.5%

Professional & Technical Services 10 14 3 1.3% 10 14 3 1.4%

Administration Services 23 30 7 1.3% 23 31 7 1.4%

Education 234 338 104 1.8% 234 344 110 1.9%

Health Care 137 198 61 1.8% 137 202 64 1.9%

Leisure & Hospitality 85 110 25 1.3% 85 119 34 1.7%

Other Services 55 69 14 1.1% 55 70 15 1.2%

Government 533 638 105 0.9% 533 643 111 1.0%

TOTAL: 1,968 2,772 804 1.7% 1,968 3,700 1,732 3.2%

SCENARIO I (State of Oregon) SCENARIO II (Adjusted)

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

Transport., Warehousing, Utilities

Information

Finance & Insurance

Real Estate

Professional & Technical Services

Administration Services

Education

Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

20-Year Job Growth (# of Jobs)

Baseline Scenario

Adjusted Scenario

351



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 32 

FIGURE 4.04: SUMMARY OF PROJECTION SCENARIOS, CITY OF UMATILLA (5-YEAR INCREMENTS) 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department, BEA 

 

EMPLOYMENT LAND NEED FORECAST – CITY OF UMATILLA 
The next step in our analysis is to convert projections of employment into forecasts of land demand over 

the planning period. The generally accepted methodology for this conversion begins by allocating 

employment by sector into a distribution of building typologies that typically house those economic 

activities.  As an example, insurance agents commonly locate in a traditional office space, usually along 

commercial corridors. However, a percentage of these firms locate in commercial retail space adjacent to 

retail anchors. Cross tabulating this distribution provides an estimate of employment in each typology.  

 

The next step converts employment into space using estimates of the typical square footage exhibited 

within each typology. Adjusting for market clearing vacancy we arrive at an estimate of total space demand 

for each building type. Finally, we can consider the physical characteristics of individual building types and 

the amount of land they typically require for development. The site utilization metric commonly used is 

referred to as a “floor area ratio” or FAR. For example, assume a 25,000-square foot general industrial 

building requires approximately two acres to accommodate its structure, setbacks, parking, and necessary 

yard/storage space. This building would have an FAR. of roughly 0.29.  Demand for space is then converted 

to net acres using a standard FAR for each development form.  

 

Total

Industry 2019 2024 2029 2034 2039 19-24 24-29 29-34 34-39 19-39

SCENARIO I (State of Oregon)
Construction 243 272 304 341 381 29 32 36 41 139

Manufacturing 62 66 71 77 82 5 5 5 6 20

Wholesale Trade 92 99 105 112 120 6 7 7 8 28

Retail Trade 157 167 178 190 203 10 11 12 13 46

Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 111 119 127 135 7 8 8 9 31

Information 211 252 302 360 430 41 49 59 70 219

Finance & Insurance 9 9 9 9 10 0 0 0 0 1

Real Estate 12 12 13 13 13 0 0 0 0 1

Professional & Technical Services 10 11 12 13 14 1 1 1 1 3

Administration Services 23 25 26 28 30 2 2 2 2 7

Education 234 257 281 308 338 22 25 27 30 104

Health Care 137 150 165 181 198 13 14 16 17 61

Leisure & Hospitality 85 91 97 103 110 6 6 6 7 25

Other Services 55 59 62 65 69 3 3 4 4 14

Government 533 557 583 610 638 25 26 27 28 105

TOTAL: 1,968 2,138 2,327 2,537 2,772 170 189 210 234 804

SCENARIO 2 (Modified)
Construction 243 273 308 346 390 31 34 39 44 147

Manufacturing 62 77 96 120 149 15 19 24 30 88

Wholesale Trade 92 101 110 121 132 9 9 10 11 40

Retail Trade 157 171 187 204 222 14 16 17 19 66

Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 104 169 273 443 718 65 105 170 275 614

Information 211 279 368 486 642 68 89 118 156 431

Finance & Insurance 9 9 9 10 10 0 0 0 0 1

Real Estate 12 12 13 13 13 0 0 0 0 1

Professional & Technical Services 10 11 12 13 14 1 1 1 1 3

Administration Services 23 25 27 28 31 2 2 2 2 7

Education 234 258 284 313 344 24 26 29 32 110

Health Care 137 151 166 183 202 14 15 17 18 64

Leisure & Hospitality 85 93 101 110 119 7 8 9 10 34

Other Services 55 59 62 66 70 3 4 4 4 15

Government 533 558 585 614 643 26 27 28 30 111

TOTAL: 1,968 2,246 2,602 3,069 3,700 278 356 467 631 1,732

Net Change by PeriodOverall Employment

352



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 33 

Land Demand Analysis (Adjusted Forecast) 
To demonstrate the methodology used, this report will develop land need estimates in a step-by-step 

process, clearly presenting underlying assumptions. In this analytical step we allocate employment growth 

into standard building typologies. The building typology matrix represents the share of sectoral 

employment that locates across various building types.  

 

FIGURE 4.05: DISTRIBUTION OF EMPLOYMENT BY SPACE TYPE, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 

Under the employment forecast scenario, employment housed in data center, office, retail, and general 

industrial space accounts for the greatest share of growth.  

Industry Sector Number AAGR Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail

Construction 147 2.3% 14% 0% 18% 40% 18% 0% 10%

Manufacturing 88 1.4% 8% 0% 24% 60% 8% 0% 0%

Wholesale Trade 40 1.3% 5% 0% 5% 10% 75% 0% 5%

Retail Trade 66 1.3% 5% 1% 6% 0% 12% 0% 76%

Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 614 1.3% 15% 0% 12% 13% 55% 0% 5%

Information 431 3.6% 5% 0% 5% 0% 0% 90% 0%

Finance & Insurance 1 0.5% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%

Real Estate 1 0.5% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%

Professional & Technical Services 3 1.3% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%

Administration Services 7 1.3% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%

Education 110 1.8% 30% 53% 5% 1% 1% 0% 10%

Health Care 64 1.8% 30% 53% 2% 0% 0% 0% 15%

Leisure & Hospitality 34 1.3% 20% 1% 7% 1% 1% 0% 70%

Other Services 15 1.1% 72% 1% 5% 1% 1% 0% 20%

Government 111 0.9% 43% 35% 5% 1% 1% 0% 15%

TOTAL 1,732 1.7% 16% 8% 10% 11% 24% 22% 9%

20-year Job Forecast BUILDING TYPE MATRIX

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

Construction

Manufacturing

Wholesale Trade

Retail Trade

T.W.U.

Information*

Finance & Insurance

Real Estate

Professional & Technical Services

Administration Services

Education

Health Care

Leisure & Hospitality

Other Services

Government

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. ind. Warehouse Retail Data Center

353



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 34 

 

FIGURE 4.06: NET CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT ALLOCATED BY BUILDING TYPE, CITY OF UMATILLA – 2019-2039 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 

Employment growth estimates by building type are then converted into demand for physical space. This 

conversion assumes the typical space needed per employee on average. This step also assumes a market 

clearing vacancy rate, acknowledging that equilibrium in real estate markets is not 0% vacancy. We assume 

a 10% vacancy rate for office, retail, and flex uses, as these forms have high rates of speculative multi-tenant 

usage. A 5% rate is used for general industrial, warehouse, and data centers—these uses have higher rates 

of owner occupancy that lead to lower overall vacancy.  Institutional uses are assumed to have no vacancy.  

 

The demand for space is converted into an associated demand for acreage using an assumed Floor Area 

Ratio (FAR).  The combined space and FAR assumptions further provide estimates indicative of job densities, 

determined on a per net-developable acre basis. 

 

FIGURE 4.07: NET ACRES REQUIRED BY BUILDING TYPOLOGY 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 
Commercial office and retail densities are 39 and 20 jobs per acre, respectively. Industrial uses range from 

21 jobs per acre for general industrial to 8 jobs per acre for warehouse/distribution to as few as 2 jobs per 

acre for data center users. The projected 1,730 job expansion in the local employment base would require 

an estimated 311 net acres of employment land to house. 

Industry Sector Number AAGR Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Construction 147 2.3% 21 0 27 59 27 0 15 147

Manufacturing 88 1.4% 7 0 21 53 7 0 0 88

Wholesale Trade 40 1.3% 2 0 2 4 30 0 2 40

Retail Trade 66 1.3% 3 1 4 0 8 0 50 66

Transport., Warehousing, Util ities 614 1.3% 92 0 74 80 338 0 31 614

Information 431 3.6% 22 0 22 0 0 388 0 431

Finance & Insurance 1 0.5% 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Real Estate 1 0.5% 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 1

Professional & Technical Services 3 1.3% 2 0 0 0 0 0 1 3

Administration Services 7 1.3% 5 0 0 0 0 0 1 7

Education 110 1.8% 33 58 5 1 1 0 11 110

Health Care 64 1.8% 19 34 1 0 0 0 10 64

Leisure & Hospitality 34 1.3% 7 0 2 0 0 0 24 34

Other Services 15 1.1% 11 0 1 0 0 0 3 15

Government 111 0.9% 48 39 6 1 1 0 17 111

TOTAL 1,732 1.7% 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

20-year Job Forecast NET CHANGE IN EMPLOYMENT BY BUILDING TYPE - 2019-2039

ADJUSTED SCENARIO

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Employment Growth 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

Avg. SF Per Employee 350 600 990 600 1,850 8,000 500 2,542

Demand for Space (SF) 95,600 79,400 163,100 118,900 761,900 3,101,100 81,900 4,401,900

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.35 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.25 0.32

Market Vacancy 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 10.0% 5.6%

Implied Density (Jobs/Acre) 39.2 22.9 11.9 20.7 7.8 1.8 19.6 5.6

Net Acres Required 7.0 5.8 13.9 9.6 52.6 214.1 8.4 311.3

DEMAND BY GENERAL USE TYPOLOGY, 2019-2039

354



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 35 

 

EMPLOYMENT LAND NEED FORECAST – NEEDED SITE SIZES 
The local employment base is largely dominated by small firms of 10 or fewer employees, with four 

employers currently accounting for more than 100 employees and one accounting for more than 250 

(Figure 4.08). 

 

FIGURE 4.08: DISTRIBUTION OF CURRENT FIRMS BY SIZE, UMATILLA OREGON 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 

Figure 4.09 presents the projected need for new commercial and industrial sites based on the industry 

growth projections presented above.  These site needs are an estimate of future needs to aid comparison 

to available supply (see following Section.)   

 

FIGURE 4.09: ESTIMATED SITE NEEDS (ACRES) OF FUTURE EMPLOYERS, UMATILLA OREGON 

 
Source:  Johnson Economics, Oregon Employment Department 

 

53

17

23

16

6

3

1

0

0 10 20 30 40 50 60

< 5

5-9

10-19

20-49

50-99

100-249

250-499

> 500

Number of Firms

N
u

m
b

e
r o

f 
Em

p
lo

ye
e

s

NUMBER OF FIRMS BY SIZE

LAND USE
0 TO .9 

acres

1 to 4.9 

acres

5 to 9.9 

acres

10 to 19.9 

acres

20 to 29.9 

acres

30 to 49.9 

acres

50 to 99.9 

acres
100+ acres TOTAL

Office 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

Institutional 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Retail 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Commercial: 17 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

Flex/B.P 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

Gen. Ind. 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 9

Warehouse 2 3 2 0 0 0 1 0 8

Data Center 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3

Industrial: 10 8 4 0 0 0 2 2 26

TOTAL: 27 13 4 0 0 0 2 2 48

355



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 36 

 

The estimates presented in Figure 4.09 are based on the average firm sizes of businesses in the different 

industry subsectors in Umatilla County.  However, economic development and job growth are dynamic, and 

this estimate of site needs is unlikely to match actual future needs exactly.  Communities should maintain 

flexibility and ensure a supply of a variety of site types with short-term availability, as allowed through the 

Goal 9 EOA process. 

 

Local and regional employment trends in Umatilla and Morrow Counties support the likely ability to 

continue to recruit larger users such as data centers and larger manufacturers going forward.  At the same 

time, there will be a continued demand for real estate space and sites of all size to accommodate the full 

range of employers across sectors. 

 

Additional Considerations in Land Demand 
Beyond a consideration of gross acreage, there is a significantly broader range of site characteristics that 

industries would require to accommodate future growth. We summarize some key findings here:  

 

▪ Industrial buildings are generally more susceptible to slope constraints due to larger building 

footprints. For a site to be competitive for most industrial uses, a 5% slope is the maximum for 

development sites. Office and commercial uses are generally smaller and more vertical, allowing 

for slopes up to 15%. 

 

▪ Most industries require some direct access to a major transportation route, particularly 

manufacturing and distribution industries that move goods throughout the region and beyond. A 

distance of 10-to-20 miles to a major interstate is generally acceptable for most manufacturing 

activities, but distribution activities require five miles or less and generally prefer a direct interstate 

linkage. Visibility and access are highly important to most commercial activities and site location 

with both attributes from a major commercial arterial is commonly required.  

 

▪ Access and capacity for water, power, gas, and sewer infrastructure is more important to industrial 

than commercial operations. Water/sewer lines of up to 10” are commonly required for large 

manufacturers. Appendix A details utility infrastructure requirements by typology.     

 

▪ Fiber telecommunications networks are likely to be increasingly required in site selection criteria 

for most commercial office and manufacturing industries. Medical, high-tech, creative office, 

research & development, and most professional service industries will prefer or require strong 

fiber access in the coming business cycles. 

 

 

Section VI and Appendix A of this report discuss industry-specific site requirements in greater detail. 

  

356



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 37 

 

V. CURRENT EMPLOYMENT LAND SUPPLY 
 

BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY 
The inventory of employment land provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to accommodate 

more business and jobs.  This current available land will be compared to the forecasted need for new land 

over the 20-year planning period. 

 

Employment land includes land zoned for industrial, retail or other commercial use (i.e. office), and may 

also include mixed-use zoning that allows for employment uses.  This inventory includes vacant parcels with 

the proper zoning, as well as “redevelopable” parcels.  (The methodology used in this analysis is described 

in detail below.) 

 

Methodology 

The Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) used in this analysis is based on tax account data from the County, 

supplemented with data from the State of Oregon.  The data was provided in Geographic Information 

Systems (GIS) compatible format, providing information on land use, parcel size and other relevant data 

categories on the taxlot level.  Zoning information was also provided by the City. 

 

The tax account data was used to identify vacant and redevelopable parcels in the city and its UGB.  

Environmental constraints including wetlands, floodplain and steep slopes that might impact developability 

were also considered.  The identified candidate parcels were then further screened and refined by Johnson 

Economics. 

 

In keeping with State requirements, the BLI includes an assessment of vacant buildable lands and 

redevelopable parcels.  This analysis applied the “safe harbor” assumptions allowed under state rules to 

determine the infill potential of developed parcels (OAR 660-024-0050): 

 

FIGURE 5.01:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY METHODOLOGY 

 
Appendix B provides an in-depth summary of the Buildable Lands Inventory, including methodology and 

mapping of the identified parcels of employment land.  The results are summarized below. 

357



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 38 

FIGURE 5.02:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

The inventory identifies over 378 acres of vacant or potentially redevelopable land in both commercial and 

industrial zones.  A smaller share is in the Commercial zones, while the majority has Industrial zoning.  80% 

of the sites are identified as “vacant”, and 20% are potential “redevelopment” sites. 

 

FIGURE 5.03:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

Figure 5.03 presents the inventory broken down by the size of parcels.  Most of the buildable unconstrained 

parcels identified are smaller than 20 acres, with the largest share of commercial parcels being smaller than 

 
Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage

C-1 4 8.5 2 1.0 6 9.5

DC 11 2.2 3 0.4 14 2.6

DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 8 1.4

GC 6 10.0 2 3.6 8 13.5

MC 3 4.1 0 0.0 3 4.1

NC 3 31.4 0 0.0 3 31.4

Commercial Total: 35 57.6 7 4.9 42 62.5

M1 6 23.5 5 27.6 11 51.1

M2 16 247.9 3 16.8 19 264.7

Industrial Total: 22 271.3 8 44.5 30 315.8

TOTAL: 57 328.9 15 49.4 72 378.3

ZONE
TOTALREDEVELOPABLEVACANT

 
# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

C-1 4 2.2 1 1.9 1 5.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 9.5

DC 14 2.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 14 2.6

DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 1.4

GC 2 1.7 3 5.0 1 6.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 13.5

MC 1 0.7 2 3.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 4.1

NC 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 13.4 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 31.4

Commercial Total: 29 8.6 6 10.2 4 25.8 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 40 62.5

M1 0 0.0 8 20.7 2 13.4 1 17.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 11 51.1

M2 0 0.0 3 10.3 6 39.7 4 53.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 14 264.7

Industrial Total: 0 0.0 11 31.0 8 53.2 5 70.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 25 315.8

TOTAL: 29 8.6 17 41.2 12 78.9 6 88.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 65 378.3

30 to 49.99 acres 50+ acres TOTALS

ZONE

0 TO .99 acres 1 to 4.99 acres 5 to 9.99 acres 10 to 19.99 acres 20 to 29.99 acres

358



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 39 

one acre in size.  The largest share of industrial parcels (over one third) are between one and five acres.  

There is one large industrial parcel of roughly 160 acres located at the Port. 

The following chart provides a visual presentation of the site-size data. 

FIGURE 5.04:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

 

The following figure shows a map of the Buildable Land Inventory for commercial and industrial parcels.  

Wetland constraints are highlighted to show how they hamper some of nominally vacant land supply.  

Where wetlands constrain a parcel, these parcels may be partially or wholly discounted from the inventory. 

 

 

  

 

0

11

8

5

0

0

1

29

6

4

1

0

0

0

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

0 TO 0.9

1 to 4.9

5 to 9.9

10 to 19.9

20 to 29.9

30 to 49.9

50+ acres

Number of Sites

P
ar

ce
l S

iz
e

 (A
cr

e
s)

Number of Sites by Size

Commercial

Industrial

359



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 40 

FIGURE 5.05:  MAP OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

I-
82

Powerline

D
o

w
n

to
w

n

P
o

rt

Tw
o

 R
iv

er
s 

C.
I.

360



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 41 

BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY VS. 20-YEAR LAND NEED 
The inventory of employment land provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to accommodate 

more business and jobs.  This current available land is compared to the forecasted need for new land over 

the 20-year planning period, generated in a previous step of this project (Section IV). 

 

The estimate of future land need is presented below. A total need for 309 net acres was identified across a 

range of building types. 

 

FIGURE 5.06:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR LAND NEED BY BUILDING TYPOLOGY (UMATILLA) 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

There is a total projected 20-year need for 309 acres of buildable employment land in industrial and 

commercial zones.  Roughly 90% of this projected need is for uses most appropriate to industrial zones 

(Flex, General Industrial, Warehouse, and Data Center), while the remainder is for uses most appropriate 

for commercial zones (Office, Retail, Institutional).  

 

Conclusion 

This combined identified need (311 acres) is less than the 378 acres of combined buildable employment 

land noted in Figure 5.02.  It is important to remember that the different categories of employment land 

are not (necessarily) substitutable.  For instance, a shortage of 10 acres of commercial land, and a surplus 

of 10 acres of industrial land do not cancel each other. 

 

Also, this does not address the more specific site needs from specific categories of employment land users.  

Some of the forecasted growth includes employers who may have specific site needs and preferences 

that are not reflected in the available buildable inventory, even though in total the available parcels sum 

to a significant amount. 

 

In particular, there is forecasted demand for more suitable large-lot industrial sites while relatively few of 

these sites were found in the inventory.  This is discussed in greater detail below. 

 

  

ADJUSTED SCENARIO

Office Institutional Flex/B.P Gen. Ind. Warehouse Data Center Retail Total

Employment Growth 273 132 165 198 412 388 164 1,732

Avg. SF Per Employee 350 600 990 600 1,850 8,000 500 2,542

Demand for Space (SF) 95,600 79,400 163,100 118,900 761,900 3,101,100 81,900 4,401,900

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.35 0.35 0.30 0.30 0.35 0.35 0.25 0.32

Market Vacancy 10.0% 10.0% 10.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 10.0% 5.6%

Implied Density (Jobs/Acre) 39.2 22.9 11.9 20.7 7.8 1.8 19.6 5.6

Net Acres Required 7.0 5.8 13.9 9.6 52.6 214.1 8.4 311.3

DEMAND BY GENERAL USE TYPOLOGY, 2019-2039

361



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 42 

VI. EMPLOYER SITE NEEDS VS. BUILDABLE LAND SUPPLY 
 

This section compares the more specific site requirements of projected future commercial and industrial 

users with the specific inventory of prospective employment sites identified within the UGB.  Oregon 

Administrative Rules requires a determination of 20-year employment land need, as well as a determination 

of need for suitable, readily serviceable land to meet short-term demand. 

 

The following definitions from OAR 660-009-005 are relevant to this discussion: 

 

(2) “Development Constraints” means factors that temporarily or permanently limit or prevent the use of 

land for economic development. Development constraints include, but are not limited to, wetlands, 

environmentally sensitive areas such as habitat, environmental contamination, slope, topography, cultural 

and archeological resources, infrastructure deficiencies, parcel fragmentation, or natural hazard areas…. 

 

(10) “Short-term Supply of Land” means suitable land that is ready for construction within one year of an 

application for a building permit or request for service extension. Engineering feasibility is sufficient to qualify 

land for the short-term supply of land. Funding availability is not required. “Competitive Short-term Supply” 

means the short-term supply of land provides a range of site sizes and locations to accommodate the market 

needs of a variety of industrial and other employment uses. 

 

(11) ”Site Characteristics” means the attributes of a site necessary for a particular industrial or other 

employment use to operate. Site characteristics include, but are not limited to, a minimum acreage or site 

configuration including shape and topography, visibility, specific types or levels of public facilities, services or 

energy infrastructure, or proximity to a particular transportation or freight facility such as rail, marine ports 

and airports, multimodal freight or transshipment facilities, and major transportation routes. 

 

(12) ”Suitable” means serviceable land designated for industrial or other employment use that provides, or 

can be expected to provide the appropriate site characteristics for the proposed 

 

As noted in the previous section, the Buildable Land Inventory was screened for major constraints, including 

current development, floodways, wetlands, steep slopes, and federal ownership.  The remaining parcels in 

the inventory may be buildable but may not meet the specific site requirements of certain users.  Others 

may be part of the long-term supply, but not be well-suited for the short-term supply. 

 

Estimated 20-Year Site Needs vs. Current Supply 
The following figures re-present the findings of estimated need and current supply of sites by size, as 

presented in the preceding sections.  Note that the estimate of future needs is approximate, as economic 

growth is dynamic and difficult to predict.  Communities should maintain flexibility and ensure a supply of 

a variety of site types with short-term availability, as allowed through the Goal 9 EOA process. 

 

As Figure 6.01 presents there is currently estimated to be a sufficient supply of commercial 

(retail/office/institutional) parcels to meet the projected demand.  Most of the demand is estimated to be 

from employers seeking relatively small sites of five acres or less.  Due to higher employment density for 

commercial uses, some of these may still have sizable workforces, despite smaller sites. 

 

362



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 43 

For industrial users, there is an estimated deficit of sites of some sizes.  Most notably there is a deficit of 

suitable large industrial sites, and a deficit of small industrial sites. 

 

FIGURE 6.01:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR SITE NEED VS. SITE SUPPLY 

BY LAND USE AND SITE SIZE (ACRES), UMATILLA 
 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

Figure 6.02 presents the same data in chart form. 

 

Estimated 20-year Site NEED

LAND USE
0 TO .9 

acres

1 to 4.9 

acres

5 to 9.9 

acres

10 to 19.9 

acres

20 to 29.9 

acres

30 to 49.9 

acres

50 to 99.9 

acres

100+ 

acres
TOTAL

Office 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

Institutional 2 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 4

Retail 5 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 7

Commercial: 17 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

Flex/B.P 3 2 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

Gen. Ind. 5 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 9

Warehouse 2 3 2 0 0 0 1 0 8

Data Center 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 3

Industrial: 10 8 4 0 0 0 2 2 26

TOTAL: 27 13 4 0 0 0 2 2 48

Estimated Employment Land SUPPLY (BLI)

LAND USE
0 TO .9 

acres

1 to 4.9 

acres

5 to 9.9 

acres

10 to 19.9 

acres

20 to 29.9 

acres

30 to 49.9 

acres

50 to 99.9 

acres

100+ 

acres
TOTAL

C-1 4 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

DC 14 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14

DT 8 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

GC 2 3 1 0 0 0 0 0 6

MC 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

NC 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 3

Commercial: 29 6 4 1 0 0 0 0 40

M1 0 8 2 1 0 0 0 0 11

M2 0 3 6 4 0 0 0 1 14

Industrial: 0 11 8 5 0 0 0 1 25

TOTAL: 29 17 12 6 0 0 0 1 65

363



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 44 

FIGURE 6.02:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED 20-YEAR SITE NEED VS. SITE SUPPLY 

BY LAND USE AND SITE SIZE (ACRES), UMATILLA 

 
Source:  Oregon Employment Department, Umatilla, Johnson Economics LLC 

 

Identified Industrial Site Deficits 
Large Lot:  The specific site deficits identified are for large industrial parcels.  This finding is the result of 

strong projected growth in the information sector, and specifically data centers and cloud computing 

facilities.  The Umatilla and Morrow County regions are now established centers for these facilities in 

Oregon due to a confluence of available infrastructure and workforce that have attracted these employers 

over the past decade.  These facilities represent huge capital investments and offer high average wages for 

the region.   There are known prospective opportunities to attract more of these facilities in the Umatilla 

area, which are excellent candidates for a ready short-term supply of suitable sites. 

 

As outlined in the matrix of site requirements presented in Appendix A, these users seek large-lot industrial 

land with excellent power, water, and fiber access.  These facilities have thus far used sites of 30 to over 

100 acres.  These users have stated a preference for very large sites in order to allow for future expansion.  

The most recent data center development in Umatilla sought a 120-acre site. 

 

0 10 20 30

0 TO .9 acres

1 to 4.9 acres

5 to 9.9 acres

10 to 19.9 acres

20 to 29.9 acres

30 to 49.9 acres

50 to 99.9 acres

100+ acres

No. of Sites

Si
te

 S
iz

e 
(A

cr
es

)

Commercial Sites

Est. Need

Supply

0 5 10 15

0 TO .9 acres

1 to 4.9 acres

5 to 9.9 acres

10 to 19.9 acres

20 to 29.9 acres

30 to 49.9 acres

50 to 99.9 acres

100+ acres

No. of Sites

Si
te

 S
iz

e 
(A

cr
es

)

Industrial Sites

Est. Need

Supply

364



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 45 

Given the projected short-term growth, and prospective long-term growth in this industry, Johnson 

Economics estimates a need for at least two sites of 100+ acres meeting serviceability requirements for 

data center or large manufacturing users, and at least one additional site of 50+ acres. 

 

In addition, there is a need for an additional large site or sites for potential distribution facilities.  This is an 

identified target industry based on local economic goals, and the Umatilla area provides strong advantages 

for this type of facility based on its location at the connection of two interstate freeways. 

 

Distribution centers require large sites for warehousing and truck staging, with ready freeway or major 

highway access for the receiving and shipping of large volumes of goods.  For example, the nearby Walmart 

Distribution Center uses a 190-acre site, while the Fed Ex Freight distribution facility uses a 62.5-acre site.  

The currently available industrial sites are generally too limited in size and most are too distant from the 

freeway to serve as suitable candidates for this use. 

 

Small Lot:  There is also a projected future need from small industrial firms for smaller sites.  It is also 

common for these types of users to also be accommodated in multi-tenant industrial buildings on larger 

sites.  Given the supply of industrial sites in the 5- to 20-acre range that can be subdivided or built with 

multi-tenant space, it may be less critical to designate new land for these small users at this time.  However, 

policies which facilitate availability of space for small industrial firms within current zones may be 

warranted. 

 

 

 

 

365



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 46 

APPENDIX A: SITE REQUIREMENTS 
The following series of tables summarize key site requirements for a range of prospective tenant types.5 

 

 
 

 
5  Business Oregon, Mackenzie. 

PROFILE A B C D E F G H I J
                                                                                     

CRITERIA

Computer & 

Electronic

Manufacturing 

(High-Tech R&D)

Software & 

Media

Multi-Tenant 

Office
Food Processing

Other 

Manufacturing

Life/Bioscience

 R&D Campus
Wholesaling Retail Data Center  Incubator

1 TOTAL SITE SIZE* Competitive Acreage** 5 - 100+ 5 - 15 5 - 20 5 - 25+ 5 - 50+ 20 - 100+ 10 - 100+ 5 - 20 10 - 100+ 5 - 25+

2 COMPETITIVE SLOPE: Maximum Slope 0 - 5% 0 - 7% 0 - 7% 0 - 5% 0 - 5% 0 - 7% 0 - 3% 0 - 7% 0 - 7% 0 - 5%

3 TRIP GENERATION:                                             
Average Daily Trips 

per Acre
40 - 60 80 - 200₁ 120 - 240₂ 50 - 60 40 - 50 60 - 150 50 - 60₃ 400 - 500₄ 20 - 30 40 - 50

4
MILES TO INTERSTATE 

OR FREIGHT ROUTE:       
Miles w/in 10 w/in 5 w/in 5 w/in 30 w/in 20 w/in 5 w/in 5 w/in 5 w/in 30 N/A

5
MILES TO FREQUENT 

TRANSIT SERVICE

(15 MIN OR LESS) 

Miles 0.6 0.5 0.8 < 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.3 < 0.1 0.1 < 0.1

6 RAILROAD ACCESS:           Dependency  Preferred Not Required Not Required    Preferred    Preferred Preferred Preferred Avoid Avoid N/A

7
PROXIMITY TO 

MARINE PORT:                 
Dependency  Preferred Not Required Not Required  Preferred  Preferred  Preferred Preferred Not Required Not Required N/A

Dependency Competitive Required Preferred  Preferred Preferred Required Not Required Not Required Competitive N/A

Distance (Miles)

8

Use is permitted outright, located in UGB or equivalent and outside flood plain; and site (NCDA) does not contain contaminants, wetlands, protected species, 

or cultural resources or has mitigation plan(s) that can be implemented in 180 days or less.
GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

PROXIMITY TO 

INTERNATIONAL/

REGIONAL AIRPORT:
This criteria cannot be met in Eastern Oregon

PHYSICAL SITE

TRANSPORTATION

366



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 47 

 PROFILE A B C D E F G H I J
                                                                                     

CRITERIA

Computer & 

Electronic

Manufacturing 

(High-Tech R&D)

Software & 

Media

Multi-Tenant 

Office
Food Processing

Other 

Manufacturing

Life/Bioscience

 R&D Campus
Wholesaling Retail Data Center  Incubator

Min.  Line Size 

(Inches/Dmtr)
12" - 16" 6" - 8" 8" - 10" 12" - 16" 6" - 10" 8" - 12" 6" - 10" 8" - 12" 16" 4" - 8"

Min. Fire Line Size 

(Inches/Dmtr)
12" - 18" 8" - 10" 8" - 12" 10" - 12" 8" - 10" 8" - 12" 8" - 10" 8" - 12" 10"-12"

6"

(or alternate 

source)

High Pressure 

Water 

Dependency

Required Not Required Not Required Required Not Required Preferred Not Required Not Required Required Not Required

Flow

(Gallons per Day 

per Acre)

5,200 1,200 1,500 3,150 1,850 2,450 1,200 1,800₅ 50 - 200† 1,200

Min. Service Line 

Size (Inches/Dmtr)
12" - 18" 6" - 8" 8" - 10" 10" - 12" 6" - 8" 10" - 12" 6" - 8" 6" - 10" 8"- 10"

4" - 6"

(or on-site 

source)

Flow

(Gallons per Day 

per Acre)

4,700 1,000 2,000 2,600 1,700 2,000 1,000 1,500₅ 1,000‡ 1,000

Preferred Min. 

Service Line Size 

(Inches/Dmtr)

6" 4" 4" 4" 4" 6" 4" 4" - 6" 4" N/A

On Site Competitive Preferred Competitive Preferred Competitive Competitive Preferred Competitive Preferred Preferred

Minimum Service 

Demand
4 - 6 MW 1 - 2 MW 0.5 - 1 MW 2 - 6 MW 0.5 MW 2 - 6 MW 0.5 MW 0.5 - 1 MW 5 - 25 MW 1 MW

Close Proximity to 

Substation
Competitive Competitive Preferred Not Required Preferred Competitive Not Required Preferred

Required, could 

be on site
Not Required

Redundancy 

Dependency
Preferred Preferred Preferred Not Required Not Required Competitive Not Required Preferred Required Not Required

Major     

Communications     

Dependency

Required Required Required Preferred Required Required Preferred Required Required Preferred

Route Diversity 

Dependency
Required Required Required Not Required Not Required Required Preferred Preferred Required Not Required

Fiber Optic 

Dependency
Required Required Required Preferred Preferred Required Competitive Preferred Required Not Required

UTILITIES

9

10

11

12

13

WATER:                

SEWER:                

NATURAL GAS:                        

ELECTRICITY:                            

TELECOMMUNICATIONS:    

367



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 48 

 

PROFILE A B C D E F G H I J
                                                                                     

CRITERIA

Computer & 

Electronic

Manufacturing 

(High-Tech R&D)

Software & 

Media

Multi-Tenant 

Office
Food Processing

Other 

Manufacturing

Life/Bioscience

 R&D Campus
Wholesaling Retail Data Center  Incubator

14

Acreage 

a l lotment 

includes  

expans ion 

space (often an 

exercisable 

option). 

Very high uti l i ty 

demands  in one 

or more areas  

common. 

Sens i tive to 

vibration from 

nearby uses .

₁: Research & 

Development @ 

80 ADTs  per 

acre on the low 

end, estimated 

200 ADTs  per 

acre for genera l  

office on the 

high end.

Location 

speci fic.

₂: Range 

represents  FAR 

0.25 - 0.5 of 

office uses

Location to 

other cluster 

industries .

May require high 

volume/supply of 

water and 

sanitary sewer 

treatment. 

Often needs  

substantia l  

s torage/yard 

space for input 

s torage. 

Ons i te water pre-

treatment 

needed in many 

instances .

Adequate 

dis tance from 

sens i tive land 

uses  

(res identia l , 

parks ) 

necessary.

Moderate 

demand for 

water and 

sewer.

Higher demand 

for electrici ty, 

gas , and 

telecom.

High divers i ty of 

faci l i ties  within 

bus iness  parks .

R&D faci l i ties  

benefi t from 

close proximity to 

higher education 

faci l i ties .

Moderate 

demand on a l l  

infrastructure 

systems.

₃: Genera l  

warehous ing 

rates

₄: Based on 

discount 

warehouse @ 

0.25 FAR

₅: Dependent on 

use, i .e., 

brewery vs . 

restaurant

Location to 

cluster 

industries .

Si te s ize di ffers  due to 

land cost and 

avai labi l i ty.  Urban-

area centers  may 

require 10-20 acres , 

whi le E. Oregon centers  

wi l l  typica l ly use larger 

s i tes .  Also the trend is  

towards  increas ing s i te 

s ize as  cloud s torage 

needs  continue to 

increase.

Power del ivery, water 

supply, and securi ty are 

cri tica l .

Surrounding 

environment (vibration, 

a i r qual i ty, etc.) i s  

crucia l .

May require high 

volume/supply of water 

and sanitary sewer 

treatment.

Often 

establ ished by 

municipa l i ties  

and have 

symbiotic 

relationships  

with col leges  

and/or 

univers i ties .

Terms: 

‡ Data Center Sewer Requirements: Sewer requirement is reported as 200% of the domestic usage at the Data Center facil ity.  Water and sewer requirements for Data Centers 

are highly variable based on new technologies and should be reviewed on a case-by-case basis for specific development requirements.

*Total Site: Building footprint, including buffers, setbacks, parking, mitigation, and expansion space.

'Not Required' does not apply for this industry and/or criteria.

More Critical

'Preferred' increases the feasibil ity of the subject property and its future reuse. Other factors may, however, prove more critical.

'Avoid' factors act as deterrents to businesses in these industries because of negative impacts.

† Data Center Water Requirements: Water requirement is reported as gallons per MWh to more closely align with the Data Center industry standard reporting of Water Usage Effectiveness (WUE).

Less Critical

**Competitive Acreage: Acreage that would meet the site selection requirements of the majority of industries in this sector.

'Required' factors are seen as mandatory in a vast majority of cases and have become industry standards.

'Competitive' significantly increases marketability and is highly recommended by Business Oregon . May also be linked to financing in order to enhance the potential reuse of the asset in case of default. 

SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS:

368



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 49 

The 14 site requirements listed on the matrix provide a basis for establishing a profile of the physical and 

other site needs of the identified industry. The site requirements are intended to address the typical needs 

of each of the industry categories, and it is recognized that there will likely be unique or non-typical needs 

of a specific user that will need to be evaluated by on a case-by-case basis.  

 

The following describes a few general requirements that apply to all industry type categories under 

consideration and then an overview of the 14 site requirements listed on the matrix. 

 

General Requirements: 

• The underlying zoning on the site must allow the use outright within the identified category. 
For example, no zone change, conditional use and/or similar land use review is necessary. 
Many jurisdictions typically require a design or development review which is acceptable, since 
the timeframe for obtaining such design-related approvals will be addressed in the State’s 
rating system.  

• The site under consideration must be located geographically within a UGB. 

• The site is not located within a 100-year floodplain as mapped by FEMA, although sites with 
approved FEMA map amendments (e.g., LOMA & LOMR) are acceptable. 

• The net contiguous developable area (NCDA) of the site does not include hazardous 
contaminants as verified by a Level 1 Environmental Report, or a Level 2 Report that has 
received a No Further Action approval from DEQ; or existing wetlands or other natural 
features which are regulated at the State, Federal or local level; or federally endangered 
species. 

• The NCDA does not contain any cultural or historical resources that have been identified for 
protection at the State, Federal or local level. 

• The NCDA does not have mitigation plans that can be implemented in 180 days or less. 

 

Site Requirements: 

1. Total Site Size: The site size is taken to mean the size of the building footprint and includes buffers, 
setbacks, parking, mitigation, and expansion space. 

2. Competitive Slope: Most industrial uses require relatively large building footprints that do not 
accommodate steps in floor slabs, and sloping topography will require extensive excavation and 
retaining systems that increase development cost over flat sites. The figures given are the 
preferred maximum average slope across the developable portion of the site, recognizing that sites 
with additional area outside the building, or developments with multiple building pads, generally 
will have lower slope earthwork costs than sites with limited space outside the building footprint. 

3. Trip Generation: Sites are frequently limited by a jurisdiction to a specified total number of vehicle 
trips entering and exiting the site. This site requirement is an estimate of the minimum number of 
average daily trips per acre (based on the range of building coverage) that should be available for 
each of the industrial categories based on the Institute of Traffic Engineers (ITE) Manual-Ninth 
Edition. The following table lists the ITE codes used to estimate average trips for the industry 
profiles represented in the matrix. 

  

369



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 50 

4. Miles to Interstate or Freight Route:  With few exceptions, access to major freeways or freight 
routes is critical for the movement of goods. This site requirement indicates the typical maximum 
range of distance, in miles, from the site to the freeway or highway access. The 
roadways/intersections between the site and freeway/highway must generally operate at a level 
of service ‘D’ or better in accordance with the Highway Capacity Manual methodologies and 
general engineering standards.  

5. Miles to Frequent Transit Service:  Businesses located walking distance (within one-quarter of a 
mile) to a bus stop that is serviced by a frequent bus line enjoy a competitive advantage over others 

that are more limited in transportation access options.6  

6. Railroad Access:  The need for access to railroad for the movement of goods within each industrial 
category is dependent upon individual users, so the site requirements are identified as either 
“Preferred,” “Not Required,” or “Avoid” in some cases where the presence of rail may be 
considered a deterrent to business.  

7. Proximity to Marine Port:  The need for access to a marine port for the movement of goods within 
each industrial category is dependent upon individual users.  

8. Proximity to International/Regional Airport:  The need for access to a regional airport for the 
movement of goods or business travel within each industrial category is dependent upon individual 
users.  

9. Availability of Water: This requirement indicates the minimum sizes of domestic water and fire 
lines immediately available to the site.  In certain rural cases, a comparable supply from an on-site 
water system (i.e., well or reservoir with available water rights) may be acceptable.  In addition to 
lines sizes, preference for high-pressure water capabilities and average flow demand in gallons per 
day is specified for each industry type.   

10. Availability of Sanitary Sewer: This requirement indicates the minimum size of public sanitary 
sewer service line immediately available to the site. In certain rural cases, an on-site subsurface 
system providing a comparable level of service may be acceptable.  Sewer flow requirements were 
determined by calculating a percentage of the water flow for each industry type. 

11. Natural Gas: This requirement indicates the minimum size natural gas line that is immediately 
available to the site. It is assumed that the pressure demand for all industry categories is 40-60 psi. 

12. Electricity:  This requirement indicates the minimum electrical demand readily available to each 
industry and where proximity to a substation and redundancy dependency rank on the continuum 
of less critical to more critical. Estimated demand is based on review of existing usage from local 
utility providers, referencing industrial NAICS codes for the various profiles. 

13. Telecommunications:  This requirement indicates whether the availability of telecommunication 
systems are readily available, and where major commercial capacity, route diversity and fiber optic 
lines rank on the continuum of less critical to more critical. All sites are assumed to have a T-1 line 
readily available. 

 

INDUSTRY PROFILES 
The following provides supplemental information for the attached Industrial Development Profile Matrix. 
The preceding matrix identifies 10 industry type categories (labeled A-J on the matrix) and 14 “site needs” 
which will assist in evaluating selected sites using the criteria of a given industry type.  
 

 
6  We have defined “frequent bus line” as one with service occurring in no longer than 15 minute intervals. 

370



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 51 

The industry categories have been established based primarily on Business Oregon information (including 
input from various state agencies). Due to the wide range and constantly evolving characteristics of uses, 
borderline and/or non-typical applications will likely arise and will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis. It 
should be noted that certain industry types might have unique requirements, such as proximity to an 
international airport, which may require an additional category. It should also be noted that the industry 
types represent the primary use of the industry, and exclude secondary/accessory uses (e.g., training 
facilities, etc.) at this  
 

A: Food Processing 
a) Description: 

Generally, this category includes industries that manufacture or process foods and beverages for 
human or animal consumption. Although this category has similar siting characteristics as Other 
Manufacturing, the unique needs associated with food processing, such as high-volume water 
and/or pressure demand, warrant this separate category. Broadly, there are two types of food 
processing categories: 

(1) raw materials; and  
(2) assembling. 

Additionally, there is a packaging and warehousing component to these facilities.  
b) Representative Industry Types: 

• Production foods/goods (e.g., bakeries) 

• Fruits and vegetables 

• Breweries and wineries 

• Dairy 

• Bottling/beverages 
c) Representative Companies: 

• Ajinomoto (Portland) 

• Beaverton Foods Inc. (Hillsboro) 

• Cabroso (Medford) 

• Rogue Creamery 

• Hermiston Foods (Hermiston) 

• Nancy’s Yogurt (Eugene) 

• Reser’s Foods (Beaverton) 

• Norpac (Salem and Stayton) 

• Tillamook Dairy (Tillamook) 

• Coca Cola bottling (statewide) 

• Pepsi bottling (statewide) 

• Full Sail Brewing (Hood River) 

• Hood River Juice Company (Hood River) 
 

B: Other Manufacturing 
a) Description: 

This category is intended to include industries that utilize relatively less intensive manufacturing 
processes, more assembly activities, and direct transfer to wholesale and domestic consumers. 
Typically, these facilities are freestanding, devoted to a single use, and emphasize manufacturing 
space over office space. Generally, these non-high-tech industries may be located on individual 
sites or in business/industrial parks and have less effect on surrounding uses.  This category also 
includes some industrial service uses that are engaged in serving other businesses, such as an 
industrial laundry facility. 

b) Representative Industry Types: 

• Electronic assembly support 

371



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 52 

• Wood products 

• Automobile products 

• Steel/metals 

• Building materials fabrication and processing 
c) Representative Companies: 

• Warn Industries (Clackamas) 

• JV Northwest (Canby) 

• Hartung Glass (Wilsonville) 

• Oregon Iron Works (Clackamas) 

• Daimler Trucks North America (Portland) 

• Maxim Integrated (Beaverton and Hillsboro) 

• Oregon Steel Mills (Portland) 
 

C: Wholesaling 
a) Description: 

The wholesale industry comprises companies involved in wholesaling merchandise and other 
goods such as mining, agriculture, manufacturing, and certain information industries. This industry 
typically represents an intermediate step in the production and distribution of goods and 
merchandise, as wholesalers generally sell goods intended for resale by a retailer. In some cases, 
users and customers may purchase these goods directly from a wholesaler with a retailer. 

b) Representative Industry Types: 

• Automobile and Other Motor Vehicle Merchant Wholesalers 

• Furniture Merchant Wholesalers 

• Office Equipment Merchant Wholesalers 

• Hardware Merchant Wholesalers 

• Farm and Garden Machinery and Equipment Merchant Wholesalers 

• Sporting and Recreational Goods and Supplies Merchant Wholesalers 
c) Representative Companies: 

• Cascade Wholesale Hardware 

• Costco Wholesale 

• Pearlier Auto Wholesale 
 

D: Retail 
b) Description: 

This industry contains businesses that sell merchandise, largely without any transformation of the 
good, with services largely being ancillary to the sale of said merchandise. The businesses usually 
receive goods from wholesalers, and typically do not transform the good before its final sale to the 
user or customer. There are sixty-nine subsectors of retail trade, some of which are reflected in 
the bulleted list below. 

c) Representative Industry Types: 

• Specialty food/grocery 

• Coffee shops/cafes 

• Theater/recreation/entertainment 

• Brew pub/wine or bottle shops 

• Full service local restaurants 

• Food car pods 

• Bookstores and boutiques 

• Wellness and spa services 

• Hotel & hospitality 

• Niche manufacturing (bike, bakery, outdoor, etc.) 

372



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | Economic Opportunities Analysis  PAGE 53 

d) Representative Companies: 

• New Seasons 

• Dutch Bros. Coffee 

• McMenamins Cornelius Pass Roadhouse 

• P.F. Chang’s 

• Barnes & Noble 

• Align Wellness Center 

• Embassy Suites 

• Orenco Station Cyclery 
 

E: Incubator 
a) Description: 

This industry type is often established by local municipalities and has a symbiotic relationship with 
colleges and universities within the vicinity. Business incubators are designed to help new and 
small businesses in the start-up and early growth phases of development, through providing a 
flexible combination of business development tools, facilities and resources, and personal 
contacts. 

b) Representative Industry Types: 

• Not applicable for this industry type, as the incubators serve as cultivating space for several 
uses to grow in their nascent business stages.  

c) Representative Examples: 

• Launch Pad Baker City 

• Microenterprise Investors Program of Oregon (Portland) 

• BESThq (Beaverton) 

• Forge Portland 

• WeWork (Portland) 
 

F: Data Center 
a) Description: 

Data centers are classified under NAICS 5182: Data Processing, Hosting, and Related Services. We 
consider them separately from other “information and software” activates because the land and 
utility needs are far different. Over the just the last five years, unprecedented growth in demand 
for data hosting has developed an entirely new segment of the industrial landscape in Oregon 
attracted to a generally temperate climate, low overall disaster risk, low utility rates from 
renewable sources, and abundant water. 
 
The growth outlook for data center siting is strong, as high growth rates for streaming, software 
as a service (SaaS), and cloud data and processing across the industry creates an accelerating need 
for hosting services. Global data center demand is expected to grow threefold over just the next 

five years.7 Key areas like the Columbia Basin, Central Oregon and Hillsboro compete for these 
industrial users. 

b) Representative Companies: 

• Vadata 

• Google 

• Apple 

• Facebook 

• ViaWest 

• Adobe 

 
7 Cisco Global Cloud Index (2015). 

373



Appendix B: Buildable Land Inventory        
 

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR  PAGE 1  

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:    Tamra Mabbott, Community Development Director 
  Technical Advisory Committee 
 
From:  Johnson Economics 
 
Subject:   Economic Opportunities Analysis, City of Umatilla, OR 
  Inventory of Buildable Employment Lands 
 

INTRODUCTION 

This memo summarizes an interim step in the Economic Opportunities Analysis.   The inventory of 
employment land provides a snapshot of the currently local capacity to accommodate more business 
and jobs.  This current available land will be compared to the forecasted need for new land over the 20-
year planning period. 
 
Employment land includes land zoned for industrial, retail or other commercial use (i.e. office), and may 
also include mixed-use zoning that allows for employment uses.  This inventory includes vacant parcels 
with the proper zoning, as well as “redevelopable” parcels.  (The methodology used in this analysis is 
described in detail below.) 
 
For planning purposes, this type of inventory is often called a Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI). 

 

METHODOLOGY 

The Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI) used in this analysis is based on tax account data, zoning and other 
key mapping information provided by the City of Umatilla, Umatilla County, and the state.  The data was 
provided in Geographic Information Systems (GIS) compatible format, providing information on land 
use, parcel size and other relevant data categories on the taxlot level. 
 
The tax account data was used to identify vacant and redevelopable parcels in Umatilla with their Urban 
Growth Boundary (UGB).  The identified candidate parcels were then further screened and refined by 
JOHNSON ECONOMICS. 
 
In keeping with State requirements, the BLI includes an assessment of vacant buildable lands and 
redevelopable parcels.  This analysis applied the “safe harbor” assumptions allowed under state rules to 
determine the infill potential of developed parcels (OAR 660-024-0050). 
 
The Buildable Lands Inventory relied on the following sources: 

 
▪ Umatilla County Geographic Information System (GIS) data 
▪ DLCD GIS data 
▪ Google Earth 
▪ Assessment of environmental constraints 
▪ City staff input 

374



Appendix B            

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR  PAGE 2 

▪ Advisory Committee input 
▪ Site visits 

 
Identification of Vacant Parcels 
JOHNSON ECONOMICS used the most recent available tax account data from Umatilla County to identify 
those parcels located in appropriate commercial or industrial zones and determine whether they are 
developed or undeveloped.  The County supplied taxlot data in GIS format.  Johnson Economics applied 
the following steps to further refine the Buildable Lands Inventory: 
 

1) Isolate the taxlots located within Umatilla’s UGB.  The shapefile contains data on the individual 
property tax accounts associated with each taxlot in the county. 
 

2) Using zoning layers, isolate those taxlots that are located in appropriate employment zones, 
including industrial and commercial areas. 
 

3) Through a combination of parsing individual taxlot data and aerial map surveying, develop 
preliminary list of qualified vacant parcels.  For this preliminary analysis, all vacant lots were 
included regardless of size.  
 

4) Using staff and advisory committee feedback, additional GIS data and surveying, and site visits, 
the vacant inventory was further refined to remove anomalies or misidentified parcels.   
 

Identification of Redevelopable Parcels 
In order to identify those developed parcels which might accommodate additional development, 
JOHNSON ECONOMICS applied the so-called “safe harbor” provisions of the Oregon Administrative Rules, 
which provide cities a systematic means to estimate the development capacity of larger parcels with a 
limited amount of existing development: 
 

OAR  660-024-0050 
 
Land Inventory and Response to Deficiency 
 
… 
(3)  As safe harbors when inventorying land to accommodate industrial and other employment needs, a 
local government may assume that a lot of parcel is vacant if it is: 
 

(a) Equal to or larger than one-half acre, if the lot or parcel does not contain a permanent building; 
or 

(b) Equal to or larger than five acres, if less than one-half acre of the lot or parcel is occupied by a 
permanent building. 

 
Source:  Oregon Administrative Rules, 660-024 

 
Using GIS data, the above criteria were applied to the developed parcels in Umatilla in order to identify 
those developed parcels which are prospective candidates for infill development or redevelopment. 
 
The Buildable Lands Inventory of Employment Lands was prepared following the preceding steps by 
JOHNSON ECONOMICS LLC.  The findings are presented below with additional discussion. 

 

375



Appendix B            

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR  PAGE 3 

 

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY – EMPLOYMENT LANDS 

The methodology as described above finds an existing buildable employment lands inventory as follows 
in Umatilla: 
 

1. UMATILLA 
 

FIGURE 1:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY (UMATILLA) 

Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage Parcels Acreage

C-1 4 8.5 2 1.0 6 9.5

DC 11 2.2 3 0.4 14 2.6

DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 8 1.4

GC 6 10.0 2 3.6 8 13.5

MC 3 4.1 0 0.0 3 4.1

NC 3 31.4 0 0.0 3 31.4

Commercial Total: 35 57.6 7 4.9 42 62.5

M1 6 23.5 5 27.6 11 51.1

M2 16 247.9 3 16.8 19 264.7

Industrial Total: 22 271.3 8 44.5 30 315.8

TOTAL: 57 328.9 15 49.4 72 378.3

ZONE
TOTALREDEVELOPABLEVACANT

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

The inventory identifies 378 acres of vacant or potentially redevelopable land in the commercial and 
industrial zones.  87% of the acreage is identified as “vacant”, and 13% in potential “redevelopment” 
sites.  Roughly 62.5 of the acres are in commercial zones, while nearly 316 acres are industrial. 
 
FIGURE 2:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

# of 

Parcels
Acreage

C-1 4 2.2 1 1.9 1 5.5 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 9.5

DC 14 2.6 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 14 2.6

DT 8 1.4 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 8 1.4

GC 2 1.7 3 5.0 1 6.9 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 6 13.5

MC 1 0.7 2 3.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 4.1

NC 0 0.0 0 0.0 2 13.4 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 3 31.4

Commercial Total: 29 8.6 6 10.2 4 25.8 1 18.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 40 62.5

M1 0 0.0 8 20.7 2 13.4 1 17.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 11 51.1

M2 0 0.0 3 10.3 6 39.7 4 53.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 14 264.7

Industrial Total: 0 0.0 11 31.0 8 53.2 5 70.3 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 25 315.8

TOTAL: 29 8.6 17 41.2 12 78.9 6 88.2 0 0.0 0 0.0 1 161.4 65 378.3

30 to 49.99 acres 50+ acres TOTALS

ZONE

0 TO .99 acres 1 to 4.99 acres 5 to 9.99 acres 10 to 19.99 acres 20 to 29.99 acres

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

376



Appendix B            

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR  PAGE 4 

 
 
Figure 2 presents the inventory broken down by the size of parcels.  The distribution is weighted 
towards smaller parcels, with few unconstrained parcels over 20 acres in size.  Figure 3 presents the 
same data in chart form. 
 

FIGURE 3:  SUMMARY OF EMPLOYMENT BUILDABLE LAND INVENTORY, BY PARCEL SIZE (UMATILLA) 

0

11

8

5

0

0

1

29

6

4

1

0

0

0

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35

0 TO 0.9

1 to 4.9

5 to 9.9

10 to 19.9

20 to 29.9

30 to 49.9

50+ acres

Number of Sites

P
ar

ce
l S

iz
e

 (A
cr

e
s)

Number of Sites by Size

Commercial

Industrial

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

 
The following set of maps presents the Buildable Land Inventory and some reference information.  The 
maps include: 
 

• Figure 4:  City Zoning Map 

• Figure 5:  Constrained Lands 

• Figure 6:  Buildable Employment Lands 
 
 

377



Appendix B: Buildable Land Inventory                  
 

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR      PAGE 5  

FIGURE 5:  ZONING MAP, UMATILLA 

 
Source:  Angelo Planning Group (2019) 

378



Appendix B        

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR       PAGE 6 

FIGURE 6:  CONSTRAINED LAND, UMATILLA 

I-82

P
o

w
erlin

e

Downtown

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

379



Appendix B        

BUILDABLE LANDS INVENTORY, EMPLOYMENT LANDS – UMATILLA, OR       PAGE 7 

FIGURE 7:  BUILDABLE EMPLOYMENT LANDS, UMATILLA 

I-82

P
o

w
e

rlin
e

Downtown

Port

Two Rivers C.I.

 
Source:  Umatilla County, State of Oregon, Johnson Economics LLC 

380



 

621 SW ALDER STREET, SUITE 605  PORTLAND, OR  97205  503/295-7832  503/295-1107 (FAX) 

 

 

 
Source: City of Umatilla 

 
CITY OF UMATILLA, OR 

 
HOUSING AND RESIDENTIAL LAND NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

(OREGON STATEWIDE PLANNING GOAL 10) 
 

20-YEAR HOUSING NEED 
2019 - 2039 

 
 
 

Prepared For: 
CITY OF UMATILLA, OREGON 

June 2019 

381



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 1  

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
 

Introduction 2 

I. CITY OF UMATILLA DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 2 

A. POPULATION GROWTH 3 

B. HOUSEHOLD GROWTH & SIZE 3 

C. FAMILY HOUSEHOLDS 4 

D. HOUSING UNITS 4 

E. AGE TRENDS 5 

F. INCOME TRENDS 6 

G. POVERTY STATISTICS 7 

H. EMPLOYMENT LOCATION TRENDS 8 

II. CURRENT HOUSING CONDITIONS 10 

A. HOUSING TENURE 10 

B. HOUSING STOCK 10 

C. NUMBER OF BEDROOMS 10 

D. UNITS TYPES BY TENURE 11 

E. AGE OF HOUSING STOCK 12 

F. HOUSING COSTS VS. LOCAL INCOMES 13 

G. PUBLICLY-ASSISTED HOUSING 14 

III. CURRENT HOUSING NEEDS (CITY OF UMATILLA) 15 

IV. FUTURE HOUSING NEEDS - 2039 (CITY OF UMATILLA) 21 

V. RECONCILIATION OF FUTURE NEED (2039) & LAND SUPPLY (CITY OF UMATILLA) 26 

 

 

 

382



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 2  

 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
This analysis outlines a forecast of housing need within the City of Umatilla. Housing need and resulting land need 
are forecast to 2039 consistent with 20-year need assessment requirements of periodic review.  This report 
presents a housing need analysis (presented in number and types of housing units) and a residential land need 
analysis, based on those projections. 
 
The primary data sources used in generating this forecast were: 
 

 Portland State University Population Research Center 
 U.S. Census 
 Environics Analytics Inc.1 
 Oregon Employment Department 
 Umatilla County GIS 
 Other sources are identified as appropriate. 

 
This analysis reflects the coordinated population forecast from the Oregon Population Forecast Program, at the 
Population Research Center (PRC) at PSU.  State legislation passed in 2013 made the PRC responsible for 
generating the official population forecasts to be used in Goal 10 housing analyses in Oregon communities outside 
of the Portland Metro area (ORS 195.033).  The population forecasts used in this analysis were generated in 2016. 
 
This project is funded by Oregon general fund dollars through the Department of Land Conservation and 
Development. The contents of this document do not necessarily reflect the views or policies of the State of 
Oregon. 
 
 
 

I. CITY OF UMATILLA DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 
 

SUMMARY 
 

The following table (Figure 1.1) presents a profile of City of Umatilla demographics from the 2000 and 2010 
Census.  This includes the city limits of Umatilla, as well as areas currently included within the Urban Growth 
Boundary (UGB).  It also presents the estimated population of this area as of 2018 from PSU estimates. 

 
 Umatilla is a City of an estimated 7,320 people (City), and 8,834 people (UGB), located in Umatilla County 

in Northeastern Oregon.  An estimated 17% of the population in the UGB lives outside the city limits. 

 Based on the UGB population, Umatilla is roughly the 64th largest city in the state by population.  Within 
Umatilla County, Umatilla is the third largest city after Hermiston and Pendleton. 

 Umatilla has experienced rapid growth, growing over 47% in population since 2000.  In contrast, Umatilla 
County and the state experienced population growth of 14% and 21% respectively. The City of Hermiston 
grew 37% over this period.  (US Census and PSU Population Research Center) 

                                                 
1 Environics Analytics Inc. is a third-party company providing data on demographics and market segmentation.  It licenses data from the Nielson 
Company which conducts direct market research including surveying of households across the nation.  Nielson combines proprietary data with 
data from the U.S. Census, Postal Service, and other federal sources, as well as local-level sources such as Equifax, Vallassis and the National 
Association of Realtors.   Projections of future growth by demographic segments are based on the continuation of long-term and emergent 
demographic trends identified through the above sources.  

383



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 3  

 The Umatilla UGB was home to an estimated 2,247 households in 2018, an increase of roughly 550 
households since 2000.  The percentage of families fell slightly between 2000 and 2018 from 78% to 74% 
of all households.  The city has a larger share of family households than Umatilla County (68%) and the 
state (63%). 

 Umatilla’s estimated average household size is 3.15 persons, holding fairly stable since 2000.  This is 
higher than the Umatilla County average of 2.67 and the statewide average of 2.47. 

 

FIGURE 1.1: UMATILLA DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE 

2000 2010 Growth 2018 Growth

(Census) (Census) 00-10 (PSU) 10-18

Population1 6,008 8,335 38.7% 8,834 6.0%

Households2 1,691 2,089 23.5% 2,247 7.6%

Families3 1,317 1,553 18% 1,671 8%

Housing Units4 1,824 2,131 17% 2,240 5%

Group Quarters Population5 697 1,755 152% 1,755 0%

Household Size (non-group) 3.14 3.15 0% 3.15 0%

Avg. Family Size 3.51 3.59 2% 3.59 0%

2000 2010 Growth 2018 Growth

(Census) (Census) 00-10 (Proj.) 10-18

Per Capita ($) $11,469 $12,267 7% $12,864 5%

Median HH ($) $33,844 $44,643 32% $38,796 -13%

SOURCE: Census, PSU Population Research Center, and Johnson Economics

Census Tables:  DP-1 (2000, 2010); DP-3 (2000); S1901; S19301

2 2018 Households = (2018 population - Group Quarters Population)/2018 HH Size
3 Ratio of 2018 Families to total HH is based on 2016 ACS 5-year Estimates

5 Ratio of 2018 Group Quarters Population to Total Population is kept constant from 2010.

4 2018 housing units are the '10 Census total plus new units permitted from '10 through '18 (source:  Census, Cities)

PER CAPITA AND MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME

POPULATION, HOUSEHOLDS, FAMILIES, AND YEAR-ROUND HOUSING UNITS

1 From PSU Population Research Center, Population Forecast Program, final forecast for Umatilla Co. (2017)

 
 

A. POPULATION GROWTH 
 
Since 2000, Umatilla has grown by roughly 2,825 people within the UGB, or 47% in 18 years.   This is a faster 
growth rate than was seen in the rest of the county (14%), and the state (21%).  In comparison, the population of 
Hermiston grew by an estimated 37% during this period. 
 
 

B. HOUSEHOLD GROWTH & SIZE 
 
As of 2018, the city has an estimated 2,250 households.  Since 2000, Umatilla has added an estimated 555 
households, or 33% growth.  A household is defined as all the persons who occupy a single housing unit, whether 
or not they are related. 
 
Household growth was slower than population growth reflecting that the share of the population in group housing 
has grown as the correctional facility has reached capacity.  (Group quarters includes living situations that are 

384



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 4  

often institutional in nature such as prisons, dorms, nursing facilities, shelters, etc.). There has been a general 
trend in Oregon and nationwide towards declining household size as birth rates have fallen, more people have 
chosen to live alone, and the Baby Boomers have become empty nesters.  While this trend of diminishing 
household size is expected to continue nationwide, there are limits to how far the average can fall.  Umatilla has 
resisted this trend in recent decades. 
 
Umatilla’s average household size of 3.15 people is larger than Umatilla County (2.67).  (The 2017 ACS estimates 
that the average household size has fallen to 2.73 over the last two years.  Without confirmation, this estimate 
seems low, and also would correspond to a growth in the number of households that seems to outnumber the 
housing supply.) 
 
Figure 1.2 shows the share of households by the number of people for renter and owner households in 2017 
(latest available), according to the Census.  Renter households are more likely to have three or fewer persons.  
Owner households are more likely to have larger households. 
 

FIGURE 1.2: NUMBER OF PEOPLE PER HOUSEHOLD, CITY OF UMATILLA 

30%

28%

10%

9%

12%

4%

7%

31%

31%

18%

12%

5%

0%

3%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

1-person

2-person

3-person

4-person

5-person

6-person

7-or-more Renter

Owner

 
SOURCE:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS LLC 
Census Tables:  B25009 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 
 
 

C. FAMILY HOUSEHOLDS 
As of the 2017 ACS, 74% of Umatilla households were family households, down slightly from 2000 (78%).  The total 
number of family households in Umatilla is estimated to have grown by 350 since 2000.  This is 63% of all new 
households in this period. 
 
The Census defines family households as two or more persons, related by marriage, birth or adoption and living 
together.  In 2017, family households in Umatilla had an average size of 3.59 people. 
 
 

D. HOUSING UNITS 
Data from the City of Umatilla and the US Census indicate that the city added a little over 100 new housing units 
since 2010 within the UGB.  At the same time, the city has added roughly 160 households, meaning the growth in 
households and population is outpacing the production of new housing in the community. 
 

385



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 5  

As of 2018, the city had an estimated housing stock of roughly 2,240 units for its 2,247 estimated households.  
These estimates would mean very low or zero vacancy or unit availability in the community, which may not be 
literally true, but does indicate more generally that the demand and supply of housing are very nearly balanced 
currently. 
 

E. AGE TRENDS 
The following figure shows the share of the population falling in different age cohorts between the 2000 Census 
and the most recent 5-year estimates.  As the chart shows, there is a general trend of younger age cohorts falling 
as share of total population, while older cohorts have grown in share.  This is in keeping with the national trend 
caused by the aging of the Baby Boom generation.  At the same time, the share of people aged from 25 to 34 years 
of age has grown slightly. 
 

FIGURE 1.3:  AGE COHORT TRENDS, 2000 - 2017 

27%

16%
18% 17%

10%

6%
3%

2%
0%

19%

12%

22%

16%
13%

10%

5%
3%

1%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

2000

2017

 
SOURCE:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS LLC 
Census Tables:  QT-P1 (2000); S0101 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

 
 The cohorts that grew in share during this period were those aged 45 and older.  Still an estimated 92% of the 

population is under 65 years of age. 

 In the 2017 ACS, the local median age was an estimated 32 years, compared to 36 years in Umatilla County, 
and 39 years in Oregon. 

 Figure 1.4 presents the share of households with children, and the share of population over 65 years for 
comparison.  Compared to state and national averages, Umatilla has a much larger share of households with 
children and a much smaller share of the population over 65. 

 

 

 

386



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 6  

FIGURE 1.4:  SHARE OF HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN/ POPULATION OVER 65 YEARS (UMATILLA) 

39%
35%

47%

36%

29%
32%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Echo Stanfield City of
Umatilla

Umatilla
County

Oregon United
States

Share of Households with Children

17%

13%

7%

14%
16%

15%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

Echo Stanfield City of
Umatilla

Umatilla
County

Oregon United
States

Share of Population Over 65 Years

 
SOURCE:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS LLC 
Census Tables:  B11005; S0101 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

 

F. INCOME TRENDS 
 
The following figure presents data on income trends in Umatilla.  
 

FIGURE 1.5:  INCOME TRENDS, 2000 – 2018 

2000 2010 Growth 2018 Growth

(Census) (Census) 00-10 (Proj.) 10-18

Per Capita ($) $11,469 $12,267 7% $12,864 5%

Median HH ($) $33,844 $44,643 32% $38,796 -13%

SOURCE: Census, PSU Population Research Center, and Johnson Economics

Census Tables:  DP-1 (2000, 2010); DP-3 (2000); S1901; S19301

PER CAPITA AND MEDIAN HOUSEHOLD INCOME

 
 

387



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 7  

 Umatilla’s estimated median household income was $38,800 in 2018.  This has fallen significantly from the 
estimated median in 2010, and is lower than the Umatilla County median of $50,100. 

 Umatilla’s per capita income is a low $12,900. 

 Median income has grown an estimated 15% between 2000 and 2018, in real dollars.  Inflation was an 
estimated 57% over this period, so as is the case regionally and nationwide, the local median income has not 
kept pace with inflation. 

 
Figure 1.6 presents the estimated distribution of households by income as of 2017.  The largest income cohorts are 
those households earning between $15k and $25k, and $35k and $50k. 

 
 65% of households earn less than $50k per year, while 35% of households earn $50k or more. 

 40% of households earn $25k or less. 

 
FIGURE 1.6:  HOUSEHOLD INCOME COHORTS, 2018 

13%

7%

20%

6%

19%

17%

7%

7%

3%

1%

0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25%

Less than $10,000

$10,000 to $14,999

$15,000 to $24,999

$25,000 to $34,999

$35,000 to $49,999

$50,000 to $74,999

$75,000 to $99,999

$100,000 to $149,999

$150,000 to $199,999

$200,000 or more

 
SOURCE:  US Census 
Census Tables:  S1901 (2017 ACS 5-yr Est.) 

 
A 2018 survey of households in the City of Umatilla and Power City area found that 55.9% of the total population 
qualifies as being low or moderate income.  Low income is defined as earning 50% or less of the Area Median 
Income (AMI).  Moderate income is defined as earning between 50% and 80% of AMI. 

 

G. POVERTY STATISTICS 
According to the US Census, the official poverty rate in Umatilla is an estimated 24% over the most recent period 
reported (2017 5-year estimates).2  This is roughly 1,150 individuals in Umatilla.  In comparison, the official poverty 
rate in Umatilla County, and at the state level are both 17%.  In the 2013-17 period: 

                                                 
2 Census Tables:  S1701 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

388



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 8  

 

 Umatilla poverty rate is highest among children at 35%.  The rate is 21% among those 18 to 64 years of age.  
The rate is lowest for those 65 and older at 5%. 

 For those without a high school diploma the poverty rate is 20%.  For those with a high school diploma only, 
the estimated rate is actually higher at 32%.  For those with more than high school education, the poverty rate 
is the lowest. 

 Among those who are employed the poverty rate is 14%, while it is 40% for those who are unemployed. 

 Information on affordable housing is presented in the following section of this report. 

 

FIGURE 1.7:  POVERTY STATUS BY CATEGORY (UMATILLA) 

35%

21%

5%

14%

40%

20%

32%

8%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50%

Under 18 years

18 to 64 years

65 years and over

Employed

Unemployed

Less than high school

High school

Some college, associate's

Bachelor's degree or higher

Poverty Level

 
SOURCE:  US Census 
Census Tables:  S1701 (2017 ACS 5-yr Est.) 

 
As mentioned above, 55.9% of the population is estimated to be low or moderate income.  This implies that an 
estimated 4,930 individuals in the UGB live in households that are low or moderate income.  This is a separate 
measure than the official poverty rate. 
 

H. EMPLOYMENT LOCATION TRENDS 
 
This section provides an overview of employment and industry trends in Umatilla that are related to housing. 
 
Commuting Patterns:  The following figure shows the inflow and outflow of commuters to Umatilla according to 
the Census Employment Dynamics Database.  As of 2015, the most recent year available, the Census estimated 
there were roughly 1,370 jobs located in Umatilla.  Relatively few are held by local residents, while over 1,200 
employees commute into the city from elsewhere.  This pattern is fairly common among many communities.  
While Census data is incomplete, it seems that most local workers commuting into the city live in Hermiston, 
Pendleton, Kennewick, or unincorporated areas. 
 
Of the estimated 2,350 employed Umatilla residents, over 90% of them commute elsewhere for employment.  
Many of these residents commute to Hermiston, Pendleton or Boardman. 

389



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 9  

 

FIGURE 1.8:  COMMUTING PATTERNS (PRIMARY JOBS), UMATILLA 

 
Source:  US Census Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics 

 
 

Jobs/Household Ratio:  Umatilla features a jobs-to-households ratio of 0.6 jobs per household.  There are an 
estimated 1,370 jobs in the city of Umatilla, and an estimated 2,355 Umatilla residents in the labor force.  This 
represents 0.6 jobs per working adult, meaning that Umatilla is tipped towards the housing side of the 
jobs/housing balance. 
 

390



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 10  

 

II. CURRENT HOUSING CONDITIONS 
 
The following figure presents a profile of the current housing stock and market indicators in Umatilla.  This profile 
forms the foundation to which current and future housing needs will be compared. 
 

A. HOUSING TENURE 
Umatilla has a close to even divide between owner households than renter households.  The 2017 American 
Community Survey estimates that 51% of occupied units were owner occupied, and 49% renter occupied.  The 
ownership rate in Umatilla has fallen from 60% since 2000.  During this period the statewide rate fell from 64% to 
62%.  Nationally, the homeownership rate has nearly reached the historical average of 65%, after the rate climbed 
from the late 1990’s to 2004 (69%). 
 
The estimated ownership rate is higher in Umatilla County (66%) and statewide (61%). 
 

B. HOUSING STOCK 
As shown in Figure 1.1, Umatilla UGB had an estimated 2,240 housing units in 2018, with a very low estimated 
vacancy rate (includes ownership and rental units). 
 

FIGURE 2.1:  ESTIMATED SHARE OF UNITS, BY PROPERTY TYPE, 2017 

58%

1% 2%

10%

19%

9%

2%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

Single
Family

Detached

Single
Family

Attached

Duplex 3- or 4-
plex

5+ Units
MFR

Mobile
Home

RV, Boat,
Other

Umatilla, OR

 
SOURCE:  City of Umatilla, Census ACS 2017 

 
Figure 2.1 shows the estimated number of units by type in 2017.  Detached single-family homes represent an 
estimated 58% of housing units. 
 
Units in larger apartment complexes of 5 or more units represent 19% of units, and other types of attached homes 
represent an additional 13% of units. (Attached single family generally includes townhomes, some condo flats, and 
complexes which are separately metered.)  Mobile homes represent 9% of the inventory. 

 

C. NUMBER OF BEDROOMS 
Figure 2.2 shows the share of units for owners and renters by the number of bedrooms they have.  In general, 
owner-occupied units are more likely to have three or more bedrooms, while renter occupied units are more likely 
to have two or fewer bedrooms. 

 

 

391



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 11  

 
FIGURE 2.2:  NUMBER OF BEDROOMS FOR OWNER AND RENTER UNITS, 2017 

2%

4%

18%

64%

7%

4%

3%

22%

27%

38%

10%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Studio

1 bedroom

2 bedrooms

3 bedrooms

4 bedrooms

5 or more

Number of Bedrooms

Renter

Owner

 
SOURCE:  US Census 
Census Tables:  B25042 (2017 ACS 5-year Estimates) 

 
 

D. UNITS TYPES BY TENURE 
As Figure 2.3 and 2.4 show, a large share of owner-occupied units (86%) are detached homes, or mobile homes 
(12%).  Renter-occupied units are more distributed among a range of structure types.  34% of rented units are 
estimated to be detached homes or mobile homes, while the remainder are some form of attached unit.  And 
estimated 39% of rental units are in larger apartment complexes. 
 

FIGURE 2.3:  CURRENT INVENTORY BY UNIT TYPE, FOR OWNERSHIP AND RENTAL HOUSING 
 

OWNERSHIP HOUSING 

Price Range
Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached
Duplex

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

Totals: 1,014 20 0 0 0 139 0 1,173

Percentage: 86.4% 1.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 11.8% 0.0% 100.0%  
 

RENTAL HOUSING 

Price Range
Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached
Duplex

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

Totals: 304 0 43 214 411 62 34 1,067

Percentage: 28.4% 0.0% 4.1% 20.1% 38.5% 5.8% 3.1% 100.0%  
Sources:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 
 
 

392



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 12  

 
FIGURE 2.4:  CURRENT INVENTORY BY UNIT TYPE, BY SHARE 

86%

2% 0% 0% 0%

12%

0%

28%

0%
4%

20%

39%

6% 3%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Single
Family

Detached

Single
Family

Attached

Duplex 3- or 4-
plex

5+ Units
MFR

Mobile
Home

RV, Boat,
Other

Umatilla, OR

Owner

Renter

 
Sources:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS, CITY OF UMATILLA 

 

E. AGE OF HOUSING STOCK 
Umatilla’s housing stock reflects the pattern of development in the area.  88% of the housing stock is pre-2000 
with the remainder being post-2000.  Roughly 31% of the housing stock was built in the 1970’s, while another 37% 
dates from the 1960’s or earlier.  The following figure shows that owners are more likely to live in newer housing, 
while rental housing is more likely to live in older housing. 
 

FIGURE 2.5:  AGE OF UNITS FOR OWNERS AND RENTERS 

10%

6%

25%

3%

35%

9%
8%

5%

0%

6%

2%

5%
4%

26%

16%
14%

12%
14%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Age of Units by Tenure

Owner

Renter

 
SOURCE:  US Census 
Census Tables:  B25036 (2017 ACS 5-year Estimates) 

 

393



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 13  

 

F. HOUSING COSTS VS. LOCAL INCOMES 
 

Figure 2.6 shows the share of owner and renter households who are paying more than 30% of their household 
income towards housing costs, by income segment.  (Spending 30% or less on housing costs is a common measure 
of “affordability” used by HUD and others, and in the analysis presented in this report.) 
 
In total, the US Census estimates that 35% of Umatilla households pay more than 30% of income towards housing 
costs (2017 American Community Survey, B25106) 

 
As one would expect, households with lower incomes tend to spend more than 30% of their income on housing, 
while incrementally fewer of those in higher income groups spend more than 30% on their incomes on housing 
costs.  Of those earning less than $20,000, an estimated 56% of owner households and 73% of renters spend more 
than 30% of income on housing costs. 
 
Roughly 15% of those households earning $35,000 or more pay more than 30% of income towards housing costs.  
Only those earning more than $75,000 do not pay more than 30%. 
 

FIGURE 2.6:  SHARE OF HOUSEHOLDS SPENDING MORE THAN 30% ON HOUSING COSTS, BY INCOME GROUP 

56%

67%

19%

37%

0%

73%

49%

15%

0% 0%
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Less than
$20,000

$20,000 to
$34,999

$35,000 to
$49,999

$50,000 to
$74,999

$75,000 or
more

Sh
ar

e 
o

f 
H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s

Household Income Levels

Owner

Renter

 
Sources:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 
Census Table:  B25106 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

 
The following figures shows the percentage of household income spent towards gross rent for local renter 
households only.  This more fine-grained data shows that 51% of renters spending more than 30% of their income 
on rent, with an estimated 24% of renters are spending 50% or more of their income. 
 
Renters are disproportionately lower income relative to homeowners.  The burden of housing costs are felt more 
broadly for these households, and as the analysis presented in later section shows there is a need for more 
affordable rental units in Umatilla, as in most communities. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

394



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 14  

 
FIGURE 2.7:  PERCENTAGE OF HOUSEHOLD INCOME SPENT ON GROSS RENT, UMATILLA RENTER HOUSEHOLDS 

5%

32%

12%

19%

8%

24%

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

Sh
ar

e 
o

f 
H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s

% of Income Spent on Gross Rent
 

Sources:  US Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 
Census Table:  B25070 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

 
 

G. PUBLICLY-ASSISTED HOUSING 
 
Currently Umatilla has two rent-subsidized properties located in the town, with a total of 130 units.  Umatilla 
County Housing Authority operates Tri-Harbor Landing which offers 106 units for families.  The Links offers 24 units 
for seniors. 

 
The Housing Authority also administers 329 housing choice vouchers which may be used in Umatilla or other 
communities in the four-county jurisdiction. 

 
Agricultural Worker Housing:  The state of Oregon identifies 58 units dedicated agricultural workforce housing 
located in the city of Umatilla. 
 
Homelessness:  A Point-in-Time count of homeless individuals in Umatilla County conducted in 2017 found 55 
homeless individuals on the streets, in shelters, or other temporary and/or precarious housing. These figures are 
for the entire county.3  This included: 
 
 24 people in emergency shelter, warming shelter, or transitional housing programs; 
 31 people unsheltered; 
 24% of counted individuals were children; 
 44% of individuals were women or girls, and 54% are male. 

 
An analysis of the ability of current and projected housing supply to meet the needs of low-income people, and the 
potential shortfall is included in the following sections of this report. 

                                                 
3 Figures via OHCS 

395



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 15  

 

III. CURRENT HOUSING NEEDS (CITY OF UMATILLA) 
 
The profile of current housing conditions in the study area is based on Census 2010, which the Portland State 
University Population Research Center (PRC) uses to develop yearly estimates through 2018.  The PRC 
methodology incorporates the estimated population from within the city limits and an estimated population from 
those areas within the UGB, but outside of the city limits.  To estimate the additional population within the UGB 
area, the PRC assigned a share of the population from the relevant Census tracts. 

 
FIGURE 3.1: CURRENT HOUSING PROFILE (2018) 

SOURCE

Total 2018 Population: 8,834 PSU Pop. Research Center

- Estimated group housing population: 1,755 (20% of Total ) US Census

Estimated Non-Group 2018 Population: 7,079 (Total  - Group)

Avg. HH Size: 3.15 US Census

Estimated Non-Group 2018 Households: 2,247 (Pop/HH Size)

Total Housing Units: 2,240 (Occupied + Vacant) Census  2010 + permits

Occupied Housing Units: 2,247 (= # of HH)

Vacant Housing Units: -7 (Total  HH - Occupied)

Current Vacancy Rate: -0.3% (Vacant units/ Total  units )

CURRENT HOUSING CONDITIONS (2018)

 
*This table reflects population, household and housing unit projections shown in Figure 1.1 

 
We estimate a current population of roughly 8,834 residents, living in 2,247 households (excluding group living 
situations). Average household size is 3.15 persons. 
 
There are an estimated 2,247 housing units in the city, essentially equal to the number of households and 
indicating next to no vacancy.  This includes units vacant for any reason, not just those which are currently for sale 
or rent. 

 
ESTIMATE OF CURRENT HOUSING DEMAND 
Following the establishment of the current housing profile, the current housing demand was determined based 
upon the age and income characteristics of current households. 
 
The analysis considered the propensity of households in specific age and income levels to either rent or own their 
home (tenure), in order to derive the current demand for ownership and rental housing units and the appropriate 
housing cost level of each.  This is done by combining data on tenure by age and tenure by income from the Census 
American Community Survey (tables: B25007 and B25118, 2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates). 
 
The analysis takes into account the average amount that owners and renters tend to spend on housing costs.  For 
instance, lower income households tend to spend more of their total income on housing, while upper income 
households spend less on a percentage basis.  In this case, it was assumed that households in lower income bands 
would prefer housing costs at no more than 30% of gross income (a common measure of affordability).  Higher 
income households pay a decreasing share down to 20% for the highest income households. 
 

396



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 16  

While the Census estimates that most low-income households pay more than 30% of their income for housing, this 
is an estimate of current preferred demand.  It assumes that low-income households prefer (or demand) units 
affordable to them at no more than 30% of income, rather than more expensive units.  
 
Figure 3.2 presents a snapshot of current housing demand (i.e. preferences) equal to the number of households in 
the study area (2,240).  The breakdown of tenure (owners vs. renters) is slightly different from the 2017 ACS, as 
current demographics indicate that more households could likely afford to own their homes if opportunities were 
available (58% vs. 51%). 
 

FIGURE 3.2: ESTIMATE OF CURRENT HOUSING DEMAND (2018) 

Price Range
# of 

Households
Income Range

% of 

Total
Cumulative

$0k - $90k 67 Less than $15,000 5.1% 5.1%

$90k - $130k 85 $15,000 - $24,999 6.4% 11.5%

$130k - $190k 136 $25,000 - $34,999 10.4% 21.9%

$190k - $210k 204 $35,000 - $49,999 15.5% 37.4%

$210k - $340k 337 $50,000 - $74,999 25.6% 63.0%

$340k - $360k 158 $75,000 - $99,999 12.1% 75.1%

$360k - $450k 95 $100,000 - $124,999 7.2% 82.3%

$450k - $540k 78 $125,000 - $149,999 6.0% 88.3%

$540k - $710k 103 $150,000 - $199,999 7.8% 96.1%

$710k + 51 $200,000+ 3.9% 100.0%

Totals: 1,314 % of All: 58.5%

Rent Level
# of 

Households
Income Range

% of 

Total
Cumulative

$0 - $400 249 Less than $15,000 26.6% 26.6%

$400 - $600 147 $15,000 - $24,999 15.7% 42.4%

$600 - $900 118 $25,000 - $34,999 12.7% 55.0%

$900 - $1000 78 $35,000 - $49,999 8.4% 63.4%

$1000 - $1600 209 $50,000 - $74,999 22.4% 85.8%

$1600 - $1700 90 $75,000 - $99,999 9.6% 95.4%

$1700 - $2100 33 $100,000 - $124,999 3.6% 99.0%

$2100 - $2500 9 $125,000 - $149,999 1.0% 100.0%

$2500 - $3300 0 $150,000 - $199,999 0.0% 100.0%

$3300 + 0 $200,000+ 0.0% 100.0% All Households

Totals: 933 % of All: 41.5% 2,247

Rental

Ownership

 
Sources:  PSU Population Research Center, Environics Analytics., Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 
Census Tables:  B25007, B25106, B25118 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 
Claritas:  Estimates of income by age of householder 

 
The estimated home price and rent ranges are irregular because they are mapped to the affordability levels of the 
Census income level categories.  For instance, an affordable home for those in the lowest income category (less 
than $15,000) would have to cost $90,000 or less.  Affordable rent for someone in this category would be $400 or 
less. 

 

397



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 17  

The affordable price level for ownership housing assumes 30-year amortization, at an interest rate of 5% 
(significantly more than the current rate, but in line with historic norms), with 15% down payment.  These 
assumptions are designed to represent prudent lending and borrowing levels for ownership households.  The 30-
year mortgage commonly serves as the standard.  In the 2000’s, down payment requirements fell significantly, but 
standards have tightened somewhat since the 2008/9 credit crisis.  While 20% is often cited as the standard for 
most buyers, it is common for homebuyers, particularly first-time buyers, to pay significantly less than this using 
available programs. 
 
Interest rates are subject to disruption from national and global economic forces, and therefore impossible to 
forecast beyond the short term.  The 5% used here is roughly the average 30-year rate over the last 20 years.  The 
general trend has been falling interest rates since the early 1980’s, but coming out of the recent recession, many 
economists believe that rates cannot fall farther and must begin to climb as the Federal Reserve raises its rate over 
the coming years. 
 

 

CURRENT HOUSING INVENTORY 
The profile of current housing demand (Figure 3.2) represents the preference and affordability levels of 
households. In reality, the current housing supply (Figure 3.3 below) differs from this profile, meaning that some 
households may find themselves in housing units which are not optimal, either not meeting the household’s 
own/rent preference, or being unaffordable (requiring more than 30% of gross income). 
 
A profile of current housing supply in Umatilla was estimated based on permit data from the City of Umatilla and 
Census data from the most recently available 2017 ACS, which provides a profile of housing types (single family, 
attached, mobile home, etc.), tenure, housing values, and rent levels. The 5-year estimates from the ACS were 
used because 3-year and 1-year estimates are not yet available for Umatilla geography. 
 

 An estimated 52% of housing units are ownership units, while an estimated 48% of housing units are 
rental units. This is close to the estimated demand profile shown in Figure 3.2, which forecasted a slightly 
higher ownership rate.  (The inventory includes vacant units, so the breakdown of ownership vs. rental 
does not exactly match the tenure split of actual households.) 
 

 86% of ownership units are detached homes, and 12% are mobile homes.   34% of rental units are either 
single family homes or mobile homes, and 38% are in structures of 5 units or more. 
 

 Of total housing units, an estimated 59% are detached homes, 9% are mobile homes, while 31% are some 
sort of attached type.  There are a small share of households living in RV units. 
 

 The affordability of different unit types is an approximation based on Census data on the distribution of 
housing units by value (ownership) or gross rent (rentals). 
 

 Ownership housing found at the lower end of the value spectrum generally reflect mobile homes, older, 
smaller homes, or homes in poor condition on small or irregular lots.  It is important to note that these 
represent estimates of current property value or current housing cost to the owner, not the current 
market pricing of homes for sale in the city.  These properties may be candidates for redevelopment 
when next they sell but are currently estimated to have low value. 
 

 

398



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 18  

FIGURE 3.3:  PROFILE OF CURRENT HOUSING SUPPLY BY TYPE (2018) 

86%

2% 0% 0% 0%

12%

0%

28%

0%
4%

20%

39%

6% 3%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Single
Family

Detached

Single
Family

Attached

Duplex 3- or 4-
plex

5+ Units
MFR

Mobile
Home

RV, Boat,
Other

Umatilla, OR

Owner

Renter

 
Sources:  US Census, PSU Population Research Center, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 
Census Tables:  B25004, B25032, B25063, B25075 (2017 ACS 5-yr Estimates) 

 
FIGURE 3.4: PROFILE OF CURRENT HOUSING SUPPLY, ESTIMATED AFFORDABILITY (2018) 

Affordable Estimated Affordable Estimated

Price Level Units Rent Level Units

Less than $15,000 $0k - $90k 169 $0 - $400 270

$15,000 - $24,999 $90k - $130k 605 $400 - $600 257

$25,000 - $34,999 $130k - $190k 230 $600 - $900 447

$35,000 - $49,999 $190k - $210k 37 $900 - $1000 15

$50,000 - $74,999 $210k - $340k 102 $1000 - $1600 66

$75,000 - $99,999 $340k - $360k 0 $1600 - $1700 3

$100,000 - $124,999 $360k - $450k 14 $1700 - $2100 9

$125,000 - $149,999 $450k - $540k 6 $2100 - $2500 0

$150,000 - $199,999 $540k - $710k 0 $2500 - $3300 0

$200,000+ $710k + 9 $3300 + 0

52% 1,173 48% 1,067

Ownership Housing Rental Housing

Income Range Share of Total Units

20%

38%

30%

2%

8%

0%

1%

0%

0%

0%

0% 10% 20% 30% 40%

 
Sources:  PSU Population Research Center, Environics Analytics, Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 
This table is a synthesis of data presented in Figures 3.2 and 3.3. 

 

COMPARISON OF CURRENT HOUSING DEMAND WITH CURRENT SUPPLY 
A comparison of estimated current housing demand with the existing supply identifies the existing discrepancies 
between needs and the housing which is currently available. 
 
In general, this identifies that there is currently support for more ownership housing at price ranges above 
$200,000.  This is because most housing in Umatilla is clustered at the low to middle price points, while analysis of 
household incomes and ability to pay indicates that some could afford housing at higher price points. 

399



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 19  

 
The analysis finds that most rental units are currently found at the lower end of the rent spectrum, therefore the 
supply of units priced at $900 or lower is estimated to be sufficient.  This represents the current average rent 
prices in Umatilla, where most units can be expected to congregate.  There is an indication that some renter 
households could support more units at higher rental levels.  Rentals at more expensive levels generally represent 
single family homes for rent. 
 
The estimated number of units and number of households is essentially even. 
 
Figures 3.5 and 3.6 present this information in chart form, comparing the estimated number of households in given 
income ranges, and the supply of units currently affordable within those income ranges.  The data is presented for 
owner and renter households. 
 

FIGURE 3.5: COMPARISON OF OWNER HOUSEHOLD INCOME GROUPS TO  
ESTIMATED SUPPLY AFFORDABLE AT THOSE INCOME LEVELS (2018) 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

# 
o

f 
H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s/
U

n
it

s

Income Cohorts

Owner Households vs. Current Units

Est. Owner Households

Units Affordable at Income Level

 
Sources:  PSU Population Research Center, City of Umatilla, Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
FIGURE 3.6: COMPARISON OF RENTER HOUSEHOLD INCOME GROUPS TO  
ESTIMATED SUPPLY AFFORDABLE AT THOSE INCOME LEVELS (2018) 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

# 
o

f 
H

o
u

se
h

o
ld

s/
U

n
it

s

Income Cohorts

Renter Households vs. Current Units

Est. Renter Households

Units Affordable at Income Level

 
Sources:  PSU Population Research Center, City of Umatilla, Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
 

400



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 20  

Those price and rent segments which show a “surplus” in Figures 3.5 and 3.6 are illustrating where current 
property values and market rent levels are in Umatilla.  Housing prices and rent levels will tend to congregate 
around those price levels.  These levels will be too costly for some (i.e. require more than 30% in gross income) or 
“too affordable” for others (i.e. they have income levels that indicate they could afford more expensive housing if 
it were available).  In general, these findings demonstrate that there are sufficient housing opportunities at lower 
price points than might be considered “affordable” for many owner or renter households.  While the community 
may be able to support some new single-family housing at a higher price point, or newer units at a higher rent 
point. 
 

* * * 
 
The findings of current need form the foundation for projected future housing need, presented in a following 
section. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

  

401



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 21  

 

IV. FUTURE HOUSING NEEDS - 2039 (CITY OF UMATILLA) 
 
The projected future (20-year) housing profile (Figure 4.1) in the study area is based on the current housing profile 
(2018), multiplied by an assumed projected future household growth rate.  The projected future growth is the 
official forecasted annual growth rate (1.73%) for 2040 generated by the PSU Oregon Forecast Program.  This rate 
is applied to the year 2039.  (This represents a 20-year forecast period from the preparation of this report in 2019, 
though much of the most current data on population and current housing dated to 2018.) 
 

FIGURE 4.1: FUTURE HOUSING PROFILE (2039)  

SOURCE

2018 Population (Minus Group Pop.) 7,079 PSU

Projected Annual Growth Rate 1.73% OR Population Forecast Program PSU

2039 Population (Minus Group Pop.) 10,148 (Total  2039 Population - Group Hous ing Pop.)

Estimated group housing population: 2,516 Share of tota l  pop from Census US Census

Total Estimated 2039 Population: 12,664

Estimated Non-Group 2039 Households: 3,222 (2039 Non-Group Pop./Avg. Household Size)

New Households 2018 to 2039 974

Avg. Household Size: 3.15 Projected household s ize US Census

Total Housing Units: 3,391 Occupied Units  plus  Vacant

Occupied Housing Units: 3,222 (= Number of Non-Group Households)

Vacant Housing Units: 170

Projected Market Vacancy Rate: 5.0% (Vacant Units/ Total  Units )

PROJECTED FUTURE HOUSING CONDITIONS (2018 - 2039)

 
Sources:  PSU Population Research Center Oregon Population Forecast Program, Census, JOHNSON ECONOMICS LLC 
*Projections are applied to estimates of 2018 population, household and housing units shown in Figure 1.1 

 
The model projects growth in the number of non-group households over 20 years of roughly 975 households, with 
accompanying population growth of 3,830 new residents.  (The number of households differs from the number of 
housing units, because the total number of housing units includes a percentage of vacancy.  Projected housing unit 
needs are discussed below.) 
 

PROJECTION OF FUTURE HOUSING UNIT DEMAND (2039) 
The profile of future housing demand was derived using the same methodology used to produce the estimate of 
current housing need. This estimate includes current and future households, but does not include a vacancy 
assumption.  The vacancy assumption is added in the subsequent step.  Therefore the need identified below is the 
total need for actual households in occupied units (3,222). 
 
The analysis considered the propensity of households at specific age and income levels to either rent or own their 
home, in order to derive the future need for ownership and rental housing units, and the affordable cost level of 
each.  The projected need is for all 2039 households and therefore includes the needs of current households. 

 
The price levels presented here use the same assumptions regarding the amount of gross income applied to 
housing costs, from 30% for low income households down to 20% for the highest income households.   

402



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 22  

 
The affordable price level for ownership housing assumes 30-year amortization, at an interest rate of 5%, with 15% 
down payment. Because of the impossibility of predicting variables such as interest rates 20 years into the future, 
these assumptions were kept constant from the estimation of current housing demand.  Income levels and price 
levels are presented in 2018 dollars. 
 
Figure 4.2 presents the projected occupied future housing demand (current and new households, without vacancy) 
in 2039. 

 
FIGURE 4.2: PROJECTED OCCUPIED FUTURE HOUSING DEMAND (2039) 

Price Range
# of 

Households
Income Range % of Total Cumulative

$0k - $90k 92 Less than $15,000 4.9% 4.9%

$90k - $130k 118 $15,000 - $24,999 6.4% 11.3%

$130k - $190k 192 $25,000 - $34,999 10.3% 21.7%

$190k - $210k 289 $35,000 - $49,999 15.6% 37.2%

$210k - $340k 476 $50,000 - $74,999 25.6% 62.9%

$340k - $360k 224 $75,000 - $99,999 12.1% 75.0%

$360k - $450k 135 $100,000 - $124,999 7.3% 82.2%

$450k - $540k 111 $125,000 - $149,999 6.0% 88.2%

$540k - $710k 146 $150,000 - $199,999 7.9% 96.1%

$710k + 72 $200,000+ 3.9% 100.0%

Totals: 1,855 % of All: 57.6%

Rent Level
# of 

Households
Income Range % of Total Cumulative

$0 - $400 360 Less than $15,000 26.4% 26.4%

$400 - $600 213 $15,000 - $24,999 15.6% 42.0%

$600 - $900 173 $25,000 - $34,999 12.6% 54.6%

$900 - $1000 116 $35,000 - $49,999 8.5% 63.1%

$1000 - $1600 307 $50,000 - $74,999 22.4% 85.6%

$1600 - $1700 132 $75,000 - $99,999 9.6% 95.2%

$1700 - $2100 49 $100,000 - $124,999 3.6% 98.8%

$2100 - $2500 15 $125,000 - $149,999 1.1% 99.9%

$2500 - $3300 1 $150,000 - $199,999 0.1% 100.0%

$3300 + 1 $200,000+ 0.0% 100.0% All Units

Totals: 1,366 % of All: 42.4% 3,222

Ownership

Rental

 
Sources:  Census, Environics Analytics, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
It is projected that the homeownership rate in Umatilla will increase over the next 20 years to 58%, which would 
remain lower than the current statewide average (62%).  The shift to older and marginally higher income 
households is moderate but is projected to increase the homeownership rate somewhat.  At the same time, the 
number of lower income households seeking affordable rentals is also anticipated to grow. 
 
 

403



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 23  

 

COMPARISON OF FUTURE HOUSING DEMAND TO CURRENT HOUSING INVENTORY 
The profile of occupied future housing demand presented above (Figure 4.2) was compared to the current housing 
inventory presented in the previous section to determine the total future need for new housing units by type and 
price range (Figure 4.3). 
 
This estimate includes a vacancy assumption.  As reflected by the most recent Census data, and as is common in 
most communities, the vacancy rate for rental units is typically higher than that for ownership units.  An average 
vacancy rate of 5% is assumed for the purpose of this analysis. This analysis maintains the discrepancy between 
rental and ownership units going forward, so that the vacancy rate for rentals is assumed to be slightly higher than 
the overall average, while the vacancy rate for ownership units is assumed to be lower. 

 
FIGURE 4.3:  PROJECTED FUTURE NEED FOR NEW HOUSING UNITS (2039), UMATILLA 

Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached
2-unit

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

% of 

Units

Totals: 621 51 0 0 0 90 0 763 66.3%

Percentage: 81.4% 6.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 11.8% 0.0% 100%

Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached
2-unit

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

% of 

Units

Totals: 79 8 24 86 157 22 12 388 33.7%

Percentage: 20.4% 2.0% 6.1% 22.1% 40.5% 5.8% 3.1% 100%

Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached*
2-unit

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

% of 

Units

Totals: 701 59 24 86 157 113 12 1,151 100%

Percentage: 60.9% 5.1% 2.0% 7.4% 13.7% 9.8% 1.1% 100%

Unit Type:

TOTAL HOUSING UNITS

Multi-Family

Unit Type:

OWNERSHIP HOUSING

Multi-Family

Unit Type:

RENTAL HOUSING

Multi-Family

 
Sources:  PSU, City of Umatilla, Census, Environics Analytics, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

 
 The results show a need for 1,151 new housing units by 2039. 

 Of the new units needed, roughly 66% are projected to be ownership units, while 34% are projected to be 
rental units.  This is due to the forecast of a slightly higher homeownership rate in the future. 

 
Needed Unit Types 
The mix of needed unit types shown in Figure 4.3 reflects both past trends and anticipated future trends.  Since 
2000, detached single family units (including manufactured and mobile homes) have constituted nearly all of the 
permitted units in Umatilla.  In keeping with development trends, and the buildable land available to Umatilla, 
single family units are expected to make up the greatest share of new housing development over the next 20 
years. 
 
 61% of the new units are projected to be single family detached homes, while 28% is projected to be some 

form of attached housing, and 10% are projected to be mobile homes, and 1% are expected to be RV or other 
temporary housing. 

404



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 24  

 Single family attached units (townhomes on individual lots) are projected to meet 5% of future need.  These 
are defined as units on separate tax lots, attached by a wall but separately metered, the most common 
example being townhome units. 

 Duplex through four-plex units are projected to represent nearly 10% of the total need.  Duplex units would 
include a detached single family home with an accessory dwelling unit on the same lot, or with a separate unit 
in the home (for instance, a rental basement unit.) 

 14% of all needed units are projected to be multi-family in structures of 5+ attached units. 

 10% of new needed units are projected to be mobile home units, which meet the needs of some low-income 
households for both ownership and rental. 

 Of ownership units, 81% are projected to be single-family homes, and 12% mobile homes. Nearly 7% are 
projected to be attached single-family housing 

 About 70% of new rental units are projected to be found in new attached buildings, with over 40% projected 
in rental properties of 5 or more units, and 28% in buildings of two to four units. 

 
Needed Affordability Levels 
 
 The needed affordability levels presented here are based on current 2018 dollars.  Over time, incomes and 

housing costs will both inflate, so the general relationship projected here is expected to remain unchanged. 

 The future needed affordability types (2039) reflect the same relationship shown in the comparison of current 
(2018) need and supply (shown in Figure 3.4).  Generally, based on income levels there is a shortage of units in 
the lowest pricing levels for renter households. 

 Figure 4.3 presents the net NEW housing unit need over the next 20 years.  However, there is also a current 
need for more affordable units.  In order for all households, current and new to pay 30% or less of their 
income towards housing in 2039, more affordable rental units would be required.  This indicates that some of 
the current supply, while it shows up as existing available housing, would need to become less expensive to 
meet the needs of current households. 

 There is a finding of some new need at the lowest end of the rental spectrum ($400 and less).   

 Projected needed ownership units show that the supply at the lowest end of the spectrum is currently 
sufficient.   (This reflects the estimated value of the total housing stock, and not necessarily the average 
pricing for housing currently for sale.)  And the community could support more some housing at higher price 
points, mostly in ranges above $200,000. 

 Figure 4.4 presents estimates of need at key low-income affordability levels in 2018 and new need.  There is 
existing and on-going need at these levels, based on income levels specified by Oregon Housing and 
Community Services for Umatilla County, and the recent City of Umatilla Income Survey (2018).  An estimated 
56% of households qualify as at least “low income” or lower on the income scale, while 16% of household 
qualify as “extremely low income”. (The income survey used a different terminology of “low and moderate 
income” for these same income segments.) 

FIGURE 4.4:  PROJECTED NEED FOR HOUSING AFFORDABLE AT LOW INCOME LEVELS, UMATILLA 

# of HH % of All # of HH % of All

Extremely Low Inc. 30% AMI $16,650 354 16% 153 13%

Very Low Income 50% AMI $27,600 613 27% 266 23%

Low Income 80% AMI $44,160 1,256 56% 545 47%

Affordablilty Level Income Level
Current Need (2018) NEW Need (20-Year)

 

Sources:  OHCS, Environics Analytics, JOHNSON ECONOMICS 

* Income levels are based on OHCS guidelines for a family of four. 

405



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 25  

 
 

Agricultural Worker Housing 
The State of Oregon identifies 58 units dedicated agricultural workforce housing located in four properties the city 
of Umatilla.  This is an estimated 2.6% of the current housing supply.   

Assuming that this segment of housing grows at a similar rate to all housing types, this implies a 2039 total of 88 
units for the agricultural workforce, or addition of 30 units in this time. 

At the same time, the State estimates numbers of migrant and seasonal farm workers (MSFW) in Umatilla County 
far in excess of the number of units available dedicated to this population.  It is fair to estimate that the city of 
Umatilla, and the rest of the county, could support as much of this housing as can practically be developed given 
resource limitations.  Therefore, continued support for such housing is appropriate. 

 

406



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 26  

 

V. RECONCILIATION OF FUTURE NEED (2039) & LAND SUPPLY (CITY OF UMATILLA) 
 

This section summarizes the results of the Buildable Lands Inventory (BLI).  The BLI is presented in detail in an 
accompanying memo to this report. 
 
The following table present the estimated new unit capacity of the buildable lands identified in the City of Umatilla 
UGB.  There is a total remaining capacity of 3,493 units of different types within the study area.  Much of this 
capacity is within the single family and medium density residential zones. 
 

FIGURE 5.1:  ESTIMATED BUILDABLE LANDS CAPACITY BY ACREAGE AND NO. OF UNITS (2019) 
 

Partially 

Vacant
Vacant Total

Share of 

Total

Partially 

Vacant
Vacant Total

Share of 

Total

Umatilla

DR: Downtown Residential 18 0 4 4 0% 0 41 41 1%

F-2: General Rural 0.05 1 40 41 3% 0 1 1 0%

R-1: Agricultural Residential 0.25 163 63 226 18% 20 4 24 1%

R1: Single-Family Residential 5 11 558 569 45% 34 2,017 2,051 59%

R-1A: Two Acre Residential 0.5 117 36 153 12% 25 12 37 1%

R2: Medium Density Residential 8 3 200 203 16% 14 1,150 1,164 33%

R-2: Suburban Residential 1 36 1 37 3% 16 0 16 0%

R3: Multi-Family Residential 18 5 5 10 1% 60 70 130 4%

R-3: Urban Residential 5 5 5 10 1% 17 12 29 1%

340 912 1,253 -- 186 3,307 3,493 --Subtotal

Jurisdiction and Zone
Projected 

Density 
(units/net acre)

Unconstrained Acres Housing Unit Capacity

 
Source:  Angelo Planning Group 

 
The following tables summarize the forecasted future unit need for Umatilla.  These are the summarized results 
from Section IV of this report. 

 

FIGURE 5.2:  SUMMARY OF FORECASTED FUTURE UNIT NEED (2039) 

Single Family 

Detached

Single Family 

Attached*
2-unit

3- or 4-

plex

5+ Units 

MFR

Mobile 

home

Boat, RV, 

other temp

Total 

Units

% of 

Units

Totals: 701 59 24 86 157 113 12 1,151 100%

Percentage: 60.9% 5.1% 2.0% 7.4% 13.7% 9.8% 1.1% 100%

TOTAL HOUSING UNITS

Multi-Family

Unit Type:

 

Sources:  PSU Population Research Center, Census, Johnson Economics 

 
 
Comparison of Housing Need and Capacity 
There is a total forecasted need for roughly 1,150 units over the next 20 years based on the PSU forecasted growth 
rate.  This is well below the estimated capacity of nearly 3,500 units.  As Figure 5.3 below demonstrates, there is 
sufficient capacity to accommodate all projected new unit types.  After this need is accommodated, there is an 
estimated remaining capacity of over 2,100 additional units, mostly in the high-density residential zone. 

 
The following table shows the same comparison, converting the forecasted residential need and capacity by acres, 
rather than units.  There is a projected need for 193 acres of new residential development, but a buildable capacity 
of 1,253 acres. 
 
 
 

407



 

CITY OF UMATILLA | HOUSING NEEDS ANALYSIS  PAGE 27  

 
 

FIGURE 5.3:  COMPARISON OF FORECASTED FUTURE LAND NEED (2039) WITH AVAILABLE CAPACITY 
 

LAND INVENTORY VS. LAND NEED TOTAL

Buildable Land Inventory (Acres): 1,036 203 14 1,253

Estimated Land Need (Acres): 163 21 9 193

Land Surplus (Inventory - Need:) 873 182 5 1,060

Unit Type

Single 

Family 

Detached

Medium-

Density 

Attached

Multi- 

Family

 
Sources:  Angelo Planning Group, Johnson Economics 

 
FINDING:  There is currently sufficient buildable capacity within Umatilla to accommodate projected need.  The 
character of this supply can help guide housing policy and strategy recommendations to be included in subsequent 
reports and ultimately integrated in the City’s updated Comprehensive Plan. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

408


	Planning Commission Agenda
	2020-303- - 07-28-20 Draft.docx
	2020-311- - PA-1-20 PC Report.pdf
	2020-311- - Draft Text Changes (Goal 9).pdf
	2020-304- - PA-2-20 PC Report.docx
	2020-304- - UGB Amendment FINAL DRAFT Application Narrative.docx
	2020-304- - Site Plan and Map Amendment.pdf
	2020-304- - Sub Area Map (Highway 395 South).pdf
	2020-304- - Sub Area Map (Port of Umatilla).pdf
	2020-304- - Sub Area Map (Western UBG Area).pdf
	2020-305- - PA-3-20 PC Report.docx
	2020-305- - Zone Change FINAL DRAFT Application Narrative.docx
	2020-305- - Proposed Map Amendment.pdf
	2020-306- - ANX-1-2020 Cleaver Annexation.docx
	2020-306- - Annexationmap.pdf
	2020-307- - Umatilla Industrial Area Utility Technical Memorandum.pdf
	2020-308- - Traffic Impact Analysis.pdf
	2020-309- - Economic Opportunities Analysis.pdf
	2020-309- - Appendix B EOA Buildable Lands Inventory Final.pdf
	2020-310- - Housing and Residential Land Needs Assessment.pdf

